EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS VOL. 35 • NO. 2/2022 • PP. 231-498 • OSIJEK, DECEMBER 2022

EKONOMSKI VJESNIK ECONVIEVS

Review of contemporary business, entrepreneurship and economic issues

22

DOI: https://doi.org/10.51680/ev



fifefos

sveučilište josipa jurja strossmayera u osijeku **Ekonomski fakultet u Osijeku**

JOSIP JURAJ STROSSMAYER UNIVERSITY OF OSIJEK Faculty of Economics in Osijek



EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS VOL. 35 • NO. 2/2022 • PP. 231-498 • OSIJEK, DECEMBER, 2022

EKONOMSKI VJESNIK ECONVIEWS

Review of contemporary business, entrepreneurship and economic issues

ÍÍ EFOS

sveučilište josipa jurja strossmayera u osijeku Ekonomski fakultet u Osijeku

JOSIP JURAJ STROSSMAYER UNIVERSITY OF OSIJEK Faculty of Economics in Osijek

EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS

Review of contemporary business, entrepreneurship and economic issues

Publisher

JOSIP JURAJ STROSSMAYER UNIVERSITY OF OSIJEK, FACULTY OF ECONOMICS IN OSIJEK

Editor-in-Chief

Marija Ham, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Faculty of Economics in Osijek, Croatia

Deputy Editor-in-Chief

Ivana Barković Bojanić, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Faculty of Economics in Osijek, Croatia

HONORARY EDITOR

Slavica Singer, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Faculty of Economics in Osijek, Croatia

EXECUTIVE EDITOR

Dario Šebalj, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Faculty of Economics in Osijek, Croatia

Technical Editor

Oto Wilhelm, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Faculty of Economics in Osijek, Croatia

EDITORIAL BOARD

Antun Biloš, Anamarija Delić, Davor Dujak, Aleksandar Erceg, Ivana Fosić, Jerko Glavaš, Domagoj Karačić, Dražen Koški, Josipa Mijoč, Dubravka Pekanov Starčević, Julia Perić, Marina Stanić, Helena Štimac, Davorin Turkalj, all from Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Faculty of Economics in Osijek, CROATIA, Maja Biljan - August and Jasmina Dlačić, University of Rijeka, Faculty of Economics, CROATIA, Suzana Marković, University of Rijeka, Faculty of Tourism and Hospitality Management, CROATIA, Ivana Šandrk Nukić, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Faculty of Civil Engineering and Architecture Osijek, CROATIA, Thomas Cleff, Pforzheim University, Faculty of Business and Law, GERMANY, Veit Wohlgemuth, HTW Berlin, GERMANY, Erzsebet Hetesi, University of Szeged, Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, HUNGARY, Helena Maria Baptista Alves, University of Beira Interior, Department of Management and Economics, PORTUGAL, Marius Gavriletea, Babes - Bolyai University, Faculty of Business, ROMANIA, Zsuzsanna Katalin Szabo, "Petru Maior" University, Faculty of Economics, Juridical and Administrative Sciences, ROMANIA, Erich Schwarz, Alpen - Adria University of Klagenfurt, Faculty of Management and Economics, AUSTRIA, Rainer Niemann, Institute of Accounting and Taxation, University of Graz, Aus-TRIA, Ulla Hytti and Eriikka Paavilainen-Mäntymäki, University of Turku, Turku School of Economics, FINLAND, Irena Ograjenšek, University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Economics, **SLOVENIA**, Miroslav Rebernik, University of Maribor, Faculty of Economics and Business, SLOVENIA, Igor Jakomin, University of Ljubljana, Faculty of Maritime Studies and Transportation, SLOVENIA, Jerome Katz, Saint Louis University, USA, Jasminka Ninković, Oxford College, University of Emory, USA, Nirundon Tapachai, Faculty of Business Administration, Kasetsart University Bangkok, THAILAND, Imtiaz Arif, Igra University, PAKISTAN, Mehmet Huseyin Bilgin, Istanbul Medeniyet University, TURKEY, Vladan Pavlović, University of Prishtina in Kosovska Mitrovica, Faculty of Economics, SERBIA, Dáša Mendelová, University of Ss. Cyril and Methodius in Trnava, Faculty of Mass Media Communication, SLOVAKIA.

English Language Editor Ivanka Ferčec

INDEXED IN:

- Emerging Sources Citation Index, Web of Science, Clarivate Analytics, New York, USA
- CAB Abstract, Wallingford, United Kingdom
- Econlit, Pittsburg, USA
- EBSCOhost, Ipswich, USA
- ABI/INFORM, ProQuest, London, United Kingdom
- DOAJ Directory of Open Access Journals, United Kingdom
- CEEOL Central and Eastern European Online Library, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
- Index Copernicus, Warszawa, Poland
- Hrčak Portal znanstvenih časopisa Republike Hrvatske (MZOS, Srce & HIDD)

Edition

100 copies

Annual subscription 200 HRK / 30 €

GRAPHIC DESIGN AND PRINT Grafika, Osijek

The publishing of Journal is supported by the Ministry of Science and Education of the Republic of Croatia

PUBLISHED BIANNUALLY

Address of the Editorial Board

Sveučilište Josipa Jurja Strossmayera u Osijeku, Ekonomski fakultet u Osijeku Trg Ljudevita Gaja 7 31000 Osijek Croatia

https://hrcak.srce.hr/ojs/index.php/ekonomskivjesnik/ www.efos.unios.hr/ekonomski-vjesnik/en/

ekonomski.vjesnik@efos.hr

Copyright© 2022 Sveučilište Josipa Jurja Strossmayera u Osijeku, Ekonomski fakultet u Osijeku

CONTENTS

ORIGINAL SCIENTIFIC ARTICLES

1.	Ahmet Kamil Kabakuş, Hasan Küçükoğlu
2.	<i>Fulya Almaz</i>
3.	<i>Milan Stanić, Melita Cita, Darija Prša</i>
4.	<i>Kasim Tatić, Mahir Haračić, Merima Činjarević, Merima Haračić</i>
5.	<i>Hilmi Uçar, Gökhan Kerse</i>
6.	<i>Daimi Koçak</i>
7.	<i>Ana Babić, Danijela Sokolić, Jelena Jardas Antonić</i>
8.	<i>Igor Grofelnik, Uroš Godnov, Marjan Sternad</i>
9.	<i>Blaženka Knežević, Miroslav Mandić, Antonija Lipovac</i>

Preliminary communications

1.	Mazanai Musara, Andrew Maredza	.367
	Intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship for intra-African trade and economic development: Towards a borderless Africa	
2.	Ivana Barišić, Ana Novak, Sanja Sever Mališ	.383
	Skills required of professional accountants: Evidence from labour market in Croatia	

Review Articles

1.	Almir Peštek, Amina Osmanović
	Systematic mapping study: Application of augmented reality in marketing
2.	Ivan Kožić, Neven Ivandić, Ivan Sever
	Empirical assessment of tourism-generated employment: Concepts and challenges
3.	Zef Dedaj
	The role of the University of Prishtina in knowledge creation and transfer: Are university-industry linkages increasing?
4	Kerstin Bätz, Patrick Siegfried
	From canvas to platform: Reflecting on the digital platform canvas
5.	Stephan L. K. Freichel, Pia Rütten, Johannes K. Wörtge
	Challenges of supply chain visibility in distribution logistics – a literature review
6.	Judit Nagy, Pavel Foltin
	Increase supply chain resilience by applying early warning signals within big-data analysis
7.	Noémi Piricz
	A review of prosumers' behaviours in smart grids and importance of smart grid management

ORIGINAL SCIENTIFIC ARTICLES

Ahmet Kamil Kabakuş, Hasan Küçükoğlu

The effect of trust on mobile banking usage: The mediating roles of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use

Fulya Almaz

Metaphoric images of the strategic management concept: Research on upper- and middle-level managers

Milan Stanić, Melita Cita, Darija Prša The impact of COVID-19 on liquidity management in small and medium-sized trade businesses: The Croatian case

Kasim Tatić, Mahir Haračić, Merima Činjarević, Merima Haračić Let's cloud with me! Users' willingness to use cloud computing services as a function of social norms

Hilmi Uçar, Gökhan Kerse Relationship between perceived organizational support, job crafting, and job performance: A mediated model

Daimi Koçak Leader-member exchange and unethical pro-organizational behavior: A moderated mediation model

Ana Babić, Danijela Sokolić, Jelena Jardas Antonić Development of smart governance in Croatian cities - the size of a city as a determinant of smart governance

> **Igor Grofelnik, Uroš Godnov, Marjan Sternad** Drone last mile delivery: An assessment of the viable market and security potential of drone delivery

Blaženka Knežević, Miroslav Mandić, Antonija Lipovac The role of supplier satisfaction survey in building partnerships

Ahmet Kamil Kabakuş Ataturk University Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences 25240 Erzurum, Turkey kkabakus@atauni.edu.tr Hasan Küçükoğlu Ataturk University Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences 25240 Erzurum, Turkey hasan.kucukoglu@ogr.atauni.edu.tr JEL: 033 Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.1

Received: May 31, 2021 Revision received: March 8, 2022 Accepted for publishing: April 24, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



THE EFFECT OF TRUST ON MOBILE BANKING USAGE: THE MEDIATING ROLES OF PERCEIVED USEFULNESS AND PERCEIVED EASE OF USE

Abstract

Purpose: This study primarily examines the mediating effect of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use on the relationship between trust and mobile banking use.

Methodology: For this purpose, university students studying at different levels at a state university in Turkey were chosen as the research population and the data were collected through a field study using a convenience sampling method and a face-to-face survey technique. SEM data analysis was conducted by using SPSS v20 and AMOS v20.

Results: The findings revealed a direct and positive relationship between the trust factor and mobile banking platform usage, and that the factors of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use have a partial mediating effect in this relationship.

Conclusion: As a result, it is predicted that many different factors affect user preferences in the use of mobile banking platforms, these factors directly or indirectly affect compliance, adoption, and use, and it is necessary to focus more on these factors for the future of banking with the effect of digitalization.

Keywords: Mobile banking, trust, perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, intermediary role

1. Introduction

Technology has become an essential part of daily life with digitalization (Alkan et al., 2021). The effect and control of these developments is a fundamental issue, especially in the developing countries (Çelik & Kabakuş, 2015). Parallel to these developments, it is also observed that people's attitudes and behaviors towards the banking sector differ.

The mobile banking platform, where financial transactions are offered independently of space and time, is one of the essential conveniences of this change. Despite its advantages, it is not easy for people to adapt to these changes for several reasons (Tan et al., 2016). It can be said that the difference in the attitudes and behaviors of users regarding the use of mobile banking in banking transactions stems from different factors such as culture, environment, lifestyle, demographic factors, psychological reasons, government policies, and legal dimension (Dymi, 2012).

With the technological developments and widespread use of digital platforms, how people adapt themselves to this technology is an increasingly popular field of study and meaningful results have been obtained (Zalloum et al., 2019). Studies focused on university students that follow current trends closely are essential in terms of short- and long-term implications (Shanmugam et al., 2014). Studies in this concept are also predicted to have important theoretical and practical implications for understanding user-centered factors affecting the adoption of mobile banking and payment methods (Shankar & Datta, 2018). In addition, it is pretty clear that the effects of the digitalization process are also crucial in terms of understanding the behavioral intentions of users towards mobile banking adaptation, especially in developing countries (Sharma, 2019). For this reason, studies based on the digitalization effect provide critical and valuable information to service providers and users (Cheah et al., 2011).

One of the popular models used to examine external factors on individuals' use and adoption of new technology is the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). In a study using this model, it was observed that trust had a negative effect on perceived risk, and perceived risk had a negative effect on internet banking adoption (Kesharwani & Singh Bisht, 2012). In another study using the TAM, it was found that trust had a significant effect on the acceptance of internet banking (Suh & Han, 2002). Moreover, in another study using the same model, it was concluded that trust positively affected the intention of using internet banking services, but perceived ease of use did not affect the intention of using (Al-Sharafi et al., 2016).

Davis (1985) claims that user motivation can be explained by attitude, perceived usefulness, and perceived ease of use. It is accepted that the user's attitude towards the internet is affected by perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. Davis et al. (1989) also reveals that users prefer using new technology or system because they believe that it will be useful to them for doing their jobs better (perceived usefulness) and that the effort required to use the system (perceived ease of use) can directly affect their system usage behavior.

In this context, the study aims to determine the mediating effects of the factors of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use, which are thought to affect the willingness to use mobile banking, in the relationship between trust and mobile banking usage. For this reason, university students were preferred as the research universe as they were considered to be more suitable in terms of technological aptitude and awareness. Therefore, the study can contribute to the theories developed for the mediating effects of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use in the relationship between trust and mobile banking use and their examination by using two different models.

2. Conceptual framework

Many factors affect mobile banking adaptation of users in the banking sector transformed by digitalization. In the literature, studies in this context generally focus on lifestyle, ease of use, usability, practicality, portability, flexibility, reliability, cost, factors, etc. (Olasina, 2015).

In the study examining the mediating effects of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use on mobile banking usage, it was stated that system compatibility, awareness, and high-risk perception positively affect user attitudes and intentions (Thakur, 2014). In another study investigating the mediating role of gender in mobile banking adaptation, it was stated that women preferred this channel because of its ease of use, while men's preferences were based on its relative advantage (Riquelme & Rios, 2010).

Researchers examining mobile banking adaptation of different generations in Thailand stated that Generation Y individuals' lifestyle fit and perceived usefulness positively affected their preferences, while trust and ease of use negatively affected their preferences (Ruangkanjanases & Wongprasopchai, 2017). In the study examining mobile banking behaviors of Generation Y individuals, it was concluded that social media promotions and advertisements do not affect banking channel preferences, but a directive mobile communication channel can be beneficial (Hussain & Wong, 2015). Again, in another study on Generation Y individuals, it is concluded that while the pleasure of using mobile banking affects behavioral intention positively, its reliability affects negatively (Boonsiritomachai & Pitchayadejanant, 2019).

In a study conducted with university students working in a private bank in Turkey, it is concluded that the participants want to prefer channels which are less risky and safer for transactions made from digital banking platforms (Kabakuş & Küçükoğlu, 2019a). In a study conducted jointly in Azerbaijan and Turkey, it is determined that income level, social environment and technology aptitude affect banking channel preferences of users (Hajiyev & Chang, 2017).

In the study investigating the mediating roles of demographic features in mobile banking acceptance, it is claimed that users' first impressions of trust affect behavioral intention, but demographic factors do not impact initial trust and willingness (Chiu et al., 2017). The mediating role of attitude towards behavioral intention in mobile banking usage is examined and it is stated that perceived usefulness and ease of use do not affect intention at a significant level, perceived reliability is effective in terms of adaption, and people mostly refuse to adapt thereto because of perceived risk (Shanmugam et al., 2014). In the study examining the mediating role of perceived usefulness and ease of use on attitude, it is stated that resistance affects ease of use and risk affects the benefit negatively (Raza et al., 2017).

In a study conducted in Jordan, where perceived trust is used as a mediator on intention to use, it is claimed that perceived usefulness and ease of use affect intention significantly and positively through the trust factor (Al-Sharafi et al., 2017). The study investigating the mediating role of perceived trust in mobile banking usage reveals that online rumors, ease of navigation, personalization, information quality and rewards affect usage (Zalloum et al., 2019). Another study investigating the mediating role of factors in mobile banking use states that self-efficacy affects adaptation through perceived ease of use, while perceived usefulness and trust are also effective in terms of adoption (Kumar et al., 2020).

3. Methodology

3.1 Universe and sample

In order to determine the mediating effect of the factors that determine mobile banking usage, the data has been collected randomly from the students studying at the associate, undergraduate, graduate, and doctorate levels at Ataturk University in Turkey.

It has been calculated that the sample size should be at least 384 with a 5% error margin within 95% confidence limits to represent the population correctly. In this framework, questionnaires have been applied to 550 students, and 500 complete and error-free questionnaires have been analyzed.

3.2 Measure

The Technology Acceptance Model developed by Davis (1989) has been extended and adapted by researchers in many ways. In the data collected from the participants using a face-to-face questionnaire method with a random sampling technique, a scale developed by adapting different sources has been used to determine the relationships between factors.

In this context, the factors that make up the scale structure of the research, the definitions, the variables they have and the scale in which the resources are used are given in Table 1.

Factor	Description	Variable	Resource
Perceived Usefulness	The belief that using new technology will improve business performance	PU1, PU2, PU3, PU4, PU5	Davis (1989), Gefen et al. (2003), Lee et al. (2009)
Perceived Ease of Use	The belief that a new technology can be used easily	PEOU1, PEOU2, PEOU3, PEOU4, PEOU5	Davis (1989), Venkatesh et al. (2003), Luarn & Lin (2005)
Trust	The belief that new technology can be used without worry	T1, T2, T3, T4, T5	McKnight et al. (2002), Kim et al. (2009), Chong et al. (2010)
Mobile Banking Usage	The behavior occurs as a result of the desire to use new technology	MBU1, MBU2, MBU3	Sripalawat et al. (2011), Zhou (2011), Teo et al. (2012)

Table 1 Scale structure of the research

Source: Authors

The factors in Table 1 have been measured through a 5-point Likert scale (i.e., 1 = Strongly disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Undecided, 4 = Agree, 5 = Strongly agree) to determine the participants' attitudes towards mobile banking usage. The 10 questions in the first part of the questionnaire form measure the demographic characteristics of the participants, whereas the 18 questions in the second part measure their perceptions and attitudes towards the factors discussed in the research.

3.3 Hypotheses

The definitions and hypotheses regarding the variables used in the research are given below:

3.3.1 Trust

Trust is one of the requirements of eliminating uncertainties in the relationships with other people, groups, or social structures in situations involving uncertainty or risk (Okeke & Okpala, 2014). The concept of trust mentioned within the scope of the study is the belief that personal information cannot be seen or shared by others in the use of mobile banking, that system vulnerabilities are eliminated and necessary precautions are taken.

H1a: There is a significant and positive relationship between trust and perceived usefulness.

H1b: There is a significant and positive relationship between trust and perceived ease of use.

H2a: There is a significant and positive relationship between trust and mobile banking usage (for Model I).

H2b: There is a significant and positive relationship between trust and mobile banking usage (for Model II).

3.3.2 Perceived usefulness

Perceived usefulness refers to positive or negative thoughts that individuals have about their performance increases due to using technology, depending on their individual differences (Davis, 1989). The concept of perceived usefulness stated in this study is the belief that stating the advantages of this platform clearly and accurately can increase digital service channel adaption and utilization rates.

H3a: There is a significant and positive relationship between perceived usefulness and mobile banking usage.

3.3.3 Perceived ease of use

Perceived ease of use is the degree to which an individual believes that he/she easily comprehends a technology without showing extra effort (Davis, 1989). Within the scope of the study, this concept is the belief that factors such as simple interfaces, uncomplicated screens, directive warnings and understandable expressions of the platform positively affect the perception of convenience of the user.

H3b: There is a significant and positive relationship between perceived ease of use and mobile banking usage.

3.3.4 Mobile banking usage

Adaption of innovation is a sort of judgment about making the most of technological developments. Accordingly, concepts such as intention, implementation, satisfaction and utilization are considered as a kind of representation of this judgment (Kumar et al., 2020). In this context, the use of mobile banking is the belief that user experience from this platform is transferred to others with satisfaction and the desire to repeat it positively affects the usage.

H4a: Perceived usefulness has a mediating role in the relationship between trust and mobile banking usage.

H4b: Perceived ease of use has a mediating role in the relationship between trust and mobile banking usage.

Figure 1 Research model and hypotheses

3.4 Research model

The effect of the trust factor as an independent variable on the acceptance and mobile banking usage has been examined by establishing two separate models through the mediating roles of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use and the hypotheses have been formed accordingly. Since these hypotheses express the effect of mediating factors in the relationship between trust and mobile banking, they are not included in Figure 1.



Source: Based on the mediation analyses, Process Model 4 (Hayes, 2015)

4. Results

Tables providing descriptive statistics of variables, demographic characteristics of users, mean and standard deviation values of factors, goodness-offit values of models, direct, indirect, and total effects of mediating variables, hypotheses, and significance levels of mediating variables were included in the process of analysis. SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences-v20) and AMOS (Analysis of Moment Structures-v20) programs have been used for these analyses.

4.1 Analyses and results

4.1.1 Demographic characteristics of the participants

The questions in the first part of the survey and the frequencies and percentages seen according to the demographic characteristics of the participants are given in Table 2.

Demographic Features	Variable	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Condor	Female	238	47.6
Gender	Male	262	52.4
	Under 20	93	18.6
4.50	20-25	337	67.4
Age	26-30	59	11.8
	30+	11	2.2
	Married	31	6.2
Marital Status	Single	465	93.0
	Other	4	0.8
	Vocational school	43	8.6
E du cotion	Faculty	419	83.8
Education	Master's program	28	5.6
	PhD program	10	2.0
	Student	365	73.0
Ducharian	Public sector	20	4.0
Profession	Private sector	111	22.2
	Other	4	0.8
	Under 500 TL	192	38.4
	500-1,000 TL	141	28.2
Income (Monthly)*	1,001-2,000 TL	99	19.8
	2,000+ TL	68	13.6
	Mobile banking	253	50.6
Channel	Phone banking	192	38.4
Cnannel	Branch banking	39	7.8
Channel	Other	16	3.2
	Computer	40	8.0
Diatform	Smart device	438	87.6
Platform	Pad	4	0.8
	Other	18	3.6
	Less than 1 hour	446	89.2
Mobile Banking	1-3 hours	39	7.8
Channel Usage (Daily)	3-5 hours	7	1.4
	More than 5 hours	8	1.6
	Less than 1 year	175	35.0
Mobile Banking	1-3 years	204	40.8
Channel Usage (Generally)	3-5 years	80	16.0
	More than 5 years	41	8.2

Table 2 Demographic characteristics of the participants

* Note: During the data collection period, the average EUR-TL exchange rate was 1:5. Income categories: (500TL = 100EUR, 500-1,000TL = 100-200EUR, 1,001-2,000TL = 201-400EUR, 2,000TL = 400EUR). *Source: Authors*

Considering the demographic characteristics, frequency and percentages of the participants, gender distribution is balanced (47.6% female and 52.4% male participants), most of them are between the ages of 20-25 (67.4%), and they do not have an additional job (73%) while studying. It has been found out that the participants generally use digital platforms (50.6%) in their banking transactions and they mostly perform these transactions by means of their mobile phones (87.6%). It has been observed that the participants use digital platforms for less than 1 hour (89.2%) in terms of daily mobile banking channel usage time and they generally have 1-3 years (40.8%) of experience in terms of general mobile banking channel usage time.

4.1.2 Convergent and discriminant validity statistics

The standardized regression weights of variables in Model I and Model II are given in Table 3. In order to determine the variables to be included in the model according to these variants, the effects of the variables below 0.70 on the general alpha coefficient have been tested by adding to and subtracting from the model.

Trust (T)		Perceived Usefulness (PU)		Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU)		Mobile Banking Usage (MBU)			
	Model I Model II		Mo	Model I Model		II		Model I	Model II
T1	0.71	0.70	PU1	0.75	PEOU1	0.83	MBU1	0.88	0.88
T2	0.85	0.85	PU2	0.81	PEOU2	0.49	MBU2	0.91	0.91
Т3	0.63	0.63	PU3	0.79	PEOU3	0.84	MBU3	0.90	0.90
T4	0.73	0.72	PU4	0.67	PEOU4	0.82			
T5	0.79	0.80	PU5	0.77	PEOU5	0.84			

Table 3 Standardized regression weights (Model I and Model II)

Source: Authors

The overall alpha coefficient of the Trust (T) scale has been found as 0.87. The Cronbach's alpha value will decrease if the T3 variable is deleted. The overall alpha coefficient of the Perceived Usefulness (PU) scale has been found as 0.88. The general alpha value will decrease if the PU4 variable is deleted. The overall alpha coefficient of the Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU) scale has been found as 0.88. If the PEOU2 variable is deleted, the overall alpha value (0.90), the Composite Reliability (CR) value (0.90), the Average Variance Extracted (AVE) value (0.69), and the square root of the AVE value (0.83) will increase.

The Cronbach alpha reliability coefficient value in Table 4 was used to determine the reliability of the scale used in the study.

Table 4 Construct	reliability	and validity	analysis	results
			~	

	Cronbach's Alpha > 0.70	Composite Reliability CR > 0.70	Average Variance Extracted AVE > 0.50	
Trust (T)	0.87	0.86	0.56	
Perceived Usefulness (PU)	0.88	0.87	0.58	
Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU)	0.88	0.88	0.60	
Mobile Banking Usage (MBU)	0.92	0.92	0.80	

Source: Authors

Convergent validity is ensured because the AVE value is more significant than 0.50. The CR value is greater than 0.70, which shows that it is reliable. The construct reliability and validity analysis results are

given in Table 4. Discriminant validity indicates how a given construct differs from other constructs. The Fornell-Larcker criterion was used for discriminant validity. Fornell and Larcker (1981) suggest that the AVE should be greater than the variance between the construct and other constructs in the model. Table

5 for Model I has three constructs (Trust, Perceived Usefulness and Mobile Banking Usage).

	Mobile Banking Usage	Perceived Usefulness	Trust
Mobile Banking Usage	0.89		
Perceived Usefulness	0.73	0.76	
Trust	0.73	0.72	0.75

Table 5 Fornell-Larcker criterion for Model I

Source: Authors

The Fornell-Larcker criterion compares the square root of AVE values with latent variable correlations. In particular, the square root of each structure's AVE should be greater than its highest correlation with any other construct. When the values in the table are examined, it is seen that the first value in each column from top to bottom is greater than the others. In each row, it is seen that the last value from left to right is greater than the others. At the same time, it is seen that the intersections of these values in the specified directions are arranged on the diagonal from the largest to the smallest thus providing discriminant validity.

Table 6 for Model II has three constructs (Trust, Perceived Ease of Use and Mobile Banking Usage).

Table 6 Fornell-Larcker criterion for Model II

	Mobile Banking Usage	Perceived Ease of Use	Trust
Mobile Banking Usage	0.89		
Perceived Ease of Use	0.77	0.78	
Trust	0.73	0.74	0.75

Source: Authors

According to the values given in Table 6, it is seen that the square root of the AVE value on the diagonal is greater than the correlation values below the diagonal and the left-hand side of the diagonal, so discriminant validity is provided for Model II.

4.1.3 Confirmatory factor analysis results of Model I

Confirmatory factor analysis used to test the validity of Model I, which examines the perceived usefulness mediating effect on trust in mobile banking usage, is given in Figure 2.

Figure 2 AMOS output confirmatory factor analysis of Model I



Note: PU = Perceived Usefulness, T = Trust, MBU = Mobile Banking Usage *Source: Authors*

Appropriate measures of confirmatory factor analysis are shown in Table 7. With a χ^2 value (χ^2 = 195.14, df: 60 p = 0.000), this ratio is accepted as a goodness-of-fit measure of the model for this cri-

terion. Goodness-of-fit indices for the model are shown in Table 7. GFI, AGFI, CFI, NFI, TLI, and RMSEA values are above the acceptable level.

Table 7 Fit indices for confirmatory factor analysis of Model I

Model	X ²	df	CMIN/ DF ≤ 5	GFI ≥.85	AGFI ≥.80	CFI ≥.90	NFI ≥.90	TLI ≥.90	RMSEA ≤ 0.08
Model I	195.14	60	3.25	0.95	0.92	0.97	0.96	0.96	0.07

Note: AGFI = Adjusted Goodness-of-Fit-Index, CFI = Comparative Fit Index, GFI = Goodness-of-Fit Index, NFI = Normed Fit Index, RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation, TLI= Tucker-Levis Index *Source: Based on the goodness-of-fit values (Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003)*

4.1.4 Confirmatory factor analysis results of Model II Confirmatory factor analysis used to test the validity of Model II, which examines the perceived ease of use mediating effect on trust in mobile banking usage, is given in Figure 3.

Figure 3 AMOS output confirmatory factor analysis of Model II



Note: PEOU = Perceived Ease of Use, T = Trust, MBU = Mobile Banking Usage *Source: Authors*

Appropriate measures of confirmatory factor analysis are shown in Table 8. With a χ^2 value (χ^2 = 225.03, df: 61 p = 0.000), this ratio is accepted as a goodness-of-fit measure of the model for this cri-

terion. Goodness-of-fit indices for the model are shown in Table 8. GFI, AGFI, CFI, NFI, TLI, and RMSEA values are above the acceptable level.

Table .	8 Fit	indices	for	confirmat	orv factor	analysis	of	Model	11
Inon	0111	innices	וטו	conjunia	σι γ μισισι	unuiysis	v	moner	

Model	X ²	df	CMIN/ DF ≤ 5	GFI ≥.85	AGFI ≥.80	CFI ≥.90	NFI ≥.90	TLI ≥.90	RMSEA ≤ 0.08
Model II	225.03	61	3.69	0.94	0.91	0.97	0.95	0.96	0.07

Note: AGFI = Adjusted Goodness-of-Fit-Index, CFI = Comparative Fit Index, GFI = Goodness-of-Fit Index, NFI = Normed Fit Index, RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation, TLI = Tucker-Levis Index *Source: Based on the goodness-of-fit values (Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003)*

4.3 Research model

The AMOS output of the structural equation model

of Model I, which examines the perceived usefulness mediating effect of trust in mobile banking usage, is given in Figure 4. Figure 4 Research model for mediating effect of perceived usefulness (Model I)



Note: PU = Perceived Usefulness, T = Trust, MBU = Mobile Banking Usage *Source: Authors*

The goodness-of-fit values of Model I, in which the mediating effect of perceived usefulness is exam-

ined, can be found in Table 9.

Table 9 Goodness-of-fit values of Model I

Variable	X ²	df	CMIN/ DF ≤ 5	GFI ≥.85	AGFI ≥.80	CFI ≥.90	NFI ≥.90	TLI ≥.90	RMSEA ≤ 0.08
Model I	195.14	60	3.25	0.95	0.92	0.97	0.96	0.96	0.07

Note: AGFI = Adjusted Goodness-of-Fit-Index, CFI = Comparative Fit Index, GFI = Goodness-of-Fit Index, NFI = Normed Fit Index, RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation, TLI = Tucker-Levis Index *Source: Based on the goodness-of-fit values (Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003)*

The AMOS output of the structural equation model of Model II, which examines perceived ease of use

mediating effect of trust in mobile banking usage, is given in Figure 5.





Note: PEOU = Perceived Ease of Use, T = Trust, MBU = Mobile Banking Usage *Source: Authors*

The goodness-of-fit values of Model II, in which the mediated effect of perceived ease of use is exam-

ined, can be found in Table 10.

Variable	X ²	df	CMIN/ DF ≤ 5	GFI ≥.85	AGFI ≥.80	CFI ≥.90	NFI ≥.90	TLI ≥.90	RMSEA ≤ 0.8
Model II	225.03	61	3.69	0.94	0.91	0.97	0.95	0.96	0.07

Table 10 Goodness-of-fit values of Model II

Note: AGFI = Adjusted Goodness-of-Fit-Index, CFI = Comparative Fit Index, GFI = Goodness-of-Fit Index, NFI = Normed Fit Index, RMSEA = Root Mean Square Error of Approximation, TLI = Tucker-Levis Index *Source: Based on the goodness-of-fit values (Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003)*

The measure of the goodness-of-fit has been examined to see how well the predetermined research model explained the data obtained in the structural equation model. When the goodness-of-fit measures of Model I in Table 9 have been examined, it is seen that the values of χ^2 /df, GFI, AGFI, CFI, NFI, TLI and RMSEA are among the recommended acceptable fit values. Likewise, when the goodness-

of-fit measures of Model II in Table 10 have been examined, it is seen that the values of χ^2 /df, GFI, AGFI, CFI, NFI, TLI and RMSEA are among the recommended acceptable fit values.

Structural relations of the models, standard and non-standard loads, standard error, t-value (critical ratio), p-value and hypothesis results are shown in Table 11.

Structura	al Relations of Model	Non- Standard Loads	Standard Loads (sl)	Standard Error (se)	Critical Ratio (t)	P Value	Decision
	H1a: PU <- T	0.89	0.85	0.06	15.18	0.000*	Accepted
Model I	H2a: MBU <- T	0.59	0.50	0.10	6.25	0.000*	Accepted
	H3a: MBU <- PU	0.46	0.40	0.09	5.025	0.000*	Accepted
Model II	H1b: PEOU <- T	0.98	0.87	0.06	17.81	0.000*	Accepted
	H2b: MBU <- T	0.52	0.44	0.10	5.38	0.000*	Accepted
	H3b: MBU <-PEOU	0.48	0.46	0.09	5.62	0.000*	Accepted

Table 11 Evaluation of hypotheses

*p < 0.001

Source: Authors

When p- and t- values given in Table 11 are evaluated, H1a, H1b, H2a, H2b, H3a and H3b are accepted at a 0.05 significance level. The results of factor relationships, mediated and direct effects, the indirect effect and the mediating level in the models are given in Table 12.

Table 12 Significance level of the mediator variable

Model	Relation	Direct Effect	Mediated Direct	Indirect Effect
Model I	H4a: T-PU-MBU	0.84 (0.000)*	0.50 (0.000)*	0.34
Model II	H4b: T-PEOU-MBU	0.84 (0.000)*	0.44 (0.000)*	0.40

* Two-Tailed Significance (BC) Source: Authors According to the data in Table 12, H4a and H4b are accepted at a 0.05 significance level. When the values in Table 12 are examined, it is seen that trust has a direct effect on mobile banking usage (r = 0.84; p = 0.000).

For Model I, the direct effect is 0.84, the mediated direct effect is 0.50, and the indirect effect is 0.34 in terms of the relationship between trust and mobile banking usage. By including perceived usefulness as a mediating variable in this relationship, a decrease in the effect shows that there is a partial mediating effect.

Similarly, for Model II, the direct effect is 0.84, the mediated direct effect is 0.44, and the indirect effect is 0.40 in terms of the relationship between trust and mobile banking usage. By including perceived ease of use as a mediating variable in this relationship, a decrease in the effect indicates a partial mediating effect.

5. Discussion

This study aims to shed light on the effect of trust in mobile banking use on perceived usefulness and ease of use tool variables for university students.

The study results are compatible with many studies in the field of adaptation and use of digital banking channels. The first hypothesis shows that increased confidence in mobile banking use increases perceived usefulness and ease of use. With this result, H1a and H1b hypotheses are accepted and studies in this context are supported in the literature (Davis, 1989).

The findings of the second hypothesis reveal that an increase in trust in mobile banking increases the usage rate. With this result, H2a and H2b hypotheses are accepted and studies in this context are supported in the literature (Riquelme & Rios, 2010).

The findings of the third hypothesis shows that usefulness and ease of use of mobile banking increased its usage. With this result, H3a and H3b hypotheses are accepted and studies in this context are supported in the literature (Kabakuş & Küçükoğlu, 2019b).

The findings related to the fourth hypothesis reveal that these factors have a mediating effect since perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use as mediating variables reduce the effect of trust on mobile banking use. With this result, H4a and H4b hypotheses are accepted and studies in this context are supported in the literature (Luarn & Lin, 2005). When the findings related to the hypotheses are examined, it is revealed that the feeling of trust that university students have while using mobile banking, which is one of the digital banking platforms, has a direct and an indirect effect on the usage. In parallel with most studies in the literature, it has been seen that trust, which is used as an independent variable, is a direct and highly influential factor in the use of mobile banking, as in the use of any digital tool. It is seen that perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use used as a mediating factor in this study also directly and indirectly affect the use both as a fully independent and mediating variable in the literature.

It has been observed that the factors of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use used in the study cause a decrease in the severity of the relationship between trust and mobile banking usage as a mediator variable. To put it more clearly, trust in the use of mobile banking increases the perception of usefulness and usability, and it has been revealed that these factors play a partial mediating role in the relationship between trust and mobile banking use.

In this context, the study sample has been collected from 550 students enrolled in different degree programs (vocational school, faculty, Master's program, PhD program) at a state university. The data obtained from university students who are considered more suitable in terms of criteria, such as the number of active mobile banking users, age range, education level, technology literacy, digital adaptation, predisposition, perception level, and so on, have been analyzed by using SEM. In addition, instead of modeling, in which the effect of full independent variables on the dependent variable is examined directly, the mediating effects of two different mediating variables on the dependent variable have been examined through two separate models. In this respect, it is aimed to bring a different perspective than most of the studies in this context in the literature.

6. Conclusion

The transformations brought about by digitalization are closely related to the banking sector and therefore to us as end-users. In addition to being fast and practical, they enable customizability, usability, accessibility, portability, inexpensiveness, variety of operations, and so on. Thanks to their advantages, digital banking channels can offer a more positive banking experience than their alternative ones. In addition to these advantages, disadvantages such as system problems, connection requirement, update requirement, complexity, difficulty of use, a purely virtual environment, and security vulnerabilities, can negatively affect user preferences.

Taking all these issues into account, researching the factors that push users to use digital banking channels is an increasingly important field of study. In this context, the effect of trust in the use of mobile banking has been examined through the variables of perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. The results reveal that for individuals, especially university students, who have a dynamic digital environment, trust plays a critical role in preferring these platforms, and considering these platforms as handy and useful has a positive effect on their use.

The experimental results of the study provide an important reference for future studies so that the models can be adapted and validated in developing countries like Turkey. Moreover, the proposed models can help to understand user trends not only for banks but also for all stakeholders providing services through the mobile platform. In this respect, it is believed that the findings of this study will contribute to the literature academically and industrially.

7. Limitations and future directions

The study has some limitations. The data were collected only from certain users, such as university students, in a limited region. Therefore, collecting data on other profiles belonging to different age groups, occupations and cultures may be helpful in order to generalize the findings. In addition, by applying the prepared survey study to channels other than mobile banking, it may be possible to make more comprehensive predictions about the development and future of the banking sector. Finally, it is thought that the results obtained with different analysis tools and approaches to be used in the theoretical and practical applications of the defended view can contribute to the literature in many more areas and be useful for reference to future studies.

References

- Al-Sharafi, M. A., Arshah, R. A., Abo-Shanab, E. A. & Elayah, N. (2016). The Effect of Security and Privacy Perceptions on Customers' Trust to Accept Internet Banking Services: An Extension of TAM. *Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, 11(3), 545-552.
- 2. Al-Sharafi, M. A., Arshah, R. A., Herzallah, F. A. T. & Alajmi, Q. (2017). The Effect of Perceived Ease of Use and Usefulness on Customers Intention to Use Online Banking Services: The Mediating Role of Perceived Trust. *International Journal of Innovative Computing*, 7(1), 9-14.
- 3. Alkan, Ö., Küçükoğlu, H. & Tutar, G. (2021). Modeling of the Factors Affecting E-Commerce Use in Turkey by Categorical Data Analysis. *International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications*, *12*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.14569/IJACSA.2021.0120113
- Boonsiritomachai, W. & Pitchayadejanant, K. (2019). Determinants Affecting Mobile Banking Adoption by Generation Y Based on The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology Model Modified by the Technology Acceptance Model Concept. *Kasetsart Journal of Social Sciences*, 40(2), 349-358.
- Cheah, C. M., Teo, A. C., Sim, J. J., Oon, K. H. & Tan, B. I. (2011). Factors Affecting Malaysian Mobile Banking Adoption: An Empirical Analysis. *International Journal of Network and Mobile Technologies*, 2(3), 149-160.
- 6. Chiu, J. L., Bool, N. C. & Chiu, C. L. (2017). Challenges and Factors Influencing Initial Trust and Behavioral Intention to Use Mobile Banking Services in the Philippines. *Asia Pacific Journal of Innovation and Entrepreneurship*, *11*(2), 246-278. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJIE-08-2017-029
- Chong, A. Y. L. Keng-Boon, O., Binshan, L. & Boon-In, T. (2010). Online Banking Adoption: An Empirical Analysis. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 28(4), 267-287. https://doi.org/10.1108/02652321011054963
- Çelik, A. K. & Kabakuş, A. K. (2015). Do E-government Services 'Really' Make Life Easier? Analyzing Demographic Indicators of Turkish Citizens' E-government Perception Using Ordered Response Models. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(1), 185-194. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n1p185
- 9. Davis, F. D. (1985). A Technology Acceptance Model for Empirically Testing New End-User Information Systems: Theory and Results [Unpublished PhD Thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology]. Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use and User Acceptance of Information Technology. *MIS Quarterly, September*, 13(3), 319-340. https://doi.org/10.2307/249008
- Davis, F., Bagozzi, R. & Warshaw, P. (1989). User Acceptance of Computer Technology: A Comparison of Two Theoretical Models. *Management Science*, 35(8), 982-1003. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982
- 12. Dymi, A. (2012). Social Media, Gen Y, Leading Online Banking Interactions. *National Mortgage News*, 35(14), 21.
- 13. Fornell, C. & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error: Algebra and Statistics. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *18*(3), 382-388. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224378101800313
- Gefen, D., Karahanna, E. & Straub, D. W. (2003). Trust and TAM in Online Shopping: An Integrated Model. *MIS Quarterly*, 27(1), 51-90. https://doi.org/10.2307/30036519
- Hajiyev, J. & Chang, C. T. (2017). Gen Y Members' Mobile Banking Adoption Intention and Actual Use in Azerbaijan and Turkey: The Technology Acceptance Model and Social Cognitive Theory Approach. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 22(7), 23.
- Hayes, A. F. (2015). An Index and Test of Linear Moderated Mediation. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 50, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1080/00273171.2014.962683

- Hussain, M. & Wong, C. (2015). The Online Banking Behavior of Generation Y. In Proceedings of the XIV International Business and Economy Conference Bangkok. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2549898
- Kabakuş, A. K. & Küçükoğlu, H. (2019a). The Effect of Risk Sharing on the Digitalization Process in Banking Sector. Hoca Ahmet Yesevi 2. Uluslararası Bilimsel Araştırmalar Kongresi, 6-8 Aralık 2019 Erzurum, Sosyal ve Beşeri Bilimler Tam Metin Kitabı, 596-613.
- Kabakuş, A. K. & Küçükoğlu, H. (2019b). Call Center Employees Perceptions of Preferences on Mobile Banking: A Study in Erzurum. *Hoca Ahmet Yesevi 2. Uluslararası Bilimsel Araştırmalar Kongresi, 6-8 Aralık 2019 Erzurum, Sosyal ve Beşeri Bilimler Tam Metin Kitabı,* 614-630.
- Kesharwani, A. & Singh Bisht, S. (2012). The Impact of Trust and Perceived Risk on Internet Banking Adoption in India: An Extension of Technology Acceptance Model. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 30(4), 303-322. https://doi.org/10.1108/02652321211236923
- Kim, G., Shin, B. & Lee, H. G. (2009). Understanding Dynamics between Initial Trust and Usage Intentions of Mobile Banking. *Information Systems Journal*, 19(3), 283-311. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2575.2007.00269.x
- Kumar, A., Dhingra, S., Batra, V. & Purohit, H. (2020). A Framework of Mobile Banking Adoption in India. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market and Complexity*, 6(40), 11-13. https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc6020040
- Lee, H. J., Lim, H., Jolly, L. D. & Lee, J. (2009). Consumer Lifestyles and Adoption of High-Technology Products: A Case of South Korea. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 21(2), 153-167. https://doi.org/10.1080/08961530802153854
- 24. Luarn, P. & Lin, H. H. (2005). Toward an Understanding of the Behavioral Intention to Use Mobile Banking. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 21(6), 873–891. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2004.03.003
- McKnight, D. H., Choudhury, V. & Kacmar, C. (2002). Developing and Validating Trust Measures for E-Commerce: An Integrative Typology. *Information Systems Research*, 13(3), 334-359. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.13.3.334.81
- 26. Okeke, T. & Okpala, C. (2014). Discrete Analysis of Demography and Electronic Banking Usage in Nigeria. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, *19*(2), 1-14.
- 27. Olasina, G. (2015). Factors Influencing the Use of M-Banking by Academics: Case Study. *The African Journal of Information Systems*, 7(4), 54-79.
- Raza, S. A., Umer, A. & Shah, N. (2017). New Determinants of Ease of Use and Perceived Usefulness for Mobile Banking Adoption. *International Journal of Electronic Customer Relationship Management*, 11(1), 44-60. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJECRM.2017.086751
- 29. Riquelme, H. E. & Rios, R. E. (2010). The Moderating Effect of Gender in the Adoption of Mobile Banking. International Journal of Bank Marketing, 28(5), 328-341. https://doi.org/10.1108/02652321011064872
- 30. Ruangkanjanases, A. & Wongprasopchai, S. (2017). Adoption of Mobile Banking Services: An Empirical Examination between Gen Y and Gen Z in Thailand. *Journal of Telecommunication, Electronic and Computer Engineering*, 9(3-5), 197-202.
- 31. Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H. & Müller, H. (2003). Evaluating the Fit of Structural Equation Models: Tests of Significance and Descriptive Goodness-of-Fit Measures. *Psychological Research Methods Online*, 8(2), 23-74.
- Shankar, A. & Datta, B. (2018). Factors Affecting Mobile Payment Adoption Intention: An Indian Perspective. *Global Business Review*, 19, 72-89. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150918757870
- 33. Shanmugam, A., Savarimuthu, M. T. & Chen, T. C. (2014). Factors Affecting Malaysian Behavioral Intention to Use Mobile Banking with Mediating Effects of Attitude. *Academic Research International*, *5*(2), 236-245.
- Sharma, S. K. (2019). Integrating Cognitive Antecedents into TAM to Explain Mobile Banking Behavioral Intention: A SEM-Neural Network Modeling. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 21(4), 815-827. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-017-9775-x

- Slade, E. L., Williams, M. D. & Dwivedi, Y. K. (2014). Devising a Research Model to Examine the Adoption of Mobile Payments: An Extension of UTAUT2. *The Marketing Review*, 310-335. https://doi.org/10.1362/146934714X14024779062036
- 36. Sripalawat, J., Thongmak, M. & Ngramyarn, A. (2011). M-Banking in Metropolitan Bangkok and a Comparison with Other Countries. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *51*(3), 67-76.
- Suh, B., & Han, I. (2002). Effect of Trust on Customer Acceptance of Internet Banking. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 1(3-4), 247-263. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1567-4223(02)00017-0
- Tan, E., Lau, J. L. & Young, B. (2016). Behavioral Intention to Adopt Mobile Banking Among the Millennial Generation. *Young Consumers*, 17(1), 18-31. https://doi.org/10.1108/YC-07-2015-00537
- Teo, A. C., Tan, G. W. H., Cheah, C. M., Ooi, K. B. & Yew, K. T. (2012). Can The Demographic and Subjective Norms Influence the Adoption of Mobile Banking? *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, 10(6), 578-597. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMC.2012.049757
- 40. Thakur, R. (2014). What Keeps Mobile Banking Customers Loyal? *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 32(7), 628-646. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-07-2013-0062
- Venkatesh, V., Morris M. G. & Davis, F. D. (2003). User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View. *MIS Quarterly*, 27(3), 425-478. https://doi.org/10.2307/30036540
- 42. Zalloum, L., Alghadeer, H. & Nusairat, N. (2019). The Effect of Using Mobile Banking Services Applications on Electronic Word of Mouth: The Mediating Role of Perceived Trust. *International Business Research*, *12*(9), 62-75. https://doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v12n9p62
- 43. Zhou, T. (2011). An Empirical Examination of Initial Trust in Mobile Banking. *Internet Research*, 21(5), 527-540. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662241111176353

Fulya Almaz Akdeniz University Sosyal Bilimler MYO 07070 Çallı/Antalya, Turkey fulyaalmaz@akdeniz.edu.tr JEL: A34, B54, C65 Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.2

Received: October 18, 2021 Revision received: March 7, 2022 Accepted for publishing: June 2, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



METAPHORIC IMAGES OF THE STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT CONCEPT: RESEARCH ON UPPER- AND MIDDLE-LEVEL MANAGERS

Abstract

Purpose: The purpose of this study is to explain how organizational actors create their own reality with their subjective perceptions and interpretations of organizational phenomena. In this context, strategic management, which is fed from many different disciplines, is examined in terms of what it means for its practitioners. In other words, it is questioned how the concept of strategic management is defined in the eyes of organizational actors.

Method: A qualitative research method was used to achieve the purpose determined in the study, as well as metaphor analysis, which is one of the qualitative research designs evaluated within the scope of discourse analysis. The data obtained from a total of 40 participants were subjected to content analysis and descriptive analysis.

Result: As a result of the obtained data set analysis, it was determined that the participants produced impressive metaphors while defining the concept of strategic management. In addition, it was noted that the participants defined the concept of strategic management with sometimes similar and sometimes almost the same metaphors.

Conclusion: According to the analysis results, the dominant images among the managers match the definition of the concept of strategic management. In addition, it has been concluded that the shared reality among organizational actors is regular, clear and understandable, and that the dominant images in the shared reality are strong. Furthermore, **1**) this article reveals how the concept of strategic management defined by academics is perceived by practitioners, **2**) it was observed that the participants exhibited consensus rather than conflict in their evaluations of the concept of strategic management, and **3**) the different metaphors used are considered as proof that the strategic management field has a lively, active and broad intellectual content.

Keywords: Strategic management, strategic management perception, perception, metaphor, metaphor analysis

1. Introduction

The defining efforts exhibited at the organizational context level are basically based on the acceptance of differences. Despite the different meanings, the organization itself turns into a set of meanings through symbols and is reconstructed with some discourse patterns (Schultz, 1995). In fact, Wittgenstein (1968), who denied that organizations are concrete entities, stated that all organizational activities are much more than thoughts, words and actions, and organizational facts are nothing but symbols. As a result of the effort to understand organizations through cultural and symbolic approaches, anthropological expressions including values, ceremonies, beliefs, legends, myths and symbols and linguistic expressions including metaphors have started to take place in the relevant literature (Bolman & Deal, 1991; Smircich, 1983).

Based on the assumption that organizations are fixed and rigid, researches have been replaced by studies in which organizations are evaluated as dynamic and changing structures over time (Phillips & Hardy, 2002). This was the best research method at that time and its discourse has been replaced by methodological diversity. In fact, the ideas have been strengthened that using the same methods will narrow their perspectives and that using new, diverse and different methods will broaden their perspectives. With the linguistic expansion of Lakoff and Johnson (1980) and the methodological contribution of Schmitt (2005), the concept of metaphor has inspired many studies (e.g. Morgan, 1986; Sackmann, 1989; Inns, 2002; Kendall & Kendall, 1993; Erdem & Satır, 2003; Gibson & Zellmer-Bruhn, 2001; Phillips & Hardy, 2002). The use of metaphors in studies on understanding such organizations and management has contributed to the diversification of organization and management discussions. At this point, the following questions about strategic management come to mind: What does strategic management, nourished by so many different disciplines, mean for its practitioners? In other words, how is the concept of strategic management defined in the eyes of the actors operating in the organization? On the other hand, how do practitioners create their own reality with their subjective perceptions and interpretations of organizational phenomena?

Based on the inspiration created by the information presented above, the purpose of this study is to explain how organizational actors create their own reality with their subjective perceptions and interpretations of organizational phenomena. Therefore, what the concept of strategic management defined by academics means for practitioners will be examined through metaphors. For this purpose, data were collected through interviews with top and middle managers working in the Turkey representative office of an international company through a semi-structured interview. The data obtained from a total of 40 participants were subjected to content analysis and descriptive analysis. The emerging themes were classified and interpreted in line with the purpose of the research.

The fact that such a study has not been done before in the field of strategic management reveals the originality of the research in question, but it is expected that this article will make two main contributions to the literature: 1) to reveal how the concept of strategic management defined by academics is perceived by practitioners, and 2) to reveal how organizational actors create their own reality with their subjective perceptions and interpretations of organizational phenomena.

2. Conceptual framework

2.1 Efforts to define the strategic management area

When the intellectual roots in the field of strategic management are examined, it is seen that the first studies in the context of the business world were made in the 1960s. For example, Chandler (1962) focused on how the General Motors, DuPont, Standard Oil of New Jersey, and Sears companies grew, and with this study, he created the traditional strategic management understanding. Andrews (1965) made suggestions on how to construct good strategies based on the opportunities and the threats arising from the external environment and the strengths and the weaknesses of the companies by means of the still valid SWOT analysis. In his study, which is the main source of strategic planning, Ansoff (1965) made necessary suggestions for making strategic planning in various fields of an enterprise.

In the following years, for example, the relationship between growth and diversification strategies (Wrigley, 1970), the effects of diversification and organizational structures on performance (Rumelt et al., 1974), market conditions, the relationship between strategy and performance (Schoeff, 1972) and issues such as relationship (Hatten et al., 1978) have been included in the studies in the field of strategic management.

When these studies are evaluated together, it will be seen that strategic management issues are approached as normative. However, in 1979, when Schendel and Hofer redefined the field of strategic management through the concept of business policy, and in 1980, under the editorship of Schendel, the Strategic Management Journal (SMJ) was launched, and there has been a strong shift towards the tradition of science (Rumelt et al., 1994).

With this shift, the definition of the concept of strategic management has also diversified. For example, Schendel and Hofer (1979) defined strategic management as the process of developing and using strategy to guide the growth, renewal and operations of the organization. According to Jemison (1981), strategic management is a process that organizations develop to coordinate the opportunities and constraints in their environment. Teece (1990) defined strategic management as the formulation, implementation and evaluation of a firm's managerial activities.

When these definitions are examined, it is seen that there are various definitions that express uncertainty about what the strategic management area is about and how it differs from the related areas, even though they do not fall apart from each other (Nag et al., 2007). The main reason for this diversity is that the field of strategic management intersects with disciplines such as sociology, psychology, economics, marketing, and finance (Hambrick, 2004; Bowman et al., 2002), and the academics working in the field of strategic management are trained in these disciplinary fields.

Although a general definition can be made based on the definitions specified, the meanings attributed to the concept of strategic management may differ. One of the most striking studies in this sense is a study conducted by Nag et al. in 2007. In this study, the authors aimed to determine a unique and distinctive definition of the field. To achieve this goal, they carried out their work in two mutually supporting phases. In the first stage, a large group of strategic management scientists was asked to evaluate the abstracts of 447 articles published in management journals. As a result of this evaluation, they determined that the evaluators achieved a high level of consensus. In the second stage, they applied a questionnaire to 57 academics to confirm the agreed definition. As a result of these efforts, researchers proved the existence of a strong common bond in the definition of the strategic management field. In addition, they found that the field of strategic management is interested in a constantly changing set of theoretical and practical research. The authors stated that this study contributes to framing the discussion about what scientists working in the field of strategic management want the field to be and what the field will be like. In addition, the authors stated that the common definition acts as a filter, and scientific studies that do not comply with this definition will remain outside the field of strategic management and attract related studies like a magnet.

2.2 Metaphor analysis as a way of defining the concept of strategic management

These and similar efforts, exhibited at the organizational context level, are mainly based on the acceptance of differences. As such, approaching an organization only as adaptive mechanisms and purposeful means means mechanizing it, and this effort entails the danger of reductionism (Smircich, 1983). As Giddens (2005) emphasizes, the people who make up the organization are an integral part of these contexts beyond their interaction with social contexts. Therefore, human constructs a social reality with the spiral of interaction and relationships (Smircich, 1983). Reality is unique to the individual (Burrel & Morgan, 1979), resulting in individuals attributing different meanings to a similar phenomenon or situation (Schultz, 1995). Despite the different meanings, the organization itself turns into a set of meanings through symbols and is reconstructed with some discourse patterns. According to Foucault, discourse is a structure that shapes the whole world and actors and it consists of thoughts, beliefs, judgments, values, symbols, words, letters, institutions, norms, traditions and language, and contains a hierarchical structure and power relationship (Baş & Akturan, 2017). In fact, Wittgenstein (1968), who denied that organizations are concrete entities, stated that all organizational activities are much more than thoughts, words and actions, and organizational facts are nothing but symbols.

As a result of the effort to understand organizations through cultural and symbolic approaches, anthropological expressions including values, ceremonies, beliefs, legends, myths and symbols and linguistic expressions including metaphors have started to take place in the relevant literature (Bolman & Deal, 1991; Smircich, 1983). By using these concepts, organizations can be analyzed as animated cultural values that bind their members.

When the related literature is examined, the concept of metaphor has started to take place in interdisciplinary studies with the work of Lakoff and Johnson (1980). Criticizing Lakoff and Johnson (1980) for not proposing a systematic method, Schmitt (2005) discussed metaphor analysis as a qualitative research method and contributed to the development of the concept by proposing a procedure. The linguistic expansion of Lakoff and Johnson (1980), the methodological contribution of Schmitt (2005), and the concept of metaphor have inspired many studies.

What distinguishes metaphors from other symbols in interpretative and symbolic analyses of organizations is that individuals can map the ways of transforming organizational life into a subjective reality by passing through the stages of perception and interpretation (Erdem, 2010). Metaphor is defined as an expression with its real meaning or a form of language in which it is adapted to a different context in order to define a concept (Sackmann, 1989). With the help of metaphors, abstract concepts can be relatively easily reconstructed to understand concrete concepts we are familiar with (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2018). In addition, abstract concepts with obscurity can be transformed into known features (Lakoff & Johnson, 1982). While metaphors describe a whole situation, they turn words into a mental image. By means of this imagination, a whole situation is defined by a single image. Thus, metaphors turn into powerful communication tools (Sackmann, 1989).

Morgan (1986) states that metaphors are used for two purposes: descriptive and prescriptive. When used for descriptive purposes, a state is defined as it exists. The use of metaphors as a qualitative data collection method falls under this category (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2018). For example, a study conducted by Morgan (1986), which aims to reinterpret organizational theories through metaphors and triggers interest in metaphors, uses metaphors to define organizations as machines, as an organism, as culture, as political systems, as brains, and as psychological prisons.

When used to transform a process, metaphors are considered to be a means of change. When the related literature is examined, it can be seen that many studies have been conducted for this purpose. For example, Sackmann (1989) examined how metaphors were used by managers of a private firm to explain their new strategies to employees. The results of this research show that metaphors such as fertilization, vaccination, and cutting are used effectively in transforming a new strategic decision into practice.

When the relevant literature is examined, it can be seen that metaphors are frequently used in studies on understanding organizations and management, and these studies contribute to the diversification of organization and management discussions. Inns (2002) examined the extent to which metaphors are used in organizational literature and revealed that metaphors are used in areas that direct perception and interpretation (hegemonic, instructional and explanatory tools) in understanding organizations (questioning established assumptions, qualitative research, deconstruction, creative thinking tools). In their study, Kendall and Kendall (1993) tried to explain managerial roles through metaphors, and it was determined that managerial roles were defined by metaphors such as captain, head of the family, commander, president, designer, guard, caregiver, president, and coach. Erdem and Satır (2003) examined the perceptions of organization members towards the cultural values of the organization through metaphors and evaluated the cultural values of the organization according to the criteria of strong, weak and positive. Gibson and Zellmer-Bruhn (2001) examined how the group work established in organizations is defined by the members of the organization, and stated that the organization members use the metaphors of social community, partnership, sports, family, and army to describe group work.

Based on the assumption that organizations are fixed and rigid, research has been replaced by studies in which organizations are evaluated as dynamic and changing structures over time (Phillips & Hardy, 2002). This is the best research method now! Their discourse has been replaced by methodological diversity. In fact, the ideas that using the same methods will narrow their perspectives and that using new, diverse and different methods will broaden their perspectives have been strengthened.

Although metaphor analysis has a disadvantage in terms of obscuring the differences hidden in details (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2006), it provides a versatile view of organization and management research, it gives flexibility (Phillips & Hardy, 2002; Schmitt, 2005), and the opportunity for researchers to evaluate the organizational system from a holistic perspective (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2006).

3. Metaphor hunt in the context of a special organization

The problems whose answers are sought within the scope of the study are those that can be answered in the light of the data obtained from the world. Efforts in this direction require that the research in question be built on an empirical basis of discussion and that a descriptive and realistic picture of the subject is presented.

Qualitative research, which is a subjective research method, is a research method that offers more indepth research on all dimensions of identified problematic issues and provides strong clues to understand why, how and which social events and phenomena are experienced (Silverman, 2005; Dey, 1993).

Research process				
Research pattern	Discourse analysis			
Analysis unit of the study	Managers at upper and middle level			
Research universe	A total of 43 persons consisting of upper- and middle-level managers of an international company			
Research sample	A total of 40 persons consisting of top and middle-level managers of the international firm			
Data collection method	Interview			
Data collection tool	Semi-structured interview			
Data analysis	Content analysis and descriptive analysis based metaphor analysis			

Table 1 An overview of the research method

Source: Developed by the researcher

As summarized in Table 1, it is deemed appropriate to use the *discourse analysis* pattern as the research design in this study, which deals with the subject or event examined in depth and evaluates the facts about the individual within its own context and in a holistic manner. In this study, managers were asked to define the concept of strategic management through *metaphors* in order to learn their perceptions, definitions, thoughts, evaluations, knowledge, and opinions about the concept of strategic management.

The top management team plays a more active role in making and implementing strategic decisions compared to other organizational members. These actors are a group that strives to gain a corporate identity and build a corporate reality by giving strategic management the importance it deserves. Therefore, in this study, the parameters of applicability, accessibility, suitability and voluntariness (Creswell, 2007) were taken into account. In this direction, interviews were held with the top and middle-level managers of an international company in Turkey. Within this framework, the selection was made based on criterion sampling, one of the purposive sampling methods. According to Maxwell (1996), purposive sampling makes it possible to collect in-depth information about the person, event or situation that is the subject of the research, and for a specific purpose. Thus, it is possible to comprehensively examine situations that are thought to have rich information, and to obtain deep explanations for facts or events (Patton, 1987). Criterion sampling, one of the purposive sampling methods, is based on studying all cases that meet a set of predetermined criteria. At this point, the mentioned criterion or criteria can be determined by the researcher (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2011). In the related study, the sample criterion was determined by the researcher, and the top and middle-level managers working in the Turkey representative office of an international company were taken as the criterion.

The company that hosted the research is a corporate company established in the 1930s, the world leader in its sector, serving in 56 countries with more than 370,000 employees. The research was conducted in the companies represented in Turkey's 11 regional offices and 70 branch offices with 20,000 employees.

In the firm, which has a horizontal organizational structure, the country president, country vice presidents, general managers, deputy general managers and regional managers constitute the upper-level management team, department directorates constitute the middle-level management team, and department vice managers and branch managers constitute the lower-level management team. Of course, different groups of actors in an organization reflect different realities. Due to the operational structure of the organization that hosted the study, the lower-level management team was not active in strategic decision making, but it was excluded from this study because it was only responsible for operations. Since this study focuses on the strategic management perceptions of top and middle-level

managers, this group formed *the data sources* (*analysis unit*) of the study.

Table 2 gives the universe and sample of this study. The middle-level managers constituted the *universe of this study* (43 actors in total). Since 2 of 43 actors that make up the universe of the study could not answer the question and 1 actor could not participate in the interview due to health problems, they were excluded from the study, and 40 actors who were interviewed constituted the *sample of the study*.

Management level	Task	Number
	Country president	1
	Country vice president	2
The second time	Coordinator	7
Opper tier	General manager	5
	Regional director	11
	Deputy regional manager	1
	Total	27
Lower tier	Department manager	16
	Total	16
GENERAL TOTAL	43	

Table 2 Participant information

Source: Developed by the researcher

The role of the researcher in metaphor analysis is of great importance (Koro-Ljungberg, 2001). The researcher can act with an identity that detects, evaluates and interprets images in the hunt for metaphors, as well as with an identity that identifies metaphors and presents them as an option to the participant, and in this way identifies, evaluates and interprets images. The role assigned by the researcher directly affects the way of obtaining data. In this study, the researcher hunted for metaphors and acted with an identity that identifies, evaluates and interprets images, and asked the participants to produce the metaphors. Therefore, in the research in question, interviews were conducted in the form of semi-structured interviews. The questions presented below guided the data collection process:

- 1. What would you compare the concept of strategic management to if I wanted you to compare the concept to an object, a shape, an animal, a plant, a living thing, a fairy-tale hero or a historical figure?
- 2. Why or why?

3. Can I get information referring to your gender, age, educational status, organizational seniority and positional seniority?

In this study, the interviews were conducted on a webinar (online) platform that allows face-to-face interaction through the *internet channel*. Thus, the features of the internet such as extending the field of research by removing the geographical boundaries, providing time and space flexibility to researchers, making communication continuous, and reducing data loss were used (Markham, 2004).

In the process of data collection, the ethics of research and qualitative research were followed and the *ethical contingency stance* (Hammersley & Atkinson, 2007) defined as minimizing the personalization threat arising from the researcher experiences was adopted.

Before planning of the interviews, the head of the company was informed about the content and progress of the study and permission was sought. In addition, before each interview, participants were informed about the study, it was stated that their participation in the study would be voluntary, that their names would not be used in the study, and that they would be assigned a pseudonym. Thus, the participants were assured of confidentiality and security in the research. In addition, in order to eliminate the social barriers between the researcher and the participant before each interview, the interview started with unstructured conversation, and efforts were made to establish trust between the researcher and the participant (King, 1994).

Content analysis and **descriptive analysis** were performed at the point of data analysis of the relevant study, and the findings obtained within the framework of the emerging themes were classified and explained in line with the research purpose. It was deemed appropriate to use the criteria of credibility (internal validity), transferability (external validity) and consistency (internal reliability) and verifiability (external reliability) in terms of meeting the eligibility criteria of the study (Yıldırım & Şimşek, 2018).

4. Discussion

During the data collection phase of the research, all of the interviews were recorded with interview notes, and the raw data text was created by writing the records in textual integrity that can be analyzed (Creswell, 2016). In this study, the themes were obtained as a result of the integration of the data collected from the field, not with a thematic frame given to the field. First of all, would you compare the concept of strategic management of the 40 participants who form the sample of the study to an object, a shape, an animal, a plant, a creature, a fairy-tale hero or a historical figure? The metaphors used were determined by evaluating their answers to the question. Later, these metaphors were grouped and each group was named a related group. Thus, the main themes and sub-themes table related to the concept of strategic management was created (Table 3).

Main theme	Sub-theme	Main theme	Sub-theme
Listorial france	Atatürk	Dlant	Tree
Historical figure	War hero	Plant	Seed
	White Rabbit		Machine
Hero of fairy tales, TV	Mythological hero		Car engine
mythology	MacGyver	Vehicle	Tanker
ing thorougy	Jerry		Train
	Lion		Robot
	Tiger		Sun
	Leopard	Object	Scales
	Chameleon		Spirit level
A * 1	Octopus		Go game
Animal	Owl	Sports and game	Chess
	Elephant		Trekking
	Cuckoo bird		Mother/father
	Deserve	Other	Life
	Kaccoon		Chemist

Table 3 Main theme and sub-themes regarding the concept of strategic management

Source: Developed by the researcher

As presented in Table 3, 40 participants used the concept of strategic management as Atatürk, war hero, White Rabbit, mythological hero, MacGyver, Jerry, lion, tiger, leopard, chameleon, octopus, owl, elephant, cuckoo, raccoon, tree, seed, machine, car engine, tanker, train, robot, sun, scales, spirit level, Go game, chess, trekking, mother/father, life and chemist metaphors to present their own reality. As a result of grouping the related metaphors, metaphor groups were formed under the names of Historical figure, Fairy tale, TV series, Cartoon and

mythological hero, Animal, Plant, Vehicle, Object, Sports and Game, and Other.

At this point, the following question arises: *What do the participants express with these metaphors in relation to the institutional expressions accepted by the scientific community while defining the concept of strategic management?* As a result of the stated curiosity, *why or why?* The question was asked, the answers given were evaluated, and a summary description text table consisting of the participant own expressions was created and presented (Table 4).

Main theme	Sub- theme	Descriptive expressions
Historical figure	Atatürk	 Atatürk's way of administration, his vision of the future, having a problem, the way they go together is strategic management He is a strategist (<i>P1</i>). I can say that Atatürk analyzed very well, managed every stage with thought and achieved the goal. He first decided what he wanted to do, then thought with whom and how he would do it Made plans according to sensitivity of the people. Progressed accordingly (<i>P32</i>).
	War hero	• A war hero has a strategy so that his army is not defeated. For example, he sets up a series of strategic games such as archers waiting behind horsemen facing front and poking the enemy. And it's based on defeating, conquering, and gaining victories. In our current world we all fight like war heroes, like war heroesThe company executives are the same, you fight with the internal customer, you try to please them, and you try to please the external customer. By the way, you also have your own personal family. This is all I think war is, you're trying to survive. Meanwhile, you may lose your family, you may lose your job, you may lose your customer, and your friendships may go bad. Keeping all of these in the balance is also a strategy (<i>P10</i>).
logy	White Rabbit	• The White Rabbit knows what he wants to do, where he wants to go. He knows for what purpose and in what ways this can be done. He drags those with him like that You need to know where to go You have to make a plan accordingly. You need to motivate your team in line with that plan You have to lock people to specific goals (<i>P8</i>).
Hero of fairy tales, TV series, cartoons and mythol	Mythological hero	• I think mythological heroes will have a greater impact on people. When we talk about strategic management, we talk about management of managerial staff that makes an impact (<i>P7</i>).
	MacGyver	• He managed to get out of every difficult situation he had. He would plan the next step of everything and overcome the events that happened to him with the means he had at his disposal. He was very familiar with the details. He could see it all and see the little details that might come in handy. He could find solutions we wouldn't have thought of in the complex situation he faced, and he could put them together. He could make an explosive out of an agricultural tool. He could do something life-saving from a tape that would never work for you. He would see the big picture and master the small details. He always thought about what awaited him after one step, he always prepared accordingly. None of us lives in an ideal world, after all. He didn't either. How do we get maximum efficiency from what we have? He has always been a source of inspiration in that regard (<i>P14</i>).
	Jerry	• Jerry's struggle with Tom, his ability to come out using his mind in one way or another, to implement those instant decisions at once, behave wisely, thinking of his own characteristics (small, fast, smart, agile) how big the person is in front of him. He acts by considering his own personal and physical characteristics rather than being or having other characteristics. It is the same in the business world if you play the game well, if you set it up correctly, strategically, it doesn't matter how big your company is (<i>P35</i>).
	Lion	 Their hunting strategies for their survival, their use of wind direction, their clear goals, taking actions according to their own needs This is management (<i>P2</i>). The lion is the king of the forests, it sits calmly, is dignified, and directs animals with its eyes and eyebrows. It is part of the game, it moves but sits down, just looks around. For some reason I thought of the leader in strategic management. Everything is planned and he checks that things are not going right within that organization (<i>P27</i>).
Animal	Tiger	• It first makes a plan and then moves towards its goal. The strategy requires very strict planning first. It requires focus on the goal Planning is done while establishing this strategy. A tiger does this, too (<i>P15</i>).
	Leopard	• Even when approaching its prey, it takes place in a planned way. The concept of hunting starts with feelings. There is sense perception. Animals are mischievous by smell. It calculates the course of the wind. Most animals calculate this when they plan. Actually, I would like to state that they use their sense organs while making strategic planning Once it approaches its prey, it approaches quietly and moves very slowly It does not progress because of mass, this time it may lose its target. When it reaches a certain point patiently, it becomes aggressive (<i>P24</i>).

Table 4 Summary descriptive statements on the concept of strategic management

	Chameleon	• you will get if you try to make decisions, you show that symptoms are so variable that you should take into account or make decisions by making use of just a fixed idea with company principles or say these are my own principles, these are not always very accurate decisions Therefore, you may need to evaluate the situation from different angles and decide accordingly <i>(P12)</i> .				
	Octopus	• It acts both synchronously and independently. Strategic management requires you to be different from others in your industry, for example. That's why I see the living octopus identical to strategic management. It can share the same environment with many different stakeholders in the same ecosystem. Both she ecosystem compatibility with both her differences show (<i>P23</i>).				
Animal	Owl	• Owl is a symbol of wisdom. It thinks a lot, is cool and tells me about strategic management because it can turn its head 360 degrees. Versatile to look, to look at the top Owl symbolizes wisdom and knowledge I think the basic knowledge is key to strategic management. I think composure is very important in strategic management You have to think calmly and do long-term planning in order to be able to act strategically. Your company must have corporate memory. Owls also have a very strong memory. They can also see very far. Foresight is very important in strategic management. The more future data you can read, the more future strategic decisions you can make (<i>P26</i>).				
	Elephant	• There are aspects that they change from summer to winter Actually, they act on instinct, but they also plan The same holds for companies, I have to make a profit in order to survive. They also plan this <i>(P29)</i> .				
	Cuckoo bird	• The cuckoo nests in other birds' nests and lays its eggs. Those eggs are raised by birds outsic of its species. I define this as a business model. The ability to manage different channels ar genres People in many different structures can be considered to have the ability to do business line with their strategy (<i>P33</i>).				
	Raccoon	• The raccoon generates different ways and ideas when trying to find food. It is intelligent, has the ability to learn fast, can immediately produce strategic alternatives and is productive. It makes planning very well in terms of reaching results. These should also be present in strategic management You cannot move without planning (<i>P37</i>).				
Plant	Tree	• A creature with a solid root, branches and fruit. I think strategic management should also be based on solid foundations Branches can be sub-departments of this administration, and fruit can be the results I have achieved A solid root actually comprises decision-makers' own experiences as well as culture and experience of two companies. Without a robust foundation not only with the decision, the objectives of our policy are very nice but difficult to achieve. In the tree, more than one branch and many leaves come together to form the tree. Although none of them alone makes sense, when the total assets of the company or institution come together, they form a large organization (i.e., the tree) (<i>P30</i>).				
	Seed	• First, we sow the seed. Then, we use the growing plant in the food field or other areas. This reminds me of planning. We need a start to plan. Whatever seed we sow, a plant related to it will come out <i>(P34).</i>				
Vehicle	Machine	• It is a state-of-the-art machine with all wheels working perfectly at the press of a button. A malfunction of one part of the machine can actually cause damage to that part or the entire system. That is why each piece has to work in a coordinated manner at the same frequency The machine goes on the road and if there is a glitch, you may need to stop on the road. For this, planning, a road map, maintenance, repair, repair teams, managers, etc., should be in control of the details. Thus, a giant machine, always oiled forward, can pass casually. Maintenance before operation and the working principles of the machine must be well-known and assimilated very well. The wheels are actually people who must have a very good grasp of their purpose. If there is a deviation there, the whole body can be damaged Any damage to those wheels can affect the whole body. When it comes to a manager, he/she must be very focused, very conscious, know where he/she is going, understand what he/she is doing, and be able to convey the return of this to the parties (<i>P5</i>).				
	Car engine	• Because a car engine is made up of almost thousands of parts. A malfunction in one of the parts causes problems in the whole engine, while an improvement in one of the parts can make the entire engine work very well. So it is with strategic management. While you can make a lot of difference by touching a particle, you can make a negative difference by making one place worse The moves that I will do strategically, good or bad, can affect the whole machine (<i>P16</i>).				

Vehicle	Tanker	• The size of the structure makes me feel like a giant tanker. When passing a giant tanker through the straits, you need to know the current, the weight of the tanker, the wind, the underwater conditions, the external conditions, the engine power of your tanker, you need to think about that current, the wind and the land parts under water and perform a maneuver you need to perform. The captain says that the tanker will turn around, but you must know that that giant tanker will cause that reaction with that force and that current. In other words, it is such a thing aimed at moving, giving its direction and passing its dangerous load through the straits without hitting here and there. Here is this strategy in my eyes. When you make what moves in business life and how that structure reacts after a certain period of time and when walk in the direction you want (<i>P21</i>).
	Train	• There are a lot of components in that organization like the train that need to act together. The main purpose is to bring that community to the same point. The mechanic gives a command, the wheels make it turn on the rail. Need to adapt (<i>P39</i>).
	Robot	• The planning and framework of strategic management must be clear. In a robotic system, things to be done beforehand are programmed (<i>P18</i>).
	Sun	• Strategy is a bit about looking down, seeing the whole and planning for the future When you look at the sun, it is an object that commands everything, looks from above, and influences the flow of our lives by causing natural events to occur If we can use it correctly, we will benefit from the benefits of the sun. If we do not use it correctly, anything can happen to us and eliminate the ozone layer problem (<i>P13</i>).
Object	Scales	• You need to balance strategy to build something happy, successful, and sustainable. There are risks, SWOT, you have accepted, there are things that can happen to you, there are things that will not occur. It is necessary to balance them In that management approach, without hurting anyone, without harming the climate, organizing the employee-employer relationship, considering the profitability of the company, scales are important in order to manage this balance. If you do not have a balance, if you do not have a strategy, you will not be able to go forward, you will not be able to build a future (P19).
	Spirit level	• Balances are very important. A spirit level balances both horizontally and vertically. Everything should be in the balance in management (<i>P28</i>).
le	Go game	• If you cannot establish the right strategy in the game, you may lose the game when you think things are going very well. The similarity of this game with strategic management only corresponds to thinking ahead, not today. Strategic management is not about saving the present. In that game, it is not the current move, but how far we can see, 5-10 that is, the next moves Managing today is not a difficult thing, it is important to see the future (<i>P4</i>).
t and gan	Chess	• Strategy must be determined in order to be successful. In order to analyze ourselves well and win, we must use resources efficiently and make the right moves, as in chess (<i>P38</i>).
Sport	Trekking	• While doing this sport, you need to walk thinking about the next step. You have to plan. You cannot say: I set out. What time will you stop where? How many clothes will you be wearing? How will your walking shoes be shaped? How much food will you get? What food will you get? For example, you walk in the August heat, but after 5 hours you get into the snow. Conditions can change completely. If you do not plan now, if you are unprepared, you will die where there is snow, you will fall, you will starve, you will disappear (<i>P11</i>).
	Mother/ father	• I perceive the strategy as the parenting of a child What I understand from strategic management is that the company has a goal. There is a place it wants to come to. It has habits and spirit. You also give the children some habits to bring them together and direct them. Then you check whether this takes place (<i>P2</i>).
Other	Life	• I would never say that the conditions are not perfect. We need to be flexible, we must change the way when it comes to location; if it is constantly good, you are going to win it, and since you should go back to the appropriate place, I'd say that you need to create your own strategy (<i>P20</i>).
	Chemist	• Imagine a chemist who has millions of different materials in front of him, taking a piece from each of them and producing a product that belongs only to him, that will never be repeated, the same cannot be done. He manages with his executive background, materials, personnel and equipment. It produces a product (<i>P22</i>).

Source: Developed by the researcher

When focusing on the descriptions of the relevant metaphors, while depicting the strategic management concept of the participants, management, foresight, goal, sustainability, effective resource use, coordination (togetherness, harmony), leadership, direction, control, planning, success, the power of the manager, motivation, fair communication, profitability, struggle, balance, change, seeing the whole, seeing details, generating solutions, determining action, knowing environmental conditions, uniqueness, difference, perception, patience, aggressiveness, calmness, wisdom, versatility, calmness, memory, experience, struggle, attention is drawn to the fact that they highlight concepts such as values, analysis, vigilance and tactics (Table 4).

The characteristics of the upper- and middle-level managers, who constitute the analysis unit of the study, were evaluated in terms of gender, age, education level, sectoral seniority, organizational seniority and positional seniority parameters. According to the evaluation of gender, it was determined that the analysis unit was mostly composed of men (36 people), and the number of female actors (4 people) was small. Based on the age criterion, it was determined that the analysis unit has an average age of approximately 48 years. It has been determined that the actors in question mostly have a bachelor's degree (30 people), the actors with a master's degree (7 people) are in the work team, and the actors with a high school diploma (3 people) are in the minority. Based on the results of the analysis of the sectoral, organizational and spatial seniority parameters, it was determined that the analysis unit consists of managers with an average of 24 years of sectoral seniority, an average of 11 years of organizational seniority and an average of 17 years of positional seniority.

5. Conclusion

The metaphors obtained as a result of the analysis of the data set obtained within the scope of the study and the descriptions of these metaphors reveal that the dominant images of the managers regarding the concept of strategic management. However, as a result of the study, it can be seen that the participants who answered the questions independently of each other defined the concept of strategic management with sometimes similar and sometimes almost the same metaphors. For example, 6 of the participants used the metaphor of Atatürk, and 4 of them used the lion metaphor, while 2 of them used the machine metaphor. In addition 12 and 5 participants used metaphors to form an animal and vehicle groups, respectively. This situation points out that the shared reality among organizational actors is regular, clear and understandable, and that dominant images are strong in shared reality. If the constructed reality were irregular or complex, the images would also be uncertain and weak accordingly (Şimşek, 1997).

These two findings reveal that the participants exhibited consensus rather than conflict in their evaluations of the concept of strategic management. This shows that there is a strong common bond between the members of the organization. This result also contributes to an explanation of the success of the strategic management field. This consensus is proof that strategic management has a unique and distinctive identity. The different metaphors used are proof that the strategic management field has a lively, active and broad intellectual content. As a result of the study, it was seen that there is a strong and implicit consensus about the essence of the strategic management field. This result supports the research of Nag et al. (2007).

Another contribution of this study is that it enables academics to see how the concept of strategic management is perceived in the eyes of practitioners. Academics can start a discussion on whether they are satisfied with the projection of the field in practice, whether the field needs to change or what the points are where the field can be improved.

With Lakoff and Johnson's (1980) linguistic expansion and Schmitt's (2005) methodological contribution, the concept of metaphor has inspired many studies in organization literature (Erdem & Satır, 2003; Inns, 2002; Gibson & Zellmer-Bruhn, 2001; Kendall & Kendall, 1993; Sackmann, 1989; Morgan, 1986). What distinguishes metaphors from other symbols in interpretative and symbolic analyses of organizations is that individuals can map the ways of transforming organizational life into subjective reality by going through the stages of perception, meaning and interpretation (Erdem, 2010). This article also shows how organizational actors create their own realities with their subjective perceptions and interpretations of organizational facts. Although the reality achieved is not the same in different groups, it will create the possibility of confronting new realities. Therefore, it should not be
overlooked that organizational facts can be attributed different meanings within the specific context of each organization.

Undoubtedly, there are some limitations in this study as in other academic studies. The organizational context and the participants' own sociocultural contexts were not analyzed in this study. Organizational context knowledge can be important to make sense of a metaphor (Akşehirli, 2005). In addition, individuals convey meanings by constructing them within their own socio-cultural contexts (Stenier & Mahn, 1996). Within the scope of the study, findings confirming this situation were found. For example, a participant whose focus was on topics such as motherhood and child care responded at that moment using a metaphor based on the situation he/she was in. It was observed that most of the participants used metaphors with the effect of their education, interests and past work experience. Although this was not the focus of the study, it became apparent as a side contribution. Therefore, this finding supports the claims of some

studies in the literature (Akşehirli, 2005; Lakoff & Johnson, 2003; Stenier & Mahn, 1996). With this study, it was felt that contextual differences could push the strengthening, weakening and/or differentiation of a metaphor. Evaluation of metaphors together with the context in which they are functional can be an important inspiration for future studies.

This study offers a number of opportunities for future research. First of all, considering that our cultural experiences affect our metaphorical orientations (Morgan, 1998), it will be interesting to make a comparison by conducting this study in different cultures. Secondly, this study can be carried out on organizations at different institutional levels, and awareness of strategic management in practice can be revealed. Thirdly, the methodology used in this study will be used in different fields and will contribute to the diversification of methodology in research. Therefore, this study will be an incentive for similar studies by shedding a new light on both the field of strategic management and other areas.

References

- 1. Andrews, K. R. (1965). The Concept of Corporate Strategy. Dow Jones-Irwin.
- 2. Ansoff, H. I. (1965). Corporate Strategy: An Analytic Approach to Business Policy for Growth and Expansion. McGraw-Hill Companies.
- 3. Baş, T. & Akturan, U. (2017). *Sosyal bilimlerde bilgisayar destekli nitel araştırma yöntemleri* (3rd ed). Seçkin.
- 4. Bolman, L. G. & Deal, T. E. (1991). *Reframing Organizations: Artistry, Choice, and Leadership*. Jossey-Bass.
- Bowman, E. H., Singh, H. & Thomas, H. (2002). The Domain of Strategic Management: History and Evolution. In Pettigrew, A. et al. (Eds.), *Handbook of Strategy and Management* (pp. 31-51). Sage. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781848608313.n2
- 6. Burrell, G. & Morgan, G. (1979). Sociological Paradigms and Organizational Analysis. Ashgate Publishing.
- 7. Chandler, D. (1962). Strategy and Structure: Chapters in the History of the American Industrial Enterprise. MIT Press.
- 8. Creswell, J. W. (2007). *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches*. Sage Publications.
- 9. Creswell, J. W. (2016). *Nitel araştırma yöntemleri beş yaklaşıma göre nitel araştırma deseni.* (çev. M. Bütün ve S. B. Demir). (3rd ed). Siyasal Kitabevi.
- 10. Dey, I. (1993). *Qualitative Data Analysis: A User-friendly Guide for Social Scientist*. Routledge Publications.
- 11. Erdem, F. (2010). Örgüt Kültürünün Kök Metaforlarla Kesfi: Üniversite Gerçekliği Üzerine Nitel Bir Araştırma. *Yönetim Araştırmaları Dergisi, 10*(1-2), 71-96.
- 12. Erdem, F. & Satır, Ç. (2003). Features of organizational culture in manufacturing organizations: a metaphorical analysis. *Work Study*, 52(2/3), 129-135. https://doi.org/10.1108/00438020310471926
- Gibson, C. B. & Zellmer-Bruhn, M. E. (2001). Metaphors and Meaning: An Intercultural Analysis of the Concept of Teamwork. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 46(2), 274-303. https://doi.org/10.2307/2667088
- 14. Giddens, A. (2005). Sosyal teorinin temel problemleri: sosyal analizde eylem, yapı ve çelişki. Paradigma.
- 15. Hambrick, D. C. (2004). The disintegration of strategic management: It's time to consolidate our gains. *Strategic Organization*, 2(1), 91-98. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476127004040915
- 16. Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. (2007). Ethnography Principles in Practice. Routledge.
- 17. Hatten, K. J., Schendel, D. E. & Cooper, A. C. (1978). A strategic model of the U.S. brewing industry, 1952-1971. Academy of Management Journal, 21(4), 592-610. https://doi.org/10.5465/255702
- Inns, D. (2000). Metaphor in the literature of organizational analysis: A preliminary taxonomy and a glimpse at a humanities-based perspective. *Organization*, 9(2), 305-330. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350508402009002908
- Kendall, J. E. & Kendall, K. E. (1993). Metaphors and methodologies: Living beyond the system machine, *MIS Quarterly*, 17(2), 149-171. https://doi.org/10.2307/249799
- Koro-Ljungberg, M. (2001). Metaphors as a way to explore qualitative data. Qualitative Studies in Education, 14(3), 367-379. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390110029102
- 21. King, N. (1994). The Qualitative Research Interview. In Cassell, C. & Symon, G. (Eds.), *Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research* (pp. 14-36). Sage Publications.
- 22. Lakoff, G. & Johnson, M. (1980). Metaphors We Live By. Basic Books.
- 23. Morgan, G. (1986). Images of Organization. Sage.

- 24. Morgan, G. (1998). Yönetim ve örgüt teorilerinde metafor. Mess.
- Nag, R., Hambrick, D. C. & Chen, M. J. (2007). What is strategic management, really? Inductive derivation of a consensus definition of the field. *Strategic Management Journal*, 28(9), 935-955. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.615
- Phillips, N. & Hardy, C. (2002). Discourse Analysis. Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412983921
- 27. Rumelt, R. P. Schendel, D. & Tecee, D. J. (1994). Fundamental Issues in Strategy. In Rumelt, R. P. et al. (Eds.), *Fundamental Issues in Strategy* (pp. 9-53). Harvard Business School Press.
- Sackmann, S. (1989). The Role of Metaphors in Organization Transformation. *Human Relations*, 42, 463-485. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872678904200601
- 29. Schoeff, R. W. (1972). Challenge for tomorrow's managers. In *Proceedings of the Montana Livestock Nutrition Conference* (pp. 10-16).
- Schultz, M. (1995). On Studying Organizational Cultures: Diagnosis and Understanding. De Gruyter Pub. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110882476
- 31. Schendel, D. E. & Hofer, C. W. (1979). *Strategic Management: A New View of Business Policy and Planning*. Little Brown.
- 32. Schmitt, R. 2005. Systematic Metaphor Analysis as a Method of Qualitative Research. *The Qualitative Report, 10*(2), 358-394.
- Smircich, L. (1983). Concepts of Culture and Organizational Analysis. Administrative Science Quarterly, 28(3), 339-358. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392246
- 34. Silverman, D. (2005). Doing Qualitative Research. Sage Publications.
- 35. Şimşek, H. (1997). Pozitivizm Ötesi Paradigmatik Dönüşüm ve Eğitim Yönetiminde Kuram ve Uygulamada Yeni Yaklaşımlar. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Yönetimi*, 3(1), 95-109.
- 36. Wrigley, L. (1970). *Divisional Autonomy and Diversification* [Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University]. Harvard University.
- 37. Wittgenstein, L. (1968). Philosophical Investigations. University Press.
- 38. Yıldırım, A. & Şimşek, H. (2006). Sosyal bilimlerde nitel araştırma yöntemleri (6th ed). Seçkin Yayıncılık.
- 39. Yıldırım, A. & Şimşek, H. (2018). Sosyal bilimlerde nitel araştırma yöntemleri (10th ed). Seçkin Yayıncılık.

Milan Stanić University of Slavonski Brod 35000 Slavonski Brod, Croatia milan.stanic@unisb.hr

Melita Cita

VERN' University 10000 Zagreb, Croatia melita.cita@vern.hr Darija Prša VERN' University 10000 Zagreb, Croatia darija.prsa@vern.hr JEL: C02, L81, G39, G01 Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.3

Received: November 18, 2021 Revision received: February 13, 2022 Accepted for publishing: March 30, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT IN SMALL AND MEDIUM-SIZED TRADE BUSINESSES: THE CROATIAN CASE

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of this paper is to examine empirically the relationship between liquidity management and profitability of Croatian small and medium enterprises in trade and to provide empirical evidence of the effects of liquidity management on the level of profitability during the COVID-19 crisis.

Methodology: The analysis began with descriptive statistics, where the authors observed the following variables: ROA, current liquidity, accelerated liquidity, immediate liquidity and employment. The collected data analyzed descriptive statistics and compared the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. The authors made six regression models and performed regression diagnostics for all models. The problem of heteroscedasticity examined the Breusch-Pagan test, the normality of relation errors examined the Jarque-Bera test, while multi-collinearity examined the variance inflation factor (VIF).

Results: All six models confirmed a statistically significant and positive impact of liquidity on the level of profitability in both years, which means that the increase in liquidity will result in an increase in the level of profitability of the observed companies. Control variables of company size and trade category did not prove statistically significant.

Conclusion: Scientific contribution is the development of a model for the analysis of the impact of liquidity on the profitability for small and medium enterprises in trade. The model is also applicable to similar transition and post-transition economies, especially to those in the region that have similar economic development as it will help economic policy makers and corporate managers understand the importance of the impact of liquidity on profitability levels.

Keywords: Liquidity management, profitability, COVID-19, Croatian small and medium enterprises, trade

1. Introduction

The health crisis caused by the COVID-19 coronavirus in 2020 occurred at a rapid pace causing a deep decline in economic activity and at the same time affecting the entire world. Croatia should have adapted to the new situation in the short term because it has a small open economy that is highly dependent on tourism and tourism-related activities such as accommodation and food preparation and serving, retail trade, production and others.

Wholesale and retail trade, according to the CBS data on 31 December 2020, had a share of 16.7% in gross value added, 16.7% in employment of legal entities, and 20.3% in the number of active legal entities (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2021), while its share in the total profit of all activities was 35% (FINA, 2021). Its importance to the economy is that it affects both production and consumption because of the intermediary role it plays in the value chain.

Small and medium-sized enterprises are the backbone of economic growth both due to the number of registered enterprises and due to the fact that they create a significant number of jobs. Their share in the total number of companies has been 99.7% for decades. According to FINA data, in 2020 the number of small and medium-sized enterprises in Croatia increased by 2.3% compared to 2019, which indicates that workers who lost their jobs started their own enterprises. This confirmed the increase in the number of employees in micro enterprises by 6.6% compared to the previous year, while the number of employees in small enterprises decreased by 2.9% and in medium enterprises by 3.7% compared to 2019. The net profit for the period decreased in micro enterprises by 46.5%, in small enterprises by 9.3%, and in medium-sized enterprises by as much as 32.3% compared to the previous year.

Small and medium-sized enterprises affected by the crisis were hardest hit due to their low levels of capital and working capital. Companies can operate without profit in the short term, but in case of illiquidity, they are quickly doomed to bankruptcy. Liquidity is becoming a priority in pandemic conditions, which one can see in the measures adopted by the Government, which has prepared measures to mitigate the pandemic for small and medium enterprises.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had serious consequences for many economies and the operations of companies from all sectors, directly affecting their profitability and liquidity. Liquidity is important for ensuring business continuity, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic, when the company's business activities have slowed down and lower revenues have been generated, which is also reflected in cash flows. The main objective of this study is to examine the relationship between liquidity and profitability management of Croatian small and mediumsized enterprises in trade in an environment typical of transition countries, and to provide empirical evidence of the effects of liquidity management on profitability at the time of the pandemic.

The research results in this paper make a scientific contribution in theoretical and applied terms to the economic sciences. The contribution of the research is in presenting the current knowledge of the impact of the crisis caused by the COVID-19 virus on the business of small and medium enterprises in trade as well as in the empirical research on a selected sample of companies to determine their liquidity during the pandemic. This paper also develops a model for analyzing the impact of liquidity and profitability of small and medium enterprises in the trade sector, which can help corporate managers understand the importance of liquidity management, which is especially important in times of crisis.

The paper is structured such that after the introduction it presents the theoretical assumptions of the research in Chapter 2, while Chapter 3 describes the research methodology, defined by the sample, and gives the results of empirical research. The concluding chapter synthesizes the obtained results, gives recommendations for further research and describes the research limitations.

2. Theoretical settings

2.1 COVID-19 pandemic

The economic effects of the coronavirus pandemic quickly caught the attention of global and domestic economists who analyzed the impact of the COV-ID-19 pandemic, the worst global recession since 1930 (Shen et al., 2020) that affected all economies (Carracedo et al., 2020) regardless of their size and development (Barua, 2020) and that significantly reduced GDP in the major economies of OECD countries in the first two quarters of 2020 (OECD, 2021). This crisis, which began as a health crisis, came abruptly, caused an unexpected decline in all economic activities in all areas globally, and had an impact on various aspects of human life as well.

The impact of the pandemic on the business of small and medium enterprises is the subject of research by many authors in different countries. Thus, for example, Kaberia & Muathe (2020) in Kenya, Sun et al. (2021) in China or Aladejebi (2021) in Nigeria found a negative impact on their businesses. Revoltella et al. (2020) found that small and medium-sized enterprises in the European Union have higher income reductions than large enterprises, as is the case in less developed countries (World Trade Organization, 2021). Declining revenues affect their liquidity and require government assistance (Ikmal et al., 2020; Iancu et al., 2022) because without government assistance, far more companies would have poorer business results (Gourinchas et al., 2022). State aid can significantly reduce the negative impact of a pandemic on liquidity as they lack financial resources at the time of the pandemic (Eggers, 2020; Dimson et al., 2020).

In order to limit the spread of the pandemic, most countries have prescribed a reduction in or a complete ban on contacts, which has mostly affected small and medium enterprises in the service sector such as tourism and catering and in activities closely related thereto such as shops, restaurants, small family hotels, passenger transport (Čučković, 2020; OECD, 2021; Fernandes, 2020). In the first period and in the short term, the trade and services sector was most affected (Arčabić, 2020).

The economic impact of the pandemic can be seen in all sectors, but is particularly visible in the consumer goods sector due to changing consumer habits (Dertouzos et al., 2020; Becdach et al., 2020), but also increased demand for certain products (Becdach et al., 2020). Carnevale & Hatak (2020) conclude that the pandemic has forced customers to use the Internet in their daily routine and that there has been a significant increase in online sales (Becdach et al., 2020).

There are numerous papers examining the impact of COVID-19 on various economic aspects such as, for example, the analysis of the impact on the tourism sector (Škare et al., 2021; Čorak et al., 2020), on export competitiveness (Stojčić, 2020), on the construction sector (Gamil & Alhagar, 2020), and somewhat fewer papers analyzing the impact of COVID-19 on trade (Knezović, 2021; Končar et al., 2020; Tighe, 2021; Pantano & Willems, 2022). According to the Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2021) data, Croatia's real annual retail trade turnover has been falling continuously since March 2020, and fell by 5.8% compared to the previous year, on an annual basis. At the same time, the turnover from retail trade in food and beverages increased by 4.7%, while the turnover from trade in non-food products decreased by 5.5%. The biggest drop was recorded in retail trade in textiles, footwear and clothing, which fell by as much as 50%.

Tighe (2021a) researched small and medium-sized enterprises in the US wholesale business and found that about 25% of companies achieved a negative business result, while in retail trade, for example, spending on food and household supplies has continued to increase, while spending on clothing and jewelry has been drastically reduced (Tighe, 2021b).

Restrictions on movement and forced closure of stores have affected changes in consumer behavior since they have decided to buy products online. The pandemic accelerated investments in the digitalization of trade (Knezović, 2021; Pantano & Willems, 2022). Končar et al. (2020) found in their study that in the Western Balkans, the share of online retail revenue in total revenue increased significantly during the pandemic period.

2.2 Liquidity and profitability

Maintaining the company's liquidity and achieving a profitable business are the most important tasks of company management. A company is liquid when it is able to convert its current assets into cash and cash equivalents that should be sufficient to cover its liabilities within one year.

Management of short-term assets and short-term liabilities is important for the company's operations in order for the business process to run smoothly and to avoid the risk of default. This is especially important for those companies that have a higher share of current assets in the balance sheet assets and whose sources of financing assets are shortterm liabilities. The goal of the company is to achieve the highest possible profitability, and in this context to determine the possibility of the impact of liquidity on profitability.

There is a significant opus of scientific research in an attempt to determine the relationship between liquidity and profitability. Research was usually focused on the criterion of enterprise size (a small, medium or large enterprise), a specific geographical area or a specific activity. Thus, for example, Tušek et al. (2014) examined the impact of liquidity and profitability of large and medium-sized enterprises in the hotel industry in Croatia. The results of their research show that there is no significant correlation between liquidity and profitability.

Mamić Sačer et al. (2013) analyzed the impact of liquidity on the profitability of medium-sized and large enterprises in the information and communication industry and found that increasing the value of the current liquidity ratio affects the increase in the gross return on assets ratio. A positive link between liquidity and profitability of Portuguese small and medium-sized enterprises in service industries was also found by Nunes et al. (2010).

The trade sector has also been the subject of research related to the correlation between liquidity and profitability. Thus, for example, Lee & Song (2010) examine in their research the impact of liquidity measured by the money conversion cycle and the profitability of Korean wholesale and retail companies. Their results suggest a negative link between the money conversion cycle and net profit, as well as the money conversion cycle and return on assets (ROA).

Furthermore, the Svitlik & Poutnik (2016) study also addresses the issue of the relationship between liquidity and profitability in the Czech Republic and their results indicate a strong link between working capital and return on assets (ROA) in wholesale and retail trade. Research on liquidity and profitability of trade companies in Jordan was conducted by Al-Qadi & Khanji (2018). Their results indicate a significant impact of liquidity measured by the current and accelerated liquidity ratio on profitability through return on assets (ROA).

3. Research

3.1 Methodology

The research in this paper aimed at gaining insight into liquidity management of Croatian small and medium enterprises in the trade sector in the period 2019 to 2020. Empirical research focuses on the analysis of liquidity in selected SMEs in order to determine the relationship between their liquidity and profitability. According to the data available on the FINA website, in 2020 the total number of Croatian small and medium-sized enterprises increased by 2.3% compared to 2019. The largest increase was recorded in trade, which participates in total activities with 21.2%. In the classification of economic activities, researchers used the National Classification of Activities 2007 - NKD 20072, which is harmonized with European standards, i.e., it corresponds to the NACE Rev.2 classification.

The data used in the survey were collected from FINA, to which SMEs are required to submit their financial statements on an annual basis and which meet the definition of SMEs applied by the European Commission. According to this definition, the sample includes companies that have less than 250 employees, an annual turnover of up to EUR 50m and/or total assets of up to EUR 43m.

Small and medium-sized enterprises in the trade sector in the Central Croatia region were selected for the sample [since the term Central Croatia does not have a clearly defined line of demarcation, it often coincides with the term Northern Croatia], which includes the following counties: Bjelovar-Bilogora County, the City of Zagreb, Karlovac County, Sisak-Moslavina County and Zagreb County, in which 45% of all small and medium enterprises operating in the Republic of Croatia are registered. As trade activity is the most represented in the total activities, the initial sample of 101 micro, small, and medium-sized enterprises in trade activity was selected randomly according to the criterion of the size of the enterprise. Companies that showed extreme or inconsistent figures in any variable were not included in the sample, so that the final sample consists of 63 micro, small and medium enterprises.

The sample of trade enterprises from the Republic of Croatia in 2019 and 2020 was divided into three subgroups (according to the NKD 2007 sections). The categories of subgroups comprised 22 enterprises in wholesale and retail trade for motor vehicles and motorcycles; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, 32 in wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles, and nine in retail trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles. Their distribution is shown in the following graph.





Source: Authors

The collected data were analyzed by descriptive statistics and compared using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test. The authors made six regression models and performed regression diagnostics for all models. The problem of heteroscedasticity, the normality of relation errors, and multi-collinearity were examined by the Breusch-Pagan test, the Jarque-Bera test, and the variance inflation factor (VIF), respectively. The authors analyzed the data using the Stata 14.2 software tool.

3.2 Results of empirical analysis and discussion

3.2.1 Descriptive statistics

The analysis began with descriptive statistics, where the authors observed the following variables: ROA, current liquidity, accelerated liquidity, immediate liquidity and employment. Descriptive statistics of the observed variables are presented in Table 1 for 2019, and in Table 2 for 2020.

2019	ROA	Current liquidity	Accelerated liquidity	Immediate liquidity	Employment
average	0.0847	1.9865	0.9471	0.2782	41.7143
standard deviation	0.0619	1.3657	0.7968	0.3887	45.5467
coefficient of variation	73.10 %	68.75 %	84.13 %	139.74 %	109.19 %
maximum	0.2403	6.4701	4.2336	2.0791	245.0000
median	0.0593	1.5499	0.7138	0.0994	35.0000
minimum	0.0077	0.2620	0.1378	0.0019	1.0000

Table 1 Descriptive statistics for 2019

Source: Authors' calculation

Table 2 Descriptive statistics for 2020

2020	ROA	Current liquidity	Accelerated liquidity	Immediate liquidity	Employment
average	0.0936	2.0239	1.0939	0.3824	41.6984
standard deviation	0.0727	1.2711	0.9774	0.5228	44.7721
coefficient of variation	77.66 %	62.81 %	89.35 %	136.71 %	107.37 %
maximum	0.2805	7.0534	4.7931	2.2655	245.0000
median	0.0758	1.6175	0.7198	0.1550	35.0000
minimum	0.0046	0.2731	0.1188	0.0008	1.0000

Source: Authors' calculation

Based on the data given in Tables 1 and 2, it can be seen that within the selected sample of micro, small and medium enterprises there are enterprises with a wide range of observed values, which is shown by a coefficient of variation that shows a higher degree of dispersion in 2020's ROA and accelerated liquidity, and a smaller degree of dispersion in current liquidity as well as in employment.

The authors compared data for ROA, current liquidity, accelerated liquidity and immediate liquidity in 2019 and 2020 for all trades together using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test, where the following hypotheses were tested:

H0: There was no change in ROA/current liquidity/ accelerated liquidity/immediate liquidity in 2020 compared to 2019.

H1: There was a change in ROA/current liquidity/ accelerated liquidity/immediate liquidity in 2020 compared to 2019.

The average values of the observed variables and the corresponding p-values are given in Table 3.

	2019	2020	р
ROA	0.0847	0.0936	0.2309
Current liquidity	1.9865	2.0239	0.0234*
Accelerated liquidity	0.9471	1.0939	0.0031*
Immediate liquidity	0.2782	0.3824	0.0031*

Table 3 Average values of the observed variables for all trades and the corresponding p-values

*significant at the p < 0.05 level Source: Authors' calculation

The analysis showed that compared to 2019, there was a statistically significant increase in current liquidity, accelerated liquidity and immediate liquidity in 2020. ROA was slightly higher in 2020 compared to 2019, but that difference is not statistically significant. Enterprises in motor vehicle trade activity, which are shown in Table 4, were also analyzed separately, as well as enterprises in non-motorized vehicle activity, which are shown in Table 5.

Table 4 Average values of observed variables and corresponding p-values for wholesale and retail tra-
de of motor vehicles and motorcycles; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles

	2019	2020	р
ROA	0.0747	0.0705	0.9308
Current liquidity	1.5551	1.6500	0.0078*
Accelerated liquidity	0.5495	0.6708	0.0173*
Immediate liquidity	0.1377	0.2524	0.0228*

*significant at the p < 0.05 level Source: Authors' calculation

Based on the data from the table, it can be noticed that there was a statistically significant increase in all three liquidities, i.e., current, accelerated and immediate liquidity, while the change in ROA was not statistically significant. Table 5 shows average values and p-values for the wholesale trade category, except of trade in motor vehicles and motorcycles, and the retail trade category, except of trade in motor vehicles and motorcycles, analyzed separately.

	2019	2020	р
ROA	0.0897	0.1052	0.1384
Current liquidity	2.2022	2.2108	0.2526
Accelerated liquidity	1.1460	1.3055	0.0362*
Immediate liquidity	0.3484	0.4474	0.0409*

Table 5 Average values of observed variables and corresponding p-values for wholesale and retail trade, except of motor vehicle trade

*significant at the p < 0.05 level

Source: Authors' calculation

There was a statistically significant increase in accelerated liquidity and immediate liquidity, while changes in ROA and current liquidity were not statistically significant.

3.2.2 Regression models

A regression technique was used in further research into the dependence between variables to see where the dependent variable is profitable; the independent variables are current liquidity, accelerated liquidity and immediate liquidity, while the control variables are company size and the division of trade (section G) into sections G45, G46 and G47.

Return on assets (ROA) (Garcia-Teruel & Martinez-Solano, 2007) is used as a measure of profitability, which is calculated as the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and total assets and shows how much is earned independently of the method of financing.

Current liquidity is calculated as the ratio of current assets to short-term liabilities, accelerated liquidity as the ratio of cash and receivables to short-term liabilities, and immediate liquidity as the ratio of cash to short-term liabilities.

The first control variable of firm size is expressed as the natural logarithm of the number of employees (according to Deloof, 2003; Raheman & Nasr, 2007; and others). One expects that the growth of company size will affect the profitability of companies, primarily because large companies find it easier to acquire capital in the financial market, while small companies are primarily oriented to internal sources of financing. For example, Deloof (2003), Raheman & Nasr (2007), and Garcia-Teruel & Martinez-Solano (2007) found a positive relationship between profitability and firm size, Enqvist et al. (2014) identified a negative correlation, while Wesley et al. (2013) did not get any significant relationship between firm size and profitability. The second control variable is the category, i.e., a division of trade into subgroups. The trade sector (section G according to the NKD 2007) is divided into the following three sections (subgroups): wholesale and retail trade of motor vehicles and motorcycles; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles (division 45), wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles (division 45), wholesale trade, except of motor vehicles and motorcycles (division 47), which differ in the duration of a business cycle.

Six regression models were developed, in which the impact of three types of liquidity on ROA was observed for 2019 and 2020.

The following defines control variables:

- company size (the logarithm of the number of employees),
- a dummy variable category *Wholesale*, where the basic category wholesale and retail trade of motor vehicles and motorcycles; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, was assigned the value of 0, while the category wholesale, except of trade in motor vehicles and motorcycles, was assigned the value of 1,
- a dummy variable category *Retail*, where the basic category wholesale and retail trade of motor vehicles and motorcycles; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, was assigned the value of 0, while the category of retail trade, except of trade in motor vehicles and motorcycles, was assigned the value of 1.

Since all observed variables were positively asymmetric for the models, they used their logarithmic values. A list of all variables and abbreviations are given in the following table:

Table 6 List of variables with full names and abbreviations

Variable	Abbreviation
ROA (return on asset)	ROA
Current liquidity logarithm	L_TEKL
Accelerated liquidity logarithm	L_UL
Immediate liquidity logarithm	L_TRENL
Number of employees logarithm	L_ZAP
Wholesale category	K_VEL
Retail category	K_MAL

Source: Authors

Table 7 provides an overview of regression models analyzed in the paper with the dependent and independent variables indicated.

Table 7 Overview of the model with the independent and dependent variables indicated

Model	Independent variable	Dependent variable
01	Current liquidity 2019	ROA 2019
02	Accelerated liquidity 2019	ROA 2019
03	Immediate liquidity 2019	ROA 2019
04	Current liquidity 2020	ROA 2020
05	Accelerated liquidity 2020	ROA 2020
06	Immediate liquidity 2020	ROA 2020

Source: Authors

Six regression models were developed for the impact of liquidity on profitability. The first three regression models refer to the impact of current and accelerated liquidity on ROA in 2019 (tables 8-10), while the other three regression models relate to the impact of current and accelerated liquidity on ROA in 2020 (tables 11-13).

The results of the impact of current liquidity on ROA in 2019 are given in Table 8.

Table 8 Regression model 1

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	p-value
L_TEKL*	0.4588	0.1504	0.003
L_ZAP	-0.0303	0.0927	0.745
K_VEL	-0.1137	0.1099	0.305
K_MAL	0.1278	0.1379	0.358
CONST*	-1.2145	0.1714	0.000

*significant at the p < 0.05 level Source: Authors

Current liquidity and the constant are statistically significant, while employment and the trade category did not affect ROA in 2019. Trade companies that had higher current liquidity also had a higher ROA.

The results of the impact of accelerated liquidity on ROA in 2019 are given in Table 9.

Table 9 Regression model 2

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	p-value
L_UL*	0.4176	0.1405	0.004
L_ZAP	-0.0155	0.0929	0.868
K_VEL	-0.1859	0.1163	0.115
K_MAL	0.0362	0.1470	0.806
CONST*	-1.0249	0.1790	0.000

*significant at the p < 0.05 level Source: Authors

Accelerated liquidity and the constant are statistically significant, while employment and the trade category are not statistically significant for ROA in 2019. Trade companies that had higher accelerated liquidity also had a higher ROA.

The results of the impact of current liquidity on ROA in 2019 are given in Table 10.

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	p-value
L_TRENL*	0.2510	0.0623	0.000
L_ZAP	-0.0025	0.0882	0.977
K_VEL	-0.1182	0.1043	0.262
K_MAL	0.0281	0.1362	0.837
CONST*	-0.8957	0.1771	0.000

Table 10 Regression model 3

*significant at the p < 0.05 level Source: Authors

Companies that had higher current liquidity also had a higher ROA in 2019. Other variables, with the exception of the constant, were not statistically significant.

The results of the impact of current liquidity on ROA in 2020 are given in Table 11.

Table 11 Regression model 4

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	p-value
L_TEKL*	0.4243	0.1930	0.032
L_ZAP	0.0929	0.1048	0.379
K_VEL	0.0118	0.1297	0.928
K_MAL	0.1809	0.1610	0.266
CONST*	-1.4401	0.1962	0.000

*significant at the p < 0.05 level Source: Authors

Companies that had higher current liquidity also had a higher ROA in 2020. Employment and the trade category had no impact on ROA.

The results of the impact of accelerated liquidity on ROA in 2020 are given in Table 12.

Table 14 Regression diagnostics for all models

Table 12 Regression model 5

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	p-value
L_UL*	0.3737	0.1507	0.016
L_ZAP	0.1023	0.1034	0.327
K_VEL	0.0508	0.1339	0.706
K_MAL	0.0833	0.1688	0.623
CONST*	-1.2688	0.2001	0.000

*significant at the p < 0.05 level Source: Authors

Source: Authors

Companies that had higher accelerated liquidity also had a higher ROA in 2020. Employment and the trade category had no impact on ROA.

The results of the impact of current liquidity on ROA in 2020 are given in Table 13.

Table 13 Regression model 6

Variable	Coefficient	Standard error	p-value
L_TRENL*	0.1543	0.0669	0.025
L_ZAP	0.1094	0.1041	0.298
K_VEL	0.0133	0.1290	0.918
K_MAL	0.1248	0.1654	0.454
CONST*	-1.2216	0.2089	0.000

*significant at the p < 0.05 level Source: Authors

Companies that had higher current liquidity also had a higher ROA in 2020. With the exception of the constant, other variables were not statistically significant.

The authors performed regression diagnostics for all models. A summary of the results is given in Table 14.

Model	01	02	03	04	05	06
Prob > F	0.0159	0.0190	0.0013	0.0846	0.0514	0.0706
R^2	0.1869	0.1811	0.2627	0.1298	0.1476	0.1364
Adj. R^2	0.1308	0.1247	0.2119	0.0698	0.0888	0.0768
Breusch-Pagan	0.2209	0.4210	0.1332	0.9707	0.7678	0.8517
Jarque-Bera	0.6074	0.6501	0.4153	0.2732	0.1423	0.1542

Source: Authors' calculation

The table shows that the first three models are statistically significant at the level of significance p < 0.05. The remaining three models related to 2020 are statistically significant at the level of significance p < 0.1, but the liquidity variable in these models is significant at the level of p < 0.05. The problem of heteroscedasticity was examined by the Breusch-Pagan test and the obtained values were greater than 0.05, which confirmed the absence of

the problem of heteroscedasticity. The normality of the relation errors was examined by the Jarque-Bera test. The obtained values are greater than the limit value of 0.05, which indicates that the relation errors follow the normal distribution.

The authors examined multi-collinearity by using the variance inflation factor (VIF). The VIF results for all six models are given in Table 15.

Model	01	02	03	04	05	06
K_VEL	1.63	1.81	1.62	1.65	1.80	1.65
L_ZAP	1.37	1.37	1.37	1.39	1.38	1.38
K_MAL	1.26	1.42	1.36	1.25	1.40	1.33
L_LIKV*	1.04	1.23	1.11	1.03	1.20	1.09

Table 15 VIF results for all six models

*The L_LIKV variable indicates the type of liquidity used in the model Source: Authors

All VIF values are less than five thus confirming the absence of multi-collinearity problems in all six models.

The impact of the indicators of current, immediate and accelerated liquidity, company size and the category of trade activity on ROA was examined for 2019 and 2020. All six models confirmed a statistically significant and positive impact of liquidity on the level of profitability in both years, which means that the increase in liquidity will result in an increase in the level of profitability of the observed companies. Control variables of company size and the trade category were not statistically significant.

4. Conclusion, recommendation and limitations of the research

The primary purpose of this study was to analyze liquidity management of Croatian small and medium-sized trade enterprises during the crisis caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The authors used regression analysis to examine the impact of current liquidity, accelerated liquidity and immediate liquidity, the size of enterprises and the trade sector by subgroup on the profitability of small and medium enterprises in trade. The results of regression analysis showed that liquidity measured by these indicators has a statistically significant impact on profitability measured by return on assets (ROA), i.e., the increase in liquidity affected the increase in ROA. If liquidity represents the ability of a company to settle its short-term liabilities in time, and profitability represents its business success, we can conclude that the company is able to meet its obligations and thus increase its profitability. If a company were not able to meet its obligations, it would have to find new sources of financing and borrowing, which increases costs, and thus reduces profits, i.e., reduces its business profitability. Company size and the trade category had no impact on profitability.

Previous research mainly focused on large enterprises, so that this research focused on small and medium-sized enterprises in trade that are important for a small post-transition economy, justifies its importance. Scientific contribution of this paper is in the review of relevant and recent literature on the impact of the crisis caused by the COVID-19 coronavirus on liquidity of small and medium-sized enterprises in trade. Previous research on the impact of the pandemic on business operations has been conducted mainly through surveys or questionnaires, so empirical research conducted on a selected sample of companies represents a significant contribution to economic science. A model for the analysis of the impact of liquidity on the profitability of small and medium enterprises in trade activity has also been developed in the paper. The model is also applicable to similar transition and post-transition economies, especially to those in the region that have similar economic development as it will help economic policy makers and corporate managers understand the importance of the impact of liquidity on profitability levels. The model reads:

$$ROA = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \cdot L_LIKV + \beta_2 \cdot L_ZAP + \beta_3 \cdot K_VEL + \beta_4 \cdot K_MA$$

Research results presented in this paper make a scientific contribution in theoretical and applied terms to economic sciences. The scientific results obtained in this research will be beneficial to small and medium enterprises in Croatia, but also in the region where they will provide a better understanding of the relationship between liquidity and profitability.

During the preparation of this paper, the authors noticed certain limitations. A restriction was encountered at the time of data collection. The authors obtained the data from the annual financial statements of small and medium-sized enterprises, and for small enterprises only abbreviated financial statements submitted by small enterprises to FINA were available, which limited the possibility of a more detailed analysis.

Future research on the impact of COVID-19 on SME liquidity management should broaden the theoretical framework (assuming that there will be more papers on the impact of the crisis caused by COVID-19), take into account longer time series, expand research to other Croatian regions and analyze other activities. The paper provides a basis for further research that would compare liquidity management in small and medium-sized enterprises with large enterprises in similar economies.

References

- 1. Aladejebi, O. A. (2021). Managing Small Businesses in Nigeria during Covid-19 Crisis: Impact and Survival Strategies. *Journal of Business and Management*, 22(8), 24-34.
- 2. Al-Qadi, N. S. & Khanji, I. (2018). Relationship between Liquidity and Profitability: An Empirical Study of Trade Service Sector in Jordan. *Research Journal of Finance and Accounting*, 9(7), 153-157.
- 3. Arčabić, V. (2020). Što Hrvatska može naučiti iz dosadašnjih recesija. In Tica, J. & Bačić, K. (Eds.). Zbornik radova sa 28. skupa Hrvatskog društva ekonomista: Ekonomska politika Hrvatske u 2021. Hrvatska poslije pandemije (pp. 21-58). Zagreb: Hrvatsko društvo ekonomista.
- 4. Becdach, C., Brown, B., Halbardier, F., Henstorf, B. & Murphy, R. (2021). *Rapidly forecasting demand and adapting commercial plans in a pandemic.* McKinsey Company.
- 5. Baldwin, R. & Mauro, B. W. D. (2020). *Mitigating the COVID Economic Crisis: ACT Fast and Do Whatever It Takes*. CEPR Press.
- Bartik, A. W., Bertrand, M., Cullen, Z. B., Glaeser, E. L., Luca, M. & Stanton, C. T. (2020). How Are Small Businesses Adjusting to COVID-19? Early Evidence from a Survey (Working Paper No. 2020-42). Chicago: Becker Friedman Institute for Economics at the University of Chicago.
- 7. Barua, S. (2020). Understanding coronanomics: The economic implications of the coronavirus (COV-ID-19) pandemic. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3566477
- 8. Carnevale, J. & Hatak, I. (2020). Employee adjustment and well-being in the era of COVID-19: Implications for human resource management. *Journal of Business Research*, *116*(3), 183-187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.037
- 9. Carracedo, P., Puertas, R. & Marti, L. (2020). Research lines on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on business. *Journal of Business Research*, 132(1), 586-593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.11.043
- 10. Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2020). Number and structure of business entities, December 2020. Zagreb, First Release, Number 11.1.1/4.
- Čorak, S., Boranić Živoder, S. & Marušić, Z. (2020). Opportunities for tourism recovery and development during and after COVID-19: Views of tourism scholars versus tourism practitioners. *Tourism: An International Interdisciplinary Journal*, 68(4), 434-449. https://doi.org/10.37741/t.68.4.5
- 12. Čučković, N. (2020). *Mala i srednja poduzeća u borbi s krizom izazvanom koronom: kako dalje*? Institut za razvoj i međunarodne odnose (IRMO). https://irmo.hr/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/IRMOaktualno-5.pdf
- 13. Decision on the National Classification of Activities 2007 (Official Gazette 58/2007).
- 14. Deloof, M. (2003). Does working capital management affect profitability of Belgian firms? *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, *30*(3-4), 573-587. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-5957.00008
- 15. Dertouzos, J., Freund, H., Mischkot, M., Padhi, A. & Tschiesner, A. (2020). *Coronavirus: Five strategies for industrial and automotive companies.* McKinsey company. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/advanced-electronics/our-insights/coronavirus-five-strategies-for-industrial-and-automotive-companies
- 16. Dimson, J., Mladenov, Z., Sharma, R. & Tadjeddine, K. (2020). COVID-19 and European small and medium-size enterprises: How they are weathering the storm. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-and-social-sector/our-insights/covid-19-andeuropean-small-and-medium-size-enterprises-how-they-are-weathering-the-storm
- 17. Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2021). *Trgovina na malo u prosincu 2020*. Release number 4.1.1/12. https://www.dzs.hr/Hrv_Eng/publication/2020/04-01-01_12_2020.htm
- 18. Eggers, F. (2020). Masters of disasters? Challenges and opportunities for SMEs in times of crisis. *Journal of Business Research*, *116*, 199-208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.025

- 19. Enqist, J., Graham, M., Nikkinen, J. (2014). The impact of working capital management on firm profitability in different business cycles: Evidence from Finland. *Research in International Business and Finance*, 32(C), 36-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2014.03.005
- Fernandes, N. (2020). Economic Effects of Coronavirus Outbreak (COVID-19) on the World Economy (IESE Business School Working Paper No. WP-1240-E). Barcelona: IESE Business School. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3557504
- 21. FINA (2021). Financijski izvještaji malih i srednjih poduzeća u 2019. i 2020. godini. https://rgfi.fina.hr/JavnaObjava-web/izbornik.do
- 22. Gamil, Y. & Alhagar, A. (2020). The Impact of Pandemic Crisis on the Survival of Construction Industry: A Case of COVID-19. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, *11*(4), 122-128. https://doi.org/10.36941/mjss-2020-0047
- Garcia-Teruel, P. J. & Martinez-Solano, P. (2007). Effects of working capital management on SME profitability. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 3(2), 164-177. https://doi.org/10.1108/17439130710738718
- 24. Gourinchas, P. O., Kalemli-Ozcan, S., Penciakova, V. & Sander, N. (2022). *Estimating SME Failures in Real Time: An Application to the COVID-19 Crisis* (NBER Working Paper No. 27877). Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Iancu, A., Popescu, L., Varzaru, A. A. & Avram, C. D. (2022). Impact of Covid-19 Crisis and Resilience of Small and Medium Enterprises, Evidence from Romania. *Eastern European Economics*, 60(4), 352-374. https://doi.org/10.1080/00128775.2022.2032177
- Ikmal, A., Djeneba, D., Neil, G., Alexandros, R., Aarti, R. & Jonathan, T. (2020). Small and Medium Enterprises in the Pandemic: Impact, Responses and the Role of Development Finance (Policy Research Working Paper No. 9414). Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Kaberia, S. K. & Muathe, S. M. (2020). Effect of Covid-19 pandemic on performance of women owned micro, small and medium enterprises in Kenya. *International Journal of Social Science Studies*, 9(1), 7-21. https://doi.org/10.11114/ijsss.v9i1.5089
- 28. Knezović, G. (2021). *Pandemija ipak usporila rast e-trgovine*. https://mreza.bug.hr/pandemija-ipak-usporila-rast-e-trgovine/
- 29. Končar, J., Marić, R., Vučenović, S. & Vukmirović, G. (2020). Analysis of retail sector in the Western Balkans region after COVID-19 pandemic. In Baković, T. et al. (Eds.). *Trade Perspectives 2020: The interdependence of COVID-19 pandemic and international trade* (pp. 133-143). Zagreb: Faculty of Economics and Business.
- Lee, H. J. & Song, S. H. (2010). Correlation between SCM and Finance Performances: Evidence from Korean Companies. https://www.impgroup.org/uploads/papers/7505.pdf
- 31. Mamić Sačer, I., Tušek, B. & Korica, I. (2013). Empirijska analiza utjecaja likvidnosti na profitabilnost hrvatskih srednjih i velikih poduzeća u grani djelatnosti informacije i komunikacije. *Proceedings of the Faculty of Economics in Zagreb, 11*(2), 15-35. https://doi.org/10.22598/zefzg
- Nunes, P. M., Serrasquiero, Z. & Leitao, J. (2010). Are there nonlinear relationships between the profitability of Portuguese service SME and its specific determinants? *The Service Industries Journal*, 30(8), 1313-1341. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642060802398853
- OECD (2021). SME and Entrepreneurship Outlook 2021. SME and entrepreneurship performance in times of COVID-19. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/6039c015-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/6039c015en. https://doi.org/10.1787/97a5bbfe-en
- Pantano, E. & Willems, K. (2022). Pandemic Acceleration of Retail Phygitalization. In *Retail in a New* World (pp. 57-75). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-80117-846-420221008
- 35. Raheman, A. & Nasr, M. (2007). Working Capital Management and Profitability Case of Pakistani Firms. *International Review of Business Research Papers*, 3(1), 279-300.

- 36. Revoltella, D., Maurin, L. & Pal, R. (2020). *EU firms in the post-COVID-19 environment: Investment-debt trade-offs and the optimal sequencing of policy responses.* https://voxeu.org/article/eu-firms-post-covid-19-environment
- Sun, T., Zhang, W-W., Dinca, M. S. & Raza, M. (2021). Determining the impact of COVID-19 on the business norms and performance of SMEs in China. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 35(1), 2234-2253. https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2021.1937261
- Shen, H., Fu, M., Pan, H., Yu, Z. & Chen, Y. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on firm performance. *Emerging markets, finance and trade, 56*(10), 2213-2230. https://doi.org/10.1080/1540496X.2020.1785863
- Stojčić, N. (2020). Učinci pandemije COVID 19 na izvoznu konkurentnost poduzeća prerađivačke industrije u Hrvatskoj. *Ekonomska misao i praksa, 39*(2), 347-366. https://doi.org/10.17818/EMIP/2020/2.2
- Svitlik, J. & Poutnik, L. (2016). Relationship between Liquidity and Profitability: Empirical Study from the Czech Republic. *European Financial and Accounting Journal*, 11(3), 7-24. https://doi.org/10.18267/j.efaj.159
- Škare, M., Soriano, D. R. & Porada-Rochon, M. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 on the travel and tourism industry. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120469
- 42. Tighe, D. (2021a). COVID-19 impact on small businesses in the U.S. wholesale trade. https://www.statista.com/statistictics/1223724/us-covid-19-impact-small-businesses- wholesale-trade/
- 43. Tighe, D. (2021b). Coronavirus: impact on the retail landscape in the U.S. Statistics & Facts. https://www.statista.com/statistictics/1223724/us-covid-19-impact-small-businesses- wholesale-trade/
- 44. Tušek, B., Perčević, H. & Hladika, M. (2014). Interdependence between cash gap and profitability in the hotel industry in Croatia. *International scientific journal Acta Turistica*, *26*(1), 55-75.
- Wesley, O. N., Musiega, M. G., Douglas, M. & Atika, M. G. (2013). Working Capital Management and Corporate Performance. Special Reference to Manufacturing Firms on Nairobi Securities Exchange. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, 2(9), 177-183.
- 46. World Trade Organization (2021). *Coordinated global response key to MSME's post-pandemic economic recovery – DDG Zhang.* https://www.wto.org/english/news_e/news21_e/msmes_22oct21_e.htm

Kasim Tatić University of Sarajevo School of Economics and Business 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina kasim.tatic@efsa.unsa.ba

Mahir Haračić BH Telecom d.d. Sarajevo 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina mahir.haracic@bhtelecom.ba Merima Činjarević University of Sarajevo School of Economics and Business 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina merima.cinjarevic@efsa.unsa.ba

Merima Haračić

Prevent Visoko 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina merima.haracic@outlook.com JEL: M15, M31 Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.4

Received: December 21, 2021 Revision received: May 9, 2022 Accepted for publishing: May 11, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



LET'S CLOUD WITH ME! USERS' WILLINGNESS TO USE CLOUD COMPUTING SERVICES AS A FUNCTION OF SOCIAL NORMS

Abstract

Purpose: The current study is theoretically grounded in the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and Social Influence Theory. It attempts to explain how acts of others influence attitudes and behaviors of individuals in the context of the adoption of cloud computing services.

Methodology: The present study used the convenience sampling technique to conduct empirical research. Data collection was performed via an online survey. We used Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) to test the proposed research model.

Results: Our findings suggest that a favorable social norm towards cloud computing services produces a positive and statistically significant effect on perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, and willingness to use cloud computing services. In terms of mediating the role of perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness, findings revealed that perceived ease of use mediates the relationship between social norms and willingness to use cloud computing services.

Conclusion: The present study advances our understanding of the role of social influence and individual perceptions of technology (i.e., usefulness and ease of use) in the intention to use technology in the cloud computing context.

Keywords: Cloud computing, adoption, social norms, social influence

1. Introduction

Progress in information and communication technologies (ICT) has already shaped and is still shaping consumption patterns of Web-based information services. New technologies emerge on a daily basis and become part of our everyday lives. An increasing number of people throughout the globe have embraced new technologies to meet their needs. A critical advantage of modern ICT is the ability to handle vast amounts of data at high speeds, which implies that people require a stable and large-capacity data storage solution. Whether you are interested in storing your photos or videos from a memorable travel experience, or you want to make a backup of your personal and business data from your personal computer or need to create shared documents with your colleagues, you will probably consider cloud storage as a gateway. Cloud computing (CC) refers to a large-scale parallel and distributed system that provides computing resources (such as servers, networks, storage, and applications) to users over the Internet on a payper-use basis (Mariani et al., 2021; Song et al., 2020). Regardless of whether you are an individual or an organization, as a user of CC, you are entitled to access computer resources just as you are entitled to use traditional utility services such as water, natural gas, or telecommunication services (Buyya et al., 2009). Nowadays, CC is a driving force of future innovations, particularly in deploying services that would be almost difficult to execute without cloud technology (e.g., Machine Learning - ML, Artificial Intelligence - AI, and the Internet of Things - IoT).

The coronavirus outbreak has resulted in social distancing, remote work environments, and other changes to people's everyday lives all across the globe. Due to COVID-19 caused by the coronavirus, individuals and organizations had ample opportunities to hear about CC services and even started using them on a daily basis. As a result, CC has emerged as an unsung hero of COVID-19 (Ashhab et al., 2021). Nowadays, we are witnessing a considerable expansion of CC applications. According to the report published by Research & Markets in April 2021, the global market for CC services, which was previously estimated to be worth US\$ 313.1 billion in 2020, is expected to grow to US\$ 937.5 billion by 2027, at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 17 percent over the period 2020-2027. Amid the COVID-19 pandemic, enterprises (small, medium, and large) across industries, healthcare organizations, and educational institutions have been forced to move to digital environments (Ashhab et al., 2021; Md Noh & Amron, 2021), and as a result, usage of CC services has been increased in volume by both enterprises and individuals. Microsoft, for instance, had approximately 32 million active daily users of Microsoft Teams (Software as a Service CC, SaaS) at the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the number of Microsoft Teams active users increased to 75 million in a couple of weeks (Warren, 2021).

The topic of the adoption of CC services at the individual (micro) and organizational (intermediate) level has attracted interest of scholars in the field of information systems (IS)/information technology (IT) (e.g., Adjei et al., 2021; Sharma et al., 2016; Song et al., 2020; Vu et al., 2020). Previous studies suggest that the main factors driving organizational-level adoption of CC are benefit-cost risk considerations, technological and organizational readiness, and environmental factors (Vu et al., 2020). Currently, the research stream focused on individual-level adoption of CC services is in its infancy (Mariani et al., 2021; Song et al., 2020). Only a few studies have addressed the factors influencing individual acceptance of CC services (e.g., Mariani et al., 2021; Song et al., 2020; Sharma et al., 2016). In terms of CC adoption at the individual level, scholars have used technology acceptance theory and unified theory of acceptance and use of technology to explore antecedents of an individual's intention to use or adopt CC. Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, trust, and self-efficacy are found to be significant predictors of an individual's willingness to adopt CC services (Mariani et al., 2021; Sharma et al., 2016). However, group influence on willingness to adopt CC services has seldom been explored (e.g., Ho et al., 2017). Hence the primary purpose of this study is to examine the role of social influence, i.e., social norms, in crafting users' willingness to use cloud computing services. Our central assumption is that individuals' willingness to adopt CC services is determined by perceived usefulness and ease of use, both shaped by social norms (group influence). The current study is theoretically grounded in the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and Social Influence Theory.

2. Literature review and research hypotheses

2.1 Cloud computing

As a new approach to the usage of computer technology, CC empowers people by allowing them to access, work on, share, and save information through the Internet (Park & Ryoo, 2013). With conventional information technology solutions, user data might get locked in specialized software accessible on a limited number of devices, discouraging them from being more effective in their job tasks. In contrast, CC services allow users instant access to their data from any location using multiple devices (Park & Ryoo, 2013). As a result, migration to CC services makes users more productive and enhances communication with their co-workers. Three service models can deliver CC services: Infrastructure as a Service - IaaS, Platform as a Service - PaaS, and Software as a Service - SaaS (Assante et al., 2016; Balco et al., 2017; Song et al., 2020). Software as a Service (SaaS) refers to "the ability to 'rent' the use of software hosted by a third party, so the user does not need to buy additional hardware or software to support it" (Baldwin & Cromity, 2012, p. 121). This service model is among the first CC services provided, and it has the most significant number of users. Platform as a Service (PaaS) is a CC service that creates an environment for developing applications and services and providing them to end-users (Raza & Mahfooz, 2017). With the help of PaaS, developers and information technology administrators develop applications primarily intended for end-users in the web or mobile environment. Developers and information technology administrators can configure the system operating parameters but not the hardware infrastructure on which PaaS services run. Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS) is a CC service model primarily based on virtualization. Developers and information technology administrators can configure and set specific parameters at the hardware level, but cloud providers still maintain hardware and all components and elements necessary for IaaS (Raza & Mahfooz, 2017). This model allows the highest level of personalization compared to the previous two models (SaaS and PaaS), but at the same time, the user bears the highest responsibility.

To better understand the advantages and disadvantages of cloud technology, it is essential to present the basic characteristics of cloud deployment models (Aljabre, 2012; Raza & Mahfooz, 2017):

- Public Cloud refers to the "pay-per-use model", which in most cases involves the calculation of resources used per unit time (usually 1 hour). This cloud model implies the use of a cloud infrastructure that is shared among a large number of users, where user data are not mutually visible. It is crucial to point out that this model includes SLA (Service Level Agreement), which defines service delivery quality.
- Private Cloud is a cloud model within an organization or company whose infrastructure is used/managed exclusively for one organization or company. This model often has a fixed monthly charge for complete re-

sources available to the user rather than the amount of resources used. This cloud model is much more expensive than the public cloud and is often used in cases where another cloud model cannot be used due to the user's internal procedures and policies or legal restrictions.

• Hybrid Cloud refers to the usage of its own data center (on-premises) in combination with other cloud models, for example, with one of the domestic or global cloud providers. In this way, users can use the existing infrastructure if they own it, but they can also use the benefits and advantages of cloud technology.

Since PaaS and IaaS are enterprise-level CC services, we focus on the SaaS model, a prevailing deployment model of CC services among individual users. While traditional solutions are based on the commercial off-the-shelf principle (COTS), according to which the vendors sell the application and can provide assistance in the installation process and use, the SaaS model is based on the principle of a monthly subscription, usually per user. Therefore, the user is not responsible for purchasing, installing, or implementing the solution, or the procurement or administration of the infrastructure necessary to operate an information system. In most cases, the SaaS model represents a cheaper and more efficient solution than the traditional solutions (Ma, 2007). Some examples of SaaS services are Salesforce.com, Microsoft Office 365, Box, Google Apps, Amazon Web Services, Dropbox, GoToMeeting, Cisco WebEx, Concur, SAP Concur, etc. (Fechter, 2020; Watts & Raza, 2019).

SaaS services are provided in a virtual Application Service Provider (ASP) environment. ASPs ensure that each SaaS service user receives sufficient resources required for the efficient operation of the service. Thus, the users are no longer in charge of purchasing hardware and licenses or installing, configuring, maintaining, and upgrading software itself. In this way, the user does not have to bear long-term monetary costs, and at the same time, it enhances the flexibility and agility of its information technology solution. Due to the characteristics of cloud technology and SaaS services, the implementation and provision of SaaS services to new users are remarkably fast and simple. A stable and fast Internet connection is necessary for the efficient use of the service, i.e., access to SaaS services is possible from anywhere via any smart device. Besides the benefits, there are legitimate concerns regarding the security of cloud-based data storage. Users are primarily concerned about the possibility of data loss, information control/oversight, and compliance with information management standards (Ho et al., 2017). In addition to the presented potential risks, potential factors hindering the adoption of CC services at the individual level are insufficient information, knowledge, and understanding of infrastructure, costs, and other aspects of SaaS services (Assante et al., 2016). Specific risks and issues can also arise during the transfer of large data amounts, especially in the implementation and migration to SaaS services (Goval, 2013). When using the SaaS model, the users will need to increase the Internet speed and its quality and availability significantly.

2.2 Development of hypotheses

Social group influence and willingness to use CC services. Social norms theory posits that individuals develop subjective norms in a way that they tend to adjust their attitudes and behaviors in response to the people around them (Berkowitz, 2005). Family members, friends, and co-workers all have a significant impact on a person's life. In general, people assume that they belong to specific groups. So when other individuals in such groups, especially those who are very important to them, start using information technology services (e.g., CC services), people would see the usage of such services as a "signal" of belonging to the group (Wu et al., 2021). In addition, individuals who are less knowledgeable about CC services will be more prone to use the opinions of others about the benefits and risks of CC services adoption. Since CC services are intangible, individuals can form opinions about ease of use and usefulness only after adopting CC services. In addition, people are often "ill-informed" about a new information system before utilizing it and during the early stages of adoption; thus, their intention to use a new information system depends on other opinions (Watjatrakul, 2013). Therefore, people tend to rely on the experience of knowledgeable users belonging to their social groups to form their attitudes towards CC services. Thus, the following hypotheses are formulated:

H1a: A favorable social norm toward CC positively affects perceived ease of use of CC services.

H1b: A favorable social norm toward CC positively affects perceived usefulness of CC services.

H1c: A favorable social norm toward CC is positively associated with users' willingness to use CC services.

Technology acceptance theory and willingness to use CC services. The technology acceptance model (TAM) is a common framework for analyzing how individual users accept CC services (Ho et al., 2017; Park & Kim, 2014; Sharma et al., 2016). There are four key TAM constructs, i.e., perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, attitude toward utilizing, and behavioral intention. Perceived ease of use refers to "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would be free of effort" (Davis, 1989, p. 320), while perceived usefulness is described as "the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance" (Davis, 1989, p. 320). The central idea behind the TAM is that perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness are critical drivers of an individual's attitude toward using and the intention to use specific information systems or services (Davis, 1989). CC is known for its usefulness in many ways, including the fact that the user is not restricted by location, that it provides multiple opportunities to learn new software tools, and that it allows users to access a variety of hardware and software resources that they do not own (Sharma et al., 2016). Previous research suggests that perceived usefulness and ease of use have a significant positive effect on the intention to use CC services (e.g., Park et al., 2014; Sharma et al., 2016). Bearing this in mind, we formulated the following hypotheses:

H2: Perceived ease of use positively affects users' willingness to use CC services.

H3: Perceived usefulness positively affects users' willingness to use CC services.

H4: Perceived ease of use mediates the relationship between the favorable social norm and users' willingness to use CC services.

H5: Perceived usefulness mediates the relationship between the favorable social norm and users' willingness to use CC services.

3. Research methodology

The present study used the convenience sampling technique to carry out empirical research. Although the convenience sampling technique demonstrates certain limitations concerning the generalization issues, this sampling technique is an appropriate and pragmatic sampling approach when researchers focus on the target population directly accessible and willing to participate in a survey (Etikan et al., 2016). Data collection was performed in December 2020 and January 2021 via an online survey. At the end of the survey period, we collected 125 completed and valid responses. The profile of the respondents is presented in Table 1. In terms of CC services used, the most prominent CC service used by participants in this study is Software as a Service (83.2%). One-third of the participants are Platform as a Service users, and every fifth participant has experience of using Infrastructure as a Service.

Table 1 Sample profile

Characteristic	Frequency	Percentage
Gender		
Male	65	52.0
Female	60	48.0
Age		
Under 30	59	47.2
31- 40	37	29.6
Over 40	29	23.2
Education		
High school	47	37.6
Undergraduate	29	23.2
Graduate (Master's degree and PhD degree)	49	39.2
Type of the cloud computing	g service used	
Software as a Service users	104	83.2
Platform as a Service users	39	31.2
Infrastructure as a Service users	27	21.6

Source: Research results

The items included in the questionnaire were derived from previous studies. Survey items were adapted from previous studies encompassing social influence (Lu, 2014; Venkatesh et al., 2003), perceived ease of use (Sharma et al., 2016), perceived usefulness (Sharma et al., 2016), and willingness (Sharma et al., 2016). We modified all items to satisfy the purpose of the current study, i.e., whether social influence, perceived ease of use, and perceived usefulness affect users' willingness to use CC services. A 5-points Likert scale ranging from 1 ("Strongly disagree") to 5 ("Strongly agree") was used for all items. We employed Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) to analyze the measurement model and test the research hypotheses through a structural model. PLS-SEM is particularly attractive when researchers are interested in testing research models with small samples and non-normal distribution of data (Sarstedt et al., 2017). In the present study, Smart PLS 3.3.3. was employed to perform PLS-SEM analysis.

4. Results and discussion

Assessment of the measurement model. We assessed the internal consistency of the used scales by Cronbach's alpha coefficient. According to Hair et al. (2016), Cronbach's alpha values should not be below 0.7. In our case, values of Cronbach's alpha ranged from 0.789 to 0.893, indicating the internal consistency (reliability) of the used measurement scales. Convergent validity was assessed by the following statistical criteria: item loadings, the average variance extracted (AVE), and composite reliability (CR). Factor item loadings were above the recommended value of 0.7 (Sarstedt et al., 2017) for all but two items (see Table 2). As suggested by Hair et al. (2016), indicators with factor loadings between 0.40 and 0.70 are acceptable if the AVE and CR values are above the threshold. Moreover, all AVE values were higher than 0.5 (Sarstedt et al., 2017), indicating that all measures exhibit an adequate level of convergent validity. Moreover, CR values were satisfactory, ranging from 0.782 to 0.891. The results indicated that convergent validity was achieved and that all items (manifest variables) were linked to their respective latent variable well.

Construct	Code	Item	Factor loading	Cronbach's alpha	CR	AVE
				0.814	0.806	0.518
Social	SI1	People around me believe that it is a good idea to use CC services.	0.744			
influence (SI)	SI2	People around me encourage me to use CC services.	0.701			
	SI3	The media encourages me to use CC services.	0.501			
	SI4	IT experts encourage me to use CC services.	0.882			
				0.789	0.782	0.568
Perceived	PEOU1	I think learning how to use CC is easy.	0.915			
ease of use (PEOU)	PEOU2	Learning how to use CC services require less mental efforts.	0.396			
	PEOU3	I think CC services are easy.	0.843			
				0.893	0.891	0.733
Perceived	PU1	I think CC services improve my performance.	0.791			
(PU)	PU2	I think CC services improve my productivity.	0.833			
(- /	PU3	I think CC services are useful for my overall work.	0.938			
				0.866	0.886	0.723
Willingness	WILL1	I am using CC services.	0.760			
(WILL)	WILL2	I recommend the use of CC services to peers.	0.834			
	WILL3	I will be using CC services in the future.	0.946			

Table 2 The results of measurement models

Note: Reliability and validity tests by using Smart PLS[®] 3. 3.3. *Source: Research results*

Discriminant validity was evaluated using the following three statistical criteria: cross-loadings, the Fornell-Larcker criterion, and the Heterotraitmonotrait (HTMT) ratio of correlations criterion (Henseler et al., 2015). First, factor loadings for each item linked to the latent variable were greater than those of other latent variables. Second, the square root of each construct's average variance extracted (AVE) was higher than correlations between constructs (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). Third, as shown in Table 4, the HTMT ratio values ranged from 0.372 to 0.691, which are lower than the threshold value of 0.85 (Sarstedt et al., 2017). Moreover, we utilized a complete bootstrapping procedure to evaluate the distribution of HTMT statistics. As shown in Table 4, the confidence interval calculated from 5,000 boot-strap samples confirms that neither lower nor upper 95% percentile confidence interval (CI) includes a value of one. Hence we established the discriminant validity of the constructs used in our study.

Table 3	Correlations	and the	average	variance	extracted
Inone o	Contentions	with the	urchage	<i>vui tuite</i> c	cminucium

Constructs	Mean	SD	SI	PEOU	PU	WILL
Social influence (SI)	0.814	0.036	0.719			
Perceived ease of use (PEOU)	0.789	0.041	0.411	0.754		
Perceived usefulness (PU)	0.893	0.027	0.480	0.437	0.856	
Willingness (WILL)	0.886	0.024	0.706	0.555	0.553	0.850

Note: The square root of the average variance extracted (AVE) of each construct are values in the diagonal; below the diagonal line are correlation values.

Source: Research results

	SI	PEOU	PU	WILL
Social influence (SI)	-			
	0.372			
Perceived ease of use (PEOU)	CI 95	-		
	(0.201 - 0.479)			
	0.466	0.412		
Perceived usefulness (PU)	CI 95	CI 95	-	
	(0.313 - 0.607)	(0.213 - 0.611)		
	0.691	0.557	0.547	
Willingness (WILL)	CI 95	CI 95	CI 95	-
	(0.561 - 0.798)	(0.383 - 0.707)	(0.341 – 0.712)	

Table 4 Discriminant validity by HTMT values

Source: Research results

Furthermore, we used the variance inflation factors (VIF) to assess the degree of multicollinearity among constructs of interest. The PLS collinearity statistics revealed that the inner VIF values are between 1.000 and 1.427, which is above the threshold of 3.3 (Kock & Lynn, 2012). Therefore, the results confirmed that there are no multicollinearity issues in our data. Figure 1 depicts the Smart PLS output of the measurement and structural model.





Source: Researchers' own findings

Assessment of the structural model. We assessed the structural model using the coefficients of determination (R^2) and an effect size (f^2) , as suggested by Hair et al. (2017). The coefficient of determination (R^2) for

willingness to use CC services was 0.604, indicating that 60.4% of the variation in willingness to use cloud computing services is explained by social influence, perceived ease of use, and perceived usefulness. In terms of an effect size, the f^2 values above 0.35, 0.15, and 0.02 can be considered strong, moderate, and weak, respectively (Hair et al., 2017). In our model, two hypothesized relationships (H2 and H3) were supported. Still, the effect size (f^2) indicated a moderate effect of perceived ease of use on perceived usefulness and a weak effect of perceived ease of use on willingness to use CC services. The finding indicates that perceived ease of use is significantly related to perceived usefulness (H2) and willingness to use CC services (H3), but the impact is weak.

As presented in Table 5, most hypothesized paths are statistically significant. A favorable social norm towards CC services produces a positive and statistically significant effect on perceived ease of use ($\beta = 0.411$, p < 0.001), perceived usefulness ($\beta = 0.361$, p < 0.001), and willingness to use CC services ($\beta = 0.504$, p < 0.001), which supports H1a, H1b, and

H1c. Furthermore, H2 was validated ($\beta = 0.289$, p < 0.005), but the f² effect size indicated a moderate effect of perceived ease of use on perceived usefulness ($f^2 = 0.099$; p < 0.005). This finding is consistent with the study conducted by Mariani et al. (2021), in which they established a positive link between perceived ease of use of CC services and perceived usefulness of CC services. Similarly, H3 was supported ($\beta = 0.228 \text{ p} < 0.01$), but the impact of perceived ease of use of CC services on willingness to use CC services is relatively small ($f^2 = 0.133$; p < 0.01). In contrast, we did not validate the direct effect of perceived usefulness on willingness to use CC services ($\beta = 0.197 \text{ p} > 0.01$). As a result, hypothesis H4 was not supported. This finding contradicts earlier research that found perceived usefulness to be an important driver of technology and information system adoption (e.g., Mariani et al., 2021; Md Noh & Amron, 2021; Sharma et al., 2016).

Table 5 Hypothesized paths are statistically significant
--

Hypothesis	Hypothesized path	Path coefficient	t-value	f ² effect size	95% CI	Hypothesis analysis
H1a	$SI \rightarrow PEOU$	0.411***	5.003	0.203	(0.251, 0.578)	Supported
H1b	$SI \rightarrow PU$	0.361***	3.945	0.155	(0.177, 0.535)	Supported
H1c	$SI \rightarrow WILL$	0.504***	5.812	0.469	(0.333, 0.669)	Supported
H2	$PEOU \rightarrow PU$	0.289**	2.509	0.099	(0.055, 0.510)	Supported ^a
H3	$PEOU \rightarrow WILL$	0.262**	2.899	0.133	(0.097, 0.457)	Supported ^a
H4	$PU \rightarrow WILL$	0.197	1.622	0.070	(-0.056, 0.415)	Not supported

Note: *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05: *f² values below 0.15 indicating a weak effect Source: Research results

To test the mediating role of perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness, as suggested by Hair et al. (2016), we assessed the multiple mediation model. By considering the mediating roles of perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness simultaneously in one model, we are able to gain valuable insight into the mechanisms through which social influence affects users' willingness to use cloud computing services.

Table 6 Results of mediation analys

Hypothesis	Hypothesized path	β	t-value	95 % CI	Hypothesis analysis	
H5	$SI \rightarrow PEOU \rightarrow WILL$	0.107***	2.411**	(0.05, 0.039)	Supported	
H6	$SI \rightarrow PU \rightarrow WILL$	0.071	1.451	(-0.008, 0.188)	Not supported	

Source: Research results

Regarding the indirect effect of favorable social norms on willingness to use *CC* services mediated by perceived ease of use, we found that this effect is positive and statistically significant ($\beta = 0.107$; p < 0.05). However, the hypothesized indirect effect of social norms on willingness to use CC services me-

diated by perceived usefulness was positive but statistically insignificant. Thus, our findings suggested that perceived ease of use is a mediator between social norms and users' willingness to use CC services. Our results also indicate that perceived usefulness of CC services does not display a significant effect on users' willingness to use CC services.

5. Conclusion

The present study advances our understanding of the role of social influence and individual perceptions of technology (i.e., usefulness and ease of use) in the intention to use technology in the cloud computing context. Among the analyzed predictors (social influence, perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use), we found that social influence has the highest impact on individuals' willingness to use CC services. In addition, our findings suggest that social influence has an impact on an individual's decision to use CC services through the perception of easiness of using CC services. In the context of CC services, perceived usefulness does not significantly affect an individual's decision to use CC services. Moreover, perceived usefulness does not have a mediating role in the link between social impact and an individual's intention to use CC services.

The theoretical implications of the current study are twofold. First, this study sheds light on the mechanism by which social influence plays an essential role in driving users' willingness to use CC services. This study explains that social influence drives users' willingness to use CC services through users' perception of ease of use. Second, this study adds to current knowledge of the application of the TAM model in the context of CC services. Although previous research suggests that the TAM can be used to explain technology acceptance in different settings (e.g., Davis, 1989; Gangwar et al., 2015; Sharma et al., 2016), our study does not confirm the importance of perceived usefulness in predicting users' intention to use CC services. Our study suggests that individuals tend to prioritize ease rather than usefulness of CC services when deciding to use CC services.

This study informs service providers and organizational users of potential paths for increasing individual users' acceptance of CC services. Given the significance of the social impact on an individual's propensity to utilize CC services, organizations and service providers can inform potential users about the advantages of CC services via members of reference groups (e.g., friends, colleagues, mentors, etc.). Informed consumers will grasp the benefits of engaging in CC services and develop more positive views about them, resulting in their desire to utilize CC services. Additionally, service providers should bear in mind that customers have a propensity to jump on the bandwagon when it comes to CC services. The bandwagon effect is a well-documented phenomenon associated with the adoption and use of new technologies such as mobile phones, social networking sites, online films, and movies (Wang et al., 2019), and therefore plays a critical role in the dissemination of CC services.

This study has several limitations. First, it does not distinguish social influence of various reference groups (family members, friends, co-workers) who may impact users' intention to use CC services differently. Second, the study does not differentiate an individual's willingness to use CC services among three service models (Infrastructure as a Service -IaaS, Platform as a Service - PaaS, and Software as a Service - SaaS). Since perceived ease of use and usefulness differ between different service models. future studies focusing on one service model (e.g., SaaS) are welcome. Third, the present empirical research was carried out at a single point in time, and it does not capture the idea that users' attitudes and behaviors can change over time. Therefore, future studies should focus on behavioral change over time in the context of individuals' willingness to use CC services.

References

- 1. Adjei, J. K., Adams, S. & Mamattah, L. (2021). Cloud computing adoption in Ghana; accounting for institutional factors. *Technology in Society*, 65, 101583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2021.101583
- Ashhab, Z. R., Anbar, M., Singh, M. M., Leau, Y. B., Al-Sai, Z. A. & Alhayja'a, S. A. (2021). Impact of coronavirus pandemic crisis on technologies and cloud computing applications. *Journal of Electronic Science and Technology*, 19(1), 25-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnlest.2020.100059
- 3. Aljabre, A. (2012). Cloud computing for increased business value. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(1), 234-239.
- 4. Assante, D., Castro, M., Hamburg, I. & Martin, S. (2016). The use of cloud computing in SMEs. *Procedia Computer Science*, 83, 1207-1212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2016.04.250
- Balco, P., Law, J. & Drahošová, M. (2017). Cloud market analysis from customer perspective. Procedia Computer Science, 109C, 1022-1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2017.05.375
- Baldwin, M. & Cromity, J. (2012). SaaS and cloud computing, the rise of compartmentalizing users online via subscription. *New Review of Information Networking*, 17(2), 120-126. https://doi.org/10.1080/13614576.2012.724302
- Berkowitz, A. D. (2005). An overview of the social norms approach. In Lederman, L. C. & Stewart, L. P. (Eds.), *Changing the Culture of College Drinking: A Socially Situated Health Communication Campaign* (pp. 193-214). Hampton Press.
- 8. Buyya, R., Yeo, C. S., Venugopa, S., Broberg, J. & Brandic, I. (2009). Cloud computing and emerging IT platforms: Vision, hype, and reality for delivering computing as the 5th utility. *Future Generation Computer Systems*, 25(6), 599-616. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.future.2008.12.001
- 9. Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, *13*(3). 319-339. https://doi.org/10.2307/249008
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A. & Alkassim, R. S. (2016.). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- 11. Fechter J. (2020). *15 Common Software as a Service (SaaS) Examples to Inspire You.* https://joshfechter.com/software-service-examples/
- 12. Fornell, C. & Larcker, D. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variable and measurement error. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *18*(1), 39-50. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224378101800104
- 13. Gangwar, H., Date, H. & Ramaswamy, R. (2015). Understanding determinants of cloud computing adoption using an integrated TAM-TOE model. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(1), 107-130. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-08-2013-0065
- 14. Goyal. S. (2013). Software as a Service, Platform as a Service, Infrastructure as a Service A Review. International Journal of Computer Science & Network Solutions, 1(3), 53-67.
- 15. Hair Jr., J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C. & Sarstedt, M. (2016). A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM). Sage Publications.
- Hair, J., Hollingsworth, C. L., Randolph, A. B. & Chong, A. Y. L. (2017). An updated and expanded assessment of PLS-SEM in information systems research. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117(3), 442-458. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-04-2016-0130
- 17. Henseler, J., Ringle, C. M. & Sarstedt, M. (2015). A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. *Journal of Academy of Marketing Science*, *43*, 115-135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8
- Ho, S. M., Ocasio-Velázquez, M. & Booth, C. (2017). Trust or consequences? Causal effects of perceived risk and subjective norms on cloud technology adoption. *Computers & Security*, 70, 581-595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cose.2017.08.004

- 19. Kock, N. & Lynn, G. S. (2012). Lateral collinearity and misleading results in variance-based SEM: an illustration and recommendations. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, *13*(7), 546-580. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00302
- Lu, J. (2014). Are personal innovativeness and social influence critical to continue with mobile commerce? *Internet Research*, 24(2), 134-159. https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-05-2012-0100
- 21. Ma, D. (2007). *The Business Model of "Software-as-a-Service"*. Singapore Management University. https://doi.org/10.1109/SCC.2007.118
- Mariani, M. M., Ek Styven, M. & Teulon, F. (2021). Explaining the intention to use digital personal data stores: An empirical study. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 166 (May 2021, 120657). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.120657
- Md Noh, N. H. & Amron, M. T. (2021). Exploring cloud computing readiness and acceptance in higher education institution: A PLS-SEM approach. *Asian Journal of University Education*, 17(4), 367-376. https://doi.org/10.24191/ajue.v17i4.16193
- Park, E. & Kim, K. J. (2014). An integrated adoption model of mobile cloud services: Exploration of key determinants and extension of technology acceptance model. *Telematics and Informatics*, 31, 376-385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2013.11.008
- Park, S. C. & Ryoo, S. Y. (2013). An empirical investigation of end-users' switching toward cloud computing: A two factor theory perspective. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(1), 160-170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2012.07.032
- Raza, K. I. & Mahfooz, A. (2017). Cloud computing: Issues and future directions. *Global Sci-Tech*, 29(1), 27-44. https://doi.org/10.5958/2455-7110.2017.00005.2
- Sarstedt, M., Ringle, C. M. & Hair, J. F. (2017). Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling. Handbook of Market Research, 26(1), 1-40. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05542-8_15-1
- Sharma, S. K., Al-Badi, A. H., Govindaluri, S. M. & Al-Kharusi, M. H. (2016). Predicting motivators of cloud computing adoption: A developing country perspective. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 62, 61-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.073
- Song, C. H., Kim, S. W. & Sohn, Y. W. (2020). Acceptance of Public Cloud Storage Services in South Korea: A Multi-group Analysis. *International Journal of Information Management*, 51, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.11.003
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B. & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly*, 27(3), 425-478. https://doi.org/10.2307/30036540
- Vu, K., Hartley, K. & Kankanhalli, A. (2020). Predictors of cloud computing adoption: A cross-country study. *Telematics and Informatics*, 52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2020.101426
- Wang, C. J. & Zhu, J. J. H. (2019). Jumping onto the bandwagon of collective gatekeepers: Testing the bandwagon effect of information diffusion on social news website. *Telematics and Informatics*, 41, 34-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2019.03.001
- Warren, T. (2021, April 27). Microsoft Teams usage jumps to 145 million daily active users. The Verge. https://www.theverge.com/2021/4/27/22406472/microsoft-teams-145-million-daily-active-usersstats
- 34. Watjatrakul, B. (2013). Intention to use a free voluntary service. *Journal of Systems and Information Technology*, 15(2), 202-220. https://doi.org/10.1108/13287261311328903
- 35. Watts, S. & Raza, M. (2019, June 15). SaaS vs PaaS vs IaaS: What's The Difference & How to Choose. https://www.bmc.com/blogs/saas-vs-paas-vs-iaas-whats-the-difference-and-how-to-choose/
- Wu, D., Gu, H., Gu, S. & You, H. (2021). Individual motivation and social influence: a study of telemedicine adoption in China based on social cognitive theory. *Health Policy and Technology*, *10*(3), 100525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2021.100525

Hilmi Uçar Provincial Directorate of Youth and Sports 42300 Konya, Turkey hilmiucar23@gmail.com Gökhan Kerse Kafkas University Faculty of Economics and Administrative Science 36000 Kars, Turkey gokhankerse@hotmail.com JEL: M12, D23 Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.5

Received: February 2, 2022 Revision received: April 27, 2022 Accepted for publishing: April 28, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PERCEIVED ORGANIZATIONAL SUPPORT, JOB CRAFTING, AND JOB PERFORMANCE: A MEDIATED MODEL^{*}

Abstract

Purpose: This study discusses perceived organizational support, job performance, and job crafting, and aims to determine the relationships between these variables with a mediated model.

Methodology: In line with the purpose of the study, a literature review was first carried out and research hypotheses were developed based on both theoretical and empirical findings. The data required to test the hypotheses (222 data) were obtained from a company operating in the manufacturing sector in Konya (Turkey). Data were analyzed using the SPSS, AMOS, and PROCESS Macro software.

Results: The analysis showed that perceived organizational support positively affects job crafting and job crafting positively affects job performance. Furthermore, job crafting was observed to have a mediating role in the effect of perceived organizational support on job performance.

Conclusion: Perceived organizational support increases job performance both directly and indirectly. Therefore, the perception of support in the organization increases job crafting and ultimately job performance.

Keywords: Perceived organizational support, job crafting, job performance

1. Introduction

Performance is an important criterion for organizations to reach their goals and continue their lives (Gavrea et al., 2011). For this reason, the concept of performance has attracted the attention of both academics and administrators through time, and there have been attempts to determine the individual and organizational factors that determine performance. Findings of subsequent studies have revealed that many variables originating from the individual and the organization such as personality (Bakker et al., 2012), motivation (Shahzadi et al., 2014), organizational trust (Biswas & Kapil, 2017), ethical climate (Büte, 2011), psychological empowerment (Chiang, & Hsieh, 2012), perception of justice (Chien et al., 2010), job stress (Fonkeng, 2018), work engagement (Bakker et al., 2012), and job satisfaction (Miao & Kim, 2010) affect employee performance. Therefore, each study has attempted

This study was obtained from the first author's master's thesis in Turkey under the supervision of the second author.

to answer questions such as "What can be done to improve employee performance? What characteristics make employee performance higher? What kind of work environment should be offered to the employees so that they can fulfill what is expected of them and even go beyond it?", and has partially answered these questions with satisfactory findings. This study tried to find the answers to these questions and discussed the concepts of perceived organizational support and job crafting, which are two variables that affect work performance.

Perceived organizational support is the situation in which a colleague meets the needs and expectations of the organization of which they are a member and feels valued. This feeling allows important outcomes that benefit work and the organization such as decreased cynical attitudes of employees and increased organizational identification and attachment to the organization (Kerse & Karabey, 2019). Additionally, the employee feeling that they are supported in the organization promotes job crafting behavior (Kim et al., 2018). Job crafting involves employees making changes in their work for different individual or organizational purposes and making their work suitable and meaningful for themselves. This enhances employees' positive emotions, psychological well-being, the level of attachment to work, job satisfaction, citizenship behavior (Kerse, 2019a), and work performance, which this study focuses on (Miraglia et al., 2017).

This study, which focuses on the impact of perception of organizational support of manufacturing sector employees on business performance through job crafting, is expected to contribute to the literature in three ways. Firstly, there are limited studies on job crafting in the national literature (Kerse, 2017; Kerse, 2019a); therefore, it was thought that studies on the subject should be carried out in Turkey and additions should be made to the precursor and successor variables of job crafting. Secondly, this study is the first in Turkey to address the relationship between job crafting and job performance, although such studies exist in the international literature. Finally, although dual relationships between the variables used in the study were discussed in different studies (Ingusci et al., 2016; Park et al., 2020; Turunç & Çelik, 2010; Chiang & Hsieh, 2012; Leana et al., 2009; Bakker et al., 2012), the variables of perceived organizational support, job crafting, and work performance were discussed together for the first time in this study and their relationships were examined. For these reasons, the study is expected to contribute to both national and international literature.

2. Theoretical framework and hypotheses

2.1 Perceived organizational support

Eisenberger et al. (1986) were the first to coin the concept of "organizational support" in the literature. These researchers defined organizational support as employees' level of perception and belief that organizations value the contributions of employees to their work and care about their well-being (Eisenberger et al., 1986). In the following years, this definition was used as a reference and various definitions of the term were made in this direction. Looking at these different definitions of perceived organizational support, it can be said that the common denominator expresses the general opinion of employees as to whether organizations value the efforts and contributions of employees, care about their levels of well-being, and meet their needs (Kerse & Karabey, 2019).

It is possible to explain perceived organizational support with social exchange theory (Blau, 1964). Social exchange theory was put forward by Blau (1964). According to this theory, interactions between employees and the continuation of these interactions depend on the existence and alteration of mutually valuable things (Kerse & Karabey, 2019). If the organization values the employee, considers their well-being, and carries out practices accordingly (what the employee considers valuable), the employee also makes more efforts to achieve the objectives of the organization (what the organization considers valuable) and carries out activities that will ultimately achieve that goal (Eisenberger et al., 1990). Therefore, in line with social exchange theory, employee perceptions of support bring along many positive outcomes. In other words, the perception of support by employees in the organizational environment increases their job satisfaction (Côté et al., 2021), organizational commitment (Wu & Liu, 2014), identification with the organization (Edwards & Peccei, 2010), citizenship behaviors (Wu & Liu, 2014), and work engagement (Gokul et al., 2012), while reducing turnover intentions (Arshadi, 2011), silence behavior, (Akçin et al., 2017), and cynical attitudes (Biswas & Kapil, 2017). Therefore, it can be said that the perception of support is important for achieving organizational objectives and continuing life.

2.2 The relationship between perceived organizational support and job crafting

Job crafting refers to the changes and arrangements that employers make in their work in order to adapt their work to them. In other words, job crafting involves employees organizing their work according to their personal interests, needs, expectations and abilities for different purposes and ultimately harmonizing their work with them. This concept was first discussed by Kulik et al. (1987). The researchers stated in their study that the work being done should involve employees, and that they should be able to redesign their work on their own initiative from time to time without approval of the managers, therefore describing job crafting as it is used today.

Job crafting has an in-depth view of what changes employees undergo to improve their performance and well-being (Bruning & Campion, 2019). From this point of view, employees change the tasks and relationships in their work on their own initiative (Hetland et al., 2018). This change becomes part of the work, leading the work to be organized according to individual goals and needs (Bruning & Campion, 2019).

Individual and organizational factors play a decisive role in employees exhibiting job crafting behavior. Individual factors such as self-efficacy (Golparvar & Khafi, 2021; Kanten, 2014; Kim et al., 2018), personorganization fit (Koçak, 2018), personality (Bell & Njoli, 2016), personal initiative (Tims et al., 2012), adaptation to change (Lyons, 2008), workaholicism (Hakanen et al., 2018), and employee engagement (Tims et al., 2015) are positively associated with job crafting. It can be said that organizational factors such as leadership (Kerse & Babadag, 2019), job characteristics (Petrou, 2013), and organizational objectives (Lyons, 2008) are a decisive factor in job crafting. Another variable that determines the emergence of job crafting behavior is perceived organizational support.

It is possible to explain its relationship with job crafting behavior, which is a positive result of perceived organizational support, using the conservation of resources theory. This theory suggests that individuals attempt to obtain and conserve resources. According to the theory, individuals always tend to get more resources than they have (Hobfoll, 1989). Therefore, when organizations take individually and socially supportive actions such as respecting their employees and increasing seniority, they strive to increase their success in their work and can take more individual responsibility and make some positive changes in their business processes (Kim et al., 2018). As a matter of fact, studies in the literature have revealed findings that support this claim. For example, a study conducted by Kim et al. (2018) found that employees' perceptions of organizational support had a positive effect on task crafting, relational crafting and cognitive crafting behaviors. Ingusci et al. (2016) conducted a study on teachers and found a positive relationship between perceived organizational support and job crafting. Park et al. (2020) concluded in their study on human resources experts that the effect of organizational support on job crafting was statistically significant and positive. Based on these views, the following hypothesis was developed:

H₁: Perceived organizational support has a positive effect on job crafting.

2.3 The relationship between perceived organizational support and job performance

Performance is the indicator of the gains made by employees as a result of their efforts to perform their tasks (Büte, 2011). Job performance is defined as direct or indirect contributions of employees to the goals of organizations (Fonkeng, 2018). In other words, job performance is the actions and behaviors that employees consciously exhibit to contribute to the goals of the organization to which they belong (Chien et al., 2010). These actions and behaviors by employees include material or intangible results that affect the success and performance of their organizations (Anitha, 2014). Therefore, job performance relates to what employees do or do not do when performing their tasks (Shahzadi et al., 2014).

From a general point of view, employee performance is considered to be the most important output in the organization. Therefore, employees, who are the determinants of performance, play a critical role in the success of organizations. Job performance is seen as the main building block of organizations operating with a focus on service and production. Thus, it is expected to remain an important output in the future (Khtatbeh et al., 2020). It is hence important to determine which variables contribute to improving employee performance and which variables hinder it. Although there are many individual and organizational variables that affect job performance, organizational support is one of the most important perceptual variables.

The relationship between organizational support and job performance can be explained within the scope of Blau's (1964) "social exchange theory". According to social exchange theory, if a person exhibits behavior that benefits another, the receiving party is also obliged to do so (Cetin & Senturk, 2016). When this theory is reflected in business life, employees exhibit loyalty and performance to the extent that they believe that the activities carried out by the organization are beneficial for them. The main determinant of the beginning of social exchange between the organization and the employee is that the organization supports and invests in the employee. In this context, support provided by organizations to employees can improve their performance. Studies examining the relationship between organizational support and job performance have obtained results that indicate this. For example, Turunç and Çelik (2010) concluded in their study on small business employees that perceived organizational support positively and meaningfully affects job performance. In their study conducted on teachers, Işık and Kama (2018) observed that perceived organizational support has a positive effect on teacher performance. Mioa and Kim (2010) concluded in their study that job performance is positively related to perceived organizational support. In another study, Chiang and Hsieh (2012) found that organizational support positively and meaningfully affects job performance. Based on these views, the following hypothesis has been developed:

H₂: Perceived organizational support has a direct positive effect on job performance.

2.4 The relationship between job crafting and job performance

Job crafting refers to the actions that employees take with the aim of making improvements in their work by making some changes. Employees exhibit job crafting behavior to increase the meaningfulness of their work for themselves, have a positive business identity, increase their well-being and performance levels, and make their jobs more compatible with themselves (Tims & Parker, 2020). Their job crafting behavior can enable them to develop methods that include some autonomy in their work and subsequently increase their performance by adapting to their work.

We can explain the relationship between job crafting and job performance by Hobfoll's (2001) conservation of resources theory. Employees can more easily meet what their job demands from them by increasing their resources in the job through job crafting behavior. This allows them to perform more, protecting them from stress, burnout, and exhaustion. Furthermore, employees are willing to use all their skills in their work when existing work resources are sufficient to cope with job demands (Miraglia et al., 2017).

Job crafting is a concept that generally improves job performance. Many studies have been carried out on these two variables. Leana et al. (2009) found that teachers' job crafting behaviors reflected positively in their job performance. In their study, Bakker et al. (2012) found that employees were able to proactively improve their performance to the extent that they could regulate their work environment. In another study, Ince and Özbozkurt (2019) found that job crafting significantly affects job performance. Based on these findings and explanations, the following hypothesis was developed:

 H_3 : Job crafting has a positive effect on job performance.

2.5 The mediating role of job crafting

As mentioned earlier, employees' perceptions of organizational support increases their job crafting levels (Kim et al., 2018; Ingusci et al., 2016; Park et al., 2020; Kim et al., 2018) and job performance (Arshadi & Khaavi, 2013; Chiang & Hsieh, 2012; Turunç & Çelik, 2010). However, employee job crafting levels also improve their job performance (Leana et al., 2009; Miraglia et al., 2017). Therefore, it can be stated that perceived organizational support can indirectly affect job performance. In other words, job crafting can have a mediating role in this effect. Although there are no studies in the literature that examine these variables and their relationship together, there are studies showing that job crafting can be a mediator in a model with different variables (Sen & Dulara, 2017; Opea et al., 2019). In line with these findings and explanations, the following hypothesis regarding mediation was developed:

 H_4 : Job crafting has a mediating role in the effect of perceived organizational support on job performance.

3. Research method

The Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University Scientific Research Publication Ethical Committee granted Ethics Committee approval for this study dated 26 May 2021 under No. 61-70.

3.1 Research purpose and sample

This study examined whether the perception of organizational support in the manufacturing sector affects job performance and, if it does, whether job crafting plays a mediating role. In line with this, the study attempted to answer questions such as: To what extent and how does the perception of support from the organization of which the employees are members affect their job crafting? To what extent and how do employees' perceptions of organizational support affect their performance? Do employee job crafting behaviors improve their job performance? Does job crafting play a role in the effect of the perception of support on job performance?.

The sample consists of employees working in a factory in the manufacturing industry in Konya. The intense work pace present in the manufacturing industry has led the study to examine the variables of perceived organizational support, job crafting, and job performance and the relationship between them within the context of this industry. Therefore, data were collected from employees in the industry with the survey method. The company employs 340 employees. Calculations regarding sample size were made and it was determined that 181 individuals were sufficient for representability (with a 95% confidence level)¹. Using this as a reference, 248 surveys were sent to employees in the manufacturing industry using the simple random sampling method, and 228 of them were returned. There were data losses in 6 surveys, therefore, analyses were carried out on 222 surveys. Of the 222 surveys, male employees were more likely than women (89.2%) to be in the industry, and the rate of single employees was slightly higher (50.09%) than the rate of married people. Based on age-related data, it was determined that the proportion of employees between the ages of 26 and 35 was higher (44.01%), and that the majority of employees had 1-4 years of work experience (33.8%). Their education status revealed that the majority were high school graduates (52.3%).

3.2 Scales used in the research

The study utilized the survey method to collect data. The items in the survey were measured by a Likert-type scale (from 1 - strongly disagree to 5 - strongly agree).

Perceived Organizational Support: A scale of 10 questions developed by Eisenberger et al. (1986) and later used by Armstrong-Stassen and Ursel (2009) was used to measure participants' perceptions of organizational support. Reliability and validity of the organizational support perception scale was examined by Turunç and Çelik (2010). In Turunç and Çelik's study (2010), it was observed that the Cronbach alpha coefficient of the scale was 0.880, and that met the criteria for validity.

Job Performance: The job performance scale was first developed by Kirkman and Rosen (1999) and later used by Sigler and Person (2000). The scale contains four (4) items. For this study, the original scale was referenced and scale items were arranged within the context of the manufacturing industry. Reliability and validity of scale items were exam-

1 https://www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm

ined in Çöl's (2008) study and deemed reliable due to the Cronbach alpha coefficient being 0.828. Additionally, criteria regarding its validity have been provided in the study.

Job Crafting: The scale developed by Slemp and Vella-Brodrick (2013) and adapted to Turkey by Kerse (2017) was used to measure job crafting. The scale consists of 15 expressions and 3 sub-dimensions: task crafting, cognitive crafting and relational crafting. In the analysis of the scale, Kerse (2017) suggested that the Cronbach alpha coefficient and validity values met the reference criterion, both dimensional (0.757; 0.860; 0.844) and scale overall (0.918).

3.3 Statistical methods used in the research

The data obtained in the study were analyzed using the SPSS and AMOS package programs. Reliability analysis, exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis, and correlation analysis were performed using these programs. In addition, the SPSS PROCESS Macro plug-in was used for testing hypotheses. The normal distribution conformity test was performed before data analysis. In this respect, skewness and kurtosis values of the variables were examined and it was determined that the assumption of normality was achieved by confirming that these values ranged between -3 and 3 (Sposito et al., 1983), which can be seen in Table 3.

The Cronbach alpha reliability criterion, which demonstrates the internal consistency of the scale, was used to test the reliability of the scales involved in the study. The Cronbach alpha coefficient of 0.70 and above was taken into consideration. The items with a total score correlation of less than 0.30 were removed from the scale. As a result of the analyses, the total score correlation of the three (3) items on the perceived organizational support scale was excluded from the analysis its value less than 0.30. Therefore, other analyses were carried out using seven (7) items. In terms of reliability analysis, it was determined that the scales of perceived organizational support (0.923), job crafting (0.936) and job performance (0.911) were reliable.

3.4 Factor analysis of scales

Exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses were performed on the scales to analyze the structure validity of the scales used in the study. In exploratory factor analysis, it was ensured that the lowest values of factor loads were 0.40 and above. The items below this value were not analyzed. The KMO (Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy) is based on sample adequacy of 0.60 and above, and the significance of Bartlett's globality test being <.05. Furthermore, the compatibility of the factor structure found as a result of exploratory factor analysis was tested with validating factor analysis and it was ensured that the standardized regression loads of the items were not less than 0.50. In the factor analyses made in this direction, it was determined that all scales met the reference criteria (see Table 1 and Table 2).

	Exploratory Factor Analysis				Confirmatory Factor Analysis	
Scales	Factor Loads	Eigenvalue	Explained Variance	Total Variance	Factor Loads	
POS					•	
POS1	.682	4.823	68.900	68.900	.76	
POS2	.775				.82	
POS3	.732				.85	
POS4	.718				.84	
POS5	.536				.67	
POS6	.698				.79	
POS7	.682				.79	
JC					·	
JC-TC1	.708	8.219	54.795	68.279	.71	
JC-TC2	.671				.81	
JC-TC3	.643				.73	
JC-TC4	.643				.69	
JC-CC1	.715	1.084	7.227		.83	
JC-CC2	.597				.73	
JC-CC3	.673				.79	
JC-CC4	.720				.79	
JC-CC5	.681				.76	
JC-RC1	.669	.939	6.258		.79	
JC-RC2	.738				.79	
JC-RC3	.810				.45	
JC-RC4	.649				.71	
JC-RC5	.657				.82	
JC-RC6	.668				.83	
ЈР					·	
JP1	.777	3.160	79.002	79.002	.87	
JP2	.818				.92	
JP3	.790				.77	
JP4	.774				.75	

Table 1 Exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis findings

POS: Perceived Organizational Support; JC = Job Crafting; TC: Task Crafting; CC = Cognitive Crafting; RC = Relational Crafting; JP = Job Performance *Source: Authors' calculations*

Indexes	Reference value	POS	JC	JP
CMIN/DF	$0 < \chi 2/sd \le 5$	1.875	1.959	.356
CFI	≥.90	.991	.963	1.000
RMR	<.1	.047	.046	.002
IFI	≥.90	.991	.963	1.000
TLI	≥.90	.983	.951	1.000
RMSEA	<.0508≤	.063	.066	.000

Table 2 Scale fit index results

Source: Authors' calculations

3.5 Hypothesis testing

Before analyzing research hypotheses, correlation analysis was performed to determine the magni-

tude and direction of the relationship between perceived organizational support, job crafting, and job performance. The findings are presented in Table 3.

Table 3 Relationships between variables and normality values

Variables	Mean	S.D.	POS	JC	ЈР	Skewness	Kurtosis
POS	3.20	1.131	1			-0.152	-0.296
JC	4.11	.787	.443**	1		-1.322	2.382
			.000				
JP	4.40	.801	.276**	.683**	1	-2.071	5.498
			.000	.000			

POS: Perceived Organizational Support; JC= Job Crafting; TC: Task Crafting; CC= Cognitive Crafting; RC= Relational Crafting; JP= Job Performance

Source: Authors' calculations

The relationships between the variables in Table 3 reveal that there is a moderate positive relationship between perceived organizational support and job crafting (r=.443), a low-level positive relationship between perceived organizational support and job performance (r=.276), and a good positive relationship between job crafting and job performance (r=.683).

The hypotheses were tested after identifying the relationships between the study variables. The basic hypotheses and the mediation hypothesis have been tested in line with the established model using PROCESS Macro. X (perceived organizational support) refers to the independent variable, M (job crafting) refers to the mediating variable, and Y (job performance) refers to the dependent variable in the mediating variable model. In order for variable M to assume the role of a mediating variable, there needs to be a significant regression relationship between X and Y, X and M, and M and Y, respectively. For this reason, the paths a, b, and c should be statistically significant in terms of regression relationships (Hayes, 2013). The findings obtained in the study after the use of these criteria as a reference and their analysis are given in Figure 1.




Indirect Effect = 0.218, CI(0.135,

Source: Authors' calculations

Figure 1 reveals that organizational support statistically does not directly and significantly predict job performance (β =-0.022; p>0.001). In this respect, H₂ is not supported. The analysis revealed that organizational support had a positive effect on job crafting (β =0.314; p<0.01). This result indicates that H, is supported. According to another finding obtained in the analysis, job crafting has a positive and significant effect on job performance (β =0.696; P<0.01). Therefore, H₂ is also supported. Multiplying the effect coefficients in paths "a" and "b" yields the magnitude of the indirect effect. The indirect effect in the model (0.314×0.696) was found to be 0.218 (β=0.218; CI [.1333; .3195]). Furthermore, Figure 1 reveals that the direct effect is -0.0229 and is insignificant (p>0.001). Therefore, perceived organizational support has an indirect effect on job performance. In other words, organizational support has a statistically significant effect on job performance through job crafting. For this reason, H₄ is supported. Job crafting was identified as a full mediator in this model due to the significant relationship between organizational support and job performance, losing its significance when job crafting is included in the model.

4. Evaluation and results

This study attempted to determine whether perceived organizational support directly or indirectly (through job crafting) affects job performance. The findings of the study are presented below and evaluations were made.

The first of the findings obtained in the analyses reveals that organizational support affects job crafting positively and at a significant level. This finding is consistent with previous studies on organizational support and job crafting (Kim et al., 2018; Ingusci et al., 2016). Therefore, it was determined that the employees who thought they enjoyed support of their organization were more selfless in their work, took individual responsibilities, and made some changes, harmonizing them ultimately with their work.

According to another finding obtained in the study, job performance increases as job crafting behavior increases. This finding is similar to previous studies (Tims et al., 2015; Leana et al., 2009; Bakker et al., 2012). Therefore, employees are motivated to adapt their work to themselves with some changes they make in the process. The fact that the work is done in line with the knowledge, skills, abilities, and desires of the person also leads to high performance. The last finding obtained in the study reveals that the perception of organizational support does not directly affect job performance, but does so indirectly through job crafting. In other words, employees' beliefs that their personal values and needs are valued in the organization make them organize and make changes in their work by acting proactively. The behavior of making these arrangements and changes aligns the employee's work with their needs and expectations. This allows them to do their job better to predetermined standards, improving their performance.

When the findings are examined holistically, the importance of employees' perceptions of support and their job crafting levels for improving job performance is clearly visible. Performance is one of the most important criteria for survival in past and currently existing organizations (Gavrea et al., 2011). Therefore, organizations and their representative managers should constantly investigate activities and practices that will improve the performance of employees - and hence the organizations - and attempt to make changes in the organization in this regard. This study revealed that improving performance at work and ultimately in the organization can be made possible by two important variables: the perception of support and crafting behaviors. Based on this finding, it is worth mentioning a few recommendations for managers who want to improve job performance. Managers should first tell their employees that they are supportive of them in all matters, turn to supportive behavior, and also ensure that the employees perceive this support. Because in addition to improving performance at work (Chiang & Hsieh, 2012), creating this perception allows employees to exhibit decreased cynical attitudes and behaviors towards the organization, adopt the organization as if it were their own organization, and devote themselves to its work (Kerse & Karabey, 2019). However, managers should give them the autonomy to make changes to the work they do as well as to create an organizational environment in which employees can organize their

work based on personal interests and expectations. Creating this environment and ultimately the shift of the workforce towards crafting behaviors makes them fit with their work (Kerse, 2018) and more satisfied (Kerse, 2019b) as well as reduce boredom at work (Kerse, 2019a). More importantly, as seen in this study, it improves performance at work and therefore ensures that organizations maintain a competitive advantage and continue their lives.

To summarize the findings, the study obtained findings on the effect of manufacturing industry employees' perceptions of organizational support and job crafting behaviors that can guide organizations to influence job performance. Organizational support provided by organizations improves job performance because it increases happiness of employees and their motivation. However, this effect takes place with job crafting. Organizational support provided to the workforce enables them to exhibit job crafting behaviors, which is proactive behavior, and has an enhancing effect on their performance. Therefore, employees can be more efficient and productive by integrating their jobs with their own values and characteristics. This situation creates a working environment in which both sides are positively affected in an employee-organization context. Organizations achieve their objectives to the extent that they can maintain this positive working environment, which is ultimately reflected in the objectives of the organization.

Just like all other studies, this study has certain limitations. The first limitation is that the main sample of the study includes only employees working in the manufacturing industry in Konya. Another limitation is that the study consists of employees in only one industry and does not include employees working in other industries. Another limitation is the possibility that manufacturing industry employees cannot answer questions with sufficient care and attention due to the workload and the pandemic. Therefore, it may be recommended to conduct studies on employees under less workload after the pandemic.

References

- Akçin, K., Erat, S., Alniaçik, Ü. & Çiftçioğlu, A. B. (2017). Effect of perceived organizational support on organizational silence and task performance: A study on academicians. *Journal of Global Strategic Management*, 11(1), 35-43. https://doi.org/10.20460/JGSM.2017.244
- 2. Anitha, J. (2014). Determinants of employee engagement and their impact on employee performance. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 63(3), 308-323. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-01-2013-0008
- 3. Armstrong-Stassen, M. & Ursel, N. D. (2009). Perceived organizational support, career satisfaction, and the retention of older workers. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 82(1), 201-220. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317908X288838
- 4. Arshadi, N. (2011). The relationships of perceived organizational support (POS) with organizational commitment, in-role performance, and turnover intention: Mediating role of felt obligation. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *30*, 1103-1108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.10.215
- Arshadi, N. & Hayavi, G. (2013). The effect of perceived organizational support on affective commitment and job performance: Mediating role of OBSE. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 84, 739-743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.637
- Bakker, A. B., Tims, M. & Derks, D. (2012). Proactive personality and job performance: The role of job crafting and work engagement. *Human Relations*, 65(10), 1359-1378. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726712453471
- 7. Bell, C. & Njoli, N. (2016). The role of big five factors on predicting job crafting propensities amongst administrative employees in a South African tertiary institution. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *14*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v14i1.702
- Biswas, S. & Kapil, K. (2017). Linking perceived organizational support and organizational justice to employees' in-role performance and organizational cynicism through organizational trust: A field investigation in India. *Journal of Management Development*, 36(5), 696-711. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-04-2016-0052
- 9. Blau, P. M. (1964). Exchange and Power in Social Life. Wiley.
- Bruning, P. F. & Campion, M. A. (2019). Exploring job crafting: Diagnosing and responding to the ways employees adjust their jobs. *Business Horizons*, 62(5), 625-635. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2019.05.003
- 11. Büte, M. (2011). Etik iklim, örgütsel güven ve bireysel performans arasındaki ilişki. *Atatürk Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Dergisi*, 25(1), 171-192.
- Chiang, C. F. & Hsieh, T. S. (2012). The impacts of perceived organizational support and psychological empowerment on job performance: The mediating effects of organizational citizenship behavior. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 31(1), 180-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2011.04.011
- Chien, M. S., Lawler, J. S. & Uen, J. F. (2010). Performance-based pay, procedural justice and job performance for R&D professionals: Evidence from the Taiwanese high-tech sector. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 21(12), 2234-2248. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2010.509626
- 14. Côté, K., Lauzier, M. & Stinglhamber, F. (2021). The relationship between presenteeism and job satisfaction: A mediated moderation model using work engagement and perceived organizational support. *European Management Journal*, 39(2), 270-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2020.09.001
- 15. Cetin, A. & Sentürk, M. (2016). An examination of knowledge sharing behavior in the context of the theory of planned behavior and social exchange theory: An empirical investigation on dermatologists. *Ege Academic Review*, *16*(2), 241-246.
- 16. Çöl, G. (2008). The effects of perceived empowerment on employee performance. *Doğuş Üniversitesi Dergisi*, 9(1), 35-46. https://doi.org/10.31671/dogus.2019.220

- 17. Edwards, M. R. & Peccei, R. (2010). Perceived organizational support, organizational identification, and employee outcomes testing a simultaneous multifoci model. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *9*(1), 17-26. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000007
- Eisenberger, R., Huntington, R., Hutchison, S. & Sowa, D. (1986). Perceived organizational support. Journal of Applied Psychology, 71(3), 500-507. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.71.3.500
- Eisenberger, R., Peter, F. & Valerie, D. (1990). Perceived organizational support and employee diligence, commitment, and innovation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75(1), 51-59. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.75.1.51
- 20. Fonkeng, C. (2018). Effects of job-stress on employee performance in an enterprise. *Journal of Business* and Management, 11(6), 61-68.
- Gavrea, C., Ilies, L. & Stegerean, R. (2011). Determinants of organizational performance: The case of Romania. *Management & Marketing*, 6(2), 285-300.
- 22. Gokul, A., Sridevi, G. & Srinivasan, P. T. (2012). The relationship between perceived organizational support, work engagement and affective commitment. *AMET International Journal of Management*, 4(2), 29-37.
- 23. Golparvar, S. E. & Khafi, A. (2021). The role of L2 writing self-efficacy in integrated writing strategy use and performance. *Assessing Writing*, *47*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asw.2020.100504
- Hakanen, J. J., Peeters, M. W. & Schaufeli, W. B. (2018). Different types of employee well-being across time and their relationships with job crafting. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23(2), 289-301. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000081
- 25. Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis. Guilford Press.
- Hetland, J., Hetland, H., Bakker, A. B. & Demerouti, E. (2018). Daily transformational leadership and employee job crafting: The role of promotion focus. *European Management Journal*, 36(6), 746-756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2018.01.002
- 27. Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *American Psychologist*, 44(3), 513-524. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2001). The influence of culture, community, and the nested-self in the stress process: Advancing conservation of resources theory. *Applied Psychology*, 50(3), 337-421. https://doi.org/10.1111/1464-0597.00062
- 29. Ingusci, E., Callea, A., Chirumbolo, A. & Urbini, F. (2016). Job crafting and job satisfaction in a sample of italian teachers: The mediating role of perceived organizational support. *Electronic Journal of Applied Statistical Analysis*, *9*(4), 675-687.
- Işık, M. & Kama, A. (2018). The mediating role of work engagement on the impact of perceived organizational support on employee performance. *Anemon Muş Alparslan Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 6(3), 395-403. https://doi.org/10.18506/anemon.338253
- 31. İnce, M. & Özbozkurt, O. B. (2019). The mediating role of job crafting between work engagement and job performance: Research on crafters. *Kocaeli Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 2(38), 69-84.
- 32. Kanten, P. (2014). The antecedents of job crafting: Perceived organizational support, job characteristics and self-efficacy. *European Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, *3*(5), 113-128.
- 33. Kerse, G. (2017). Adaptation the Turkish language of the job crafting scale and relationship between job crafting and emotional exhaustion. *Journal of Business Research-Türk*, 9(4), 283-304. https://doi.org/10.20491/isarder.2017.332
- 34. Kerse, G. (2018). The impact of job crafting on person-job fit: "I am compatible with my work because I can make changes in my work". *Atatürk Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Dergisi*, 32(4), 941-958.
- 35. Kerse, G. (2019a). The effect of job crafting on job boredom: An investigation in the context of manufacturing sector. *Third Sector Social Economic Review*, *54*(1), 531-548.

- 36. Kerse, G. (2019b). The relationship between job crafting and job satisfaction: "Can changes in work increase satisfaction?". *İnsan & İnsan, 6*(20), 205-218.
- 37. Kerse, G. & Babadag, M. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on job crafting: A study on academic personnel. *İş ve İnsan Dergisi*, 6(2), 133-143. https://doi.org/10.18394/iid.504889
- Kerse, G. & Karabey, C. N. (2019). The effect of perceived organizational support on work engagement and perceived political behavior through organizational cynicism and identification. *Eskişehir Osmangazi Üniversitesi İktisadi ve İdari Bilimler Dergisi*, 14(1), 83-108. https://doi.org/10.17153/oguiibf.439835
- 39. Kim, H., Im, J. & Qu, H. (2018). Exploring antecedents and consequences of job crafting. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 75, 18-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.02.014
- Kim, H., Im, J., Qu, H. & Namkoong, J. (2018). Antecedent and consequences of job crafting: An organizational level approach. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 30(2), 1863-1881. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-01-2017-0040
- 41. Kirkman, B. L. & Rosen, B. (1999). Beyond self-management: Antecedents and consequences of team empowerment. *Academy of Management Journal*, *42*(1), 58-74. https://doi.org/10.2307/256874
- 42. Khtatbeh, M. M., Mahomed, A. S. B., Bin Ab Rahman, S. & Mohamed, R. (2020). The mediating role of procedural justice on the relationship between job analysis and employee performance in Jordan industrial estates. *Heliyon*, *6*(10), E04973. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04973
- 43. Koçak, D. (2018). Person-organization fit, compulsory citizenship behavior and leader-member exchange relationship. *Atatürk Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 22(3), 1487-1508.
- Kulik, C. T., Oldham, G. R. & Hackman, J. R. (1987). Work design as an approach to person-environment fit. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 31(3), 278-296. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(87)90044-3
- Leana, C., Appelbaum, E. & Shevchuk, I. (2009). Work process and quality of care in early childhood education: The role of job crafting. *Academy of Management Journal*, 52(6), 1169-1192. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2009.47084651
- 46. Lyons, P. (2008). The crafting of jobs and individual differences. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 23(1), 25-36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-008-9080-2
- Miao, R. & Kim, H. G. (2010). Perceived organizational support, job satisfaction and employee performance: A Chinese empirical study. *Journal of Service Science and Management*, 3(2), 257-264. https://doi.org/10.4236/jssm.2010.32032
- Miraglia, M., Cenciotti, R., Alessandri, G. & Borgogni, L. (2017). Translating self-efficacy in job performance over time: The role of job crafting. *Human Performance*, 30(5), 254-271. https://doi.org/10.1080/08959285.2017.1373115
- Oprea, B., Iliescu, D., Burtaverde, V. & Dumitrache, M. (2019). Personality and boredom at work: The mediating role of job crafting. *Career Development International*, 24(4), 315-330. https://doi.org/10.1108/CDI-08-2018-0212
- Park, Y., Lim, D. H., Kim, W. & Kang, H. (2020). Organizational support and adaptive performance: The revolving structural relationships between job crafting, work engagement, and adaptive performance. *Sustainability*, 12(12), 4872. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12124872
- 51. Petrou, P. (2013). *Crafting the change: The role of job crafting and regulatory focus in adaptation to organizational change* [Doctoral dissertation, Utrecht University]. Utrecht University.
- 52. Sen, C. & Dulara, S. (2017). Job characteristics and performance: The mediating role of job crafting. *The International Journal of Indian Psychology*, *5*(1), 66-74. https://doi.org/10.25215/0501.068
- 53. Sigler, T. H. & Pearson, C. M. (2000). Creating an empowering culture: Examining the relationship between organizational culture and perceptions of empowerment. *Journal of Quality Management*, *5*(1), 27-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1084-8568(00)00011-0

- 54. Shahzadi, I., Javed, A., Pirzada, S. S., Nasreen, S. & Khanam, F. (2014). Impact of employee motivation on employee performance. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 6(23), 159-166.
- 55. Slemp, G. R. & Vella-Brodrick, D. A. (2013). The job crafting questionnaire: A new scale to measure the extent to which employees engage in job crafting. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, *3*(2), 126-146.
- Sposito, V. A., Hand, M. L. & Skarpness, B. (1983). On the efficiency of using the sample kurtosis in selecting optimal estimators. *Communications in Statistics-Simulation and Computation*, 12(3), 265-272. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610918308812318
- 57. Tims, M., Bakker, A. B. & Derks, D. (2012). Development and validation of the job crafting scale. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 80(1), 173-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2011.05.009
- Tims, M., Bakker, A. B. & Derks, D. (2015). Job crafting and job performance: A longitudinal study. European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology, 24(6), 914-928. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2014.969245
- Tims, M. & Parker, S. K. (2020). How coworkers attribute, react to, and shape job crafting. Organizational Psychology Review, 10(1), 29-54. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386619896087
- 60. Turunç, Ö. & Çelik, M. (2010). The effect of perceived organizational support on work-family conflict, family-work conflict, organizational identification and turnover intention: A research on defence sector. *Atatürk Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 14*(1), 209-232.
- 61. Wu, C. C. & Liu, N. T. (2014). Perceived organizational support, organizational commitment and service-oriented organizational citizenship behaviors. *International Journal of Business and Information*, 9(1), 61-88.

Daimi Koçak Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University 24002 Erzincan, Turkey dkocak@erzincan.edu.tr JEL: D3, M1 Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.6

Received: March 27, 2022 Accepted for publishing: June 8, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



LEADER-MEMBER EXCHANGE AND UNETHICAL PRO-ORGANIZATIONAL BEHAVIOR: A MODERATED MEDIATION MODEL

Abstract

Purpose: In this study, drawing on social learning theory, a moderated mediation model was tested. This model examines organizational identification as the mediator and employee unethical tolerance as the moderator in relationships between leader-member exchange (LMX) and unethical pro-organizational behaviors (UPB).

Methodology: The research sample is comprised of 432 full-time employees of a private company operating in the service sector in Turkey.

Results: Consistent with the theoretical model, analysis results indicate that organizational identification mediated a positive relationship between LMX and UPB. Furthermore, results supported the moderated mediation model and showed that an indirect effect of LMX on UPB through organizational identification is stronger when EUT is high rather than low.

Conclusion: This study contributes to LMX and UBP literature by integrating research on organizational identification and employee unethical tolerance.

Keywords: Leader-member exchange, organizational identification, employee unethical tolerance, unethical pro-organizational behavior

1. Introduction

Unethical behaviors in organizations (e.g., fraud in accounting records, false or deceptive sales practices, violation of fair labor standards and human rights) have been the basis for many corporate scandals (e.g., the Enron scandal, the Volkswagen diesel emissions scandal, the Kobe Steel scandal) that are well-known to the public (Greenbaum et al., 2018; Treviño & Brown, 2005). These scandals have caused many billion-dollar companies to go bankrupt (e.g., Enron) or to suffer major losses (e.g., the Volkswagen case) (Umphress et al., 2010). While some of these scandals took place as a result of employees behaving unethically in their own interests or to the detriment of the organization (Treviño et al., 2014), some of them are due to UPB (Umphress et al., 2010; Umphress & Bingham, 2011; Chen et al., 2016).

Researchers who examined the relationship between leadership and ethical behavior have supported the fact that leaders have an impact on ethical behavior of employees (Treviño et al., 1999; Effelsberg et al., 2014; Greenbaum et al., 2018). According to social learning theory (Bandura, 1971), individuals learn almost all their behaviors by observing, imitating, and finding role models (Bandura, 1971). Considering that employees see their managers as role models for the way they behave within the organization (Treviño & Brown, 2005), it is likely that employees with high-quality LMX will model unethical behaviors of their managers (Brown & Treviño, 2014). Employees may find it suitable for their own interest to imitate unethical behaviors of their managers (Greenbaum et al., 2018) because they receive more spiritual (e.g., social support, control, trust) and financial (e.g., decision-making autonomy, promotion, monetary support) resources through high-quality LMX (Tangirala et al., 2007).

According to Ashforth & Mael (1989), "people tend to classify themselves and others into various social categories, such as organizational membership, religious affiliation, gender, and age cohort" (p. 20). Workers in organizations may have different levels and types of identities. This study focuses on organizational identification in which individuals define themselves according to their membership in a particular organization. Organizational identification occurs when individuals use the defining characteristics of the organization to define themselves. Because employees perceived supervisors as an agent of the organization (Eisenberger et al., 2010), LMX should influence employees' identification with their organizations (Zhao et al., 2019). Previous studies (e.g., Riketta, 2005) have found that organizational identification is an important determinant of employee attitudes and behaviors towards the organization. From this point of view, organizational identification may be a potential mediator between LMX and UPB.

Furthermore, previous studies (e.g., Effelsberg et al., 2014; Greenbaum et al., 2018) show that employees with high-quality LMX are more likely to take their managers as a role model as to how they should behave and tolerate unethical practices within the

organization. In this study, it is asserted that when employees overlook unethical business practices (i.e., they have a high level of unethical tolerance) with high-quality LMX, they are more likely to model themselves on their managers (Greenbaum et al., 2018), and that these employees are more likely to engage in UPB in comparison to those with low-quality LMX and low-level unethical tolerance.

The study aims to make some theoretical and practical contributions to the literature. First, drawing on social learning theory (Bandura, 1971), this study claims that LMX is an important determinant of employees' UPB. Previous studies have covered the effects of leadership on unethical behavior more within the scope of ethical leadership (e.g., Miao et al., 2019). Furthermore, very few studies have examined the effects of different types of leadership (transformational leadership, authentic leadership) on UPB (Effelsberg et al., 2014). In general, previous studies have found that employees ignore the direct impact of their exchange with managers on UPB, and to the best of my knowledge, no previous study has created a model which includes LMX, organizational identification, EUT and UPB together. Therefore, the findings of the current study are expected to help better understand previous studies on the relationship between leadership and UPB. Secondly, the findings of this study contribute to the discussion of whether high-quality LMX is always advantageous to organizations (e.g., Greenbaum et al., 2018; Bryant & Merritt, 2021). This study predicted that compared to employees with low-quality LMX, employees who have high-quality LMX are more likely to observe their managers and model themselves on their UPB. In line with this prediction, the study predicted that the positive effects of high-quality LMX can be reversed by role modeling of negative behavior causing behavior that is harmful to the organization. Third, the study predicted that organizational identification mediated the relationship between LMX and UPB. Thus, this study contributes to previous research (e.g., Treviño & Brown, 2004; Bryant & Merritt, 2021) on how LMX affects UPB by expanding on them. Finally, the study contributes to the literature on organizational ethics (Froelich & Kottke, 1991; Umphress et al., 2010) by predicting that EUT serves as an important boundary condition for the indirect effect of LMX on UPB. Thus, by expanding the organizational ethics literature, the study gives information about when and how EUT affects employees' UPB.

2. Theoretical background and hypotheses

2.1 LMX and UPB

The concept of LMX was explained by Graen & Uhl-Bien (1995) with a relationship-based approach. The relationship-based approach focuses on a dual relationship between the leader and the follower. According to the Graen & Uhl-Bien (1995), the leader does not interact with all of their followers in the same quality due to limited time and resources (Dansereau et al., 1975). By having high-quality exchange relationships with some followers referred to as in-group members, the leader gives them more resources, responsibility, support and rewards beyond their formal contracts (Scandura, 1999). High-quality exchange relationships between the leader and their followers are based on mutual trust and support (Scandura & Pellegrini, 2008), interpersonal attraction (Dansereau et al., 1975), and loyalty (Liden & Maslyn, 1998). On the other hand, the leader gives standard resources, responsibilities and rewards within the framework of official contracts to out-group members with whom they have lower-quality exchanges (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995).

Umphress & Bingham (2011) define UPB as "actions that are intended to promote the effective functioning of the organization or its members (e.g., leaders) and violate core societal values, mores, laws, or standards of proper conduct" (p. 622). They indicated that UPB is comprised of two elements. While the first element refers to presenting unethical behaviors such as violating hypernorms, the second element includes pro-organizational behaviors carried out for the benefit of the organization (Umphress et al., 2010; Umphress & Bingham, 2011). UPB has emerged as a special type of unethical behavior that has attracted the attention of organizational behavior researchers in recent years. However, in practice, UPB can be ignored, accepted, or encouraged by organizations because of its benefits to organizations. Studies have revealed that UPB will undermine the long-term interests of the organization and that certain structures generally thought to be beneficial to the organization, such as ethical leadership and transformational leadership, may encourage UPB under certain circumstances (Effelsberg et al., 2014; Miao et al., 2019).

Since leaders are important antecedents of employee attitudes and behaviors (Judge & Kammeyer-Mueller, 2012), they can help their employees establish

"correct" standards of behavior in their organizations. Leaders have an important role in setting ethical standards in the organization, because they have the power to reward and punish employees to reinforce appropriate normative behavior (Treviño et al., 2000). Therefore, when employees observe their leaders engaging in unethical behaviors, they tend to think that they should do the same in an organizational context and cognitively convince themselves that such behavior is ethical (Zhang et al., 2018). Brown & Mitchell (2010) argued that the basis of unethical leadership questions whether leadership behavior encourages unethical behaviors or whether it is the source of followers' unethical behaviors. Some researchers (e.g., Effelsberg et al., 2014) have suggested that leaders' unethical behaviors can be modeled by employees through role model influence due to legitimacy or power of their position. This phenomenon can be better understood with social learning theory (Bandura, 1971), which argues that behavioral learning occurs more through observation. Namely, individuals observe the behaviors of others and the consequences of these behaviors in order to learn which behaviors are socially acceptable and appropriate. Thus, if a reliable role model (e.g., the manager or leader) engages in a specific behavior without negative consequences, the observer is likely to model that behavior (Kerse, 2019; Greenbaum et al., 2018). However, employees may sometimes be aware that the results will be negative, or that their actions are not ethical, and they may display some unethical behaviors just because their superiors have performed them, or in order to protect the resources they have (Zhang et al., 2018). Umphress & Bingham (2011) claimed that positive social exchange relations between managers and employees can encourage UPB. Considering that high-quality LMX represents a positive social exchange between parties (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995) and drawing on social learning theory, this study claims that the quality of exchange that managers develop with their subordinates is an important determinant of their UPB. Taken together, the following hypothesis is proposed.

Hypothesis 1: LMX is positively related to UPB.

2.2 The mediating role of organizational identification

Organizational identification is an important determinant used to explain work-related attitudes and behaviors (Riketta, 2005; Chen et al., 2016). Therefore, organizational identification may be a potential mediator in the relationship between LMX and UPB. According to the group engagement model (Tyler & Blader, 2003), leaders increase the prestige of the members who follow them thanks to highquality LMX (Liden & Maslyn, 1998). An employee who feels that his/her dignity has increased within the organization, increases his/her identification with the organization (Zhao et al., 2019), thus increasing the possibility of the employee engaging in extra role behavior such as UPB (Blader & Tyler, 2009). When employees identify with their organization, they define themselves as "good citizens" and act according to the interests of the organization (Zhao et al., 2019).

Umphress & Bingham (2011) claimed that organizational identification is an important antecedent of UPB. Organizational identification can allow employees to perceive UPB as behaviors that are necessary for the success of the organization. Ashforth & Mael (1989) considered organizational identification as a specific form of social identity. Tajfel (1974) states that social identity of an individual is "his knowledge that he belongs to certain social groups together with some emotional and value significance to him of his membership" (p. 72). In the light of this definition, employees who have highquality LMX will feel valuable in the organization (Tyler & Blader, 2000) as they will receive more support, incentives, awards and resources beyond the provisions of the formal contract (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). Therefore, it can be said that by seeing themselves as part of the organization, the probability of their identification with the organization will increase (Zhao et al., 2019). According to the group engagement model, LMX quality shapes employees' social identities and affects their attitudes and behaviors (Tyler & Blader, 2003). Employees with high-quality LMX see themselves as the elite and view their social identity accordingly. As stated previously, employees view managers as organizational agents (Eisenberger et al., 2010) and thus manifest their social identities within the organization by identifying with their organizations (Riketta, 2005). Employees who feel strong identification with their organization care more about the interests of the organization and do not hesitate to take risks for the benefit of the organization (Chen et al., 2016). Moreover, employees may engage in UPB that they know is not morally and/or legally appropriate, even if the consequences may be harmful to them (Umphress et al., 2010). The present study predicts that organizational identification may be a mediator in the relationship between LMX and UPB. It is therefore hypothesized that:

Hypothesis 2: The relationship between LMX and UPB is mediated by organizational identification.

2.3 The moderating role of EUT

Attitudes refer to individual evaluations of whether an object, concept or behavior is good or bad, pleasant or unpleasant (Ajzen & Fishbein, 2000). Unethical tolerance refers to employee attitudes about their tolerance for unethical practices in the organization (Froelich & Kottke, 1991). Some employees in organizations tolerate unethical behaviors (with high tolerance), while others may consider it to be unpleasant (low tolerance). According to Mudrack et al. (1999), individuals who are benevolent or relatively insensitive to injustice are likely to be more tolerant of unethical events. For example, some employees may have a higher tolerance of unethical behavior because they have worked in environments where unethical behavior had no negative consequences. Frequent repetition of unethical behaviors and the lack of any negative consequences may cause employees to perceive these behaviors as routine practices for performing tasks. Employees may even believe that unethical behavior is expected of them within the organization (Greenbaum et al., 2018).

Employees have specific responsibilities towards the organization, customers, shareholders, colleagues, and managers. As the number of these persons or institutions increases, so does the possibility of conflict between the parties (Froelich & Kottke, 1991). Previous studies (e.g., Greenbaum et al., 2018; Castille et al., 2018) have claimed that Machiavellian employees are more tolerant of UPB because Machiavellians believe that it is necessary to take unethical actions in order to protect the image of the organization and to gain personal benefit (Castille et al., 2018). As stated above, employee attitudes towards unethical organizational practices explain their tolerance of unethical situations (Mudrack et al., 1999). Individuals with a high tolerance of unethical situations try to perform unethical behavior and remain silent in case of unethical behaviors and events in their environment (Greenbaum et al., 2018). In line with these explanations, the present study predicts that EUT may be a moderator in the relationship between organizational identification and UPB. For these reasons, the following hypothesis is proposed:

Hypothesis 3: The relationship between organizational identification and UPB is moderated by EUT, such that the positive relationship between organizational identification and UPB is weak when EUT is higher than when it is low.

The assumption that EUT can be a moderator in the relationship between organizational identification and UPB (H3) suggests a moderated mediation in which the indirect effect depends on the level of a moderator variable (Cole et al., 2008). Therefore, it is possible for EUT to conditionally affect the indirect impact of LMX on UPB through organizational identification. In other words, the indirect effect of LMX on UPB (via organizational identification) is assumed to be weaker when EUT is low, and stronger when EUT is high. Thus, the following hypothesis is proposed:

Hypothesis 4: EUT moderates the indirect effect of LMX on UPB through organizational identification, such that the indirect effect is weak when EUT is higher than when it is low.



Source: Author

3. Methods

3.1 Sample and procedure

Research data was obtained from 432 full-time employees working at a private company operating in the service sector in Turkey by adhering to voluntary and confidential survey techniques. The surveys were sent to the organization managers by email, and distributed to the employees by the managers, then collected and shared to the researcher by email. The participants' mean age was 27.4 years, 58% of the participants were male, 58.4% had a bachelor's degree, and 41.8% had 4-6 years of organizational tenure with the leader. Finally, 92.4% of the participants were subordinates and others (7.6%) were managers.

3.2 Measures

Turkish versions of all measures were created by following Brislin's (1970) translation-back translation procedures to ensure the correct translation of all relevant items in the questionnaire.

LMX. LMX was measured using Graen & Uhl-Bien's (1995) seven-item LMX scale. Sample items include "My supervisor understands my problems and needs". Each item was assessed using a 5-point Likert-type scale (from 1-absolutely disagree to 5-absolutely agree). The scale coefficient was 0.95.

Organizational identification. Organizational identification was measured using Mael & Ashforth's (1992) six-item organizational identification scale. Sample items include "This organization's successes are my successes". Each item was assessed using a 5-point Likert-type scale (from 1-absolutely disagree to 5-absolutely agree). The scale coefficient was 0.87.

EUT. EUT was measured using Froelich & Kottke's (1991) 10-item EUT measure. Sample items include "It is sometimes necessary for the company to engage in shady practices because the competition is doing so". Each item was assessed using a 7-point Likert-type scale (from 1 - strongly disagree to 7 - strongly agree). The scale coefficient was 0.77.

UPB. UPB was measured using Umphress et al.'s (2010) six-item UPB measures. Sample items include "If it would help the organization, I would misrepresent the truth to make the organization look good". Each item was assessed using a 7-point scale (from 1-strongly disagree to 7-strongly agree). The scale coefficient was 0.90.

Control variables. Previous studies (e.g., Umphress et al., 2010; Effelsberg et al., 2014; Miao et al., 2019) revealed that some demographic variables have potential influence on employees' UPB. Consistent with previous research, employees' ages, gender, education, leader organizational tenure and positions were controlled in this study.

4. Findings

4.1 Descriptive statistics

Table 1 shows the means, standard deviation, and intercorrelation values for the variables in the study. As expected, LMX was positively correlated with UPB (r = 0.84, p < 0.01).

Scales	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. Age	2.33	1.21	-								
2. Gender	1.48	0.50	-0.15**	-							
3. Education	2.43	0.73	-0.55**	0.15**	-						
4. Organizational tenure	2.54	1.02	0.67**	-0.05	-0.48**	-					
5. Job position	1.92	0.27	-0.12°	0.06	0.42**	-0.08	-				
6. LMX	3.62	1.01	0.14**	-0.01	-0.06	0.04	-0.02	(0.95)			
7. OI	4.01	0.87	0.15**	0.02	-0.11°	0.06	-0.10	0.71**	(0.87)		
8. EUT	2.51	0.92	-0.13°	0.01	0.10°	-0.16**	0.05	-0.44**	-0.47**	(0.77)	
9. UPB	3.82	0.84	0.14**	-0.02	-0.11°	0.07	-0.13°	0.65**	0.84**	-0.27**	(0.90)

 Table 1 Means, standard deviations and intercorrelations for variables

Note: *p<0.05; **p<0.01; LMX = Leader-member exchange; OI = organizational identification; EUT = Employee unethical tolerance; UPB = Unethical pro-organizational behavior Source: Author

4.2 Measurement models

The measurement model used in the research was tested with confirmatory factor analysis before testing the research hypotheses. Using the maximum likelihood method, whether the projected structures of the scales were supported by the data was analyzed using the alternative model strategy (Anderson & Gerbing, 1988). For this, the four-factor measurement model was compared with five alternative models using chi-square difference (ΔX^2) tests. The results showed that the model fit indices of the four-factor measurement models (X^2 (324) = 1000, p < 0.01, RM-SEA = 0.07, CFI = 0.94, SRMR = 0.07).

4.3 Hypotheses testing

The hypotheses were tested in two steps. In step one, the mediated relationship between LMX and UPB was tested using the simple mediation model (hypothesis 1 and hypothesis 2). In step two, the moderator variable EUT was included in the model in order to test whether the effect of organizational identification on UPB (hypothesis 3) and the indirect effect of LMX transmitted through organizational identification on UPB (hypothesis 4) differentiated depending on high and low levels of EUT.

Regression analysis results for the mediating role are given in Table 2. As seen in Table 2, LMX had a positive direct relationship with UPB ($\beta = 0.11$, p < 0.01). Thus, hypothesis 1 is supported. To further test the mediation hypotheses (hypothesis 2), the Hayes Process Macro was used. Furthermore, to test the significance of the mediator the bootstrap method was used. The results indicated that the indirect effect of LMX on UPB (via organizational identification) is significant ($\beta = 0.45$, p < 0.01). Thus, hypothesis 2 is supported. However, in order to be able to say that hypothesis 2 is fully supported, bootstrap confidence intervals (CIs) regarding the indirect effect of LMX on UPB should be examined (Preacher & Hayes, 2004). Since bootstrap confidence interval values (95% CI = .38 to .54) of the indirect effect do not contain zeros, it can be said that the indirect effect is significant. Thus, hypothesis 2 is fully supported.

		Organizationa	lidentification			
	В	SE	t	р		
Age	0.04	0.05	1.04	0.30		
Gender	0.07	0.06	1.07	0.32		
Education	0.11	0.05	2.38	0.02		
Organizational tenure	0.02	0.04	0.40	0.69		
Job position	-0.13	0.13	-1.05	0.29		
LMX	0.61	0.03	18.84	0.00		
		UI	PB			
	В	SE	t	р		
Age	0.01	0.03	0.46	0.65		
Gender	-0.03	0.05	-0.62	0.54		
Education	0.14	0.04	3.82	0.00		
Organizational tenure	0.01	0.04	0.35	0.73		
Job position	-0.04	0.10	-0.36	0.71		
Direct effect of LMX	0.11	0.04	2.98	0.00		
Organizational identification	0.75	0.05	18.24	0.00		
Total effect of LMX	0.56	0.03	16.33	0.00		
	Effect	SE	LLCI%95	ULCI%95		
Indirect effect of LMX on UPB via OI	0.45	0.04	0.38	0.54		

Table 2 Regression results for the mediation effect

Note: N=432; Bootstrap sample size = 5.000. LL = lower limit; CI = confidence interval; UL = upper limit; LMX = Leader-member exchange; UPB = Unethical pro-organizational behavior; OI = organizational identification *Source: Author*

Hypothesis 3 and hypothesis 4 were tested using the Hayes Process Macro (Hayes, 2018). To reduce multicollinearity, all interaction terms were centered (Aiken & West, 1991). As indicated in Table 3, the interaction term between organizational identification and EUT was significantly related to UPB (β = 0.12, p < 0.01).

		UPB		
	В	SE	t	р
Age	0.01	0.03	0.33	0.74
Gender	-0.03	0.05	-0.69	0.49
Education	0.11	0.03	3.16	0.00
Organizational tenure	0.04	0.03	1.19	0.24
Job position	-0.07	0.09	-0.73	0.47
LMX	0.16	0.03	4.93	0.00
Organizational identification	0.69	0.04	16.01	0.00
EUT	0.21	0.03	6.86	0.00
OIxEUT	0.12	0.02	5.37	0.00
	Cond	itional effect	of OI on UPB	
EUT	В	SE	t	р
-1 SD (92)	0.60	0.06	10.73	0.00
M (.00)				
	0.71	0.04	16.45	0.00
+1 SD (.92)	0.71	0.04	16.45 20.94	0.00
+1 SD (.92)	0.71 0.83 Conditiona	0.04 0.05 l indirect effe	16.45 20.94 cts at OI= M ±	0.00 0.00 ±1 SD
+1 SD (.92)	0.71 0.83 Conditiona Boot indirect effect	0.04 0.05 I indirect effe BootSE	16.45 20.94 cts at OI= <i>M</i> ± BootLLCI	0.00 0.00 :1 <i>SD</i> BootULCI
+1 SD (.92) EUT -1 SD (92)	0.71 0.83 Conditiona Boot indirect effect 0.36	0.04 0.05 I indirect effe BootSE 0.04	16.45 20.94 cts at OI= <i>M</i> ± BootLLCI 0.28	0.00 0.00 E1 SD BootULCI 0.45
+1 SD (.92) EUT -1 SD (92) M (.00)	0.71 0.83 Conditiona Boot indirect effect 0.36 0.43	0.04 0.05 I indirect effe BootSE 0.04 0.04	16.45 20.94 cts at OI= M ± BootLLCI 0.28 0.36	0.00 0.00 1 <i>SD</i> BootULCI 0.45 0.51
+1 SD (.92) EUT -1 SD (92) M (.00) +1 SD (.92)	0.71 0.83 Conditiona Boot indirect effect 0.36 0.43 0.51	0.04 0.05 1 indirect effe BootSE 0.04 0.04 0.04	16.45 20.94 cts at OI= M ± BootLLCI 0.28 0.36 0.42	0.00 0.00 E1 <i>SD</i> BootULCI 0.45 0.51 0.58

Table 3 Regression results f	for moderated mediation
------------------------------	-------------------------

Note: SD = Standard deviation; SE = Standard error. Bootstrap sample size = 5.000. LL = lower limit; CI = confidence interval; UL = upper limit; LMX = Leader-member exchange; UPB = Unethical pro-organizational behavior; EUT = Employee unethical tolerance; OI = organizational identification *Source: Author*

The results indicated that the relationship between organizational identification and UPB (Figure 2) was stronger for employees with high EUT (simple slope = 0.60, p < .01) than for those with low EUT (simple slope = 0.83, p < .01). Thus, hypothesis 3 is supported.



Figure 2 EUT moderator effect on the relationship between organizational identification and UPB

Source: Author

Furthermore, hypothesis 4 predicted that EUT moderated the mediated relationship between LMX and UPB through organizational identification. Since EUT was centralized (Aiken & West, 1991), a low value of EUT (-.92) was defined as the value with a distance of -1 standard deviation from the center, and a high value (.92) was defined as the value with a distance of +1 standard deviation from the center (see Table 3). The results showed that the conditional indirect effect of LMX on UPB was significant (β = .36, 95% CI = [.28, .45]; β = .51, 95% CI = [.42, .58]). Thus, hypothesis 4 is supported.

5. Conclusion

The findings of this study have contributed to the literature in various ways. The first contribution to the literature is that it reveals that LMX with positive outcomes for employees, managers and organizations are not always beneficial. Previous studies (e.g., Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995; Scandura, 1999) focused on the positive sides of LMX, neglecting the negative sides. The current study contributes to the debate about whether high LMX is always beneficial (e.g., Greenbaum et al., 2018) by revealing that

high LMX has a positive impact on unethical employee behavior.

Second, researchers (i.e., Chen et al., 2016; Umphress et al., 2010) have called for additional studies to investigate mediators that may help us better understand the formation of UPB. To address these calls, organizational identification is verified in this study as a mediator in the relationship between LMX and UPB. According to the group engagement model (Tyler & Blader, 2003; Blader & Tyler, 2009), employees can create a strong social identity with the group (in-group) thanks to highquality LMX, and perform extra role behaviors (e.g., UPB) for the benefit of the organization. This study is important in terms of revealing how LMX affects UPB according to the group engagement model. Umphress et al. (2010) stated that the effect of organizational identification on UPB should be examined with different variables. In line with the suggestion of Umphress et al. (2010), this study predicted that LMX indirectly increases UPB by positively effecting organizational identification. The research findings confirmed that high-quality LMX that managers develop with their employees allows them to feel valued in the group and in the organization, increasing in this way their organizational identification and indirectly increasing their UPB. This result is important in terms of shedding light on the claims that organizational identification can be harmful to the organization. Previous studies (e.g., Mael & Tetrick, 1992) focused more on the positive side, neglecting the dark side of organizational identification. In the present study, the finding that UPBs can be increased by increasing organizational identification of employees contributed to the claims about the dark side of organizational identification (e.g., Dukerich et al., 1998). An employee, who is strongly identified with their organization, may ignore or display these unethical behaviors that the organization unwittingly or consciously demonstrates (Chen et al., 2016).

Furthermore, the results indicated that the mediated relationship between LMX and UPB via organizational identification is stronger for employees with high EUT. This result is an important contribution to previous studies (e.g., Umphress et al., 2010) examining the relationship between organizational identification and UPB in terms of revealing that this relationship changes according to the level of EUT. In addition, the indirect effect of LMX on UPB through organizational identification differs according to low and high levels of EUT, as expected. Low-level EUT reduced the indirect effect of LMX on UPB by reducing the positive effect of organizational identification on UPB.

It is possible to reach some practical conclusions based on the findings of the study. In the research, managers were informed that the quality of their exchanges with employees affected their organizational identification and that they therefore demonstrated more UPB. Although high-quality LMX is desirable and encouraged in organizations (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995), it should be noted that employees can model negative behaviors due to their highquality LMX (Greenbaum et al., 2018). Employees' role modeling of their legal or unethical behaviors, thanks to mutual trust-based exchanges with their managers, reflects the proverb, 'if you lie down with dogs, you get up with fleas'. Employees observing their managers' unethical behavior in organizations may cause changes in their ways of thinking about the possibility of being punished for unethical behavior, and lead them to recalculate the costs related to the benefits of similar behaviors (Zhang et al., 2018). Managers should also keep in mind that unethical behavior can cause great harm to the organization and employees in the long term. A manager's unethical behavior for the benefit of the organization may lead employees to follow similar actions. For this reason, the organization should regulate behavior of the leaders and thus prevent the spread of UPB within firms.

Employees who have high-quality LMX (in-group) contribute more to the outputs desired by the organization (Graen & Uhl-Bien, 1995). Therefore, employees who have high-quality LMX have more opportunities (e.g., social support, authority, resources, self-efficacy) than employees who have low-quality LMX (out-group) (Scandura & Pellegrini, 2008). Furthermore, employees' tendencies toward unethical behaviors can be reduced by ensuring that the human resources department properly applies the necessary employment procedures. For example, managers (or recruiters) could be trained on the characteristics of candidates with a Machiavellian personality. Training managers to identify candidates with these characteristics can help them reliably identify individuals prone to UPB (Castille et al., 2018). In addition, managers should be aware that promoting organizational identification risks encouraging UPBs, and this risk is particularly high for employees with high EUT.

5.1 Limitations and recommendations

In addition to the above-mentioned contributions, the study also has some limitations. The first limitation is that although the theoretical arguments support the causal design of the research model, the causality of the research results could not be determined sufficiently due to the fact that the research data were collected using the cross-sectional method (Levin, 2006). Future studies can adequately reveal the causality of their research findings by obtaining data using longitudinal or experimental methods. The second limitation is that UPB is evaluated according to employees' self-reported responses. Umphress et al. (2010) stated that selfreporting is appropriate because managers or colleagues do not have enough foresight to assess the intentions behind focal unethical employee behavior. Nevertheless, future studies can use UPB evaluations of managers and colleagues to reduce common method bias (Podsakoff et al., 2003).

References

- 1. Aiken, L. S. & West, S. G. (1991). *Multiple Regression: Testing and Interpreting Interactions*. Sage Publications, Inc.
- 2. Ajzen, I. & Fishbein, M. (2000). Attitudes and the attitude-behavior relation: Reasoned and automatic processes. *European Review of Social Psychology*, *11*(1), 1-33. https://doi.org/10.1080/14792779943000116
- Anderson, J. C. & Gerbing, D. W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103(3), 411-423. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411
- 4. Ashforth, B. E. & Mael, F. (1989). Social identity theory and the organization. *Academy of Management Review*, *14*(1), 20-39. https://doi.org/10.2307/258189
- 5. Bandura, A. (1971). Social Learning Theory. General Learning Press.
- Blader, S. L. & Tyler, T. R. (2009). Testing and extending the group engagement model: Linkages between social identity, procedural justice, economic outcomes, and extra role behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 94(2), 445-464. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013935
- Brislin, R. W. (1970). Back-translation for cross-cultural research. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 1(3), 185-216. https://doi.org/10.1177/135910457000100301
- 8. Brown, M. E. & Mitchell, M. S. (2010). Ethical and unethical leadership: Exploring new avenues for future research. *Business Ethics Quarterly*, 20(4), 583-616. https://doi.org/10.5840/beq201020439
- Brown, M. E. & Treviño, L. K. (2014). Do role models matter? An investigation of role modeling as an antecedent of perceived ethical leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 122(4), 587-598. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1769-0
- Bryant, W. & Merritt, S. M. (2021). Unethical pro-organizational behavior and positive leader-employee relationships. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *168*(4), 777-793. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04211-x
- 11. Castille, C. M., Buckner, J. E. & Thoroughgood, C. N. (2018). Prosocial citizens without a moral compass? Examining the relationship between Machiavellianism and unethical pro-organizational behavior. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 149(4), 919-930. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3079-9
- Chen, M., Chen, C. C. & Sheldon, O. J. (2016). Relaxing moral reasoning to win: How organizational identification relates to unethical pro-organizational behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101(8), 1082-1096. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000111
- Cole, M. S., Walter, F. & Bruch, H. (2008). Affective mechanisms linking dysfunctional behavior to performance in work teams: A moderated mediation study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(5), 945-958. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.93.5.945
- 14. Dansereau, F., Graen, G. & Haga, W. J. (1975). A vertical dyad linkage approach to leadership within formal organizations: A longitudinal investigation of the role making process. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, *13*(1), 46-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(75)90005-7
- 15. Dukerich, J. M., Kramer, R. M. & Parks, J. M. (1998). The dark side of organizational identification. In Whetten, D. A. & Godfrey, P. C. (Eds.), *Identity in Organizations: Building Theory Through Conversations* (pp. 245-256). Thousand Oaks.
- Effelsberg, D., Solga, M. & Gurt, J. (2014). Transformational leadership and follower's unethical behavior for the benefit of the company: A two-study investigation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *120*(1), 81-93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1644-z
- Eisenberger, R., Karagonlar, G., Stinglhamber, F., Neves, P., Becker, T. E., Gonzalez-Morales, M. G. & Steiger-Mueller, M. (2010). Leader-member exchange and affective organizational commitment: The contribution of supervisor's organizational embodiment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(6), 1085-1103. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020858

- Froelich, K. S. & Kottke, J. L. (1991). Measuring individual beliefs about organizational ethics. *Educa*tional and Psychological Measurement, 51(2), 377-383. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164491512011
- 19. Graen, G. B. & Uhl-Bien, M. (1995). Relationship-based approach to leadership: Development of leader-member exchange (LMX) theory of leadership over 25 years: Applying a multi-level multi-domain perspective. *Leadership Quarterly*, 6(2), 219-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/1048-9843(95)90036-5
- 20. Greenbaum, R. L., Mawritz, M. B., Bonner, J. M., Webster, B. D. & Kim, J. (2018). Supervisor expediency to employee expediency: The moderating role of leader-member exchange and the mediating role of employee unethical tolerance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 39(4), 525-541.
- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Partial, conditional, and moderated mediation: Quantification, inference, and interpretation. *Communication Monographs*, 85(1), 4-40. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637751.2017.1352100
- 22. Judge, T. A. & Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D. (2012). Job attitudes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 63, 341-367. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100511
- 23. Kerse, G. (2019). A leader indeed is a leader in deed: The relationship of ethical leadership, personorganization fit, organizational trust, and extra-role service behavior. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 27(3), 601-620. https://doi.org/10.1017/jmo.2019.4
- 24. Levin, K. A. (2006). Study design III: Cross-sectional studies. *Evidence-Based Dentistry*, 7(1), 24-25. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ebd.6400375
- Liden, R. C. & Maslyn, J. M. (1998). Multidimensionality of leader-member exchange: An empirical assessment through scale development. *Journal of Management*, 24(1), 43-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0149-2063(99)80053-1
- Mael, F. A. & Tetrick, L. E. (1992). Identifying Organizational Identification. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 52(4), 813-824. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164492052004002
- 27. Mael, F. & Ashforth, B. E. (1992). Alumni and their alma mater: A partial test of the reformulated model of organizational identification. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *13*(2), 103-123. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030130202
- 28. Miao, Q., Eva, N., Newman, A., Nielsen, I. & Herbert, K. (2019). Ethical leadership and unethical pro-organisational behaviour: The mediating mechanism of reflective moral attentiveness. *Applied Psychology*, 69(3), 834-853. https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12210
- Mudrack, P. E., Mason, E. S. & Stepeanski, K. M. (1999). Equity sensitivity and business ethics. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72(4), 539-560. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317999166833
- 30. Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J. Y. & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: A critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(5), 879-903. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879
- Preacher, K. J. & Hayes, A. F. (2004). SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers*, 36(4), 717-731. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03206553
- 32. Riketta, M. (2005). Organizational identification: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 66(2), 358-384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2004.05.005
- 33. Scandura, T. A. (1999). Rethinking leader-member exchange: An organizational justice perspective. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *10*(1), 25-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1048-9843(99)80007-1
- Scandura, T. A. & Pellegrini, E. K. (2008). Trust and leader-member exchange: A closer look at relational vulnerability. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, 15(2), 101-110. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051808320986
- 35. Tajfel, H. (1974). Social identity and intergroup behaviour. *Social Science Information*, 13(2), 65-93. https://doi.org/10.1177/053901847401300204

- Tangirala, S., Green, S. G. & Ramanujam, R. (2007). In the shadow of the boss's boss: Effects of supervisors' upward exchange relationships on employees. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(2), 309-320. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.2.309
- Treviño, L. K. & Brown, M. E. (2005). The role of leaders in influencing unethical behavior in the workplace. In Kidwell Jr., R. E. & Martin, C. L. (Eds.), *Managing Organizational Deviance* (pp. 69-96). SAGE Publications Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452231105.n3
- Treviño, L. K., den Nieuwenboer, N. A. & Kish-Gephart, J. J. (2014). (Un)ethical behavior in organizations. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 65, 635-660. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143745
- Treviño, L. K., Hartman, L. P. & Brown, M. (2000). Moral person and moral manager: How executives develop a reputation for ethical leadership. *California Management Review*, 42(4), 128-142. https://doi.org/10.2307/41166057
- Treviño, L. K., Weaver, G. R., Gibson, D. G. & Toffler, B. L. (1999). Managing ethics and legal compliance: What works and what hurts. *California Management Review*, 41(2), 131-151. https://doi.org/10.2307/41165990
- 41. Tyler, T. R. & Blader, S. L. (2000). Cooperation in Groups: Procedural Justice, Social Identity, and Behavioral Engagement. Psychology Press.
- Tyler, T. R. & Blader, S. L. (2003). The group engagement model: Procedural justice, social identity, and cooperative behavior. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 7(4), 349-361. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327957PSPR0704_07
- 43. Umphress, E. E., Bingham, J. B. & Mitchell, M. S. (2010). Unethical behavior in the name of the company: The moderating effect of organizational identification and positive reciprocity beliefs on unethical pro-organizational behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(4), 769-780. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019214
- 44. Umphress, E. E. & Bingham, J. B. (2011). When employees do bad things for good reasons: Examining unethical pro-organizational behaviors. *Organizational Science*, *22*(3), 621-640. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1100.0559
- 45. Zhang, Y., He, B. & Sun, X. (2018). The Contagion of Unethical Pro-organizational Behavior: From Leaders to Followers. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01102
- Zhao, H., Liu, W., Li, J. & Yu, X. (2019). Leader-member exchange, organizational identification, and knowledge hiding: The moderating role of relative leader-member exchange. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 40(7), 834-848. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2359

Ana Babić University of Rijeka Faculty of Business and Economics 51000 Rijeka, Croatia ana.babic@efri.hr

Danijela Sokolić

University of Rijeka Faculty of Business and Economics 51000 Rijeka, Croatia danijela.sokolic@efri.hr Jelena Jardas Antonić University of Rijeka Faculty of Business and Economics 51000 Rijeka, Croatia jelena.jardas.antonic@efri.hr JEL: H79, R12, R28 Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.7

Received: April 8, 2022 Revision received: July 17, 2022 Accepted for publishing: July 18, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



DEVELOPMENT OF SMART GOVERNANCE IN CROATIAN CITIES - THE SIZE OF A CITY AS A DETERMINANT OF SMART GOVERNANCE

Abstract

Purpose: The paper discusses the role and importance of smart governance as a modern form of urban development, identifies the key determinants of smart governance, analyzes models, evaluation and measurement indicators in smart and sustainable cities, and ranks 127 Croatian cities, regardless of city size.

Methodology: A comprehensive database was prepared for the preparation of the study, including ten indicators of key smart governance determinants related to political participation of citizens, delivery of quality services to citizens, and sustainable functioning of city administration, in line with a review of models and indicators from previous studies.

Results: The main goal of this research is to determine a correlation between the size of the city according to the number of inhabitants and statistically significant indicators of smart governance and, based on the value of the correlation coefficients, to determine the weights for the indicators in the process of city ranking. By aggregating the weighted z-scores, the Smart Governance Index was created for all Croatian cities and that index is not related to the size of a city.

Conclusion: Statistically significant indicators for the formation of the Smart Governance Index for 127 cities in Croatia are the indicators of political participation and sustainable functioning of city administration. It is necessary to include as many indicators as possible in the future period so that the ranking results are as relevant as possible.

Keywords: Smart governance, Hellwig's information capacity method, ranking, smart and sustainable city

1. Introduction

The paper highlights the importance of smart governance as one of the dimensions of a smart and sustainable city, i.e., the aim of this research is to evaluate the impact of a set of indicators through political participation of citizens, the provision of quality services to citizens, and the sustainable functioning of city management after a review of similar studies. Therefore, the first part of the paper presents a research gap, motives and reasons for research, and defines the hypotheses and research questions of the study. The sample in this research consists of 127 Croatian cities to fill a gap in the scientific literature, which mainly lists large cities, county centers or only certain regions of the country, as Jurlina Alibegović et al. (2018) ranked the 25 largest Croatian cities and county centers by Urban Development Index. The Apsolon Strategy (2020) ranked 20 largest Croatian cities by the Digital Readiness Index. The motive for this research is to fill precisely this gap in order to give small and medium-sized cities the opportunity to evaluate and compare themselves with large cities, as this research includes the entire population of the cities in the Republic of Croatia (with the exception of Zagreb¹). One of the motivations is also the fact that numerous small and medium-sized cities undertake a number of activities to provide quality public services to their citizens, which is why the study is guided by the following research questions (RQ):

RQ1: Do large Croatian cities achieve better results in terms of the Smart Governance Index? RQ2: What is the relationship between the size of a city in relation to the number of inhabitants and statistically significant indicators of smart governance in the Republic of Croatia?

In the second part of the paper, the definitions of smart governance and all of its segments are presented according to the scientific literature. Then, a detailed overview of models and indicators from previous research in the dimension of smart governance is presented in Appendix 1, such as European Smart City Ranking [ESCR] - Griffinger et al. (2007), Triple Helix Approach [THA] - Lombardi et al. (2012), The Smart City Index Master Indicators [SCIMI] - Cohen (2014), City Keys - Bosch et al. (2017), as well as various organizations, such as the International Standardization Organization [ISO], the International Telecommunication Unit [ITU], the United for Smart Sustainable Cities [U4SSC], the World Council on City Data [WCCD], and other companies like Cisco, Microsoft, Ericsson, IBM, Siemens, Oracle, etc. A review of models and international standardization organizations refers to the identification of indicators that can be used to monitor progress of the city in terms of the quality of urban services, digital channels for interaction with citizens and legal entities in the city, rapid communication with citizens through social networks, citizen participation in the work of city

As the capital of the Republic of Croatia, the City of Zagreb is excluded from the analysis because in addition to city status, it also has county status, and the values of Zagreb indicators are incomparable with those of other cities (Official Gazette, 2020; Law on Local and Regional Self-Government - consolidated text). administration through their participation in forming the city budget, warning of deficiencies in the physical environment, monitoring satisfaction with the introduction of new technologies, and defining and monitoring the performance of an individual city to determine its position and identify the best and worst places and activities undertaken for the purpose of improvement.

The methodological part of the paper presents the concept, an empirical model and explanations of the correlation analysis method developed by Hellwig (1969), which is known in the scientific literature as Hellwig's information capacity method. The method was applied to determine the relationship between the size of the city and the number of inhabitants and ten smart governance indicators. Based on the value of correlation coefficients, only four indicators were selected and weighted so that the Smart Governance Index could be created by calculating the weighted sum for each city.

The ranking of the cities and the interpretation and explanation of the research results are presented for the three groups of cities (i.e., large cities - more than 35,000 inhabitants, medium-sized cities - from 10,000 to 35,000 inhabitants, and small cities - up to 10,000 inhabitants) used in the model. The conclusions, recommendations and implications for future research are given in the last part.

2. Literature review

2.1 Determinants of smart governance

Smart governance is becoming an indispensable component of smart and sustainable cities, mostly as one of the dimensions of smart and sustainable cities.

According to the definition of a smart city provided by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO, 2014), a smart city is a new concept that uses a new generation of information technologies such as the Internet of Things, cloud computing, Big Data, and geographic information integration for easier planning, governance building, and smart city services.

A similar definition exists for smart governance as one of the most important dimensions of smart and sustainable cities, which includes activities related to transforming local government into a transparent, efficient, and open administration for its citizens using information and communication technologies, and formulating appropriate smart city policies (Gil-Garcia et al., 2014). There are many different views and perspectives on the concepts of smart city and smart governance. Some of them are very broad and encompass the essence of governance, but most definitions focus on the use of new information and communication technologies, especially in the literature of the last two decades.

In the early 21st century, Kliksberg (2000) defined smart governance as city governments finding intelligent and elegant solutions to complex administrative problems in local government.

Scholl & Scholl (2014) believe that smart governance is the umbrella term for many digital initiatives in the public sector that use new technologies to creatively connect the physical, digital, public, and private environments.

According to Meijer & Bolivar (2016), effective and efficient city governance depends on city authorities turning to innovative solutions to address the challenges of financing the development of a smart city while maintaining a strong citizen focus. Smart governance means making the right policy decisions and implementing them effectively. Smart governance emphasizes the need for smart decision making and involves the processes and implementation of those decisions. New technologies are used to strengthen management rationality by using more complete and better information in the decision-making process.

According to Andermatt & Göldi (2018), smart governance is not only about digitizing existing processes and services, but also about developing and establishing entirely new processes and public services in a participatory way for citizens.

The authors Juričić & Zekić (2018) believe that smart governance implies a new approach to managing all city resources using ICT tools and refers to people, processes, data, and technological solutions that aim to create a more sustainable and productive community. This includes establishing a transparent and publicly visible decision-making process, and the processes should be presented and made available to all stakeholders and ensure citizen participation in public actions. It is critical that public services provided to citizens be accessible and measurable in order to improve services and make them more costeffective, accessible, and useful.

Some authors emphasize the role and importance of implementing city government policies and decisions since the transformation to smart governance, which means creating a smart administration that uses sophisticated information technologies to connect and integrate information, processes, institutions, and physical infrastructure to better serve citizens and communities (Meijer & Bolivar, 2016).

Research on public administration highlights various aspects of smart city administration and governance, such as e-government (Vinod Kumar & Dahiya, 2017), performance management, employee financing, leadership, and vision, but the activities are mainly related to the role of city authorities in providing better public services.

According to Bertot et al. (2016), modernization occurs through seven innovations in digital public services: transparent - citizens are aware of service decisions made by the government, participatory - citizens can participate in such government decisions, anticipatory - the government initiates service delivery to citizens, personalized - citizens choose how they want to receive services, co-created - the government and citizens participate in co-provision of services, context-aware - service providers are aware of the service context, and intelligent context - service providers use context awareness for better service delivery.

Komninos et al. (2021) presented the standardization of smart city government projects that include online citizen management services, public service co-creation, citizen applications, complaints, sending requests to the cities, a citizen database and profile platform, open data, data sharing with citizens and entrepreneurs, a GIS data center, digital payments, an integrated city management system, and a command center.

3. Ranking in Croatia and in the world

Croatian cities are on a particular upswing in terms of their development, and this is not the first time they have been ranked. A group of authors conducted research and ranked the 25 largest Croatian cities and county centers according to the ESCR model, focusing on urbanization and evaluation of individual cities represented by the Smart Urban Development Index (Jurlina Alibegović et al., 2018). It is interesting to note that similar indicators were used in this research and that the size of the city by population did not affect the position in the ranking of Croatian cities, because the best small Croatian cities are Krapina and Pazin, and the best large city is Zadar (Figure 1).





Babić (2021) created a model to evaluate the efficiency of 127 Croatian cities according to the method of equal weighting, and in the smart government dimension (Figure 2), according to seven indicators, most small Croatian cities (Korčula, Buzet, Biograd na Moru, Labin, Cres, Pag) and two large cities (Sisak and Dubrovnik) took the top position.

Figure 2 Ten best and worst cities - smart governance



Source: Babić (2021)

Source: Jurlina Alibegović et al. (2018)

Every year, 20 largest Croatian cities are evaluated based on the Digital Readiness Index, which is a complex index consisting of the following five individual indices: availability and quality of e-services, service information and unique payment systems, availability of city data, citizen participation in decision-making, and communication channels between city administration and citizens (Apsolon Strategy, 2021). The city with the best rating in terms of the Digital Readiness Index is Rijeka. Since the conducted research refers to indicators that are most similar to the smart governance indicators, a realistic basis for extending research to all other cities was created so that they can be evaluated and compared with the best in the ranking.



Figure 3 Ranking of the 20 largest Croatian cities - Digital Readiness Index

Globally speaking, the ranking is conducted mainly in large cities. Every two years, the United Nations (2020) ranks 193 UN member states and their cities on the relative ability of their governments to use ICT to provide online services and engage their citizens in public policy through the E-Government Development Index [EDGI]. In addition to countries, cities are also evaluated; 40 cities in 2018, among which Moscow performed best, and 100 cities in 2020, with Madrid performing best. In addition to cities, the aforementioned index also ranks countries, and it is noticeable that according to the EDGI index, out of 193 countries, the Republic of Croatia rises from 51st place in 2003 to 39th place in 2020 (United Nations, 2020).

Source: Apsolon Strategy (2021)



Figure 4 EDGI index - Croatia



4. An overview of models and indicators related to smart governance

In the phase of selecting suitable indicators for empirical research, the model, the structure of indicators, the basic purpose of the model and the scope of application were studied in order to create a model for evaluating the influence of individual indicators in the smart governance dimension. How successful Croatian cities are can be determined by well-defined standards that enable each city to develop in the desired direction.

Therefore, *Appendix 1* provides a detailed overview of the models and indicators used in previous research. Based on these models and indicators, Croatian models of smart governance are formed, including indicators of political participation (proportion of voters in local elections, citizen participation in budget preparation), economic transparency (budget transparency, a list of utilities, digital communication channels, household expenditure per capita), and sustainable functioning of city administration (digital forms for citizens, Wi-Fi, e-invoice, GIS).

It is important to note that almost all models are developed for a particular segment and research object, and most often the main segment is the size of the city and a particular territorial unit. For example, the ESCR model was developed for medium-sized European cities only, the U4SSC model adapted the number of dimensions to the city being evaluated, and the City Keys model used a structured data set as indicators to monitor the evolution of large cities over time. ITU focused its indicators on the technical component of the city, i.e., the impact of ICT technologies in all dimensions of highly developed cities, while ISO 37120 and 37122 included indicators developed for all cities regardless of their size and geographical location (Babić, 2021).

The frequency of occurrence of certain indicators in the smart governance dimension in almost all models speaks to the importance of these indicators and their influence on thinking about the level of intelligence and sustainability in the smart governance dimension.

This paper uses indicators based on the ISO 37120 (ISO, 2018) and ISO 37122 (ISO, 2019) standards, which apply to all cities regardless of their size and geographical location, creating a new framework for comparing cities based on available indicators for all cities in Croatia.

5. Methodology

All data for the creation of indicators are from 2019 and 2020. Taking into account the holistic approach and local specifics of Croatian cities, the model for ranking Croatian smart cities in the smart governance dimension consists of 10 indicators, i.e., three quantitative and seven categorical indicators. These indicators are the proportion of voters in local elections - the State Electoral Commission of the Republic of Croatia (2021), budget expenditure per inhabitant and budget transparency, upon official request to the Institute of Public Finance (2020), digital communication channels, a list of city utilities, citizen participation in budget preparation, digital forms for citizens, GIS - author's insight into the websites of 127 Croatian cities, retrieved on 23 and 25 June 2021. It is also important to note that the Wi-Fi indicator will be fulfilled by all Croatian cities after the accession and successful implementation of the European initiative WiFi4EU (Knezović, 2020), and the einvoice indicator will also be fulfilled by all Croatian cities according to the 2019 legal provision (Law on Electronic Issuance of Invoices in Public Procurement, 2018). Descriptive statistics are presented in tables 1 and 2.

4.493

4

Std.Dev.

5.471

5

7%

2.428

0.84

1	•	, 1			9	0	
Indiantous				5	Smart Go	vernance	
indicators	Valid N	Mean	Median	Min	Max	Percentile 25%	Percentile 50%
Proportion of voters in local elections	127	46%	46%	29%	65%	42%	46%

5.471

5

2.542

1

14.426

5

Table 1 Descriptive statistics	of quantitative indicators	of smart governance
--------------------------------	----------------------------	---------------------

Source: Authors

per capita

Budget expenditures

Budget transparency

	Table 2 Descriptive statistics of	of categorical	indicators of s	smart governance
--	-----------------------------------	----------------	-----------------	------------------

6.126

4.5

127

127

			Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Percent
WI-FI	Valid	Have	127	100 %	100 %
			Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Percent
E-invoice	Valid	Have	127	100 %	100 %
			Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Percent
CIT.		No	98	77 %	77 %
GIS	Valid	Have	29	23 %	100 %
		Total	127	100 %	
			Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Percent
		No	23	18 %	18 %
Digital communication channels	Valid	Have	104	82 %	100 %
		Total	127	100 %	
			Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Percent
		No	113	89 %	89 %
Citizen participation in budget creation	et creation Valid Have		14	11 %	100 %
		Total	127	100 %	
			Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Percent
		No	35	28 %	28 %
List of city utility companies	Valid	Have	92	72 %	100 %
		No Prequency Preq			
			Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Disital former for sitizons		No	35	28 %	28 %
Digital forms for citizens	Valid	Have	92	72 %	100 %
		Total	127	100 %	

Source: Authors

Based on the presented descriptive statistics of the indicators, a smart government model for the crea-

tion of the Smart Governance Index was presented, which is the basis for ranking the cities.





Source: Authors

Descriptive statistics and correlation analyses were calculated using Statistica software. Correlation represents a relationship between different phenomena represented by the values of two variables. In accordance with the presented research objective, we tried to investigate whether the size of the city by population is related to the values of the smart governance indicators, and based on the values of the correlation coefficients, we tried to interpret the importance of each indicator in the model.

Prior to correlation analysis, referred to as "information capacity" (Hellwig, 1969), all indicator values are standardized using the z-transformation method, which determines the universal unit of measurement and the relative position of the value in the overall distribution in relation to the average value, and accordingly, all indices are expressed as positive and negative values according to the formula:

$$z = \frac{x - \mu}{\sigma}$$

In addition to studying the relationship between the above indicators, correlation analysis is also used to assign weights in the ranking process (Booysen, 2002; Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD], European Union [EU] & Joint Research Center [JRC], 2008; Greco et al., 2019). This method uses correlation coefficients to determine the weights of the indicators. This ensures that the indicators with the highest correlation (Table 3) receive the highest weights, i.e., the weights of the indicators are proportional to the sum of the absolute values of the correlation coefficients from the correlation matrix (Hellwig, 1969; Ray, 2008). This is an objective weighting method that is widely used in scientific research. The basic requirement for an indicator to be included in the weighting procedure is that it must be statistically significant with respect to the assumed significance level of 0.05 (Barańska, 2019; OECD, 2008), i.e., McGranahan et al. (1970) consider that indicators that are not significant should be excluded from the model. Therefore, the model of this study is based on 4 indicators that are marked as statistically significant in Table 3.

Correlations (Spread Marked correlations are signif N = 127 (Casewise deletion	dsheet2) icant at p < .05000 of missing data)
Variable	Population estimates 2019
Proportion of voters in local elections	0.323
Budget expenditures per capita	0.140
Budget transparency	0.160
Digital communication channels	0.055
List of city utility companies	0.183
Citizen participation in budget creation	0.206
Digital forms for citizens	0.143
Geographic information system (GIS)	0.271
E-invoice	
Wi-Fi	

Table 3 Correlation analysis of the endogenous population variable with ten smart governance indicators

Source: Authors

It is important to note that the **Wi-Fi** network and **E-invoice** indicators are met in all Croatian cities and are therefore not included in the table.

The calculated correlations are used as a basis for further calculation of weighted z-values with significant variables. The values are calculated as follows:

where $\sum_{i=1}^{W_i} \sum_{j=1}^{W_i} 1$ to obtain the weighted sum as a final product.

Then, each indicator is multiplied by the obtained weight and we obtain a weighted sum for each city as

$$y_j = \sum_{i=1}^{5} w_i z_{ij}$$
 for $j = 1, ..., 127$.

The obtained result represents the Smart Governance Index for each city and is the basis for ranking.

The performed correlation analysis shows a positive correlation between the size of the city, measured by the number of inhabitants, and four smart governance indicators, which were found to be significant and reached the highest correlation, namely proportion of voters in the last local elections (0.323), GIS (0.271), citizen participation in the creation of a budget (0.206), and a list of city utility companies (0.183). Indicator weighting naturally leads to the last step in the formation of a composite index using the aggregation method. All standardized values of the indicators were multiplied by the weights that resulted from correlation analysis and aggregated into an index with positive and negative values. A detailed overview of the z-values of the four smart governance indicators and the values of the Smart Governance Index can be found in *Appendix 2*.

Using correlation analysis, Ray (1989) produced the Social Development Index [SDI] for 40 countries that includes 13 indicators of urbanization and industrialization, health status, nutritional level, educational level, and social communication. High cross-correlation coefficients of the variables resulted in weights according to which the SDI represents a combination of weighted variables in 40 countries.

6. Results and discussion

From the overview given in Chart 1, the number of positively and negatively rated cities is divided into three groups according to the number of inhabitants, i.e., the total number of positively rated cities is 60, and the number of negatively rated cities is 67, again confirming the hypothesis that the size of the city is not related to the smart governance indicators.





Source: Authors

In the category of large cities, there are 9 positively rated cities, and the research results overlap with the results obtained in previous studies by Apsolon Strategy (2020) - Figure 2. These cities are: Rijeka, Sisak, Dubrovnik, Split, Karlovac, Velika Gorica, Osijek, Bjelovar, and Pula - Pola. The situation is almost the same in the category of medium-sized cities with 10,000 to 35,000 inhabitants, i.e., it is similar to the category of the smallest cities with up to 10,000 inhabitants.

To better understand the ranking, Chart 2 shows 15 best and 15 worst ranked cities. For all cities, Graph 2 highlights rank and population as endogenous variables.

Chart 2 Fifteen best and fifteen worst-ranked cities in the smart governance dimension



Source: Authors

All of the top 15 ranked cities achieved high levels of turnout in local elections (e.g., Buzet 54%, Korčula 58%, and Vrlika 57%). The top ranked cities also achieved high scores in citizen participation in the preparation of city budget indicators, mostly positive scores for categorical indicators such as GIS and the list of city utilities on the city websites.

The lower ranked cities scored below average on quantitative and categorical indicators, such as the proportion of voters in local elections, i.e., Benkovac 29%, Krk 32%, and Vodnjan - Dignano 35%.

It is noticeable that among the first 15 cities there is only one big city, Rijeka, while the rest are small Croatian cities. The City of Rijeka also ranks first among the 20 largest Croatian cities when it comes to the Digital Readiness Index in previous research (Apsolon Strategy, 2021).

In accordance with the research objectives, we can conclude that there is no correlation between the size of the city, measured by the number of inhabitants, and statistically significant indicators of smart governance.

Similarly, among the 15 lowest ranked cities, there is not a single large city, i.e., all cities are small or medium-sized. From the chart above, we can reconfirm that the size of the city, in terms of population, is not associated with a better ranking position, and that small and medium-sized cities take many initiatives in the field of smart governance. These index values justify the correlation analysis performed to determine a correlation between the size of the city by population and four statistically significant indicators of smart governance finding positive but mostly weak correlations with the endogenous variable.

Comparing the results shown in Chart 2 and the ranking shown in Figure 2, we see that there is much overlap in the results, regardless of the type of methodology and the number of indicators. Above are the Croatian small towns of Buzet and Korčula, below are Zaprešić, Vodnjan-Dignano, Pakrac, and others.

In all studies on previous results and in this study, two large Croatian cities, Rijeka and Dubrovnik, are among the best rated cities.

From the study conducted and previous research, we can conclude that it is necessary to implement a large number of initiatives to introduce new technologies and ICT solutions to enable the connection and digitalization of all actors to achieve savings and better quality of services to citizens, which has been confirmed by numerous studies.

Lopes (2017) conducted six interviews with people involved in smart city initiatives in Brazil, Singapore, Colombia, Portugal and Uruguay to find out what management models are implemented in smart cities, and to prove that smart cities and egovernment represent a similar development path and that advanced technologies, innovations and smart governance are important prerequisites for the development of smart, creative, innovative and sustainable cities.

Based on a survey of 17 smart city experts and 60 citizens of Split, Čukušić et al. (2019) concluded that a strategic point of view should be the starting point for the implementation of smart solutions in smart cities and that it is necessary to monitor the development of innovations, and set clear goals by undertaking activities towards implementation in urban infrastructure, taking into account the priorities and needs of citizens. In addition, the authors proposed 59 smart solutions, such as digital licensing and business licensing, online retraining programs, disaster early warning systems, real-time crime mapping, predictive policing, etc.

Tomor et al. (2019) examined the relationship between ICT-enabled collaboration between citizens and policymakers in cities and concluded that while governments encourage online and offline citizen engagement, in practice they do not adequately support citizen participation, and that responsibility for the lack of collaboration lies with citizens and government leaders, regardless of the availability of ICT technologies for communication.

7. Conclusions and implications

In the conducted research, using Croatian cities as an example, we found that the size of the city, measured by the number of inhabitants, has no significant relationship with the values of smart governance indicators, which was confirmed in the ranking phase, when we aggregated the weighted values of the significant indicators to the Smart Governance Index. The study showed that small Croatian cities with up to 10,000 inhabitants hold a high-ranking position, and that the situation is similar at the lower end of the ranking, where mainly small and medium-sized cities are found, which confirmed the hypothesis that the size of the city by the number of inhabitants does not affect a better ranking position, and that the Smart Governance Index is also not related to the size of the city by the number of inhabitants. Another objective of this study was also achieved, namely to allow small and medium-sized cities to evaluate and compare themselves with the top-ranked cities from previous studies.

The main scientific contribution of this study is the first complete analysis that includes all Croatian cities and new methodological guidelines for ranking cities.

The practical contribution of the study is reflected in the possibility of providing guidelines for local decision makers to increase the transparency of the economy, promote political participation and create more trust among citizens, as well as in additional investments in digitalization, which enables the collection and processing of large amounts of data with the help of ICT technologies.

The study has additional potential in terms of extending the analysis of the existing model with new indicators such as the number of online visits to the city open data portal, the average response time of the city system to relevant requests, etc. The applied method, like any other, has its advantages and disadvantages. The advantage is that weights were calculated for each indicator based on certain correlation coefficients to avoid subjectivity in assigning weights when calculating the Smart Governance Index. For future research that includes ranking, there is an opportunity to use multi-criteria ranking methods such as principal component analysis [PCA], factorial analysis, and data envelopment analysis [DEA] to determine the efficiency, maturity, and the functionality of smart governance, which is certainly an important scientific contribution.

There are unanswered questions in the implementation of smart solutions in smart cities, where both government and citizens play a key role, but also that progress depends on the strategic approach of those who manage. It is necessary to increase citizen engagement and support the development of new smart governance models, introduce new smart city governance indicators, and create rankings in the future to monitor progress of Croatian cities. There is a need to create a register of open data listing all implemented, ongoing and planned activities in the field of smart governance.

References

- 1. Andermatt, K. C. & Göldi, R. A. (2018). Introducing an Electronic Identity: The Co-design Approach in the Canton of Schaffhausen. *Swiss Yearbook of Administrative Sciences*, *9*(1), 41-50. https://doi.org/10.5334/ssas.122
- 2. Apsolon strategija (2020). *Digital readiness index of Croatian cities*. https://apsolon.com/publikacije/analiza-digitalne-spremnosti-hrvatskih-gradova-2020/
- 3. Babić, A. (2021). A Study of the Efficiency of Cities in the Republic of Croatia in Accordance with ISO 37120 and ISO 37122 Standards and the Dimensions of Smart Cities [Doctoral dissertation, University of Rijeka]. University of Rijeka.
- 4. Barańska, A. (2019). Correlation Analysis in the Process of Weighting Real Property Attributes. *Real Estate Management and Valuation*, 27(4), 74-84. https://doi.org/10.2478/remav-2019-0037
- Bosch, P., Jongeneel, S., Rovers, V., Neumann, H. M., Airaksinen, M. & Huovila, A. (2017). CITYkeys indicators for smart city projects and smart cities. http://nws.eurocities.eu/MediaShell/media/CITYkeysD14Indicatorsforsmartcityprojectsandsmartcities.pdf
- 6. Booysen, F. (2002). An Overview and Evaluation of Composite Indices of Development. *Social Indicators Research*, *59*, 115-151. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016275505152
- Bertot, J., Estevez, E. & Janowski, T. (2016). Universal and contextualized public services: Digital public service innovation framework. *Government Information Quarterly*, 33(2), 211-222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2016.05.004
- 8. Cohen, B. (2014). *The main indicators of a smart city.* Smart Cities Council. http://smartcitiescouncil.com/resources/smart-city-index-master-indicators-survey
- Čukušić, M., Jadrić, M. & Mijač, T. (2019). Identifying challenges and priorities for developing smart city initiatives and applications. *Croatian Operational Research Review*, 10(1), 117-129. https://doi.org/10.17535/crorr.2019.0011
- Gil-Garcia, J. R., Helbig, N. & Ojo, A. (2014). Being smart: Emerging technologies and innovation in the public sector. *Government Information Quarterly*, 31(S1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2014.09.001
- 11. Greco, S., Ishizaka, A., Tasiou, M. & Torrisi, G. (2019). On the Methodological Framework of Composite Indices: A Review of the Issues of Weighting, Aggregation, and Robustness. *Social Indicators Research*, *141*(1), 61-94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-017-1832-9
- 12. Griffinger, R., Fertner, C., Kramar, H., Kalasek, R., Pichler-Milanovic, N. & Meijers, E. (2007). Smart cities: Ranking of European medium-sized cities. http://www.smart-cities.eu/download/smart_cities_final_report.pdf
- 13. Hellwig, Z. (1969). On the problem of weighting in international comparisons. In Gostkowski, Z. (Ed.), *Toward a system of human resources-indicators for less developed countries. A selection of papers prepared for a UNESCO research project.* The Polish Academy of Sciences Press.
- 14. Institute of Public Finance (2019). *Transparency of Local Budgets (November 2019 April 2020)*. https://www.ijf.hr/transparentnost/?params_1=transparentnost
- 15. International Organization for Standardization (2014). *ISO 37120 2014 Sustainable cities and communities - Indicators for city services and quality of life*. https://www.iso.org/standard/62436.html
- 16. International Organization for Standardization (2018). *ISO 37120 2018 Sustainable cities and communities - Indicators for city services and quality of life*. https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:37120:ed-2:v1:en
- 17. International Organization for Standardization (2019). *ISO 37122 2019 Sustainable development in communities Indicators for Smart Cities*. https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:37122:ed-1:v1:en
- International Telecommunication Unit (2016). Series Y: Global Information Infrastructure, Internet Protocol Aspects and Next-generation Networks, Internet of Things and Smart Cities. https://www.itu.int/rec/dologin_pub.asp?lang=e&id=T-REC-L.1601-201606-I!!PDF-E&type=items
- 19. Juričić, D. & Zekić, Z. (2018). *Pametno upravljanje gradskim resursima*. TIM4PIN MAGAZIN. https://tim4pin.hr/wordpress_9/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/TIM4PIN-Magazin-br.-7-8 pdf.

- Jurlina Alibegović, D., Kordej-De Villa, Ž. & Šagovac, M. (2018). Smart City Indicators: Can They Improve Governance in Croatian Large Cities? (EIZ Working Paper No. EIZ-WP-1805). Zagreb: The Institute of Economics.
- 21. Kliksberg, B. (2000). Rebuilding the State for Social Development: Towards Smart Government. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 66(2), 241-257. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852300662002
- 22. Knezović, G. (2020). 460 Croatian municipalities and cities received WiFi4EU vouchers. Network for IT professionals. https://mreza.bug.hr/460-hrvatskih-opcina-i-gradova-dobilo-wifi4eu-vaucere/
- Komninos, N., Tsampoulatidis, I., Kakderi, C., Nikolopoulos, S. & Kompatsiaris, I. (2021). Projects for Intelligent and Smart Cities: Technology and Innovation Transforming City Ecosystems. Preprints 2021. https://doi.org/10.20944/preprints202108.0080.v1
- Law on Local and Regional Self-Government (Official Gazette 33/01, 60/01, 129/05, 109/07, 125/08, 36/09, 36/09, 150/11, 144/12, 19/13, 137/15, 123/17, 98/19, 144/20) https://narodne-novine.nn.hr/clanci/sluzbeni/2020 12 144 2762.html
- 25. Law on Electronic Issuance of Invoices in Public Procurement (Official Gazette 94/18). https://www.zakon.hr/z/1163/Zakon-o-elektroni%C4%8Dkom-izdavanju-ra%C4%8Duna-u-javnoj-nabavi
- Lombardi, P., Giordano, S., Farouh, H. & Yousef, W. (2012). Modelling the smart city performance. *Innovation: The European Journal of Social Science Research*, 25(2), 137-149. https://doi.org/10.1080/13511610.2012.660325
- Lopes, N. V. (2017). Smart governance: A key factor for smart cities implementation. In *Proceedings of* the IEEE International Conference on Smart Grid and Smart Cities (ICSGSC) (pp. 277-282). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICSGSC.2017.8038591
- Marava, N., Alexopoulos, A. & Stratigea, A. (2019). Tracking Paths to Smart Governance: The Case of Korydallos Municipality - Greece. In Stratigea, A. & Kavroudakis, D. (Eds.), *Mediterranean Cities and Island Communities* (pp. 81-112). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-99444-4_4
- 29. McGranahan, D. V., Richard-Proust, C., Sovani, N. V. & Subramanian, M. (1972). Contents and Measurement of Socioeconomic Development. A Staff Study of the United Nations Research Institute for Social Development. Praeger.
- Meijer, A. & Bolivar, M. P. R. (2016). Governing the smart city: a review of the literature on smart urban governance. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 82(2), 392-408. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852314564308
- 31. OECD (2008). Handbook on Constructing Composite Indicators: Methodology and User Guide. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264043466-en
- 32. Ray, A. K. (1989). On the measurement of certain aspects of social development. *Social Indicators Research*, 21(1), 35-92. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00302403
- 33. Ray, A. K. (2008). Measurement of social development: An international comparison. *Social Indicators Research*, *86*(1), 1-46. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-007-9097-3
- 34. Scholl, H. J. & Scholl, M. C. (2014). Smart governance: A roadmap for research and practice. In *iCon-ference 2014 Proceedings* (pp. 163-176).
- 35. State Election Commission of the Republic of Croatia (2021). https://www.izbori.hr/arhiva-izbora/#/app/lokalni-2021
- 36. Tomor, Z., Meijer, A., Michels, A. & Geertman, S. (2019). Smart Governance for Sustainable Cities: Findings from a Systematic Literature Review. *Journal of Urban Technology*, 26(4), 3-27. https://doi.org/10.1080/10630732.2019.1651178
- United 4 Smart Sustainable Cities (2017). Collection Methodology for Key Performance Indicators for Smart Sustainable Cities. https://unece.org/DAM/hlm/documents/Publications/U4SSC-CollectionMethodologyforKPIfoSSC-2017.pdf
- 38. United Nations (2020). *United Nations E-Government Survey 2020*. https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/en-us/Data/City
- Vinod Kumar, T. M. & Dahiya, B. (2017). Smart Economy in Smart Cities. In Vinod Kumar, T. (Ed.), Smart Economy in Smart Cities. Advances in 21st Century Human Settlements (pp 3-76). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-1610-3_1

328 EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS *Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 315-335*

6
-
~
2
2
e e
-
1
5
0.
5
1
~
2
0
0
4
+3
-
2
1
а
`` `
-
0
4
+
3
2
-
ି
5
0
t i
В
5
6
2
•
~
2
. 64
~
õ
шо
1010
е то
he mod
the mod
f the mod
of the mod
of the mod
w of the mod
ew of the mod
iew of the mod
view of the mod
rview of the mod
erview of the mod
verview of the mod
overview of the mod
l overview of the mod
d overview of the mod
ed overview of the mou
iled overview of the mou
uiled overview of the mod
tailed overview of the moo
etailed overview of the moo
Detailed overview of the moo
Detailed overview of the mod
l Detailed overview of the moo
1 Detailed overview of the moo
x 1 Detailed overview of the moo
ix I Detailed overview of the moo
dix 1 Detailed overview of the moo
ndix 1 Detailed overview of the moo
endix 1 Detailed overview of the moo
vendix 1 Detailed overview of the moo
ppendix 1 Detailed overview of the moo
ppendix 1 Detailed overview of the moo

Model / Year / Authors	Description	Smart Governance Indicators
The European Smart Cities Ranking - ESCR Griffinger et al. (2007)	This model was developed for European medium-sized cities. In this model, the dimensions and indicators for 70 medium- sized cities were defined for the first time according to the number of inhabitants.	Participation in decision making Public and social services Transparent government Political strategies and perspectives
Triple Helix Approach - THA Lombardi et al. (2012)	To explore the concept of a smart city, the authors proposed to focus on the production of college and government knowledge and innovations patented by industry and universities as an index of intellectual capital.	Number of universities and research centers in the city Number of courses that can be fully downloaded from the Internet / Total number of courses Online availability of e-government (percentage of the 20 basic services that are fully available online) Percentage of households with computers Percentage of households with Internet access at home E-government use by individuals (percentage of individuals aged 16 to 74 who used the Internet to interact with the government in the past three months) Number of research grants funded by corporations, foundations, and institutes / No annual grants
The Smart City Index Master Indicators - SCIMI Cohen (2014)	This model represents an initiative of the Smart Cities Council to rank cities in terms of livability, feasibility, and sustainability indicators.	Proportion of government services that citizens can access online Existence of electronic compensation for citizens Number of Wi-Fi access points per km ² Proportion of users with Internet download speeds of 2 Mbit/s Proportion of users with Internet download speeds of at least 1 gigabit/s Number of infrastructure components with built-in sensors (traffic, public transportation demand, parking, air quality, waste, H2O, public lighting) Integrated and unique real-time services (ambulance, emergency response, fire, police, weather, traffic, air quality) Open use of dat Mobile applications based on open data Existence of an official city policy for the protection of citizen data
ITU - ITU -T Y.4901 / L.1601 International Telecommunication Unit (2016)	The authors identified Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to establish criteria for assessing the contribution of ICT to the creation of smarter and more sustainable cities, and to provide cities with the means for self-assessment.	Transparency of data on budget, city plans, public procurement Proportion of city residents using online information and anonymous feedback mechanisms Existence of an application to assist visitors and tourists Existence of information literacy organizations for all city residents Existence of online reservations (e.g., selection of schools, reservation of public sports facilities, library services, etc.) ICT-enabled services and information to assist people with disabilities, NOTE - People with special needs here refers to people with disabilities, including older people with disabilities

Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 315-335 🔳 EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS 🔳 329 🔳
Model / Year / Authors	Description	Smart Governance Indicators
CITY KEYS Bosch et al. (2017)	These indicators aim to monitor the evolution of a city towards an even smarter city. The temporal component, i.e., "development over the years", is an important feature.	Government project support A unified project team that includes all relevant experts and stakeholders Involvement of the city government in the development of the project, apart from the financial aspects A clear division of responsibilities for achieving the social and sustainability objectives Continuous monitoring and reporting Market orientation - to what extent is the project planned based on market analysis Involvement of professional stakeholders - to what extent were professional stakeholders outside the project team involved in planning and implementation Bottom-up - did the project idea come from the local community Involvement of the local community in the planning phase Involvement of the local community in the implementation phase Proportion of the population participating in Internet platforms
United 4 Smart Sustainable Cities U4SSC (2017)	This is a publication that provides cities with a methodology for capturing KPIs for Smart Sustainable Cities (SSC).	Public Wi-Fi Open data E-government E-procurement in the public sector
International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 37120 - Sustainable cities and communities - indicators for city services and quality of life (2018)	The World Council on City Data (WCCD) enabled certification of smart cities based on the guidelines and	Proportion of women elected as heads of city government departments Number of city government convictions for corruption or bribery Number of registered voters as a percentage of voting age Proportion of voters in local elections (as a percentage of registered voters)
International Organization for Standardization (ISO) 37122 - sustainable cities and communities (2019)	metnodology of Dev 37120 and ISO 37122 standards for smart and sustainable cities.	Percentage of publicly available city records Number of online visits to the city open data portal Proportion of city services available online Average city system response time to relevant emergency assistance requests Average disruption to IT infrastructure in the city
Source: Authors		

■ 330 ■ EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS ■ Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 315-335

n ranking)
(Top-botto
Index
Governance
Smart
the
by
cities
roatian
Ü
2
Appendix
∇

Cities	Population estimates 2019	Voter tu last loca	rnout in the al elections	GIS	Citizen p in budg	articipation et creation	List of city utility companies	Smart Government Index (Descending)
	6,083	ı	0.52	- 0.30	1	0.07	- 0.15	-1.044
	5,533	ı	0.10	0.11	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.211
	1,714		0.32	0.11	1	0.07	0.51	0.872
	7,850	ı	0.19	0.11	ı	0.07	- 0.15	-0.304
rsko	14,996	ı	0.05	- 0.30	1	0.07	0.51	0.084
Ca	4,412	ı	0.15	- 0.30	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.673
	9,423	ı	0.29	0.11	ı	0.07	0.51	0.268
	8,766		0.18	0.11	1	0.07	- 0.15	0.068
	5,570	ı	0.29	- 0.30	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.812
	115,995		0.04	- 0.30	ı	0.07	- 0.15	-0.487
	9,972		0.41	- 0.30	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.115
9	4,063		0.50	0.11	1	0.07	- 0.15	0.393
	23,155		0.04	- 0.30	ı	0.07	- 0.15	-0.487
	20,359		0.09	0.11	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.025
i	19,769		0.22	0.11	1	0.07	0.51	0.779
	5,437	ı	0.15	- 0.30	ı	0.07	- 0.15	-0.673
	7,190	r	0.15	0.11	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.257
	8,841		0.41	0.11	1	0.07	- 0.15	0.300
	11,455	ı	0.15	- 0.30		0.59	0.51	0.657
	13,080		0.04	0.11	1	0.07	0.51	0.593
šinj	7,876	۰	0.19	- 0.30	ı	0.07	- 0.15	-0.719
	24,348	ı	0.29	0.11	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.397
	3,731	ı	0.05	0.11		0.59	- 0.15	0.501
	11,761		0.13	- 0.30	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.394
	6,162	ı	0.15	0.11	ı	0.07	0.51	0.407
	3,111		0.18	0.11	1	0.07	- 0.15	0.068
	42,326		0.13	- 0.30	1	0.07	- 0.15	-0.394

Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 315-335 🔳 EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS 🔳 331 🔳

	Population estimates 2019	Voter turnout in the last local elections	GIS	Citizen participation in budget creation	List of city utility companies	Smart Government Index (Descending)
	44,743	- 0.24	- 0.30	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.766
	10,794	0.04	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.593
	8,160	- 0.19	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.304
	169,577	0.04	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.071
	51,063	0.04	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.071
	26,578	0.04	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.071
	11,816	0.27	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.161
	2,068	0.22	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.114
	27,757	- 0.33	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.443
	10,692	- 0.15	- 0.30	0.59	0.51	0.657
	16,296	- 0.43	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.129
	1,967	60.0	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.639
	2,907	- 0.01	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.118
	62,550	- 0.19	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.304
	4,457	0.18	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.068
	101,117	- 0.10	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.454
	5,729	0.41	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.300
	4,783	- 0.24	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.314
	9,382	0.04	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.071
	11,513	0.09	0.11	0.59	- 0.15	0.640
	5,038	- 0.43	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.536
	37,948	0.32	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.872
	4,985	- 0.66	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.768
	4,109	0.04	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.593
1	7,686	0.27	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.161

mart Government Index (Descending)	-0.118	0.966	0.747	0.687	0.533	0.117	0.024	0.533	0.070	-0.626	-0.580	0.129	0.131	-0.859	0.161	0.686	-0.211	-0.489	-0.907	0.068	-0.348	-0.397	0.579	-0.536	-0.304	-0.071	-0.489
List of city S utility companies	- 0.15	- 0.15	0.51	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	0.51	0.51	- 0.15	- 0.15	0.51	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15	- 0.15
Citizen participation in budget creation	- 0.07	0.59	0.59	0.59	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07	- 0.07
GIS	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	- 0.30	- 0.30	0.11	- 0.30	- 0.30	- 0.30	0.11	- 0.30	- 0.30	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	- 0.30	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11	0.11
Voter turnout in the last local elections	- 0.01	0.41	- 0.47	0.13	0.64	0.64	0.55	0.64	09.0	- 0.10	- 0.05	- 0.43	- 0.01	- 0.33	0.27	0.13	- 0.10	- 0.38	- 0.80	0.18	0.18	- 0.29	0.69	- 0.43	- 0.19	0.04	- 0.38
Population estimates 2019	18,558	56,349	4,586	14,063	12,717	5,381	5,878	8,842	5,988	14,661	7,546	8,631	12,071	46,269	3,131	9,435	5,056	2,628	10,371	11,042	4,493	12,944	17,833	40,894	13,705	12,287	6,718
Cities	Sveta Nedelja	Pula - Pola	Orahovica	Vrbovec	Ogulin	Grubišno Polje	Biograd na Moru	Otočac	Pregrada	Omiš	Prelog	Lepoglava	Novi Marof	Varaždin	Čabar	Belišće	Otok	Klanjec	Daruvar	Opatija	Hvar	Trogir	Poreč - Parenzo	Kaštela	Ivanić-Grad	Nova Gradiška	Glina

Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 315-335 🔳 EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS 🔳 333 🔳

■ 334 ■ EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS ■ Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 315-335

14,464 0 50 011 2 007 2 013 11,021 10,88 011 2 007 2 0.56 75,877 2030 011 2 007 2 0.51 9,345 2 013 011 2 007 2 0.56 9,345 2 013 011 2 007 2 0.54 9,345 2 010 2 011 2 0.76 0.443 9,345 2 010 2 011 2 0.7 0.443 9,345 2 011 2 0.7 0.5 0.445 9,356 2 011 2 0.7 0.5 0.456 14,799 2 0.47 2 0.5 0.456 14,799 2 0.47 2 0.5 0.456 14,799 2 0.47 2 0.5 0.564 20,433 <th>Population estimates 2019</th> <th>Voter t last lo</th> <th>urnout in the cal elections</th> <th>GIS</th> <th>Citizen participation in budget creation</th> <th>List of city utility companies</th> <th>Smart Government Index (Descending)</th>	Population estimates 2019	Voter t last lo	urnout in the cal elections	GIS	Citizen participation in budget creation	List of city utility companies	Smart Government Index (Descending)
11,021 \ldots 0.086 \ldots 0.11 \ldots 0.076 0.0765 0.0765 75,627 \ldots 0.501 \ldots 0.011 \ldots \ldots 0.0750.04319,689 \ldots 0.036 \ldots 0.11 \ldots 0.510.0430.04319,689 \ldots 0.036 \ldots 0.11 \ldots 0.550.0430.04319,587 \ldots 0.036 \ldots 0.11 \ldots 0.560.04314,799 \ldots 0.010 \ldots 0.030 \ldots 0.560.04314,794 \ldots 0.010 \ldots 0.3010.560.5614,794 \ldots 0.010 \ldots 0.3030.50.5614,794 \ldots 0.010 \ldots 0.3030.50.5614,794 \ldots 0.010 \ldots 0.3030.50.5614,794 \ldots 0.010 \ldots 0.590.560.565,865 \ldots 0.011 \ldots 0.590.560.565,915 \ldots 0.013 \ldots 0.590.560.5613,993 \ldots 0.53 \ldots 0.570.560.5613,993 \ldots 0.51 \ldots 0.570.560.5613,993 \ldots 0.53 \ldots 0.510.560.5613,993 \ldots 0.53 \ldots 0.510.560.5613,993 \ldots 0.53 \ldots 0.510.560.5613,994 \ldots 0.53 \ldots 0.510.53 <td>14,464</td> <td></td> <td>0.50</td> <td>0.11</td> <td>- 0.07</td> <td>- 0.15</td> <td>0.393</td>	14,464		0.50	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.393
75,627 (0.50) (0.10) (0.11) (0.01) (0.51) (0.61) $19,689$ (-0.03) (-0.11) (-0.01) (-0.15) (-0.15) (-0.15) $9,345$ (-0.03) (-0.11) (-0.05) (-0.15) (-0.15) (-0.15) $9,345$ (-0.03) (-0.11) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.15) (-0.15) $9,580$ (-0.02) (-0.11) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.15) (-0.15) $1,479$ (-0.02) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.15) (-0.15) $1,479$ (-0.01) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) $1,479$ (-0.02) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) $1,479$ (-0.02) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) $1,479$ (-0.02) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.13) $1,993$ (-0.02) (-0.13) (-0.12) (-0.15) (-0.16) (-0.16) $1,993$ (-0.02) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) $1,993$ (-0.02) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) $1,993$ (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) $1,993$ (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) $1,993$ (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) <tr< td=""><td>11,021</td><td></td><td>0.88</td><td>0.11</td><td>- 0.07</td><td>- 0.15</td><td>0.765</td></tr<>	11,021		0.88	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.765
196800.0330.110.0439.3450.3360.110.590.4359.3450.360.110.590.5150.5459.5580.100.130.4350.4359.5580.100.100.4560.43514,7990.100.100.7560.76614,7940.1010.1010.7560.7565.5860.010.1010.7560.7665.5860.010.1010.7560.7565.5860.1010.1010.7560.7665.5860.1010.1010.7560.7665.6970.110.1070.1560.76613.9930.1010.1070.1560.25613.9930.1030.1070.1560.25613.9930.1010.1070.1560.26613.9930.1050.1070.1560.26613.9930.1070.150.25613.0410.1070.150.26613.0410.107	75,627		0.50	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	1.058
9.345 (0.36) (0.11) (0.53) (0.53) (0.53) (0.53) (0.545) $11/92$ (-0.10) (-0.11) (-0.21) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) (-0.12) 9.558 (-0.20) (-0.20) (-0.20) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) $14/79$ (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 5.965 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 5.943 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 5.943 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 5.943 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 5.943 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 5.943 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 11.993 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 13.993 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 13.993 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 13.994 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 13.994 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) 13.994 (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) (-0.21) <td>19,689</td> <td>ı</td> <td>0.33</td> <td>0.11</td> <td>- 0.07</td> <td>- 0.15</td> <td>-0.443</td>	19,689	ı	0.33	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.443
11.925-0.100.11.0.556-0.120.110.4559.558-0.29-0.30-0.50-0.150.81214,799-0.01-0.30-0.30-0.590.8125,586-0.01-0.11-0.59-0.1185,585-0.01-0.11-0.590.9335,985-0.01-0.11-0.120.0335,985-0.93-0.11-0.120.93320,433-0.13-0.11-0.150.08320,433-0.03-0.01-0.150.0834,070-0.13-0.11-0.150.1513,933-0.043-0.11-0.150.1513,934-0.043-0.11-0.150.1513,933-0.043-0.11-0.150.1525,033-0.043-0.07-0.150.5025,034-0.043-0.11-0.150.5025,034-0.053-0.15-0.150.5025,034-0.043-0.11-0.150.5025,034-0.11-0.15-0.150.5326,07-0.12<	9,345		0.36	0.11	0.59	0.51	1.584
9,558.0.203.0.303.0.6130.61314,799.0.011.0.303.0.5960.5130.5160.0185,586.0.011.0.113.0.5130.5130.0180.7965,5850.011.0.011.0.5130.0180.7965,9850.011.0.011.0.5930.1530.0185,9850.011.0.790.0.1560.08320,4330.011.0.070.0.1560.05613,9930.013.0.070.0.1560.05613,9930.013.0.070.0.1560.05613,9930.013.0.070.0.1560.05613,9930.013.0.070.0.1560.5667,030.0.011.0.070.0.1560.56025,0330.011.0.070.0.1560.56025,0330.013.0.51.0.510.56025,0330.013.0.51.0.510.56025,0330.013.0.51.0.510.56025,0330.013.0.51.	11,925	ı	0.10	0.11	0.59	- 0.15	0.455
14,790-0.01-0.30.0.596.0.610.7965,586-0.01-0.01-0.01-0.180.0335,985-0.47-0.01-0.07-0.150.0335,985-0.47-0.01-0.07-0.150.0335,985-0.47-0.11-0.59-0.6320,423-0.34-0.01-0.070.550.634,070-0.24-0.30-0.750.6313,993-0.243-0.30-0.760.6313,993-0.243-0.30-0.760.6313,993-0.243-0.30-0.750.7613,993-0.033-0.07-0.750.76613,993-0.055-0.70-0.510.5025,033-0.553-0.75-0.750.76625,034-0.553-0.75-0.750.76625,034-0.564-0.76-0.750.7525,034-0.553-0.75-0.750.76625,035-0.564-0.76-0.750.7526,07-0.75-0.76-0.750.75 <t< td=""><td>9,558</td><td>ı</td><td>0.29</td><td>- 0.30</td><td>- 0.07</td><td>- 0.15</td><td>-0.812</td></t<>	9,558	ı	0.29	- 0.30	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.812
5,586-0.010.11-0.070.150.1150.1185,985-0.47(11)-0.59-0.150.0835,985-0.47(11)-0.59-0.150.08320,423-0.38-0.11-0.760.4994,070-0.38-0.30-0.760.49913,933-0.243-0.30-0.760.4997,030-0.053-0.30-0.760.4997,030-0.053-0.011-0.750.507,030-0.053-0.07-0.510.502,033-0.053-0.07-0.510.502,033-0.053-0.76-0.510.502,033-0.011-0.79-0.510.504,752-0.83-0.07-0.510.504,752-0.83-0.76-0.510.504,752-0.83-0.76-0.510.504,752-0.83-0.76-0.510.534,752-0.84-0.76-0.550.534,752-0.93-0.76-0.550.535,607-0.78-0.77-0.15<	14,799	1	0.01	- 0.30	0.59	0.51	0.796
5.985.0.470.11.0.59.0.150.08320,4230.38.0.110.150.4894,0700.34.0.310.070.4594,0700.24.0.30.0.070.4590.45913,9930.24.0.30.0.070.560.56613,9930.030.070.550.56613,9930.03.0.070.570.5507,0300.01.0.070.510.5667,030.0.011.0.59.0.560.5664,7520.81.0.07.0.514,7530.03.0.07.0.534,7540.11.0.70.0.536,607.0.64.0.11.0.750.533,0440.11.0.07.0.538,724.0.15.0.15.0.538,724.0.15.0.16.0.558,724.0.15.0.75.0.578,724.0.15.0.75.0.578,724.0.15.0.76.0.57<	5,586	ı	0.01	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.118
20,423 - 0.38 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 - 0.489 4,070 - 0.24 - 0.30 - 0.07 - 0.15 - 0.489 13,903 - 0.24 - 0.30 - 0.07 - 0.15 - 0.950 13,903 - 0.43 - 0.30 - 0.07 - 0.15 - 0.950 7,030 - 0.05 - 0.01 - 0.07 - 0.15 - 0.950 25,033 - 0.503 - 0.01 - 0.50 - 0.50 4,752 - 0.053 - 0.07 - 0.15 0.530 4,752 - 0.064 - 0.07 - 0.15 0.533 6,607 - 0.13 - 0.14 - 0.15 0.533 8,724 -<	5,985	ı	0.47	0.11	0.59	- 0.15	0.083
4,070-0.24-0.30-0.076-0.76613,993-0.433-0.30-0.50-0.9527,030-0.433-0.30-0.500.500.5025,033-0.553-0.11-0.590.5025,033-0.553-0.11-0.590.5025,033-0.553-0.11-0.590.504,752-0.833-0.11-0.59-0.536,607-0.649-0.11-0.07-0.536,607-0.074-0.07-0.530.533,064-0.19-0.11-0.070.510.538,724-0.19-0.01-0.620.536,360-0.15-0.07-0.510.536,360-0.15-0.07-0.510.5318,114-0.09-0.01-0.070.5318,114-0.09-0.01-0.070.5318,114-0.09-0.01-0.070.5518,114-0.09-0.01-0.070.5518,114-0.09-0.01-0.070.5518,114-0.09-0.01 </td <td>20,423</td> <td>ı</td> <td>0.38</td> <td>0.11</td> <td>- 0.07</td> <td>- 0.15</td> <td>-0.489</td>	20,423	ı	0.38	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.489
13,933 · 0.433 · 0.301 · 0.15 · 0.302 7,030 · 0.05 · 0.11 · 0.07 · 0.51 0.500 25,033 · 0.55 · 0.11 · 0.59 · 0.50 25,033 · 0.55 · 0.11 · 0.59 · 0.50 4,752 · 0.53 · 0.59 · 0.15 0.50 4,752 · · 0.59 · 0.59 · 0.50 4,752 · · 0.59 · 0.59 · 0.50 6,607 · · 0.51 · 0.57 0.53 0.533 6,607 · · 0.11 · 0.07 · 0.53 8,724 · · 0.13 · 0.16 · 0.635 6,360 · · <	4,070	ı	0.24	- 0.30	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.766
$7,030$ \cdot 0.05 0.11 \cdot 0.07 0.51 0.50 $25,033$ \cdot 0.55 $ 0.11$ \cdot 0.59 \cdot 0.15 1.105 $4,752$ $ 0.53$ $ 0.30$ $ 0.30$ $ 0.15$ 0.303 $4,752$ $ 0.83$ $ 0.30$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.15$ 0.303 $6,607$ $ 0.04$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.53$ $3,064$ $ 0.74$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.53$ $3,064$ $ 0.74$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.53$ $3,064$ $ 0.74$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.53$ $3,064$ $ 0.74$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.53$ $8,724$ $ 0.19$ $ 0.01$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.625$ $6,360$ $ 0.15$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.15$ $ 0.625$ $8,724$ $ 0.15$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.15$ $ 0.673$ $8,714$ $ 0.015$ $ 0.015$ $ 0.015$ $ 0.673$ $18,114$ $ 0.09$ $ 0.012$ $ 0.02$ $18,114$ $ 0.09$ $ 0.012$ $ 0.015$ <	13,993	ı	0.43	- 0.30	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.952
25,033 0.55 0.11 0.59 0.15 1.105 $4,752$ 0.833 $ 0.30$ $ 0.15$ 0.333 $4,752$ $ 0.83$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.15$ 0.333 $6,607$ $ 0.044$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.15$ 0.533 $3,064$ $ 0.74$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.15$ 0.533 $3,064$ $ 0.74$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.53$ $8,724$ $ 0.19$ $ 0.11$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.51$ $6,360$ $ 0.12$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.51$ 0.625 $6,314$ $ 0.12$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.51$ 0.625 $18,114$ $ 0.09$ $ 0.011$ $ 0.07$ $ 0.15$ $ 0.025$	7,030	ı	0.05	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.500
4,7520.83-0.30-0.07-0.150.3036,6070.640.011-0.07-0.150.5333,0640.740.11-0.07-0.150.5333,724-0.190.11-0.07-0.510.6256,360-0.15-0.07-0.510.63618,1140.090.01-0.11-0.07-0.655	25,033		0.55	0.11	0.59	- 0.15	1.105
6,607 0.64 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 0.533 3,064 0.74 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 0.53 3,064 - 0.74 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 0.625 8,724 - 0.19 0.11 - 0.07 0.51 0.625 6,360 - 0.15 - 0.07 - 0.51 0.51 6,360 - 0.15 - 0.07 - 0.51 0.573 18,114 0.09 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 - 0.053	4,752		0.83	- 0.30	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.303
3,064 0.74 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 0.625 8,724 - 0.19 0.11 - 0.07 0.51 0.361 6,360 - 0.15 - 0.30 - 0.67 0.361 18,114 0.09 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 -0.673	6,607		0.64	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.533
8,724 - 0.19 0.11 - 0.07 0.51 0.361 6,360 - 0.15 - 0.30 - 0.07 - 0.57 18,114 0.09 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 -0.053	3,064		0.74	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	0.625
6,360 - 0.15 - 0.30 - 0.15 - -0.673 18,114 0.09 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 -0.025	8,724	١	0.19	0.11	- 0.07	0.51	0.361
18,114 0.09 0.11 - 0.07 - 0.15 -0.025	6,360	١	0.15	- 0.30	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.673
	18,114		0.09	0.11	- 0.07	- 0.15	-0.025

Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 315-335 🔳 EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS 🔳 335 🔳

Igor Grofelnik

University of Maribor Faculty of Logistics 3000 Celje, Slovenia igor.grofelnik@um.si

Uroš Godnov

University of Primorska Faculty of Management 6000 Koper, Slovenia uros.godnov@fm-kp.si Marjan Sternad University of Maribor Faculty of Logistics 3000 Celje, Slovenia marjan.sternad@um.si Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.8

Received: August 7, 2022 Revision received: September 23, 2022 Accepted for publishing: September 26, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



DRONE LAST MILE DELIVERY: AN ASSESSMENT OF THE VIABLE MARKET AND SECURITY POTENTIAL OF DRONE DELIVERY

Abstract

Purpose: the paper includes a review of the literature in the field of drones, drone technology, possible implementation in the field of the last mile concept, legislation, suitability of technology in the field of security, weather conditions, social acceptance and later focuses on checking the possible implementation of drones according to the set parameters.

Methodology: for the purposes of research and obtaining answers to the posed research question and hypotheses, we used the method of literature review in the selected field, panel data analysis, conducted interviews with experts in the field of delivery drones in the Republic of Slovenia, and conducted secondary research.

Results: the results show an assessment of the possible implementation of drones based on the analysis of the obtained data and interviews. We determined a realistic assessment of the potential of delivery drones, in which we included several vital aspects necessary for implementation.

Conclusion: it was found that the current technology is not yet fully adequate, and significant technological improvements are also needed. It is also necessary to plan integrated urban spatial solutions that will enable safe and efficient delivery in the supply chain. Namely, delivery with drones is currently ineffective due to flight safety, harmful sound emissions and the inability to fly in bad weather conditions. Based on a literature review and a survey among large logistics companies, it was found that there are still many barriers to implementation due to legal norms and regulations, which are currently very constructive. It is unlikely, however, that parcel delivery will take off in an urban environment soon, as there are still many unknowns. With proper planning and use of suburban consolidation centres, e-vans, e-cars and bicycles are currently economically viable for last mile delivery.

Keywords: Drones, last mile, urban logistics, parcel delivery

1. Introduction

In recent years, we have witnessed rapid urbanisation and development. The result is an aboveaverage load on the urban environment, excessive pollution, road congestion, and reduced mobility efficiency. The current use of conventional drives is among the main contributors to carbon dioxide emissions, which increase the greenhouse effect to the greatest extent and represent a severe impact on natural systems (IPCC, 2014). It is known that the possibility of unrestricted use of the World Wide Web is changing the habits of retailers and offers new challenges and opportunities to transform consumers' shopping habits (Wolfinbarger & Gilly, 2003). The way of understanding the concept of supply chains is changing, and due to the above-average increase in sales, new transport problems are also appearing. Currently, the most important problem of transport logistics is the delivery of the first and last mile (Airborne Drones, 2017). Logistics as an industry represents an essential segment of the economy, as it generates between 10 and 12% of the gross domestic product in developed countries, which also applies to Slovenia. The contract logistics market is one of the fastest-growing industries, with expected annual growth of up to 15%. The economic importance of logistics is also reflected in data on the share of its costs in the sales value of goods. According to research, it averages around 8-10%, and in some industries, even up to 30%. The importance of logistics is therefore growing unstoppably, and its usefulness is expanding into various fields (Svašek, 2007). The industry's consistent growth and continuous development mainly present new logistical challenges for sustainable logistics, transport, and delivery of goods to city centres (Basu & Muylle, 2002). Kellerman et al. (2020) focus on the economic benefits of using drones for delivery, while the social and environmental impact of drones is under-reported in most scientific literature. Indeed, many types of research are focused only on the use of different delivery models or the economic efficiency of implementation (Di Puglia Pugliese et al., 2020; Marinelli et al., 2018). However, it is necessary to realise that drones are becoming one of the most researched and potentially useful technologies of the 21st century (Kellerman et al., 2020).

The delivery of packages with the help of unmanned aircraft has proven to be potentially promising in the concept of last-mile delivery. The use of drones represents a faster, cheaper, and more environmentally friendly solution compared to traditional delivery methods (Yoo et al., 2018). According to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (2015), the use of drones and unmanned vehicles will play a significant role in the supply chain in the future. Chaturvedi et al. (2016) predict that 80% of deliveries will soon be made by driverless vehicles.

From the point of view of logistics, the delivery itself causes disturbances even at the place where the goods are delivered. Delivery traffic often requires more space due to loading and unloading, storage and packaging (Dablanc, 2007). The concept of the last mile in connection with drones will become a trend soon, as the demand for delivery increases. This is how delivery with drones is becoming interesting, as more people want home delivery of packages. Doole et al. (2020) estimate that the number of packages increased in 2018 and 2019 by more than 10% each year. This growth in the number of packages is a global trend and is primarily due to the increasing popularity of e-commerce (Yoo & Chankov, 2018). With the growing number of online shoppers, parcel delivery is also increasing, as most goods purchased online are delivered directly to customers (Aurambout et al., 2019).

The use of unmanned aerial vehicles in transport and their potential application benefits in this field have sparked a genuine research fervour focused on the strategic and operational challenges associated with unmanned aircraft. Thus, it can be seen that most of these studies investigate versions of the travelling salesman problem and the vehicle routing problem.

The implementation of drones in urban areas is becoming more and more likely. The goal is to direct the current road transport of goods into the air. According to some concepts, cities will build consolidation centres in the suburbs. Their purpose is to consolidate or combine packages and prepare them for delivery within the urban city environment. A smartphone and GPS application will allow the user to order and track a drone delivery to a specific location where they can also pick up the shipment. Therefore, delivery by drone presents many advantages from the point of view of the retailer as well as the consumer. New technology also presents new logistical challenges. With the possible implementation of delivery by drones, delivery times will be shortened due to the use of airspace. In addition, there is less chance of the cargo being damaged during transport and manipulation (Airborne Drones, 2017). According to Lovelace Jr. (2016), drones represent excellent potential for cost savings. In 2025, 80% of food deliveries are expected to be carried out by drones and driverless vehicles, and delivery costs are expected to decrease by up to 50% (Aysev et al., 2017; Bouton et al., 2017).

In the field of drone development, the number of public and private research laboratories has also increased in recent years. They are developing human-friendly and accessible drones that can fly autonomously indoors, outdoors, and near people and urban areas. Current development is aimed at miniaturisation and cost reduction of sophisticated electronic components (microprocessors, sensors, batteries, wireless communication units, control) and increasing transport capacity. Improvements allow companies to prototype and commercialise drones (Floreano & Wood, 2015). In addition, there is much interest in the field of electromagnetic spectrum sensing (infrastructure maintenance inspections, extensive environmental impact assessment). The air project is successfully aimed at the use of drones for the delivery of commercial products. Some applications may cross boundaries; air and water quality samples can be collected for laboratory analysis or assessed on-site with onboard sensors (Gallacher, 2016).

The use of drones is based on sophisticated technology that is successfully developing and already offers advanced solutions today. Currently, technology research is focused on (Cohn et al., 2017):

- flight autonomy. Drones can already operate entirely autonomously without the help of the user. In the next five years, the responsiveness of the system and the dynamic guidance of the flight without the use of hands (handoff) should be further improved;
- battery capacity. The rapid development of batteries represents an added value in using drones. The quality of lithium-ion batteries is improving every year by 5 to 8%, and their lifespan is expected to double by 2025. The improvements will allow the drones to fly for more than an hour without recharging;
- technology of detection and prevention (Detect and avoid). The development of the mentioned technologies is currently in a phase of rapid development. In the future,

these systems will prevent drones from colliding and steer them away from obstacles;

- integrated air traffic management (ATM) systems. Due to the potential risk of collision, drone flights are currently permitted below the altitude reserved for commercial aircraft. Thus, development is focused on recognition and communication with air traffic control systems;
- location technology. Drones must recognise their location even in a possible anomaly and GPS failure. Densely populated urban areas and remote locations present a problem in terms of inactivity or displaying the wrong location. Therefore, future integration of air traffic and location recognition systems with drones is necessary.

Nowadays, the professional use of drones is already present in the field of geography and geodesy because, with the help of drones, we can obtain highquality and high-resolution images from the air. In agriculture, they can be used to monitor the quality of plant products. Construction companies use them to monitor construction progress, and in mining, we can use drones to obtain accurate volumetric data on excavations. Drones are also becoming a fixture in the energy and infrastructure industry, as they can be used to inspect pipelines, roads, and cables in inaccessible areas (Floreano & Wood, 2015).

When we talk about transport with the help of drones, today, they already offer safe landing and take-off near buildings and people in urban areas. The mentioned feature represents a novelty in package delivery, and the road infrastructure we know today will no longer be needed to deliver goods. In the future, drones will enable fast and efficient delivery of goods anywhere and anytime. The concept of e-business and Industry 4.0 will come to life with the implementation of drones. In the future, the use of drones will represent a critical supporting element in the development of underdeveloped countries. By using drones, we can already improve the quality of services in congested urban areas and remote uninhabited areas where the use of classic transport is reduced or impossible. Drones enable rapid delivery of medical supplies, food, and medicine to inaccessible areas. Firefighters, the police, and the military are also aware of the benefits of using it (Floreano & Wood, 2015). The retail giant

Amazon was the first company on the global market in 2013 to introduce a drone, Prime Air, whose purpose is to deliver packages and reduce delivery times in major cities to 30 minutes. The company started a revolution in package delivery as competing companies also began to realise the advantages and opportunities offered by the implementation of drones (BBC NEWS, 2013). As a result, the DHL company prepared a pilot program to introduce drones for package delivery purposes (Figure 1), followed by the Google company with the "Wing" project and UPS, which is engaged in research into the movement of packages between distribution centres and airports.

1.1 Drone operations

There are several models of dealing with the Drone Delivery System. For example, Marinelli et al. (2018) consider a delivery system where drones, in conjunction with trucks (Figure 1), fly from a truck to a location and return to the truck after dropping off a package. Thus, from the point of view of such treatment, we are talking about the emotional problem of the travelling salesman. Also, the author claims that such a method is currently the most effective delivery for drones.





Source: Authors

In the scientific literature, establishing a specific node – hub where goods are delivered and further distributed by drones is often mentioned (Goodchild & Toy, 2018). The so-called hives have the characteristic of a back-storage. Aurambout et al. (2019) believe that such a hinterland must have a relatively large number of addresses in its vicinity to be economically competitive. Doole et al. (2020) define a system where vans deliver goods to a hub (Figure 2), and from this hub, the goods are delivered to the destination. Murray & Chu (2015) believe that the size of such a hinterland largely depends on the distance that drones can fly on a battery charge. Such a system of back-end centres can also be combined with traditional delivery trucks, where the trucks still deliver to houses convenient for the route, while the drones serve other locations.



Figure 2 The goods are delivered to the destination from the hub - the City of Celje

Source: Authors

1.2 Public acceptance, security and privacy

There are empirical public opinion surveys that examine various issues related to drones. Faulkner Rogers (2013) examines public approval of using drones with weapons. Reason Wong & Mulligan (2016) highlights privacy concerns and the use of drones for surveillance purposes by law enforcement agencies. Research has shown that acceptance for most drone use in the European Union is high. This is especially true for research and security. The acceptance of drones for package delivery is much lower, with 49% of people perceiving it as a good or good thing and 21% as a bad or horrible thing (Kennisinstituut Voor Mobiliteitsbeleid, 2017). However, Clothier et al. (2015) expect that the general attitude towards the adoption of drones will change a lot in the future, as there is a lack of public knowledge about the safety and interference issues, as well as the added benefits. Nentwich & Horváth (2018) believe that restrictions on the use of drones will be determined by society. Also, privacy will play an essential role in the adoption of drones. Namely, the problem is represented by recreational drones, which represent a potential threat

in the field of privacy as they are equipped with a camera. Lidynia et al. (2017) note that privacy is an essential criterion at this stage.

Improper use or even abuse can endanger lives. We can apply the principles of security and security analysis to any device or system we use or the organisation that makes it (products or manufacturers) and identify the risk. Lavaliee (2019) believes that the future large-scale integration of unmanned systems into the airspace may cause problems:

- in the field of general safety (if they are not used appropriately and cause damage);
- in the field of privacy and personal data protection (because it can be used for photography, recording, data collection...);
- in the area of liability and insurance of third parties (in case of accidents); and,
- in the field of environmental issues (e.g. noise). Therefore, at the level of integration of drones into the airspace, we must take into account the necessary legal, political and technical provisions.

It is also necessary to face dangers such as (Lavaliee, 2019):

- Danger during take-off and landing;
- Risk of failure of critical components;
- Risk of collision;
- Danger due to excessive exposure to noise;
- The risk of the illegal invasion of privacy;
- Fire hazard.

In addition, there are other possibilities for damage that can be caused by remote aircraft systems, namely (Macnish, 2019):

- Civic inactivity: Individuals may become afraid to express their dissatisfaction with a system and participate publicly in rallies, demonstrations, and petitions if they suspect or know that their photo will be stored in police files;
- Social "sorting": Stereotyping, stigmatisation, discrimination; it is entirely possible that certain social groups and communities would be more under control, observed, as the stigma of "criminals" would cling to them;
- Imbalance in the distribution of costs: Someone may also bear the high costs of state control more than anyone else. This would further contribute to the socio-cultural division of society;
- Paternalism: State paternalism means that someone as a "parent" takes care of you and protects you but for your own good;
- Social fatalism: Paternalism can lead to the "surrender to fate" of individuals because they would realise that since they are protected by the state, they cannot do anything or influence anything themselves;
- Behavioural Uniformity: Individuals in such a controlled system will not want to expose themselves, or do anything that would cause them to "stand out" to attract attention;
- Reduction of trust: It is often said that if you are not doing anything wrong, you do not need to hide anything - when being monitored;
- Fear of surveillance: With increased surveillance comes more fear (of exposing even non-criminal acts).

1.3 Drone regulations

The European Aviation Safety Agency handles the regulation of the aviation sector in the EU. It is responsible for the operations of various aircraft in the EU; EASA is responsible for aircraft over 150 kg and under 150 kg, previously the responsibility of individual member states (Molina & Montagud, 2018). Rijksoverheid (2021) divides all drone flights into three different categories. Thus, there is a category of low, medium, and high risk. We refer to these categories as EASA (2019) open, specified, and certified categories.

EASA (2019) has also published a brochure with recommendations for the management of drones. These are as follows:

- Possession of suitable insurance;
- Check the drone before the actual flight;
- Check the restrictions of the individual areas where the drone will be operated;
- Keep the drone in line of sight at all times;
- Maintain a suitable distance between the drone, people, animals and other aircraft;
- If the drone is flown near people, its speed should be reduced, keep it horizontal distance to them, but never less than 5 meters;
- Operating the drone in accordance with the restrictions issued by the manufacturer; follow the manufacturer's instructions;
- Urgently notify the national aviation organisation if the drone is involved in an accident with serious or fatal consequences, or if the accident affected the flight crew;
- Do not make changes to the drone that are not supported by the manufacturer;
- The drone must not fly more than 150 m above the ground;
- The drone must not be flown near airports, helipads and other pilot areas, about aircraft, as well as not in areas where it could endanger public safety, or about areas where prisons, military bases, power plants, etc. are located;
- The drone must not fly over large groups of people;
- The drone may not record videos, take photos, or record sound of individuals without their prior permission;

- If we fly a drone over land or property of individuals, we must take into account a distance of at least 20 m; if less, we must have their permission;
- Respect for the privacy of individuals;
- The drone must not carry dangerous substances or objects;
- Plan your flight;
- Check the restrictions of individual areas and get to know the area where you want to fly;
- Check weather conditions;
- Verify the electronic identification and geoawareness system.

All regulations in the Republic of Slovenia derive from the adopted legal acts of the European Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA). Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) 2015/947 sets out the rules and procedures for the operation of unmanned aircraft and is directly applicable in all EU member states. In addition to the regulation, the Slovenian Regulation on the Implementation of the Implementing Regulation of the Commission (EU) on Rules and Procedures for the Management of Unmanned Aircraft (Official Gazette of the Republic of Slovenia No. 195/20) and the Delegated Regulation of the Commission (EU) 2019 also apply to unmanned aircraft (drones) /945 of 12 March 2019 on unmanned aircraft systems and operators of unmanned aircraft systems from third countries (C/2019/1821) (EASA, 2019).

It is important to point out that member states must establish a register of unmanned certified aircraft and a register of operators. The register must be digital and interoperable, and the competent authorities of the member states are obliged to give each other access to the register (CAA, 2022).

Figure 3 shows a map of zones (CAA, 2022) with limited low-flying or no-fly zones. Orange dots represent no-fly zones, while yellow areas represent low-fly zones. The green area represents the national park, where flying is also restricted, and the marked blue zone represents the zone where military activities occur. Flying is prohibited during specific periods. The map also contains red zones where flying is wholly prohibited due to industrial facilities of national importance.





Source: CAA (2022)

2. Methods

The goal of this research is to determine to what extent drones will be useful from the point of view of the concept of the last mile in the Republic of Slovenia. Thus, we will build a theoretical framework, look for solutions and make proposals related to the introduction of drones, examine the compliance of the introduction regarding legislative regulations and whether delivery in the urban area can be implemented. By creating a multi-factor model and interviewing experts and delivery companies, this research provides detailed insight into what factors are most limiting to drone delivery. These factors will then be presented and used to assess the feasibility of the implementation. We will also present their potential in the coming years.

The main research question is: To what extent will delivery drones be introduced as part of the last mile delivery traffic in the Republic of Slovenia in the coming decade?

We also set the following hypotheses:

H1: The use of drones has great potential for use in the last mile concept.

H2: Companies and experts perceive opportunities for the implementation of drones.

2.1 Estimation of delivery drone potential

Based on the collected theoretical data, we will determine the possibility of implementing drones in connection with the concept of the last mile. Thus, it is necessary to justify the expediency of the implementation of drones in relation to the number of delivered packages in the Republic of Slovenia. Weight, weather conditions, flight zones, and possible prohibitions must be included when determining performance and rating. Thus, with the help of the literature and subsequent calculations, we will present the obtained results.

2.2 Qualitative approach – the future of drone delivery in Slovenia

According to Steen (2016), an analysis of innovation and industrial change should be based on a combination of retrospective data. Thus, interviews with companies are a suitable method for data collection. Furthermore, Nentwich & Horváth (2018) recommend combining the views of companies and experts when reviewing drone implementation scenarios. Thus, we included companies experimenting with drones in Slovenia and experts with knowledge in the field of delivery drones in the analysis.

In the field of companies, we included Pošta Slovenije and ElevonX in the interview. Both companies are pioneers in the field of drone delivery in Slovenia. In the field of science and research, we included the Professor of Sustainable Logistics and Assistant Professor of Sustainable logistics and transport in the interview. All interviews were conducted in person at companies and the University of Maribor.

The questions in the interviews were semi-structured. Also, the order of the questions was adjusted due to the interview. The questions we asked followed in the existing order:

- Have you already done research on the use of drones in the last mile area?
- What is your position in the company or University?
- Have you supervised studies by students conducting drone research in this area?
- How does your work relate to the use of drones?
- Do you actively follow the developments in the field of delivery drones?
- What are the main limitations that may limit the potential of drones in last mile de-livery?
- What international developments do you see in the field of drone delivery?
- Justify how the safety of drones can be improved to be suitable for delivery in urban areas?
- How do you expect people's acceptance to develop if a regular drone service were introduced?
- What do you expect from the future of drones as delivery vehicles?
- Do you think drone delivery has economic potential?
- Is development going faster or slower than you expected a few years ago?
- In what environment would delivery drones currently be appropriate?
- In what environment do you expect the first drone delivery networks?
- When do you expect drone delivery to be economically feasible?
- According to the current legislation, establishing delivery networks with drones is impossible. Do you expect that there will be more room for the use of drones in the future?

2.3 Building the conceptual model

When building the conceptual model (Figure 4), we took theoretical knowledge into account. Within these categories, the theoretical framework identified several aspects that could play a role in delivery. By creating a multi-aspect framework, it is possible to see the effect of these defined aspects on the total number of possible drone deliveries in the Republic of Slovenia.

Figure 4 Multi-Factor Model



Source: Authors

3. Analysis

3.1 Estimation of drone potential in Slovenia

The parcel transfer market is a segment of the postal services market where the reception, routing, transport, and delivery of parcels are carried out. The essential function of the parcel service is the transfer of goods between the sender and the addressee, which may or may not have a considerable value. Parcel shipments are up to 31.5 kg, the contents of which are goods. In addition, as a universal service, the transfer of packages up to 10 kilograms in domestic traffic and up to 20 kg for packages arriving from other EU member states is carried out (AKOS, 2020).

There were 15.4 million shipments on the domestic parcel market in 2019, which is a 6.2% increase compared to the previous year. The number of packages has been steadily increasing since 2015, growing by 50% from 2015 to 2019, and the cumulative package growth from 2011 to 2019 was 64.5% (AKOS, 2020).

3.2 Weight

Drones operating in urban areas have an estimated payload of around 2.2 kilograms (Doole et al., 2020). Weight is summarised based on data from Amazon Prime Air (Lovelace, 2016). According to Doole et al. (2020), 86% of packages are lighter than 2.2 kilograms. If such a weight is given to a standardised commodity, it can be adjusted to this demand. Based on the obtained data (AKOS, 2020), we can assume that 13.24 million (86% of 15.4 million) packages would be eligible for drone delivery by weight in the Republic of Slovenia.

3.3 Weather

Doole et al. (2020) believe that weather conditions also mention the problem of drone delivery. The Kennisinstituut Voor Mobiliteitsbeleid (2017) identifies three different weather aspects that play an essential role. These conditions are precipitation, extreme temperatures, and wind. According to Bergsma (2021), weather conditions have been found to affect the potential of drone delivery services. In Table 1, we obtained

statistical data on weather conditions in the Republic of Slovenia.

Weather factor 2021	Days	Percentage
Temperature < 0	69	18.9%
Rain	149	40.8%
Wind speed > 8 m/s	42	11.5%

Table 1 Weather data according to the possibility of flight restrictions

Source: Arso Meteo (2022)

Based on the obtained results, we found that drones could fly in the Republic of Slovenia on 28.8% of the days of the year, according to weather conditions. Thus, it can be argued that weather conditions significantly limit the potential of drone deliveries.

3.4 Limitations by no-fly zones

According to data (SiStat, 2022), there are currently 2,865,000 registered addresses in the Republic of

Slovenia. We mapped these addresses (Figure 5) with the help of ArcGis and found that 31% of prohibited and low fly areas of all addresses in urban areas lie in prohibited areas or partial flight bans. Of these, 23% (prohibited areas) are addresses where drone delivery is impossible. On the other hand, we also note that 82% of addresses in rural areas are suitable for drone delivery.

Figure 5 Display of flight restriction zones based on pact delivery addresses



Source: Authors

3.5 The future of drone delivery in Slovenia – expert view Pošta Slovenije conducted the first test flight with an unmanned aircraft in cooperation with the Slovenian company OneDrone, which is the first Slovenian operator of unmanned aircraft of the highest category and enables the implementation

of aerial operations in the most demanding conditions. The start-up company ElevonX, a manufacturer of unmanned aerial vehicles or complete systems, also participated. The start-up developed the ElevonX SkyEye modular unmanned aerial system and brought it to series production. Pošta Slovenije performed the first test flights with unmanned aerial vehicles. In this way, it is preparing for when it can deliver urgently needed shipments to places where conventional vehicles cannot deliver them so quickly and efficiently. Given the current trends in delivery, we are no longer far from being able to make deliveries with drones in logistics instead of test flights. Furthermore, we want to be actively involved in creating regulations governing the flying and management of drones in Slovenia, with the explicit goal of finding new business opportunities.

The interviewed companies highlighted several different aspects that need to be improved. They highlighted the problem of GPS distortion due to physical obstacles in the field. The drone's stability when landing due to the package is also a problem. They also highlighted the problem of technology that enables safe and dynamic flying. The interviewees also believe that drone operations will not be as limited in the future as they are today. Thus, they believe that delivery by drones will become a reality soon.

The interviewed companies believe that technology has enabled delivery by drones for a long time. However, the current regulations governing airspace pose a problem. Currently, there is not much room for manoeuvring in the European area for mass production deliveries.

They also highlighted the potential of using drones in delivery for various purposes. They believe that the initial deliveries will be aimed at the delivery of laboratory samples from remote areas, the delivery of medical devices, the delivery of goods from ships to land, and later, with intelligent regulations, the delivery of online purchases to end customers can also be expected.

Also, the companies' experts note that the public's reaction is positive. They think that the public generally supports the first test delivery that they carried out. However, they pointed out that in conversations with the public, they noticed specific issues related to safety and noise. Thus, they believe development and research should improve safety and reduce noise emissions.

Interviewees believe it will take quite some time before the first working drone networks can become a reality. Therefore, we were interested in where the interviewees see opportunities for a successful business model with delivery drones. Interviewees conclude that it will take at least a few years before a drone network can be operational. This is how companies generally see the potential for these services. Therefore, they believe that investing in drone experiments will yield positive results. However, they state that delivery by van or bicycle is already a very efficient system, and the cost of operating drones is still higher than existing methods. Hence, drone delivery is unlikely to be adopted for simple package delivery anytime soon.

According to the interviewees, it becomes clear that the development of drones is still in its early stages. Thus, we cannot confidently say that the public will agree with the implementation. Also, there will still be many steps to be taken technologically. However, due to possible improvements in this area, this aspect is probably not a significant limitation in the development of drones. It was also noted that currently, the most critical obstacles in the field of legislation are the ones that prevent commercial drone delivery services from flying. New legislation was introduced in the Republic of Slovenia in January 2021, but even with these new rules, the legislation will probably continue to inhibit the development of drones.

It should be noted that drones are currently more expensive to operate compared to other delivery methods, such as vans or bicycles. Therefore, we believe that the first implementations of drones are limited to niche functions where high-priority, high-value products need to be delivered. We also consider the widespread use of drones to deliver food and packages an unlikely scenario.

4. Results

In the following section, based on the obtained theory and results, we will answer the research question: To what extent will delivery drones be introduced as part of the last mile delivery traffic in the Republic of Slovenia in the coming decade?

We will answer this question with a combination of the results of tests and calculations, which were created based on an analysis and review of the literature. It is clear from the theoretical work that several factors will shape the implementation of drones for commercial delivery purposes in the next decade. At this point, it is necessary to highlight three key factors. These are legislative barriers, technological capacity, and social acceptance of the presented technology. Based on the literature review, it was determined that the key to implementation is positive acceptance by society. We find it easier for society to adopt drones for medical emergencies than for commercial delivery purposes. We also note that many improvements are needed for technological capabilities, as there are still quite a few problems in the field of sensors, battery capacity, and the behaviour of devices in terrible weather conditions. We also note that legislative obstacles due to the new regulations are still partially undefined and point to the ambiguity of the very possibility of implementing drones in everyday life. The results indicate that several factors related to delivery drones must change before this technology becomes a reality. Efforts by the European Union to harmonise drone regulations in member states may significantly increase the potential number of packages suitable for drone delivery.

One of the significant limitations of the implementation of drones in the delivery system is weather conditions, which harm the implementation. Namely, due to the geographical location of the Republic of Slovenia, we can claim from the obtained results that at least part of the year, which is quite rainy, represents a problem in the implementation of drones. This particularly highlights the reliability of future drone delivery. An essential aspect of why weather reliability should be considered is because one of the primary motivators for potential drone delivery companies is the maximum efficiency and predictability that delivery companies strive for. Until there are technological improvements related to weather conditions, drones will not be able to meet the criteria of good economic use, and it is unlikely that these companies will use drones on a large scale. Therefore, technological improvements in weather resistance would be crucial to adopting drones for delivery. Doole et al. (2020) expect that in the future, drone technology will be so advanced that the number of days a drone could not operate due to weather conditions would be zero.

It is also necessary to highlight the areas of flight that currently limit delivery in certain areas. In this case, patience is also required for technological improvements because otherwise, the legislation will remain restrictive, and flying will be limited. The analysis shows that urban areas are likely to be particularly affected by the prohibition zones. This can pose an additional problem for the implementation and potential of drones when a drone network requires a high population density in its environment to be effective. Aurambout et al. (2019) and Doole et al. (2020) expect that, from the point of view of implementation, technical perfection and legal regulation will be a condition before the introduction of drones becomes economically justified. With this in mind, it is clear that extending the current no-fly zones for low-risk drones to delivery drones would preclude widespread use. It is also necessary to highlight that the number of addresses not part of these zones is quite large. However, in this case, the drone networks are fragmented, which would significantly limit their effectiveness when we talk about the last mile of delivery. If the legislation is not adapted to support such operations, Slovenian airspace is not suitable for delivery by drones. However, as new drone regulations are constantly changing and upgrading based on market demands, these no-fly zones can also change significantly. How this plays out will significantly impact the potential of delivery drones over the next decade. Despite the limitations caused by the mentioned aspects, the calculation still showed that almost 82% of all packages delivered by the six major delivery companies would currently be suitable for delivery by drones.

In the following section, we will check the hypotheses we have set for the research purposes.

H1: *The use of drones has great potential for use in the last mile concept.*

Based on the theoretical work, we notice that more and more authors highlight the economic potential of last-mile delivery with drones. We find that drones will lead to a reduction in time and cost in the last mile. However, several technological barriers currently limit the potential. Based on the interviews, it is also becoming apparent that widespread adoption is, at best, a distant future scenario, although drone deliveries are already being tested today. As found in the analysis, current drone technology and legislation still severely limit the implementation of drones for commercial delivery purposes. While these factors do not prevent all drone delivery operations, they still prevent widespread use for now. Based on the results, it is likely that the role of these limiting factors will diminish with further development of technology and legislation.

We note that in delivery, niche roles in high-value functions such as healthcare are likely to be introduced. Such niche features could work as a blueprint for drone delivery operations in other areas. However, the execution depends on whether drones are more competitive than other current delivery methods. The results of this research show less potential for drones concerning the concept of the last mile than the literature described in the theoretical framework. One reason is that many researchers envision specific technological improvements to drones that are not currently on the market. Thus, it is uncertain whether this predicted technology development will occur. Also, additional developments in drone security could significantly increase the cost of operating drones, making them much more challenging to operate, especially when we talk about the last mile concept. The interviews made it possible to detect concerns about implementing this technology in cities. Namely, city centres are very unsuitable for the operation of drones, as there is currently no suitable infrastructure for safe and efficient package disposal. In countries with poorer infrastructure, competition from other delivery methods is likely less of a factor, and the potential for drones may be more significant.

H2: Companies and experts perceive opportunities for the implementation of drones.

Interest in the field of drone delivery in Slovenia is on the rise. Based on interviews with experts and companies, we found that a competitive environment is being created, but currently, such delivery is only in the test phase. The interviewees believe that much time will pass, and many more tests will be needed for the idea to be implemented in reality. The surveyed companies highlighted several different aspects that need to be improved. They pointed out the problem of GPS distortion, the current instability of the drone when landing due to the package, the problem of technology that enables safe and dynamic flying, and the problem of legislation and public perception.

Nevertheless, experts and companies in the Republic of Slovenia believe that the operation of drones in the future will not be as limited as it is today. Thus, they believe that drone delivery will soon become a reality. Experts highlighted the potential of using drones in delivery for various purposes. They believe that the initial deliveries will be aimed at the delivery of laboratory samples from remote areas, the delivery of medical devices, the delivery of goods from ships to land, and later, with intelligent regulation, the delivery of online purchases to end customers can also be expected. It is also necessary to highlight the investment in drone experiments, yielding positive results. We also note that delivery by van or bicycle is already very efficient in urban environments, but the cost of operating drones is still higher than existing methods. Therefore, it is unlikely that drone delivery will be adopted for simple package delivery any time soon.

5. Conclusion

Setting up a drone delivery system in urban areas raises many questions. They are related to privacy, security, environmental risks and the direct impact of drones in connection with urban delivery and transportation. The industry was the first to recognise the possibilities of using drones in civil airspace, and ideas about the transportation of shipments emerged. In addition to transportation, the industry has recognised other advantages in the form of activities that were recently performed only by manned aircraft. Thus, we can claim that the industry is aware of the importance of the exposed technology, but full implementation will require a lot of invested energy, both in the technical and legal fields. Namely, as we have already pointed out, there are quite a few obstacles to the implementation in the full sense. This is also related to privacy, security, other environmental requirements, and legislation. Over the past ten years, the number of noise restrictions has doubled as part of the restriction (Antoine & Kroo, 2002). Commercial use of drones is restricted in much of the world, but the U.S. The Federal Administration and the European Aviation Safety Agency are developing regulations to enable greater commercial use (EASA, 2019). There are also issues related to infrastructure. The widespread adoption of drones to replace the current delivery of parcels in cities could also affect the complete transformation of the energy system in the future. Thus, upon possible introduction, the entire demand for current derivatives, which are implemented for the purposes of current transport use, would change. However, the current energy system is also unsuitable and unsustainable for possible mass use (Stolaroff et al., 2018).

In addition, we found that the implementation of drone delivery will also strongly depend on the terrain, geographical location, weather and weather influences. The Republic of Slovenia has strong geographical and weather diversity, so conducting research in smaller areas, e.g., according to regions would be advisable. We have also found that there are no studies regarding the adoption of drone technology in the Republic of Slovenia, so we propose to carry out a study with surveys among the general population in the Republic of Slovenia in the future to find out whether the public will agree with the implementation.

Understanding these issues forces decision-makers and the public to face integrated energy and environmental solutions today, which in the future will deliver the first package to our doorstep with the help of a drone.

References

- 1. Airborne Drones (2017). *High Payload Drone for Delivery & Transport Heavy Lifting UAV.* https://www.airbornedrones.co/delivery-and-transport/
- 2. AKOS (2020). *Analiza trga poštnih storitev v Republiki Sloveniji v letu 2019*. Agencija za komunikacijska omrežja in storitve Republike Slovenije.
- Antoine, N. E. & Kroo, I. M. (2002). Aircraft optimisation for minimal environmental impact. 9th AIAA/ISSMO Symposium on Multidisciplinary Analysis and Optimization (pp. 1-7). Atlanta: American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics. https://doi.org/10.2514/6.2002-5667
- 4. Arso Meteo (2022). Arhiv meritev. https://meteo.arso.gov.si/met/sl/app/webmet/#webmet==8Sdwx2bhR2cv0WZ0V2bvEGcw9ydlJWblR3LwVnaz9SYtVmYh9iclFGbt9SaulGdugXbsx3cs9mdl5WahxXYyNGapZXZ8tHZv1WYp5mOnMHbvZXZulWYnwCchJXYtVGdlJnOn0UQQdSf
- 5. Aurambout, J. P., Gkoumas, K. & Ciuffo, B. (2019). Last mile delivery by drones: an estimation of viable market potential and access to citizens across European cities. *European Transport Research Review: An Open Access Journal*, *11*(1), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12544-019-0368-2
- Aysev, I., Malek, M., Miller, T., Stolan, M., Eschelbeck, J., Giacomin, G., Chou, A., Smetana, L. & Kefis, P. (2017). Online and Offline Grocery Shopping: Better Together (At least for now). A. T. Kearney & Institute for International Business, WU Vienna.
- Basu, A. & Muylle, S. (2002). Online support for commerce processes by web retailers. *Journal of Decisions Support Systems*, 34, 379-395. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-9236(02)00065-9
- 8. BBC NEWS (2013). *Technology Amazon testing drones for deliveries*. https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-25180906
- 9. Bergsma, J. (2021). *Drone in last mile delivery services* [Master thesis, University of Groningen]. University of Groningen, Faculty of Spatial Sciences.
- Bouton, S., Hannon, E., Ramanathan, S., Knupfer, S., Haydamous, L., Heid, B., Nehuhaus, F., Nijssen J. T. & Naucler, T. (2017). *Urban commercial transport and the future of mobility*. https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/sustainability/our-insights/urban-commercial-transportand-the-future-of-mobility
- 11. CAA (2022). Nova skupna EU ureditev. https://www.caa.si/nova-skupna-eu-ureditev.html
- 12. Chaturvedi, N., Martich, M., Ruwadi, B. & Ulker, N. (2016). *The future of retail supply chains*. KPMG, 59-67.
- 13. Clothier, R. A., Greer, D. A., Greer, D. G. & Mehta, A. M. (2015). Risk perception and the public acceptance of drones. *Risk Analysis*, *35*(6), 1167-1183. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12330
- 14. Cohn, P., Green, A., Langstaff, M. & Roller, M. (2017). *Commercial drones are here: The future of unmanned aerial systems*. McKinsey & Company.
- 15. Dablanc, L. (2007). Goods transport in large European cities: difficult to organize, difficult to modernize. *Transportation Research Part A*, 41(3), 280-285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2006.05.005
- 16. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited. (2015). Drones: high-profile. The Creative Studio at Deloitte.
- 17. Di Puglia Pugliese, L., Guerriero, F. & Macrina, G. (2020). Using drones for parcels delivery process. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *42*, 488-497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2020.02.043
- Doole, M., Ellerbroek, J. & Hoekstra, J. (2020). Estimation of traffic density from drone-based delivery in very low level urban airspace. *Journal of Air Transport Management*, 88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jairtraman.2020.101862
- 19. EASA (2019). *Uvod v zakonodajni okvir za operacije brezpilotnih zrakoplovov*. European Aviation Safety Agency.

- 20. Faulkner Rogers, J. (2013). The public view: British attitudes to drone warfare and targeted killing. In Aronson, M. & Johnson, A. (Eds.), *Hitting the Target? How New Capabilities are Shaping International Intervention* (pp. 7-17). Royal United Services Institute for Defence and Security Studies.
- Floreano, D. & Wood, R. J. (2015). Science, technology and the future of small autonomous drones. *Nature*, 521, 460-466. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14542
- 22. Gallacher, D. (2016). Drones to manage the urban environment: Risks, rewards, alternatives. *Journal of Unmanned Vehicle Systems*, 4(2), 115-124. https://doi.org/10.1139/juvs-2015-0040
- Goodchild, A. & Toy, J. (2018). Delivery by drone: an evaluation of unmanned aerial vehicle technology in reducing CO₂ emissions in the delivery service industry. *Transportation Research Part D: Part A*, 61, 58-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.02.017
- 24. IPCC (2014). Climate change 2014 Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability Summary for Policymakers. Cambridge University Press.
- Kellermann, R., Biehle, T. & Fischer, L. (2020). Drones for parcel and passenger transportation: a literature review. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 4, 100088. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2019.100088
- 26. Kennisinstituut voor Mobiliteitsbeleid (2017). *Drones in het personen en goederenvervoer.* https://www.kimnet.nl/publicaties/rapporten/2017/09/26/drones-in-het-personen---en-goederenvervoer
- 27. Lavaliee, C. (2019). The EU policy for civil drones: the challenge of governing emerging technologies. *Institute for European Studies*, 2019(1), 1-6.
- Lidynia, C., Philipsen, R. & Ziefle, M. (2017). Droning on about drones—acceptance of and perceived barriers to drones in civil usage contexts. In Savage-Knepshield, P. & Chen, J. (Eds.), *Advances in human factors in robots and unmanned systems* (pp. 317-329). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-41959-6_26
- Lovelace Jr., B. (2016). The future arrives? Amazon's Prime Air completes its first drone delivery. https://www.cnbc.com/2016/12/14/the-future-arrives-amazons-prime-air-completes-its-first-dronedelivery.html
- 30. Macnish, K. (2019). *Civilian Use of Drones in the EU European Union Committee*. http://www.parliament.uk/civil-rpas
- Marinelli, M., Caggiani, L., Ottomanelli, M. & Dell'Orco, M. (2018). En route truck–drone parcel delivery for optimal vehicle routing strategies. *Iet Intelligent Transport Systems*, 12(4), 253-261. https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-its.2017.0227
- Molina, M. B. & Montagud, M. A. C. (2018). Legal and Ethical Recommendations. In de Miguel Molina, M. & Santamarina Campos, V. (Eds.), *Ethics and Civil Drones* (pp. 77-87). SpringerBriefs in Law. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-71087-7_5
- Murray, C. C. & Chu, A. G. (2015). The flying sidekick travelling salesman problem: optimization of drone-assisted parcel delivery. *Transportation Research Part C*, 54, 86-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2015.03.005
- 34. Nentwich, M. & Horváth, D. (2018). The vision of delivery drones. *TATuP Zeitschrift für Technikfolgenabschätzung in Theorie und Praxis*, 27(2), 46-52. https://doi.org/10.14512/tatup.27.2.46
- 35. Rijksoverheid (2021). *Mag ik een drone inzetten voor zakelijk gebruik?* https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/drone/vraag-en-antwoord/regels-drone-zakelijk-gebruik
- Steen, M. (2016). Reconsidering path creation in economic geography: aspects of agency, temporality and methods. *European Planning Studies*, 24(9), 1605-1622. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2016.1204427
- 37. Stolaroff, J. K., Samaras, C., O'Neill, E. R., Lubers, A., Mitchell, A. S. & Ceperley, D. (2018). Energy use and life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of drones for commercial package delivery. *Nature Communications*, *9*(409), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02411-5

- 38. SiStat (2022). Prebivalstvo po spolu in starosti, občine, naselja, Slovenija, letno. https://pxweb.stat.si/SiStatData/pxweb/sl/Data/-/05C5003S.px
- 39. Svašek, M. (2007). Vpliv globalizacije na logistične storitve. Univerza v Ljubljani, Ekonomska fakulteta.
- 40. Yoo, W., Yu, E. & Jung, J. (2018). Drone delivery: Factors affecting the public's attitude and intention. *Telematics and Informatics*, 35, 1687-1700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2018.04.014
- Yoo, H. D. & Chankov, S. M. (2018). Drone-delivery Using Autonomous Mobility: An Innovative Approach to Future Last-mile Delivery Problems. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management* (pp. 1216-1220). Bangkok: IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEEM.2018.8607829
- Wolfinbarger, M. & Gilly, M. (2003). eTailQ: dimensionalizing, measuring and predicting etail quality. *Journal of Retailing*, 79(3), 183-198. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4359(03)00034-4
- 43. Wong, R. & Mulligan, D. K. (2016). These aren't the autonomous drones you're looking for: investigating privacy concerns through concept videos. *Journal of Human-Robot Interaction*, 5(3), 26–54. https://doi.org/10.5898/JHRI.5.3.Wong

Blaženka Knežević

University of Zagreb Faculty of Economics and Business Zagreb 10000 Zagreb, Croatia bknezevic@net.efzg.hr

Miroslav Mandić University of Zagreb Faculty of Economics and Business Zagreb 10000 Zagreb, Croatia

mmandic1@net.efzg.hr

Antonija Lipovac Tolić Profil Klett Hrvatska 10000 Zagreb, Croatia antonija.lipovac@gmail.com Original scientific article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.9

Received: July 30, 2022 Revision received: September 4, 2022 Accepted for publishing: September 5, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



THE ROLE OF SUPPLIER SATISFACTION SURVEY IN BUILDING PARTNERSHIPS

Abstract

Purpose: The main goal of this paper's research was to determine the role and justification of surveying supplier satisfaction in building partnerships.

Methodology: To collect primary data, qualitative research was used, which was conducted in several phases. The study tested nine key criteria modelled on the work of Vos et al. (2016). The sample of key suppliers was determined from a non-probability sample of experts from eight strategic suppliers who agreed to participate in the research. A qualitative approach was used due to the small sample and the desire to apply a different approach since the authors used a quantitative approach in most of the analysed papers.

Results: Research has shown that the key criteria for supplier satisfaction are reliability, communication, and operative excellence of the customer they work with.

Conclusion: Any long-term and successful business relationship implies the satisfaction of all parties in the relationship. The concept of supplier satisfaction research is a business practice of a modest number of companies. Despite this, the research participants confirmed that there are solid arguments and interest in introducing this type of research and its continuous implementation. The recommendation is the systematic introduction of supplier relationship management and, as part of that, the introduction of the practice of conducting supplier satisfaction surveys.

Keywords: Supply chain management, supplier relationship management, supplier satisfaction survey

1. Introduction

Satisfaction is the basis of the success of every relationship. In business management, significant attention is paid to satisfaction, especially to the satisfaction of customers and employees. It is common practice in most companies to conduct customer satisfaction surveys and employee satisfaction surveys regularly. In business practice, there are few examples of companies that recognised the importance of supplier satisfaction and ventured into supplier satisfaction research, i.e., evaluating their own competencies and operations from the suppliers' perspective. This area began to receive attention in the last decade of the 20th century, but it is still insufficiently researched in the scientific and business community. The most comprehensive research on this topic was conducted by Maunu (2003), Essig and Amann (2009), Hüttinger et al. (2014) and Vos et al. (2016). The methodology in this paper is adapted from the research of Vos et al. (2016).

The subject of this research paper is the investigation of supplier satisfaction and the criteria that influence supplier satisfaction. The main goal of the paper is to determine the justification and purposefulness of conducting supplier satisfaction research and to investigate the degree of supplier satisfaction according to criteria based on the synthesis of existing literature and interviews with procurement experts. The research results will try to contribute to understanding the importance of satisfaction of all supply chain members, emphasising supplier satisfaction.

Performance measurement is important for every business activity, and the goal of measurement is to identify and correct deficiencies and work on improving performance to achieve the most successful business results. Without measuring and monitoring progress, it is impossible to achieve desired results. Satisfaction in a business relationship can be defined as a positive affective state resulting from the evaluation of all aspects of business relationships between companies (Anderson & Narus, 1984, as cited in Maunu, 2003). Satisfaction research experienced its expansion in the second half of the twentieth century and focused mainly on customer and employee satisfaction research (Essig & Amann, 2009).

A long-term customer relationship is based on good relations, i.e., customer satisfaction. Wong (2000) emphasises the importance of cultivating a culture of collaboration with suppliers. He points out that business excellence can be achieved by integrating customer satisfaction with supplier satisfaction and that customer satisfaction is a consequence of supplier satisfaction. Although there is an analogy between customer satisfaction and supplier satisfaction, these two concepts cannot be identified, and one cannot speak of a mirror process because customer satisfaction research belongs to the lower part of the value chain, while supplier satisfaction research belongs to its upper part (Essig & Amman, 2009). Customer and consumer satisfaction research is mainly in the marketing domain, while supplier satisfaction research intertwines marketing, management, and supply chain management.

Supplier satisfaction is the latest part of the continuous evolution of supply chain management that has evolved from chain structuring, a focus on costs, and a focus on product customisation. Recent findings have led to a recent shift in focus to close collaboration with chain participants and synchronisation of operations with an emphasis on collaboration with suppliers (Maunu, 2003). In contrast to the classic view of marketing, which implies a struggle for customers, research related to suppliers and their satisfaction talks about reverse marketing, i.e., the struggle of buyers for competent suppliers. This trend is a consequence of current developments in modern supply chains in which there is a reduction in the number of suppliers and dependence on suppliers due to the increasing prevalence of outsourcing (Vos et al., 2016). Namely, to reduce costs, companies reduce their network of suppliers. In their efforts to focus on their core business, they use outsourcing for all activities beyond their primary business. The result of such developments is that the power position of suppliers is getting stronger, and they are the ones who choose their partners. Maunu (2003) also draws attention to the concept of reverse marketing, in which there is a change in the conventional supplier-customer relationship. While in traditional marketing the initiative comes from the supplier, in reverse marketing, the initiative is taken by the customer. Due to the increasing dependence on suppliers, companies need to partner with suppliers and ensure their satisfaction.

2. Overview of relevant supplier satisfaction surveys

The first studies that mentioned the concept of supplier satisfaction dealt with satisfaction in the customer-supplier relationship but most concentrated exclusively on customer satisfaction. At the beginning of the century, the Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, one of the most prominent journals in the field of supply chain management, paid attention to this problem by analysing ten published surveys of customer-supplier satisfaction (Arkader & Frossard Ferreira, 2004; Cousins & Spekman, 2003; Gelderman & Van Weele, 2003; Jahns et al., 2006; Large, 2005; Möllering, 2003; Paulraj et al., 2006; Rabade & Alfaro, 2006; Tyan & Wee, 2003 and Wagner & Schwab, 2004). All ten studies focused on satisfaction in the relationship from the customer's perspective, while the supplier's satisfaction was almost neglected (Essig & Amann, 2009).

Although research on supplier satisfaction from the suppliers' perspective is still an under-researched area, judging by the number of analysed studies, it is possible to conclude that increased interest in this topic occurred at the beginning of this century. Therefore, the analysis of relevant research in the continuation of the work includes works from the beginning of the 21st century to the present day. Most supplier satisfaction research is based on the relationship between manufacturing companies and their strategic suppliers. Other relationships between supply chain participants are rarely explored in scientific papers. Previous research on the satisfaction of supply chain participants has mainly concentrated on the perspective of one of the chain participants, the customer or the supplier. However, some studies tried comparing cooperation views from both perspectives, such as Nyaga et al. (2010) and Hüttinger et al. (2014). In their research from 2009, Essig and Amann synthesised previous research that dealt with the concept of supplier satisfaction. The first surveys of supplier satisfaction have already pointed to the importance of cooperation between buyers and suppliers, as their relationship impacts a whole range of relationships in the supply chain. Below is a brief review of several significant surveys of supplier satisfaction.

Research by Wong (2000) showed that cooperation with suppliers undoubtedly affects customer satisfaction. The research suggests it is essential to work closely with suppliers, develop a collaborative culture, commit to working towards supplier satisfaction and adopt an open attitude when interacting with suppliers. Companies that cultivate a culture of cooperation with suppliers also cultivate a culture of cooperation with their customers. Such a way of working not only leads to satisfied suppliers but also to higher customer satisfaction. Wong expanded his 2000 research with new findings from the 2002 survey. 139 supply chain managers participated in this survey. They helped identify factors that influence the success of the partnership relationship and once again confirmed the findings from the first survey that partnership with suppliers leads to a higher level of customer satisfaction. It is important to emphasise that the respondents in this research were not suppliers but managers who cooperate with suppliers daily. The research developed a comprehensive model for maintaining a successful business by partnering with suppliers. The model is based on the theory of cooperation and competition of the American social psychologist Morton Deutsch, which suggests that goals aimed at cooperation rather than goals aimed at competition and constructive discussions lead to effective teamwork. Wong (2002) extended the theory of cooperation and competition to supplier-customer relationships, proving that commitment to supplier satisfaction, developing collaborative goals, and constructive discussions lead to higher levels of supplier satisfaction and greater engagement. A satisfied and engaged supplier is a prerequisite for a satisfied customer and the company's success.

Maunu (2003) defined supplier satisfaction research as a management tool that helps companies to improve and further develop internal and external processes in the supply chain. The goal is to measure the quality of the supplier-customer relationship to gain insight into how the supplier sees the customer from a business and communication perspective. It is one of the most comprehensive studies, consisting of three research rounds lasting nine years. The research was conducted in the IT industry. Representatives of the business and academic community participated in the research. The research resulted in the formation of nine dimensions of supplier satisfaction divided into two categories: (a) business and (b) communication. The business dimension included the following: (1) profitability, (2) adherence to agreements, (3) involvement of suppliers at an early stage of development, (4) business continuity, and (5) forecasting and planning. The communication dimension included: (1) roles and responsibilities, (2) openness and trust, (3) feedback and (4) company values (Maunu, 2003).

Benton & Maloni (2005) investigated how the dimension of supply chain power affects suppliers' satisfaction in the chain. The research tested factors that proved to be relevant in customer-supplier relations: (1) cooperation, (2) commitment, (3) trust, (4) compliance, (5) conflicts and (6) conflict resolution. In earlier studies (Brown et al., 1995; Maloni & Benton, 2000), it was shown that the power variable has a significant effect on the previously mentioned factors. The research was conducted on the example of the automotive industry in the USA, where five manufacturers have 85% of the market share and their supplier bases number over a thousand partners. Manufacturers depend primarily on their suppliers to maintain their position and keep up with the industry in terms of quality and technology; therefore, the balance of power in the chain and the satisfaction of all participants in the supply chain are of utmost importance. The research results showed that the relationship is much more important to suppliers than the performance and results of the business and that the performance and results derive from the relationship.

Essig & Amann (2009) consider supplier satisfaction a prerequisite for a quality buyer-supplier partnership. Their research aims to define supplier satisfaction and offer a tool for measuring satisfaction. They propose the Supplier Satisfaction Index as a tool for measuring supplier satisfaction. It is a tool that contains 36 indicators divided into three dimensions and six factors. The first dimension refers to the strategic level of satisfaction and is related to the indicator of the intensity of cooperation. The second dimension implies the operational level of satisfaction and includes factors such as ordering and invoicing/delivery. They called the third dimension the accompanying dimension of satisfaction, which refers to factors such as communication, conflict management and a general view of cooperation. Essig and Amann defined supplier satisfaction as the supplier's feeling that the buyer's intentions are honest and sincere and the supplier's contribution to the buyer-supplier partnership.

Hüttinger et al. (2014) point out that the tendency to reduce the number of suppliers has influenced the formation of entirely new relationships in supply chains. Today suppliers choose customers with whom to cooperate, and customers fight for favour and preferred status with suppliers. The central research question of their work is: What factors motivate suppliers to treat some customers more favourably than others? This research stands out because the work used a combined approach of qualitative and quantitative research, and both buyers and suppliers were included in the research. The research was conducted among suppliers belonging to the automotive industry. The attractiveness of the customer, the satisfaction of the supplier and the privileged status of the customer are singled out as variables that influence the preferential relationship of the supplier towards the customer. Through focus groups of experts from the procurement department, eight criteria were identified and analysed that could influence the variables: (1) growth potential, (2) innovation potential, (3) operational excellence, (4) reliability, (5) supplier support, (6) supplier involvement, (7) communication, and (8) relationship behaviour. Research has shown that the key criteria for supplier satisfaction are growth potential, reliability, and relationship behaviour.

Research by Vos et al. (2016) partly relies on research by Hüttinger et al. (2014). In that research, the ever-present concept of reverse marketing (according to Leenders & Blenkhorn, 1998) was highlighted among researchers dealing with supply chain management. In addition to the criteria investigated by Hüttinger et al. (2014), the authors of this research decided to introduce the dimension of profitability to strengthen the model with an additional criterion. Their study further analysed the importance of preferred status in the relationship between buyer and supplier. The research showed that growth potential, reliability and profitability are prerequisites for supplier satisfaction, regardless of the product type or form of procurement. The positive influence of relationship behaviour was found to be relevant only for direct procurement.

Most research highlights the fact that supplier satisfaction is an almost unexplored topic that has become very important and should be given attention in the academic and business community.

3. Methodology

The research was conducted in a successful company that operates in the wholesale trade industry in the field of lighting and electrical materials. The industry was chosen because of the competitive climate, which forces companies to rethink their supply chains and supplier relationship strategies on a local and global scale. In such a vivid business environment, the relationship with suppliers can be both a beneficial and restrictive part of business development and influence everyday operations on a large scale. Based on the literature review, building mutual trust and satisfaction of suppliers brings some stability and resilience in supply in volatile markets. Also, it deepens relationships with suppliers, brings new potentials for joint innovation in business processes, and enhances the mutual will to share ideas and knowledge on market trends, customer needs and potentials to build new streams of value creation. Therefore, supplier satisfaction research in this particular industry can result in valuable conclusions on drivers and influential factors of supplier relationship strategies in a highly competitive supplier market.

The research took place in four phases. The research on supplier satisfaction touches both the sphere of marketing management and the sphere of supply chain management. In the first phase, literature from the field of satisfaction research and the field of supply chain management was analysed. In the second phase, interviews were conducted with four purchasing managers to comment on knowledge gathered in the literature and to single out key criteria of supplier satisfaction based on the synthesis of literature and practical knowledge. In the third phase, interviews were conducted with eight strategic suppliers who expressed their willingness to participate in the research. Only the suppliers with whom the company does direct procurement are included in the research. The key suppliers were selected according to the criteria defined in interviews conducted with purchasing department managers. With most suppliers, the company has contracted selective distribution as a form of cooperation. Suppliers selected were those with continuity of cooperation of no less than five years, an annual turnover of less than EUR 100,000.00, and long-term plans. Included are suppliers rated as innovative, who invest intensively in development and with whom the company can compete in the market in the long term. An important criterion in the selection was flexibility in cooperation in the sense of openness to special agreements (e.g. products adapted to the Croatian market, consignment agreement, bonuses for given sales and other goals), thanks to which the company achieves an additional competitive advantage.

In the last, fourth stage, the collected data was analysed. The basis for identifying key supplier satisfaction criteria is the supplier satisfaction survey by Vos et al. (2016). The rationale for choosing this research topic is that it is one of the recent studies providing an overview of previous studies, but also because the criteria analysed in that research proved relevant for the research used in this paper. It is important to note that the research by Vos et al. (2016) is based on criteria extracted from the example of manufacturing companies, and it will be interesting to show how these criteria are reflected in the example of cooperation between buyers and suppliers, more precisely manufacturers and distributors in the wholesale trade of technical products.

In the study by Vos et al. (2016), nine supplier satisfaction criteria were singled out: (1) growth potential, (2) innovation potential, (3) operational excellence, (4) reliability, (5) supplier support, (6) supplier involvement, (7) communication, (8) relationship behaviour, and (9) profitability. The criteria mentioned above were used in interviews with four purchasing managers of a wholesale company whose strategic suppliers were included in the third phase, in the supplier satisfaction survey. Interviews with procurement department experts were conducted based on the interview from the research by Hüttinger et al. (2014). The interview included managers of procurement of typical assortments that the wholesale companies of the analysed industry have in stock and managers of procurement of specific assortments of products ordered for projects.

The respondents were asked to:

- define the characteristics of strategic suppliers based on which key suppliers will be selected for participation in the research,
- determine which of the nine supplier satisfaction criteria by Vos et al. (2016) they consider applicable in the daily business with their key suppliers and elaborate their opinion,
- identify additional criteria that they consider essential for supplier satisfaction but are not represented in the template,
- group established characteristics, dimensions, and criteria into categories.

The respondents were asked to analyse supplier satisfaction criteria from a recent Vos et al. (2016) study and single out those that apply to business practice. These were amended by criteria that the respondents considered relevant according to their experience. All respondents agreed that the criterion of profitability should not be taken into account because there is a high probability that suppliers will not answer questions related to this criterion completely honestly; therefore, this criterion was excluded.

4. Research results

All respondents are employees of manufacturing companies in the professional lighting and electrical materials industries, are based in the European Union, or are representatives of manufacturing companies from the EU for the Croatian market. Half of the respondents are foreign citizens, mainly export directors or sales directors for Croatia and neighbouring countries, while the other half are Croatian citizens employed in representative offices of foreign companies in Croatia or company owners from Croatia representing individual companies and foreign-owned manufacturers.

Below is an analysis of the criteria that, in the research presented and in the group interview of experts from the procurement department, proved to be relevant for supplier satisfaction. For each criterion, respondents were asked to determine how important it is for their satisfaction. They were offered the following options: a) very important, b) important, but not crucial and c) unimportant. For each criterion, respondents were asked to determine how satisfied they were with that criterion in cooperation with their customers. They were offered the following options: a) very satisfied, b) satisfied, c) neither satisfied nor dissatisfied, and d) dissatisfied. Each criterion was additionally tested in depth through the argumentation of the supplier's answers; the synthesis follows below.

(1) Growth potential

According to Hüttinger et al. (2012), growth potential implies the supplier's ability to grow together with the customer and create new market opportunities through joint efforts. Experts from the procurement department of the trading company from the second phase of the research named specific variables of growth potential: turnover growth, profit growth, market share growth, assortment expansion, territorial coverage, and brand development. To the general question of how important the growth potential in cooperation with the customer is to them, most respondents answered that growth potential is very important. At the same time, the smaller part stated that growth potential is important to them but not decisive. None of the respondents answered that growth potential is not important. Respondents agreed that the growth of turnover, profit and market share are not the only important prerequisites for a successful partnership, but that they are part of the package of prerequisites for successful cooperation and survival of the company. Most respondents see the development of growth potential in joint action through project cooperation or partnership cooperation in classic wholesale. Respondents have a high opinion of cooperation on projects, which in their experience, results in quality projects, deepening cooperation between partners and a better market position. Respondents further indicated that growth could be accelerated by expanding the existing assortment, introducing added value through services in addition to existing products and expanding territorial coverage. In addition to those measurable categories, respondents also singled out one "intangible" criterion that contributes to growth: investment in the brand's value and recognition. Most respondents confirmed that they are satisfied with the criterion of growth potential in cooperation with the customer. When asked to elaborate on which segments related to growth potential they are satisfied with and where they see an opportunity for progress, most respondents declared that they are satisfied with overall performance, while a more specific focus and better setting of business priorities is needed for an overall better impression. More precisely, respondents recognised room for improvement of growth potential in expanding the assortment, developing the product mix, expanding the base and type of customers, expanding the project base, better presence and visibility in the field, and launching a B2B platform and an online store. Respondents suggested it is important to change the way of thinking and shift the focus from pressure on prices to selling more complex products and systems that will enable a better price difference and more profit for both partners.

(2) Innovation potential

Hüttinger et al. (2012) described innovation potential as the supplier's opportunity to generate innovative products thanks to exchanging ideas and knowledge with the customer. Experts from the procurement department of a trading company see the potential for innovation in their industry in the application of the latest technologies in design, monitoring trends in lighting and lighting management (e.g., Smart Cities), monitoring investor preferences and participating in innovative projects. When asked about the potential of innovation and the importance of innovation for their customers, most supplier representatives answered that it is important to them but not decisive. The elaboration of answers and sub-questions below indicates that innovation is more important to suppliers who work with the customer on projects than to suppliers related to the traditional wholesale trade. When asked if they consider their customer innovative, most respondents stated that innovation in business operations could best be expressed through sales skills and marketing activities. When asked if they were satisfied with this criterion for the customer, all participants expressed themselves in the affirmative. When asked if they consider their partner's employees to be technically innovative and in which areas, the suppliers who deliver products for the warehouse pointed out that the products they market are not overly revolutionary or innovative. Therefore, the employees are not particularly innovative and cannot show great innovation. Suppliers who deliver more technically advanced solutions in lighting and lighting management noted that the staff of the project department, which employs mostly engineering staff, is very innovative and open to innovation, while the sales staff has room for improvement in innovation.

(3) Operational excellence

Hüttinger et al. (2012) describe operational excellence as the supplier's perception of the customer's operational processes as efficient and that those processes facilitate their cooperation. The experts from the purchasing department agreed with this definition. In their opinion, the criteria of operational excellence in trade activities are reflected in the following: the planning process (delivery deadlines), the ordering process (timeliness), the warehouse process and warehouse optimisation, other logistics processes, and marketing processes. Most respondents assessed the operational excellence criteria as very important because their customers mostly have the status of distributors and act as an extended arm of suppliers on the market. The planning process proved important for the project part of the work and the classic wholesale business. With projects, it was crucial to monitor all project phases to communicate quality deadlines to the supplier. For the warehouse of wholesale products to be optimal, it is important to monitor the product turnover to plan the needs in time and communicate them to the supplier. Most suppliers expressed their satisfaction with the planning process of the analysed customer. In the process of placing orders, it is of great importance that it is timely and that it considers that the deadlines for the production of certain products, especially project ones, are longer than the deadlines for high-demand products. Most respondents are very satisfied with this process at the customer's end. With placing orders, requirements related to the delivery date are also attached. Most respondents declared that the customer's demands regarding delivery terms are acceptable and realistic. Logistical processes include procedures for receiving products, requirements for labelling products, and flexibility in receiving products. Most respondents rated this process as average but sufficient for quality business and cooperation needs. Suppliers are satisfied with the product storage process. The majority rated the respondent as average but at a satisfactory level. The research confirmed the opinion of experts from the purchasing department that warehousing is a process that is more important to suppliers who deliver specific warehouse products than to suppliers with whom the customer collaborates on projects. The research participants rated operational processes in the marketing department highly. The marketing activities of the buyer and the supplier in the trade are often joint activities that the supplier partially covers financially through marketing bonuses, so it is in the supplier's interest that the activities are carried out with quality. Most respondents expressed their satisfaction with the processes in the marketing department. Some suppliers see room for improvement in better preparation and planning, which will contribute to less pressure with implementation deadlines and a better overall effect. Some of the smaller suppliers mentioned that the marketing processes are at a high level and that it is sometimes difficult for smaller organisations to follow them. Most respondents rated the operational competencies of the employees high, emphasising the importance of good two-way communication as a prerequisite for the operational competencies of the employees to be at a satisfactory level.

(4) Reliability

According to procurement experts, reliability implies compliance with contractual obligations, fulfilment of formal and informal agreements, the image of the customer on the market, the corporate culture of the company, and the like. Hüttinger et al. (2012) say that reliability implies the supplier's perception that the customer works consistently and reliably and that they stick to the agreement. All participants rated this criterion as very important in cooperation with the customer. Respondents were asked to rate their customer's compliance with contractual obligations. Most suppliers declared that they were very satisfied with this aspect of cooperation. However, they also agreed that the provisions of the contract are respected because the contract provides for certain non-compliance sanctions. Suppliers see room for progress in this business segment in fulfilling agreed bonuses and sales goals that are sometimes not achieved in full amount and/or potential. Respondents also referred to honouring informal agreements. Few of the respondents stated that informal agreements almost do not exist and that their companies insist on formal agreements in written form. Nevertheless, most respondents agreed that informal agreements are an integral part of business and that it is impossible to formalise all the details. Although most suppliers expressed satisfaction with the cooperation regarding this criterion, they pointed out that informal agreements are sometimes forgotten and often need to be repeated. Due to the lack of written form and evidence, informal agreements can be a point of contention and various misunderstandings, so most respondents conclude that it is vital that the essential determinants of the relationship are formally defined. Payment habits are often part of formal contracts and sometimes informal agreements, but they are certainly a reflection of the partner's reliability. Respondents were also asked for their opinion on the importance of the image of their customers on the market. All respondents agreed that the customer's image is very important to them because the customer, among other things, conveys their corporate messages and values to the market. A negative image reflects negatively on the partnership because it affects the supplier's business. This criterion achieved satisfaction ratings among most respondents who participated in the research.

(5) Supplier support

Supplier support is described by Hüttinger et al. (2012) as the buyer's effort and engagement to help develop the supplier's capabilities and performance in a particular market. This criterion in trade is defined by experts from the procurement department of a trading company as a form of mutual understanding, respect for partners and looking in the same direction in terms of strategy. Procurement experts see supplier support in transferring the supplier's fundamental ideas and values, dedicated work on developing and presenting the supplier's brand/brands, and involvement in the placement of new ideas, products, assortments, etc. This criterion is very important because the distributor is often

an extended hand to the supplier in the market. The market often completely identifies the distributor with the supplier or manufacturer. This is especially true in relationships where the distributor is the only partner or one of a few partners on the market. A smaller number of research participants rate the supplier support criterion as very important, while most respondents consider it important, but not crucial.

When asked about satisfaction with this criterion, a small number of respondents declared they were very satisfied, while the majority said they were satisfied. The research showed that suppliers with whom the customer works for a more extended period are significantly more demanding in terms of seeking support and openly express higher expectations. Suppliers with whom the customer works for a shorter period expressed a higher level of satisfaction with this criterion. Therefore, it can be concluded that a more extended period of cooperation brings better results but, at the same time, places greater demands and business challenges on the partners. As aspects with which the suppliers are satisfied, they point out that the analysed customer provides them with logistical support in presenting their values, brands, the placement of novelties in which significant funds have been invested, organisation of novelties presentations, etc. As problems, some respondents pointed out that sometimes the ideas of the buyer and the supplier do not coincide, so it is necessary to compromise, which requires time and patience. Suppliers see room for improvement in even more engaged work and activities for end customers and investors, work on better territorial coverage, and better visibility and presence of the brand.

(6) Supplier involvement

Hüttinger et al. (2012) describe supplier involvement as the extent of direct involvement and participation of supplier's employees in the customer's new product development team. Experts from the procurement department see the involvement of suppliers in trade activities in working on joint projects, joint product development in accordance with feedback from the market, promotions and presentations of novelties, informing suppliers about short-term and long-term plans, etc. Experts from the procurement department pointed out that they do not include all suppliers equally in their activities. They are more inclined to cooperate with suppliers with fewer market partners. Suppliers with a more significant number of partners or distributors on the market are significantly less involved in their activities and share only basic information with them for fear that certain internal information will reach their competitors who are also part of the supplier's partner network. Most respondents consider the criterion of supplier involvement as very important for a quality relationship and business in general, and a smaller number of them as important but not crucial. Suppliers in the trade of technical products are most often involved in presentations, promotions, professional events, training, joint projects, equipping exhibition spaces, cooperation in developing new products for specific market needs, humanitarian activities, etc. Most respondents believe that they are included in the processes in a timely manner, while fewer respondents think they are not included early enough to contribute to the effect of a particular job or project. Most respondents are not satisfied with exchanging information on short-term and long-term plans. Suppliers declare that they are sometimes informed about short-term plans but rarely about long-term ones. When asked about the room for improving satisfaction with this criterion, most suppliers answered that there is room for improvement in the trust segment. Most suppliers pointed out that there is still a reserve in sharing information and exchanging data. Some information is shared reluctantly, for example, data on the structure of turnover or the structure of customers. They see room for progress in the feedback on completed projects and in the reward segment at promotions (they want more detailed statistics). Suppliers point out that they want more information about strategic plans to get involved with ideas or participate directly.

(7) Communication

The communication criterion of Hüttinger et al. (2012) is the availability of a person who works intensively on shaping and improving the process of information exchange and the willingness of the customer to develop structured communication with the supplier. Experts from the procurement department cite these important aspects of communication: availability, clarity of lines of communication, regularity of contacts and annual/ quarterly meetings, formal and informal gatherings, exchange of feedback, etc. Most respondents rated this criterion as very important, and one as-

sessed it as important but not decisive. Only one respondent stated that he was very satisfied with the general communication in the relationship with the customer; most of them pointed out that they were satisfied. The criterion of communication is the criterion for which most respondents expressed suggestions for improvement using specific examples. When asked about the segments of communication with which they are satisfied and those with which they are not satisfied, suppliers answered that they are mostly satisfied with communication at the operational level. What they are not happy with is the availability of strategic-level contacts. Part of the suppliers stated they occasionally need to communicate with senior management, but that level of communication often remains unavailable, or it takes much effort to get a meeting. Regarding communication with operational-level employees, some respondents stated they sometimes lack flexibility in communication, and that operational-level employees should work on exchanging feedback (e.g., feedback on received offers).

(8) Relationship behaviour

The behavioural criterion in relation to Hüttinger et al. (2012) is a customer-supplier relationship in aspects such as solidarity, flexibility, and reciprocity. Experts from the procurement department single out the following important aspects: working atmosphere in the team, friendliness of operational and strategic level employees, professionalism of operational and strategic level employees, conflict management, etc. Most research participants rated these criteria as important but not crucial. In general, the respondents rated the working atmosphere and customer relationship behaviour with high marks; more precisely, all respondents stated they were satisfied. The suppliers gave the customer high marks for kindness, solidarity, flexibility, and professionalism at the operational and strategic levels. Lower marks were awarded for conflict management. Part of the suppliers, mainly those who work with the customer for a shorter period, claim there are no serious conflicts and that they are successfully resolved; however, it is noticeable that conflicts are more present in cooperation with long-term suppliers. A few suppliers indicated a problem with conflict resolution and expressed dissatisfaction with the assessment of this category. According to dissatisfied suppliers, there is much room for improvement in conflict management, and the problems they mentioned are as follows: conflicts are recurring, for some conflicts, there are no satisfactory solutions for both parties, conflicts at the strategic level sometimes have too much influence and burden colleagues at the operational level.

Research results confirm that the concept of supplier satisfaction is poorly represented in business practice.

Suppliers expressed the highest level of satisfaction in the customer relationship for the following criteria:

- (1) relationship behaviour,
- (2) reliability,
- (3) operational excellence.

The lowest level of satisfaction refers to the supplier inclusion criterion, which suppliers found to be a consequence of an insufficient level of trust and sometimes a mismatch in strategies. Respondents agreed that supplier satisfaction research could contribute to a better understanding of the need for supplier involvement.

All respondents agree that the introduction of supplier satisfaction surveys would be beneficial for all supply chain participants. Suppliers see the benefits of this concept in the opportunity to express an opinion and resent ideas because the satisfaction of both parties in the relationship is a prerequisite for partnership and optimal business results. The importance of introducing supplier satisfaction research into daily operations was confirmed not only by suppliers but also by experts from the purchasing department, and the analysed scientific literature also indicates the need to introduce supplier satisfaction research. The work indicated the necessity of paying attention to supplier satisfaction and the importance of introducing supplier satisfaction research into business.

5. Research limitations and future research recommendations

Research limitations can be divided into limitations related to the theoretical aspect and limitations related to the research aspect of the work. Compared to research and studies on customer and consumer satisfaction, the concept of supplier satisfaction is significantly less represented in professional marketing literature. Scientific papers and professional literature in Croatia rarely deal with this topic. The research was conducted on a small sample, on the example of eight suppliers; however, the results and insights are very valuable for future research, as it is still an under-researched area. The recommendation for future scientific research is to connect the academic and business communities. The sample should be larger and more representative. It would certainly be interesting to conduct a satisfaction survey from the customer and supplier perspective and to compare and analyse the results of such a survey. Interviews with suppliers showed that the interest in suppliers' opinions could positively affect future partnership relations, which is a prerequisite for progress and continuity of good business results.

6. Conclusion

Any long-term and successful business relationship implies the satisfaction of all parties in the relationship. In a highly dynamic and changing business environment, it is essential to take care of numerous business details and nurture the relationships of all supply chain participants. Although customer satisfaction and creating greater value for the customer is always the focus of the business, research shows that customer satisfaction is influenced by a whole range of relationships in the supply chain, including supplier satisfaction. In modern management, suppliers become a strategic company resource and are a source of competitive advantage. Numerous customer satisfaction studies have been conducted in the academic and business community, while supplier relations and satisfaction have been almost ignored. This paper confirmed the assumptions that, even though the strategic function of procurement has been recognised for decades, research on supplier satisfaction as part of supplier relationship management is given attention by a narrow circle of researchers.

Nevertheless, it is noticeable that interest in this topic has been growing in the last decade. The concept of supplier satisfaction research is a business practice of a modest number of companies. Despite this, the research participants confirmed that there are strong arguments and interest in introducing this type of research and its continuous implementation. The paper presents key criteria influencing supplier satisfaction from relevant literature and research. By synthesising these criteria and based on business practice, procurement experts defined supplier satisfaction criteria in the relationship between manufacturers and wholesalers who were participants in the research part of the work.

Three key criteria of supplier satisfaction in the relationship between manufacturer and wholesaler in the conducted research stand out: (1) reliability, (2) communication and (3) operational excellence, which achieved the goal of the work, i.e., key criteria that influence supplier satisfaction were identified. It is recommended to systematically introduce supplier relationship management and the practice of conducting supplier satisfaction surveys. Researchers and practitioners believe that conducting a satisfaction survey sends a message of trust to the supplier that will result in a better understanding of the relationship and improve business results.

References

- Benton, W. & Maloni, M. (2005). The influence of power driven buyer/seller relationships on supply chain satisfaction. *Journal of Operations Management*, 23(1), 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2004.09.002
- 2. Essig, M. & Amann, M. (2009). Supplier satisfaction: Conceptual basics and explorative findings. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 15(2), 103-113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2009.01.001
- Hüttinger, L., Schiele, H. & Veldman, J. (2012). The drivers of customer attractiveness, supplier satisfaction and preferred customer status: A literature review. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 1194-1205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2012.10.004
- Hüttinger, L., Schiele, H. & Schröer, J. (2014). Exploring the antecedents of preferential customer treatment by supplier: A mixed methods approach. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 19(5/6), 697-721. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-06-2014-0194
- 5. Maloni, M. J. & Benton, W. C. (2000) Power influences in the supply chain. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 21(1), 42-73.
- 6. Maunu, S. (2003). Supplier Satisfaction: The concept and a measurement system. A study to define the supplier satisfaction elements and usage as a management tool [Doctoral dissertation, University of Oulu]. University of Oulu.
- Nyaga, G. N., Whipple, J. M. & Lynch, D. F. (2010) Examining supply chain relationships: Do buyer and supplier perspectives on collaboration relationships differ? *Journal of Operations, 28*, 101-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2009.07.005
- 8. Vos, F. G. S., Schiele, H., Hüttinger, L. (2016). Supplier satisfaction: Explanation and out-of-sample prediction. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(10), 4613-4623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.04.013
- Wong, A. (2002). Sustaining company performance through partnering with suppliers. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 19(5), 567-580. https://doi.org/10.1108/02656710210427539

PRELIMINARY COMMUNICATIONS

Mazanai Musara, Andrew Maredza

Intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship for intra-African trade and economic development: Towards a borderless Africa

> Ivana Barišić, Ana Novak, Sanja Sever Mališ Skills required of professional accountants: Evidence from labour market in Croatia
Mazanai Musara

University of Mpumalanga School of Development Studies 1200 Mbombela, South Africa mazanai.musara@ump.ac.za Andrew Maredza University of Mpumalanga School of Development Studies 1200 Mbombela, South Africa andrew.maredza@ump.ac.za JEL: B17, L26, O10 Preliminary communication https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.10

Received: March 3, 2022 Revision received: June 6, 2022 Accepted for publishing: June 23, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



INTRA-AFRICA IMMIGRANT ENTREPRENEURSHIP FOR INTRA-AFRICAN TRADE AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: TOWARDS A BORDERLESS AFRICA

Abstract

Purpose: This paper aims to conceptualize intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship and provide evidence of its impact on intra-African trade and economic development. Immigrant entrepreneurship is often regarded as a key driver of international trade and economic development around the world; yet very little is known about intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship and its role in intra-African trade and economic development in African trade and economic development in Africa.

Methodology: This paper applied a systematic review of literature methodology to provide insights into the role of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship on trade and economic development of both host and home countries. Recommendations on how intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship can be used to promote intra-African trade and economic development are reviewed.

Results: Policy guidelines that may increase the positive impact of immigrant entrepreneurs within the context of intra-African trade include immigration policies that attract high impact entrepreneurs, non-discriminatory support for high impact immigrant entrepreneurs as well as policies to strengthen the role of free trade agreements such as the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA).

Conclusion: We conclude that African regional integration to promote intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship development is a conduit for Africa's long-term and sustainable economic development. Evidence of the positive impact of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship on intra-African trade and economic development is scant. At the same time, the notions of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship are not well documented in the literature. This paper provides arguments for the promotion of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship as a tool to increase intra-African trade and economic development.

Keywords: Economic development, intra-African trade, intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship

1. Introduction

Many countries around the world have seen increasing growth of immigrant entrepreneurship (Dheer, 2018; Kerr & Kerr, 2018). At the same time, the role of immigrant entrepreneurship is held in high regard especially in developed nations (Desiderio, 2014; Kerr & Kerr, 2018). In the United States of America, immigrant entrepreneurship accounts for over 25% of all firms (Kerr & Kerr, 2018) with over 51% of all start-ups worth over US\$1 billion having been started by immigrants (Anderson, 2016). Similarly, Desiderio (2014) noted that many developed countries such as Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and the United States recognize the value of immigrant entrepreneurship as drivers of economic competitiveness and innovation. As a result, these countries have taken deliberate steps to attract productive immigrant entrepreneurship. For example, special visas and entry requirements to attract immigrant entrepreneurs have been established (Anderson, 2016; Desiderio, 2014). Drawing on the lessons from developed nations, Africa could benefit from immigrant entrepreneurship.

Immigrant entrepreneurship has been reported to benefit both host and home countries (Desiderio, 2014; Tengeh & Nkem, 2017). Tengeh & Nkem (2017) opine that immigrant entrepreneurship provides a conduit for economic development through tax contributions and creating employment opportunities for both immigrant entrepreneurs themselves and the natives. Besides, immigrant entrepreneurs have been hailed for producing useful products and services that benefit local customers and improve efficiency of local companies. For example, companies such as Uber have transformed travel in many cities, while other companies such as AppDynamics, Cloudera, CloudFlare, Tanium, Actifio, Mu Sigma, and others help U.S. companies to maintain strong information technology systems to compete in the global marketplace (Anderson, 2016). Furthermore, high-skilled immigrants contribute to innovations and introduce new products to the host economies.

The over-representation of immigrants as founders of high-impact companies, patent applicants, and biotech companies is an indication of enormous contributions of immigrant entrepreneurship in economies around the world (Fairlie & Lofstrom, 2015). In South Africa, studies such as Kalitanyi & Visser (2014) revealed that immigrant entrepreneurs transfer their entrepreneurial skills to the native South Africans, hence increasing the pool of entrepreneurial activity in the country. Furthermore, Berghoff (2020) confirmed that the intercultural experiences and knowledge as well as the high pressures to succeed in a foreign country stimulate entrepreneurship and innovation among immigrants. Consequently, immigrants have been noted to be highly entrepreneurial, contributing to economic development and innovation to the benefit of both their host and home countries (Lofstrom & Wang, 2019; Ngota et al., 2019). This is an indication of how valuable immigrant entrepreneurship is to the progress of economies.

International trade is another area that has been reported to benefit from immigrant entrepreneurship (Fairlie & Lofstrom, 2015). Immigrant-owned businesses tend to have higher levels of exports than other firms because they are tied into business networks in their home countries. Furthermore, due to international language proficiencies and other cultural ties with businesspeople in their home or other countries, immigrant entrepreneurs can expand into international markets. Fairlie & Lofstrom (2015) observed positive contributions of immigrant entrepreneurs towards exports that flow to their co-ethnic networks in other countries. These co-ethnic networks promote bilateral trade by providing market information as well as by supplying matching and referral services. As a result, both the host countries and the home countries stand to benefit from immigrant entrepreneurship.

Given the significant benefits of immigrant entrepreneurship, Africa could benefit enormously from intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship by containing its benefits within the boundaries of the continent. Therefore, intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship may play a role in promoting the much-needed intra-African trade and economic development (Tralac, 2019). Against this background, this paper provides arguments for the promotion of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship as a tool to increase intra-African trade and ultimately economic development.

This paper is structured as follows. Firstly, we provide theoretical perspectives in which we provide

a systematic review of the notions of immigrant entrepreneurship to provide a basis for our characterization of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship. Theoretical perspectives on intra-African trade and economic development are also explored. We then explore the relationships between intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship, intra-African trade, and economic development. The paper then closes with concluding remarks and directions for further research.

2. Methodology

This paper presents a systematic review of literature to synthesize and compare empirical evidence from multiple studies that have investigated intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship with a view to ascertaining the nature of its impact on trade and economic development. Snyder (2019) describes a systematic review as a research method and process for identifying and critically appraising all relevant empirical evidence with the primary aim of answering a particular research question(s) or hypothesis. There are three fundamental questions we seek to address using this approach: Firstly, while immigrants are generally perceived to be relatively more entrepreneurial and therefore contributors of job growth, economic growth, and development in both sending and receiving countries, we seek to evaluate the consistency of this positive impact of migrant entrepreneurship on intra-African trade and economic development. Secondly, we seek to discover peculiarities or variables that have a significant positive effect on migrant entrepreneurship in the African context. In the process of review, we identify constraints that retard the contribution of immigrant entrepreneurs, and most importantly, discover areas for further analysis. Therefore, the following research questions guided our systematic literature search and review.

- What are the dominant perspectives in the literature regarding immigrant entrepreneurship?
- What is the potential impact of immigrant entrepreneurship on intra-African trade and economic development?

• What are the factors that can enable and those that hinder the contributions of immigrant entrepreneurship in Africa?

Various peer reviewed journal articles, book chapters, working papers and official reports such as the World Development Indicators (WDI), International Organisation for Migration (IOM) and United Nations Economic Commission for Africa (UNECA) reports were consulted. The following key words were used to search for the literature on Google Scholar:

- Immigrant entrepreneurship in Africa,
- Immigrant entrepreneurship, intra-African trade, economic development, and
- Contributions of immigrant entrepreneurship in Africa.

The literature search was filtered to cover a period of 10 years, i.e., only articles published in the period 2011-2021 were considered, and the preferred language of publication was English.

3. Results

The findings of this study seek to address the fundamental questions in this paper. This includes the perspectives on the nature and the role of immigrant entrepreneurship, the impact of immigrant entrepreneurship on intra-African trade and economic development and the variables that constrain and enable immigrant entrepreneurship in the African context.

3.1 Immigrant entrepreneurship in perspective

There are four major themes that could be identified following our systematic literature review of perspectives in immigrant entrepreneurship. These are classified into perspectives on conceptualization of immigrant entrepreneurship, motives for immigrant entrepreneurships, contributions of immigrant entrepreneurship, and challenges of immigrant entrepreneurship. Table 1 below provides a summary of the findings on the perspectives on immigrants, followed by explanations.

Perspectives	Major arguments/dominant views	Sources
Conceptualization of immigrant entrepreneurship	 There are multiple conceptualizations of immigrant entrepreneurship; however, the common defining characteristics relate to the following: immigration status, business activity in countries besides one's own country of birth, and time frame for business activity. 	Aaltonen & Akola (2014) Khosa & Kalitanyi (2015) Tengeh & Nkem (2017)
Motives for immigrant entrepreneurship	 The motives for immigrant entrepreneurship are mainly explained in terms of the push and pull factor theory, and the dominant motives are: pursuit of economic opportunities in other countries (pull factors), and political and economic hardships in home countries (push factors). 	Musara & Nieuwenhuizen (2021)
Contributions of immigrant entrepreneurship	 The major contribution of immigrant entrepreneurship can be classified into the following three main themes: knowledge and skills transfer, social and economic gains in terms of the introduction of new products, employment creation, poverty alleviation and economic growth, and remittances that benefit home countries in a circular manner. 	Griffin-EL & Olabisi (2018) Kerr & Kerr (2020) Charmaine & Piper (2012) Kalitanyi & Visser (2014) Musara (2019) Ngota et al. (2019)
Challenges of immigrant entrepreneurship	In addition to common challenges facing entrepreneurs, immigrant entrepreneurs experience the following unique challenges: • immigration restrictions, • discrimination, • cultural diversity, • language barriers, and • general business challenges. These challenges inhibit their full potential contributions.	Tengeh & Nkem (2017) Musara & Nieuwenhuizen (2021)

Table 1 Perspectives on immigrant entrepreneurship

Source: Authors

3.1.1 Conceptualizations of immigrant entrepreneurship

There are multiple conceptualizations of immigrant entrepreneurship in the literature (Aaltonen & Akola; 2014; Khosa & Kalitanyi, 2015; Tengeh & Nkem, 2017). In these multiple definitions, the key features defining immigrant entrepreneurship relate to persons moving from one country to another, business activities by these persons in a country other than their own country of birth, and the time frame for business activities in the host country. For example, Tengeh & Nkem (2017) defined an immigrant entrepreneur as a newly immigrated individual who set up a new business in the host country for the purpose of economic survival and their sustenance. Similarly, Aaltonen & Akola (2014) defined an immigrant entrepreneur as a person who has immigrated to a new country and started a new business. What can be deduced from these definitions is that immigrant entrepreneurship relates to the process in which foreign-born business owners establish businesses in another country. Therefore, an immigrant entrepreneur is an individual who has migrated from their country of origin (home country) to settle or do business in another country (host country). In other cases, an immigrant entrepreneur does not settle in the host country but may establish and run their business remotely while settled in their home country or elsewhere in the world.

3.1.2 Motives for immigrant entrepreneurship

The reality in the current global world is that people are constantly on the move, placing international migration as a key feature of the modern open society (Aliaga-Isla & Rialp, 2013). This constant movement of people across international boundaries for one reason or another gave rise to, among others, the concept of immigrant entrepreneurship, a source of socio-economic vitalization (Aliaga-Isla & Rialp, 2013). There are several motivations for the rise of immigrant entrepreneurship. In our review of the extant literature, we observed that these motivations can be categorized into two main themes, namely pursuit of better economic opportunities and a push by political and economic hardships in home countries (Musara & Nieuwenhuizen, 2021).

3.1.3 Contributions of immigrant entrepreneurship

Increasing recognition of immigrant entrepreneurship and its contributions to socio-economic growth and regional developments spawned a plethora of publications dealing with immigration, ranging from participation in labor markets, their employment creation through creating new businesses, skills, and knowledge transfer, as well as the expansion of markets (Khosa & Kalitanyi, 2015). The role of immigrant entrepreneurship is held in high regard among various scholars (see, for example, Charmaine & Piper, 2012; Kalitanyi & Visser, 2014; Ngota et al., 2019; Musara, 2019). Ngota et al. (2019) postulated that immigrant entrepreneurship plays a critical role in intra-African trade, skills transfer, and therefore economic development. Similarly, Kalitanyi & Visser (2014) provide evidence of the important role of immigrant entrepreneurship in terms of entrepreneurial skills transfer and the resultant increase in the much-needed entrepreneurial activity on the African continent.

Ngota et al. (2019) pointed out that, despite a wide range of literature related to entrepreneurship in general in both developed and developing countries, the peculiarities of immigrant entrepreneurship have not been studied. Similarly, Devine and Kiggundu (2016) call for studies on the role of intra-Africa entrepreneurship as well as intra-Africa diaspora entrepreneurship, those who move from one African country to start a business in another. Collectively, these studies (Devine & Kiggundu, 2016; Ngota et al., 2019) are a clarion call for extensive investigations into the role of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship.

To address this literature gap, Ngota et al. (2019) focused their study on how African immigrant entrepreneurial skills can be transferred to their local/native South African employees. Charmaine & Piper (2012) investigated the challenges facing immigrant entrepreneurs and the various opportunities that can flow from supporting immigrant entrepreneurs. In another study, Musara (2019) investigated the business models of successful immigrant entrepreneurs to facilitate the transfer of such knowledge and business model skills to native South African entrepreneurs. These studies (Charmaine & Piper, 2012; Musara, 2019; Ngota et al., 2019) suggest the need for the development and support of immigrant entrepreneurship to achieve a positive collective continental development trajectory.

3.1.4 Challenges of immigrant entrepreneurship

A plethora of literature confirms that immigrant entrepreneurs are not immune to the common challenges facing entrepreneurs in general. These common challenges include access to finance, access to markets, crime, corruption, bureaucracy, and lack of skills, among others. However, due to their foreignness, immigrant entrepreneurs experience additional challenges such as immigration documentation, discrimination, xenophobia, cultural and language barriers (Khosa & Kalitanyi, 2014; Musara & Nieuwenhuizen, 2021). However, studies such as Musara & Nieuwenhuizen (2021) observed that some successful immigrant entrepreneurs use their resilience and international experiences to overcome both common challenges and unique challenges facing immigrant entrepreneurs. This implies the need for further in-depth studies to uncover insights into the coping mechanisms of immigrant entrepreneurs dealing with both common challenges and additional challenges they face. Understanding these coping mechanisms will not only benefit native entrepreneurs, but also increase our understanding of how to develop a broader entrepreneurial ecosystem for the benefit of the host nations and the African continent at large. While the role of immigrant entrepreneurship around the world has been extensively explored in the Western world, very little is known about intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship and its relations to intra-African trade and economic development.

3.2 Intra-African trade and economic development

While conceptualizing intra-African trade is straightforward, economic development in the African context remains an elusive concept. Gumede

(2020, p. 13) pointed out that "The pursuit of development in Africa has been informed by conceptions and endeavors undertaken by other regions. Permutations of development and underdevelopment are often viewed through Eurocentric lenses". Such permutations of development have been criticized for their pursuit of development by underdevelopment, in which Western countries have pursued development of their own countries by the exploitation of the African continent's resources. The Eurocentric concept of development centered on the Westernimposed metrics of good governance and respect for human rights have been used to judge the level of development in Africa (Gumede, 2020); yet Africa collectively shares a fundamentally different social and economic history that is far from the Western countries. Acknowledging that the characterization of development in the African context is elusive, controversial and an ongoing debate, for the sake of this paper, we view African development from the broad lenses of Amartya Sen's capability approach (Dalziel et al., 2018), which views development in terms of general improvements of the quality of lives on the African continent.

Calls and suggestions for the pursuit of an Africancentered development trajectory are inexhaustible in the literature (see, for example, Parshotam, 2018; Rogerson, 2019). One of such calls that resonates with the objectives of this paper is a call for the promotion of intra-African trade as a conduit for intra-Africa development (Parshotam, 2018). The AfCFTA was established in response to these calls (Anyanwu, 2014; Parshotam, 2018). Disappointment with the progress of multilateral trade negotiations in the World Trade Organization (WTO) gave birth to increasing interest in African regional integration and trade negotiations (Anyanwu, 2014). Thus, the establishment of the AfCFTA at the 10th extraordinary Summit of the AU Assembly on 21 March 2018 in Kigali, Rwanda, exhibits Africa's commitment and efforts to promote intra-African trade (Obeng-Odoom, 2020). While the current state of intra-African trade paints a bleak picture (see Figure 1), scholars such as Mold (2018) and Obeng-Odoom (2020) are confident that the AfCFTA has the potential to boost intra-African trade. Such an establishment provides avenues for addressing the underdevelopment challenges facing the African continent. This flows from classical and neoclassical theories of trade generating a common view that free trade benefits all through trickle-down economic growth (Obeng-Odoom, 2020).





Source: Tralac, 2019

The African continent needs more intra-African trade to facilitate continental economic development (Tralac, 2019; African Export-Import Bank, 2018). Thus, promoting intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship provides an impetus for more intra-African trade that will be beneficial to the broader continent through trickle-down economic growth. Gumede (2020) argued Africa's development requires "patriotic entrepreneurship" which applies the creation of pan-African enterprises, thus suggesting intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship. At the same time, Okafor and Udibe (2020) support the view

that intra-African trade through intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship can foster a new and positive paradigm for Africa's collective development. Thus, intra-African immigrant entrepreneurship can play a significant role in the implementation and achievement of the goals of the AfCFTA.

3.3 Intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship, international trade, and economic development

Drawing from the extant literature, we formulated six (6) hypothesized relationships related to the notions of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship, intra-African trade and economic development.

Table 2 Tabulated synthesis of hypothesized relationships between immigrant entrepreneurship, inter-	
national trade, and economic development	

Hypothesized relationships	Selected sources	Supported / Not supported
Migration financial flows support economic development.	African Development Bank (2021) World Bank (2019) Akoutou et al. (2015)	Supported Migration financial flows are the largest source of external financial flows to Africa exceeding official development assistance (ODA) and foreign direct investment (FDI). In Lesotho, financial inflows from migration are close to 30 percent of GDP (Akoutou et al., 2015). These financial flows are relatively more stable and less volatile in comparison to private debt and equity flows. Home countries in particular benefit through increased financial flows, investment, trade, and transfer of skills and technology resulting in poverty reduction. In the context of intra-regional trade, these benefits circulate within the region thereby promoting Africa as a whole.
Financial flows from IE and migration are more generally correlated with development indicators.	Akoutou et al. (2015)	Supported Financial flows are positively correlated with increased household investments in education, entrepreneurship, and health, all of which have high social return in most circumstances. They also contribute significantly to poverty reduction and to other SDGs. However, there is evidence that remittances can assist and have assisted many African countries in ensuring the availability of hard currency, improving countries' credit worthiness for external borrowings, and increasing internal aggregated demands.
Migrant entrepreneurs have potential to contribute to the development.	Naudé et al. (2017)	Supported but not automatic for all The authors argue that different entrepreneurships have different success rates and different kinds of entrepreneurship therefore have different implications for development. There are no automatic mechanisms by which they lead to the development, particularly when the context of country heterogeneity is taken into account.
As the innovative force behind the object of exchange, entrepreneurship is the key factor in international trade.	Lungu (2020)	Supported Entrepreneurs are key players in international trade since they are the creators of the exchange object. Considering this view, we are modest to propose that local entrepreneurship, if augmented by innovative and high impact immigrant entrepreneurship, generates relatively more gains to intra-African trade and regional development.
	Alemayehu (2020)	Supported Contrary to adoption of blanket entrepreneurial policies, Alemayehu (2020) advocates for a shift towards high impact entrepreneurship (HIE) policies to stimulate the capacity of Africa to produce high value and quality products and services with emphasis on diversified offerings. This focus on HIE would allow member states to source differentiated products and services from fellow member countries at relatively low cost, cementing thereby interdependence of African member states.

Hypothesized relationships	Selected sources	Supported / Not supported
Beyond removal of tariff and non- tariff barriers, entrepreneurship is the critical factor needed to foster regional integration and sustainable regional development.	UNCTAD (2019)	Supported Entrepreneurship was among the factors identified by UNCTAD as critical requirements beyond preferential tariff liberalization. Given that infra-Africa trade is lowest in comparison to other regions in the world, we submit that emphasis should be directed at promoting regional trade while scaling down external trading partnerships. In its place, overreliance on external trading partnerships must be carefully substituted with promotion and support for highly innovative African immigrant entrepreneurship at national and regional levels.
Entrepreneurship promotes international trade via the innovation channel.	Hessels (2007)	Supported We hypothesize that IE promotes IT via the innovation channel with varying levels of impact which are dependent on the extent of innovation orientation of IEs. Hessels (2007) found a positive feedback loop between innovation and international activity. Their study found that innovative SMEs are more likely to export and import than non- innovative SMEs.

Source: Authors

Lungu (2020) asserts that although economic literature did not explicitly approach the role of entrepreneurship in international trade, it is not to imply a neutral or minor role. The author connects entrepreneurship to economic growth by suggesting that economic growth levels are relatively higher in the fields where entrepreneurs cooperate, and concludes that entrepreneurship, international commerce and economic development are interconnected variables which explain the current state of international trade. In keeping with this view, we therefore submit that the gains to intra-African trade and hence regional development are relatively more pronounced where the culture of immigrant entrepreneurship is promoted at national, international and regional levels.

To the extent that entrepreneurship is a key contributing factor in stimulating economic growth and hence development locally, we hypothesize that innovative immigrant entrepreneurship, if supported sufficiently by all concerned stakeholders, is a critical enabler of international trade, regional growth and hence development. This view is supported by UNCTAD (2019) asserting that African regional integration, which merely emphasizes removal of tariff and non-tariff barriers, cannot deliver on the regional goals of sustainable development. Among other factors, the UNCTAD report identified entrepreneurship as a critical requirement beyond preferential tariff liberalization. While people migrate for a variety of reasons ranging from political, economic, environmental, and social, Ravenstein's (1889) laws of migration state that the major reason why people migrate is economics, that is, migrants move to seek better jobs and better financial and entrepreneurial opportunities at a place different from their home location. Vandor and Franke (2018) state that in many countries immigrants are more likely to become entrepreneurs than their native counterparts. The authors argue that by nature immigrants are likely to be more risk-taking than the native-born population since immigration itself is a risky undertaking.

Digging into migration literature reveals an imbalance in the volume of intra-African studies relative to other regions in the world. We find that a repertoire of studies on immigrant entrepreneurship is relatively more concentrated on non-African regions, predominantly in the US, Europe, and East Asia. When it comes to Africa, South Africa dominates in terms of research that has been conducted on the current subject for obvious reasons, given its progressive economy and position in the region. An important reason germane to this study is the fact that South Africa remains the most significant immigration destination with about 4 million international immigrants estimated to be currently living in the country (IOM, 2020).



Figure 2 Migrants to, within and from Africa 1990-2019

Source: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN DESA), 2019

Region	Number of outgoing migrants	Main areas of destinations
East Africa	6.9 million	Kenya, Ethiopia, Uganda
West Africa	6.1 million	Côte d'Ivoire, Nigeria
Southern Africa	4 million	South Africa
Central Africa	3.1 million	DRC, Cameroon, Angola
Northern Africa	1.6 million	Libya, Egypt

Table 3 Intra-Africa migration directions

Source: European Commission (2018) as cited by the European Union (2020, p. 6)

The intra-Africa migration outlook shows that within the African continent, East and West Africa account for the majority of countries of origin for the largest number of outgoing international migrants as well as the most frequent destinations for incoming international migrants. In Southern Africa, South Africa is the main destination for immigrants from neighboring countries such as Zimbabwe, Malawi, Mozambique, Eswatini, Lesotho and Zambia, including other destination countries such as Botswana, Zambia and Angola. The migration data portal (2021) identified industrial developments, mining sectors and oil wealth (in Angola) as the main pulling factors for both unskilled and skilled labor migrants in the Southern African region in particular.

Immigrant entrepreneurship as a subject of academic discourse and policy debate has gained importance and interest among academics and policy analysts in recent years. The first reason is that intra-Africa migration has been increasing significantly since 2000 as illustrated in Figure 2. In 2019, the International Organization for Migration (IOM, 2020) reported an estimated 21 million Africans living in another African country, an increase of 2.5 million people compared to a total of 18.5 million recorded in 2015. Secondly, IOM (2020) noted that international migrants as entrepreneurs and investors create job opportunities and promote innovation and technological change. This view is supported by a study conducted by Wadhwa (2009), which analyzed US data spanning the period 1995-2005, who found that immigrant-founded tech businesses created 450,000 jobs and generated \$52 billion in revenue.

Figure 3 Intra-regional trade (2015-2017)



Source: UNCTAD, 2019

As illustrated in Figure 3, relative to other regions, Africa remains a marginal player in global trade. However, UNCTAD (2019) pointed out that there is evidence suggesting that the volume and value of intra-African trade are likely to be underestimated due to the prevalence of informal trade. There is hence a possibility that intra-African trade can reverse the current trend illustrated in Figure 3, in which Africa trades more with the rest of the world than it trades with itself. According to UNCTAD (2019), intra-African trade was estimated at around 15% during a three-year period spanning 2015-2017 compared to Europe (67%), Asia (61%), America (47%) and Oceania (7%). Africa needs to trade more with Africa to boost intra-regional trade, and increase cross-border trade to ensure that African skills and technologies are utilized internally, and the benefits of trade are reaped within the continent.

Promotion of intra-African trade and immigrant entrepreneurship catalysed by the implementation of the AfCFTA holds great potential to accelerate employment and economic growth, diversify the sources of growth and thus create livelihood op-

portunities for many Africans. A critical tenet of the AfCFTA is centred on removing tariffs and trade barriers to free trade and deepen intra-African trade and regional integration (African Export-Import Bank, 2018). This is particularly important under the current circumstances to guarantee and speed up economic recovery of African countries given the magnitude of economic collapse caused by COVID-19. One study conducted by UNC-TAD (2018) using computable general equilibrium (CGE) modelling estimated a 1.2% increase in employment that may result from the adoption of the AfCFTA. In support of a similar notion, Naudé et al. (2015) argue that removal of discriminatory barriers against migrant entrepreneurs holds great potential in promoting development in both sending and receiving countries. In South Africa, an empirical study by Chaskalson (2017) revealed that a 1% increase in immigration had a positive effect of between 0.003% and 0.01% on employment, suggesting that immigrants possibly create job opportunities where they settle. We are therefore convinced that success of economic reconstruction and recovery of African economies is partially dependent, among other things, on collaboration and integration of Africa in economic trade and on mobilising efforts towards a borderless Africa.

Kimenyi et al. (2012) state that although intra-African trade is not the only panacea for development, it remains important for several reasons. It can boost the volume of exports and imports within the region and therefore lift economic growth. It can improve economies of scale, enhance efficiency, competitiveness, and terms of trade. Given 2020 economic events of commodity and energy price volatilities on global markets triggered by COV-ID-19, intra-African trade may provide an important buffer against global volatility and exogenous shocks. Citing the example of Kenya, the African Export-Import Bank (2018) claims that intra-African trade acts as a mitigant against harsh external shocks. Moreover, given projections of significant future shortfalls of tax revenues predicted for Africa, promotion of immigrant entrepreneurship to increase intra-African trade through removal of trade barriers and discriminatory obstacles targeted at immigrants may just be the solution to boost government revenues and achieve the much-need-ed development in Africa.

4. Summary of major findings

Table 4 presents a summary of the findings of this paper.

	T
Research question	Findings
What are the dominant perspectives in the literature regarding intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship in Africa?	Our review of literature revealed that there are mixed perspectives (both positive and negative) regarding the role of immigrant entrepreneurship in Africa. The negative perspectives relate to the challenges that immigrant entrepreneurs experience, while the positive perspectives point at enormous contributions that immigrant entrepreneurs can bring in terms of skills transfer, employment creation as well as social and economic gains related to employment creation, poverty alleviation and economic growth. Most of the articles point at the positive impact, and even greater benefits can be achieved if more immigrant entrepreneurship is supported at international level.
What is the impact of immigrant entrepreneurship on intra-African trade and economic development?	As evidenced by studies from other parts of the world, such as Kerr & Kerr, (2020), Naudé et al. (2017), among others, immigrant entrepreneurship could have a potential positive and sustainable impact on intra-African trade and economic development. The potential positive gains of intra-African trade and economic development could be contained within the African continent if favorable trade and immigration policies are in place. There is a concern that the gains could be threatened by other international bilateral trade agreements that could function as leakages.
What are the constraints that retard the contributions of immigrant entrepreneurship in Africa?	Immigrant entrepreneurs experience additional challenges which retard their potential contributions to both host and home countries. The challenges experienced by immigrant entrepreneurs such as discrimination, xenophobia and restrictive immigration, and international trade laws have a potential impact on collective economic development of the African continent.

Table 4 Summary of the findings related to the research questions

Source: Authors

Several good practices emanating from integrating migrant entrepreneurs in other African economies are identified in the literature. For example, the practice by immigrant entrepreneurs of partnering with local entrepreneurs is cited by Mouelle and Barnes (2018) as an important practice that is beneficial to both parties in terms of transferred knowledge and entrepreneurial expertise and competences, reduced operating costs and access to government funding. Furthermore, visa regimes that are conducive to immigrant entrepreneurs and support mechanisms such as access to finance and other resources could be established to attract and promote the growth of immigrant entrepreneurship (Anderson, 2016).

5. Implications for research, practice, and society

Through the lens of a systematic literature review methodology, this study sought to highlight the dominant perspectives in the literature regarding the nature and role of immigrant entrepreneurship and its potential impact on intra-African trade and economic development, as well as to identify enabling factors including constrains that inhibit contributions of immigrant entrepreneurship in Africa.

The finding that entrepreneurship, and in particular immigrant entrepreneurship, has a potential impact on international trade and economic development deserves the attention of scholars, immigrant entrepreneurs and policy makers alike. For scholars, this is a call for further empirical investigations to reveal the extent to which immigrant entrepreneurship contributes to intra-African trade and the ultimate potential towards economic development.

For immigrant entrepreneurs and other practitioners, an exposition of their impactful contribution should serve as motivation towards the approaches and kind of entrepreneurial activities they ought to focus their attention on. Thus, efforts towards highimpact immigrant entrepreneurial activity should be encouraged. It is envisaged that immigrant entrepreneurs and other practitioners will be inspired to do more for the betterment of their nations and the African continent at large. The lack of African contextspecific empirical data on the impact of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship on intra-African trade and economic development should however not deter policy makers from giving attention to the notions of immigrant entrepreneurship. Evidence from other countries such the USA, Australia, and Canada (for examples, see Desderio, 2014; Kerr & Kerr, 2020) could be used to guide policies to support intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship.

6. Areas for further research

Investigations of the nature and scope of immigrant entrepreneurship that have an impact on intra-African trade and economic development are required. In pursuit of generating empirical data on the hypothesized relationships formulated in this paper, we envisage to conduct a series of multistaged Delphi studies as part of a more comprehensive research project. The envisaged project involves collection and analysis of both quantitative and qualitative data from a panel of experts, immigrant entrepreneurs and selected policy making bodies. Furthermore, longitudinal studies could be conducted to track the long-term impact and direction of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship on intra-African trade and economic development.

7. Conclusion

There are important considerations that can be drawn from our assessment of intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship, intra-African trade and intra-Africa development. We therefore recommend several policy guidelines that may augment the potential impact of immigrant entrepreneurs within the context of intra-African trade and development. Of particular importance is the realization of the potential positive effect of removing discriminatory barriers against immigrant entrepreneurs in promoting development in Africa for both home and host countries. Based on the best scenario evidence we have examined, we have demonstrated and are convinced with reasonable confidence that immigrants create economic opportunities for their countries of origin as well as for those in which they settle. However, in the interest of collective benefit and a broader objective, we are motivated that the gains of intra-African trade, whichever direction they take, whether in favor of home or host countries, will be localized within the African region.

Secondly, an inclusive approach is needed, one that is non-discriminatory against immigrants in providing start-up capital and ongoing credit facilities to immigrant entrepreneurs. This is corroborated by various African studies that identified lack of financial access to be among the key obstacles slowing the progressive impact of immigrant entrepreneurship. This is further supported by initiatives such as the AfCFTA and BIAT (Boosting Intra-African Trade), which call for removal of tariffs and trade barriers in Africa.

We conclude by arguing that industrial development and trade policies that foster intra-Africa immigrant entrepreneurship are critical if the African continent is to achieve its collective development agenda. African continental integrations through intra-Africa entrepreneurship, intra-African trade and collective development efforts are unavoidably necessary for sustainable socio-economic development. A borderless Africa that trades with itself to achieve the collective gains of its internal riches is therefore imminent.

References

- 1. Aaltonen, S. & Akola, E. (2014). *Lack of trust the main obstacle for immigrant entrepreneurship?*. http://pyk2.aalto.fi/ncsb2012/Aaltonen.pdf
- 2. African Development Bank (2021). *African Economic Outlook 2021: From Debt Resolution to Growth: The Road Ahead for Africa.* https://www.afdb.org/sites/default/files/documents/publications/afdb21-01_aeo_main_english_complete_0223.pdf
- 3. African Export-Import Bank (2018). African Trade Report: Boosting Intra-African Trade: Implications of the African Continental Free Trade Area Agreement. Transforming Africa's trade. https://www.tralac.org/documents/news/2042-african-trade-report-2018-afreximbank/file.html
- 4. Akoutou, A. B. Sohn, R., Vogl, M. & Yeboah, D. (2015). *Migration and Civil Society as Development Drivers a Regional Perspective* (WAI-ZEI Paper No. 23). Praia: West Africa Institute & Bonn: Center for European Integration Studies.
- 5. Alemayehu, B. Z. (2020). *High-Impact Entrepreneurship as Enabler for a Stronger Intra-Africa Trade.* Tana Papers 2020, 14-21. https://media.africaportal.org/documents/Tana-Papaers-2020_.pdf
- 6. Aliaga-Isla, R. & Rialp, A. (2013). Systematic review of immigrant entrepreneurship literature: previous findings and ways forward. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 25(9-10), 819-844. https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2013.845694
- 7. Anderson, S. (2016). *Immigrants and billion dollar start-ups*. National Foundation for American Policy. http://nfap.com/wpcontent/uploads/2016/03/Immigrants-and-Billion-Dollar-Startups.NFAP-Policy-Brief.March-2016.pdf
- 8. Anyanwu, J. C. (2014). Does intra-African trade reduce youth unemployment in Africa? *African Development Review*, *26*(2), 286-309. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8268.12082
- Berghoff, H. (2020). Immigrant Entrepreneurship: A Typology Based on Historical and Contemporary Evidence. In Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Business and Management. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190224851.013.270
- 10. Charmaine, A. & Piper, L. (2012). Xenophobia, criminality and violent entrepreneurship: violence against Somali shopkeepers in Delft South, Cape Town, South Africa. *South African Review of Sociology*, *43*(3), 81-105. https://doi.org/10.1080/21528586.2012.727550
- 11. Dalziel, P., Saunders, C. & Saunders, J. (2018). Wellbeing Economics: The Capabilities Approach to Prosperity. Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93194-4
- 12. Desiderio, M. V. (2014). *Policies to Support Immigrant Entrepreneurship.* Migration Policy Institute. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/sites/default/files/publications/TCM_Cities_Entrepreneurship-FI-NALWEB.pdf
- Devine, R. A. & Kiggundu, M. N. (2016). Entrepreneurship in Africa: Identifying the Frontier of Impactful Research. *Africa Journal of Management*, 2(3), 349-380. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322373.2016.1206802
- 14. Dheer, R. J. (2018). Entrepreneurship by immigrants: a review of existing literature and directions for future research. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, *14*(3), 555-614. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-018-0506-7
- 15. European Commission (2018). *Many more to come? Migration from and within Africa*. https://doi.org/10.2760/1702
- 16. European Union (2020). Intra-African Migration: structures and infrastructures for continued circulation. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/cmsdata/226385/Study_Intra-Africa_Migration.pdf
- Fairlie, R. W. & Lofstrom, M. (2015). Immigration and Entrepreneurship. In Barry, C. & Miller, P. W. (Eds.), *Handbook of the Economics of International Migration Volume 1B* (pp. 877-912). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53768-3.00017-5

- 18. Griffin-EL, E. W. & Olabisi, J. (2018). Breaking boundaries: Exploring the process of intersective market activity of immigrant entrepreneurship in the context of high economic inequality. *Journal of Management Studies*, 55(3), 457-485. https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12327
- 19. Gumede, V. (2020). Examining the African Continental Free Trade Area in the Context of a Political Federation for Africa Towards a United African States (UNISA Working Paper). Pretoria: University of South Africa.
- 20. Hessels, S. J. A. (2007). Innovation and international involvement of Dutch SMEs. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business*, 4(3), 234-255. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJESB.2007.013250
- 21. IOM (2020). World Migration Report 2020. https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/wmr_2020.pdf
- 22. Kerr, S. P. & Kerr, W. (2020). Immigrant entrepreneurship in America: Evidence from the survey of business owners 2007 & 2012. *Research Policy*, 49(3), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2019.103918
- Khosa, R. M. & Kalitanyi, V. (2015) Migration reasons, traits and entrepreneurial motivation of African immigrant entrepreneurs: Towards an entrepreneurial migration progression. *Journal of Enterprising Communities: People and Places in the Global Economy*, 9(2), 132-155. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-07-2014-0011
- 24. Kimenyi, M. S., Lewis, Z. A. & Routman, B. (2012). Introduction: Intra-Africa Trade in Context. In Accelerating Growth through Improved Intra-African Trade (pp. 1-5). Brookings Africa Growth Initiative.
- 25. Lofstrom, M. & Wang, C. (2019). *Immigrants and entrepreneurship*. IZA World of Labor. https://doi.org/10.15185/izawol.85.v2
- 26. Lungu, A. E. (2020). The Entrepreneurship's Crucial Role in International Trade. *DIEM: Dubrovnik International Economic Meeting*, 5(1), 161-168.
- 27. Migration Data Portal (2021). *Migration Data in the Southern African Development Community (SADC)*. https://www.migrationdataportal.org/regional-data-overview/southern-africa
- 28. Mold, A. (2018). The consequences of Brexit for Africa: The case of the East African Community. *Journal of African Trade*, 5(1-2), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joat.2018.10.001
- 29. Mouelle, S. & Barnes, N. (2018). The determinants of success of female African immigrant entrepreneurs in South Africa. *Journal of Management and Administration*, 2018(1), 1-29.
- Musara, M. & Nieuwenhuizen, C. (2021). Motivations and unique challenges of successful foreignowned small and medium enterprises in South Africa. *Development Southern Africa*, 38(6), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/0376835X.2021.1913998
- 31. Musara, M. (2019). Business Models of Successful Foreign-Owned Small and Medium Enterprises for Small Business Development in South Africa [Doctoral dissertation, University of Johannesburg]. Pro-Quest Dissertations Publishing.
- 32. Naudé, W. Siegel, M. & Marchand, K. (2017). Migration, entrepreneurship and development: critical questions. *IZA Journal of Migration*, 6(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40176-016-0077-8
- 33. Ngota, B. L., Rajkaran, S. & Mang'unyi, E. E. (2019). African immigrant entrepreneurship: A catalyst for skills transfer. *Academy of Entrepreneurship Journal*, 25(2), 1-20.
- 34. Obeng-Odoom, F. (2020). The African Continental Free Trade Area. *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 79(1), 167-197. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajes.12317
- 35. Okafor, C. & Udibe, K. U. (2020). Can the African Continental Free Trade Agreement Foster a New Paradigm of Development Assistance within Africa? *Journal of African Foreign Affairs*, 7(3), 7-29. https://doi.org/10.31920/2056-5658/2020/v7n3a1
- 36. Parshotam, A. (2018). *Can the African Continental Free Trade Area offer a new beginning for trade in Africa*? (Occasional Paper No. 280). Johannesburg: South African Institute of International Affairs.
- 37. Ravenstein, E. G. (1889). The laws of migration. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society*, 52(2), 241-305. https://doi.org/10.2307/2979333

- Rogerson, C. M. (2019). Revamping Local Economic Development Policy in South Africa. In Knight, J. & Rogerson, C. M. (Eds.), *The Geography of South Africa* (pp. 253-259). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94974-1_27
- 39. Snyder, H. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal* of Business Research, 104, 333-339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039
- 40. Tengeh, R. K. & Nkem, L. (2017). Sustaining immigrant entrepreneurship in South Africa: The role of informal financial associations. *Sustainability*, *9*(8), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9081396
- 41. Tralac (2019). The African Continental Free Trade Area: A tralac guide (6th ed).
- UNCTAD (2019). Economic Development in Africa Report 2019: Made in Africa Rules of Origin for Enhanced Intra-African Trade. https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/edar2019 en ch1.pdf
- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN DESA) (2019). International Migration 2019 Report. https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/publications/migrationreport/ docs/InternationalMigration2019 Report.pdf
- 44. Vandor, V. & Franke, N. (2018). Immigrant Entrepreneurship: Drivers, Economic Effects, and Policy Implications. In Globerman, S. & Clemens, J. (Eds.), *Demographics and Entrepreneurship: Mitigating the Effects of an Aging Population* (pp. 363-478). Fraser Institute.
- 45. Wadhwa, V. (2009). A reverse brain drain. Issues in Science and Technology, 25(3), 45-52.
- 46. World Bank (2019). *Migration and Remittances: Recent Developments and Outlook*. https://www.knomad.org/sites/default/files/2019-04/Migrationanddevelopmentbrief31.pdf

Ivana Barišić University of Zagreb Faculty of Economics and Business 10000 Zagreb, Croatia ibarisic@efzg.hr

Ana Novak

University of Zagreb Faculty of Economics and Business 10000 Zagreb, Croatia anovak@efzg.hr Sanja Sever Mališ University of Zagreb Faculty of Economics and Business 10000 Zagreb, Croatia ssever@efzg.hr

JEL: A29, M41 Preliminary communication https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.11

Received: March 22, 2022 Revision received: May 17, 2022 Accepted for publishing: May 18, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



SKILLS REQUIRED OF PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS: EVIDENCE FROM LABOUR MARKET IN CROATIA

Abstract

Purpose: The main purpose of this paper is to develop a further understanding of professional accountants' attributes and professional skills required by employers. This paper analyses the requirements of the labour market of the Republic of Croatia using the framework derived from IFAC's International Education Standard (IES) 3 from 2015 to identify the specific dimensions of professional skills in job advertisements.

Methodology: This study uses a qualitative data collection method to analyse the required professional skills of professional accountants from the accounting employers' perception. We have used Internet research to collect primary data and analyse job advertisements. Content analysis was used to analyse job advertisements.

Results: The evidence suggests that employers mostly required professional accountants with attributes categorised as the organisational skills dimension. They were followed by attributes categorised as the intellectual skills dimension, the interpersonal and communication dimension, and the personal dimension. Taking into account the professional skills dimension, a professional accountant is required to possess the ability to use appropriate information technology (IT), teamwork skills, responsibility, the ability to work independently, be analytical and committed to learning, since those were most highly ranked attributes in the collected job advertisements.

Conclusion: This study revealed a 'profile' of a professional accountant considering the requirements of employers regarding professional skills. Future research should take into consideration further analysis regarding the required skills using different data sources and explore the required skills within different accounting related professions and various sectors and sizes of accounting employers.

Keywords: Professional accountants, professional skills, labour market

1. Introduction

Professional accountants play a very important role since they serve the information needs of a variety of business stakeholders by providing a broad range of financial and non-financial information. It is argued that the accountancy profession "contributes to an efficient economy that creates value to society" (IFAC, 2019, p. 7). Professional accountants are strategic support to management (Belfo & Trigo, 2013, p. 538) and information providers (Doost et al., 2011, p. 62). To fulfil their roles, professional accountants have to demonstrate their competence consisting of technical knowledge as well as professional skills and professional values (IFAC, 2019, p. 10). The accountancy profession is facing many challenges due to altering stakeholder demands as well as legislative and regulatory changes. Changing labour market conditions are causing the evolution of many skills and knowledge required for many jobs. The newest report released by the World Economic Forum (WEF, 2020, p. 4) on opportunities in the emerging labour market states that there is a demand for a "broad variety of skills, inclusive of both disruptive technical skills but also specialised industry skills and core business skills". According to accounting industry research, accountant job descriptions will continue to evolve, especially concerning constant regulatory changes and information technology challenges (Thompson Reuters, 2018; Tsiligiris & Bowyer, 2021).

Professional skills play an important role in the achievement of the overall competence of professional accountants (Crawford et al., 2011) and are an increasingly important area in accounting research, especially in the area of accounting education. This topic can be addressed from different points of view, and previous studies have been conducted on different focus groups, such as accounting educators, students, and accounting employers. Employers' perspective is of special importance since they dictate the profile of professional accountants that are in demand in the labour market. Although various studies have been conducted in the last three decades (Jackling et al., 2013; Bunney et al., 2015; Webb & Chaffer, 2016; Tan & Laswald, 2018), it is argued that there is still a need to conduct further empirical research, since to date there has been little agreement between academic or professional accounting bodies regarding the list of skills accounting professionals should possess. Jackling & De Lange (2009, p. 370) see "the mixture of skills"

necessary for future accountants that enable them to "solve the diversity of business challenges".

The main purpose of this paper is to develop a further understanding of professional accountants' attributes and professional skills required by employers. This paper analyses the requirements of the labour market of the Republic of Croatia, responding to calls from previous research (Tan & Laswald, 2018; Tempone et al., 2012; Chaplin, 2017) for further research regarding employers' perceptions of attributes required of professional accountants in different contexts. Most recent studies have mainly been conducted in countries with strong inputs of the accounting industry and professional accounting bodies in designing accounting programmes, such as Australia (Leong & Kavanagh, 2013). In the Republic of Croatia, a framework for accounting education is still developing. Recently, efforts have been made by the academic community to further develop and improve higher education and occupational standards in the field of accounting within the research project "Excellence and efficiency in higher education in the field of economics - E4" (active from 2019 to 2022), which included several national universities as project members. One of the aims of the Accounting working group within the aforementioned project was to develop a Master of Business Economics qualification standard. Within the Croatian Qualifications Framework (CQF), which "regulates the entire qualifications system at all levels of education", there are occupational standards in the CROQF Register for financial forensic accountants (from 2017), bookkeepers (from 2019), and heads of accounting (from 2021). Furthermore, most recent studies have conducted interviews or survey questionnaires with employers (Webb & Chaffer, 2016; Chaplin, 2017; Tempone et al., 2012; Low et al., 2016; Nicolaescu et al., 2017; Atanasovski et al., 2018, etc.) to find out their perspective on desirable skills of accounting professionals. In most cases, researchers identified "oral and written communication skills, teamwork skills, critical thinking, and problem-solving skills, the ability to use information technology, commitment to life-long learning and ethical attitude as important skills" from the employers' viewpoint (Barišić et al., 2021, p. 24).

Previous studies used different frameworks or no frameworks to systematically analyse skills, which makes generalisations difficult. This study focuses on the analysis of job advertisements of the Croatian labour market, following previous research that also analysed job advertisements to comprehend the employers' perspective in this context (Dunbar et al., 2016; Tan & Laswald, 2018). This study uses the framework derived from the International Education Standard (IES) 3 from 2015 to identify specific dimensions of professional skills in job advertisements. This research study also expands its focus by analysing skills required in various stages of the career of professional accountants to identify skills that are important in general, not just for a particular career phase. In addition, it will contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of this topic in the European geographical area.

This study aimed to address the following research questions:

- Which dimension of professional accountants' skills is the most required by employers?
- What are the attributes most required of professional accountants?
- Is there a difference between job functions in terms of required skills?
- Is there a difference between different levels of job experience in terms of required skills?

This paper aims to contribute to this area of research by exploring the attributes and skills of professional accountants, which will enable the synthesis of a profile of professional accountants regarding the skills requirements of employers of the Croatian labour market. Data were collected for this study from online job advertisements of accounting employers in the period from February to March 2020. The results can be used by accounting academics as well as accounting educators as a reference point to determine the importance of certain skills to accounting employers in a European context. Previous studies identified a "wide gap between the skills and capabilities of graduates and the requirements and demands of the work environment" (Andrews & Higson, 2008, p. 411) in some European countries, and the need that "business graduates are equipped with more than hard business-focused skills and competencies" (Andrews & Higson, 2008, p. 20). Therefore, there is a need to conduct further research on this topic from the accounting perspective. There is no systematic research into this subject matter in the Republic of Croatia, and we believe that the results of this study can provide important insight from the perspective of the accounting industry. There is global criticism regarding accounting education not including demands from employers and differences between accounting employers' expectations and those of accounting educators regarding professional/generic skills and competencies (Bui & Porter, 2010). Research efforts have also been made to develop a curriculum design proposal to better prepare accounting graduates for the workplace demands (Willcoxson et al., 2010; Tsiligiris & Bowyer, 2021). Accounting education, especially at universities, has an important role in forming competent professional accountants since it provides professional knowledge, but also enables requiring skills that are an essential part of professional competence. Howcroft (2017, p. 464) argues that university accounting education is a competitive market and that there is pressure upon university accounting educators to "pay attention and give serious consideration to the professional accountancy bodies' and practitioner employers' expectations of business schools to provide vocational training". Various teaching methods could be employed to support the development of the required skills according to the needs of the labour market.

The next section of the paper provides a literature review, followed by the methodology section. The fourth part of the paper analyses results and the conclusion is provided in the last section of the paper.

2. Literature overview

Professional skills have been an important part of accounting research in the last decades, as well as various competency frameworks of the accountancy profession. They are considered part of a multidimensional construct of professional accountants' competence (IFAC, 2019, p. 134; AICPA, 2018). Professional skills are also promulgated by prominent professional accounting bodies within competency frameworks. Palmer et al. (2004, p. 892) compared various competency studies, completed from 1989 to 2003, mostly US-based. According to the results, entry-level accountants were mainly required to possess "communication skills, interpersonal skills, general business knowledge, accounting knowledge, problem-solving skills, information technology, personal attitudes and capabilities, and computer skills" (p. 892). Recent competency frameworks that contain expected competencies of professional accountants in various fields of the accountancy profession such as the ACCA Competency Framework, the AICPA Pre-certification Core Competency Framework, the IMA Accounting Management Competence Framework, the Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA) Competency Framework, the INTOSAI Competency Framework, also articulate skills like communication skills, personal organisation and teamwork, decision making, leadership and digital skills (Barišić et al., 2020).

Professional accountants are expected to possess specific knowledge of various competence areas such as financial accounting, management accounting, taxation, and audit, but employers also require professional accountants to possess certain professional skills. In this paper, professional skills are regarded as skills that are not subject-specific and are often defined as "skills that are transferable, i.e., they can be transferred from one job or career to another, and are skills that are required for employability" (Crawford et al., 2011, p. 117). Many interchangeable terms are used to describe professional skills such as generic skills, transferable skills, personal transferable skills, core skills, key skills, graduate attributes, generic attributes (Jones, 2010), employability skills, soft skills, underpinning skills (Tempone et al., 2012), non-technical skills, personal transferable skills, soft skills and attributes (Tan & Laswald, 2018), and employability skills (Webb & Chaffer, 2016). Many authors (Jones, 2010; Bunney et al., 2015) argue that there is certain ambiguity not only regarding its "definitional confusion" but also regarding lack of consensus on the issue of what skills are most important in this regard. Howcroft (2017) argues that there is no "real likelihood" of a consensus between accounting employers regarding expected skills of accounting graduates since they vary in sizes and organisational types, and thus in the required skills and knowledge. In the International Education Standard 3 (IES 3), the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) promulgated four competence areas of professional skills, which are also used as a framework in this paper. First of all, intellectual refers to the "ability of a professional accountant to solve problems, make decisions, adapt to change, and exercise professional judgment". Secondly, interpersonal and communication refers to the "ability of a professional accountant to work and interact effectively with others". Then, personal "relates to the personal attitudes and behaviour of a professional accountant", and finally *organisational* "relates to the ability of a professional accountant to work effectively with or within an organisation to obtain the optimal results or outcomes from the people and resources available" (IFAC, 2019, p. 134).

In their review of previous research of accounting academics, Tan and Laswald (2018) identified a large volume of studies dating from the mid-1980s from different geographical areas, largely Australia and New Zealand. The authors argued that the professional skills "issue is not unique to a country but is an area of growing concern worldwide", and that it concerns many disciplines, including accounting (p. 4). They analysed a growing body of research from late 1990 to 2016 and identified communication skills and personal, interpersonal, and intellectual capabilities as the most required generic skills. Recently, more research efforts have been made to gain an understanding of employers' perceptions, especially in Australia. Tempone et al. (2012) interviewed employers in Australia that ranked communication and presentation, teamwork, and self-management attributes in the graduates they were employing as the most required skills for accounting graduates entering the labour market. Similarly, Chaplin (2017) classified the requisite skills of accounting graduates in Australia. Respondents were questioned via an email survey questionnaire, and analytic skills followed by creative thinking skills and computer skills were the most important prerequisite skills for new junior employees. Dunbar et al. (2016) collected data from job advertisements over a four-year period (2006 to 2009) in Queensland Australia, and concluded that there was greater emphasis on soft skills, rather than on technical skills, and that the most required soft skills were communication skills. Low et al. (2016) interviewed accounting employers in New Zealand and concluded that employers find "non-technical skills more important or at least equally important as technical skills" (p. 52). Interpersonal skills, the ability to work with organisational culture of the firm as well as oral communication skills were found to be the most important among identified non-technical (generic) skills. Tan & Laswald (2018) criticised previous studies that just identified broad categories of professional skills (they were referred to as employability skills) and offered more information about what each skills category consisted of using Birkett's taxonomy of skills and IFACs IES 3 from 2015. They analysed job advertisements in Australia from 2015 to 2016. The study also analysed skills depending on various experience levels and in terms of different accounting sub-groups. In Indonesia, Arvanti & Adhariani (2020) analysed students' perceptions and employers' expectations regarding skills, measured through attributes identified in previous studies. In this regard, employers in Indonesia emphasised work ethics, teamwork, and time management. Mhlongo (2020) analysed accounting job advertisements in South Africa. Skills selection was based on the skills that were prescribed by national professional accounting bodies. According to the results, employers valued oral and written communication, critical thinking, and computer literacy as the most important skills for the employment of accounting graduates, and there was no difference in their rank when they were analysed across levels of employment, except in the case of critical thinking. Critical thinking was more preferred in the higher levels of accounting job functions.

Regarding research in other countries at European level, in the UK, Howcroft (2014) analysed vocational skills expected from novice management accountants and the expectation-performance gap by conducting a survey and interviewing students, practitioner employers, and university educators. Employers emphasised verbal communication and written communication skills as the most important skills for management accountants. Jones (2014) analysed accounting employers' views on key personal and professional skills engaging employers' panels in England. The study identified the importance of generic skills as well as the "professional credibility with colleagues and clients". The idea was to study the skills/personal attributes required of an early career accountant. Nicolaescu et al. (2017) analysed the importance of transversal competencies based on the perception of accounting graduates and employers from Western Romania. Employers placed the use of IT technology and communication, readiness for life-long learning as well as the learning autonomy, teamwork, decisionmaking and problem-solving ability as the five most important transversal competencies. The study was based on the national classification of competencies. Atanasovski et al. (2018) surveyed accounting employers and accounting students in Romania regarding generic skills as well as technical skills considered important for future accountants. There was no specific framework used in the study but an extended list of skills that had been considered important in previous studies. Both groups of respondents emphasised the importance of generic

skills over technical skills for future accountants, and employers emphasised "personal and interpersonal skills of oral communication, knowledge of foreign languages, ethical attitude, credibility, and commitment to life-long learning" (p. 64). Dolce et al. (2020) analysed soft skills of Italian accounting graduates and employers' expectations via a questionnaire. Italian employers prioritised soft skills over technical skills, and teamwork and communication were considered most important. Cernuşca (2020) used IFAC's IES 3 (2015) skills taxonomy to survey students majoring in accounting and accounting employers in Romania to analyse the importance of hard and soft skills required for entering the labour market. Accounting employers who took part in the survey ranked hard and soft skills as follows: personal skills, interpersonal and communication skills, technical and functional skills, organisational and business management skills, and intellectual skills.

3. Methodology

This study uses a qualitative data collection method to analyse the professional skills required of professional accountants from the accounting employers' perception. We used Internet research to collect primary data by analysing job advertisements. As previously mentioned, job advertisement analyses have been used in some previous studies of this subject matter in the field of accounting. It is also a well-known and frequently used method in other fields, especially "to examine the changing nature of skills which are required in the workplace" (Harper, 2012, p. 29), and to understand employers' preference regarding the "distribution of the need for a certain skill" (Kurekova et al., 2015, p. 14).

We have used the purposive sampling technique, which is often used when analysing job adverts (Harper, 2012) with several sampling criteria described in the next section of the paper. After that, content analysis was used to analyse job adverts, where data were coded manually and extracted using Microsoft Excel. It is argued that the advantage of human reading instead of using textual software analysis is that it "may ensure that words are analysed in terms of their context as well as their frequency" (Harper, 2012, p. 42). In addition, descriptive and inferential statistics have been employed to analyse the results.

4. Results and discussion

4.1 Sample description

We collected job advertisements available in the Republic of Croatia, during the period of one month in 2020 (between 10 February 2020 and 10 March 2020) that included job functions within the accountancy profession. All job advertisements that were analysed were active at the time of sample collection. As presented in Table 1, job advertisements were collected from the web pages of the following job search sites: Burza rada, Moj Posao, Posao, and LinkedIn, as well as from the web pages of the accounting firms that are part of the "Big Four".

Table 1 Job sites used for job advertisementcollection

Job advertisement site	f	%
Moj Posao	45	62
Posao	10	14
LinkedIn	9	12
"Big Four"	3	4
Burza rada	6	8
Total	73	100

Source: Authors

As presented in Table 2, most collected job adverts were from companies in the services industry (37%) and the production industry (31%), followed by trade (19%), and the accounting industry (12%). Concerning the size of the companies, as can be seen in Table 3, the sample mostly comprises small (36%) and medium-sized companies (31%).

Table 2 Company industry

Industry	f	%
Production	18	31%
Services	22	37%
Trade	11	19%
Accounting	7	12%
N/A	1	2%
Total	59	100

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

Table 3 Company size

Size	f	%
Micro	14	24%
Small	21	36%
Medium	18	31%
Big	4	7%
N/A	2	3%
Total	59	100

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

Table 4 indicates that most collected job advertisements searched for a bookkeeper (29%) and an accountant (25%), followed by an accounting assistant (16%) and a senior accountant (10%). Very few job adverts searched for the auditing job functions (overall, 5%).

Table 4 Accounting/Auditing job function

Accounting/Auditing job function/ position	f	%
Accountant	18	25
Accounting assistant	12	16
Auditor	1	1
Auditor analyst	1	1
Internal auditor	1	1
Auditor - IT specialist	1	1
Bookkeeper	21	29
Bookkeeper assistant	3	4
Chief accountant	6	8
Financial controller	2	3
Senior accountant	7	10
Total	73	100

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

4.2 Analysis of the collected job advertisements

This study uses IFAC's IES 3 Initial Professional Development - Professional Skills taxonomy from 2015 as a reference for professional skills analysed in the job advertisements. IES 3 was slightly revised in 2019, but changes were effective from 2021, and since the time frame for this study was 2020, the revised 2019 IES 3 taxonomy was not used. Job advertisements also contained requirements regarding specific accounting knowledge, but that was not included in the analysis since it is not the focus of this research.

Learning outcomes contained in the 2015 IES 3 (IFAC, 2019, pp. 45-46) related to four skills dimensions, intellectual, interpersonal and communication, personal, and organisational were used to extract attributes (characteristics) for each professional skills dimension. Those attributes were then used as the reference to categorise the required attributes from the collected job advertisements into four aforementioned professional skills dimensions. In the cases where attributes could not be identified directly from the framework used, English synonyms were used to enable more precise coding.

Attributes extracted from the collected job advertisements and categorised into four professional skills dimensions are presented in tables 5-9.

It can be seen from Table 5 that the most required attribute categorised as the intellectual skills dimension is "responsible", which was identified in almost 30 collected job adverts, with 27.8% frequency in comparison to all other attributes in that professional skills dimension. It was followed by "work independently", with a relative frequency of 23.1%. Employers also highly value professional accountants with problem-solving attributes, with a relative frequency of 12%.

Table 5 Frequency of attributes of the intellectual skills dimension (category)

Attributes of the intellectual skills dimension	f	%
analytical skills	16	14.8
creative	1	0.9
decision making	3	2.8
evaluate data	1	0.9
inventive	1	0.9
proactive	12	11.1
problem-solving	13	12.0
responsible	30	27.8
self-initiative	6	5.6
work independently	25	23.1
Total	108	100

As presented in Table 6, teamwork is the most indemand attribute in the interpersonal and communications skills dimension (relative frequency of 53.8%), followed by communication skills (relative frequency of 18.5%).

Attributes of the interpersonal and communication skills dimension	f	%
communication skills	12	18.5
communicative	8	12.3
helpful	1	1.5
interpersonal skills	1	1.5
oral presentation skills	3	4.6
positive attitude	4	6.2
teamwork	35	53.8
written presentation skills	1	1.5
Total	65	100

Table 6 Frequency of attributes of the interpersonal and communication skills dimension (category)

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

A requirement that professional accountants should be able to use appropriate IT is the most required attribute categorised as the organisational skills dimension, as can be seen in Table 6. It is required in almost all of the analysed job adverts (69 out of 73), with a relative frequency of 35.4%. Most employers required IT proficiency in using MS Office, in particular Excel. They also mainly required an advanced level of proficiency. Interestingly, there were only a few requirements regarding proficiency in using specific accounting software, such as Synesis and Pantheon. Detail-oriented (relative frequency of 7.7%) and precision (7.2%) followed as the most required attributes in this professional skills dimension.

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

Table 7 Frequency of attributes of the organisati-onal skills dimension (category)

Attributes of the organisational skills dimension	f	%
ability to comply with prescribed standards	2	1.0
ability to meet deadlines	10	5.1
ability to meet prescribed goals	5	2.6
ability to set priorities	5	2.6
ability to work under pressure	4	2.1
accurate	10	5.1
uses appropriate IT	69	35.4
detail-oriented	15	7.7
leadership skills	3	1.5
neat person	4	2.1
organisational skills	13	6.7
organised	9	4.6
precise	14	7.2
punctual	2	1.0
structured	2	1.0
systematic	13	6.7
time management	2	1.0
timeliness	13	6.7
Total	195	100

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

Regarding the attributes categorised as personal skills, which are presented in Table 8, commitment to learning is the most required attribute (relative frequency of 33.3%), followed by the attribute 're-liable' (relative frequency of 22.9%), and 'flexible' (relative frequency of 14.6%).

Table 8 Frequency of attributes of the personalskills dimension (category)

Attributes of the personal skills dimension (category)	f	%
agile	1	2.1
committed to learning	16	33.3
conscientious	1	2.1
flexible	7	14.6
motivated	6	12.5
open-minded to new opportunities	4	8.3
professional	2	4.2
reliable	11	22.9
Total	48	100

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

Attributes from the job adverts that could not be categorised into any of the four professional skills dimensions were classified as other (Table 9).

Table 9 Frequency of attributes of the "	'other"
skills dimension (category)	

Attributes of the "other" skills dimension	f	%
accessible	1	7.1
brave heart who dares to "think outside the box"	1	7.1
diligence	3	21.4
entrepreneurship	1	7.1
focused	1	7.1
multitasking	1	7.1
open-minded	1	7.1
practical	1	7.1
resourceful	1	7.1
simple	1	7.1
takes other responsibilities	1	7.1
truthful	1	7.1
Total	14	100

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

In order to answer the first research question, i.e., which dimension of professional accountants' skills is the most required dimension by employers, we analysed frequencies of attributes required in collected job advertisements that had previously been categorised into four professional skills dimensions. According to the results presented in Table 10, employers mostly required professional accountants with attributes that were categorised as the organisational skills dimension (45% of all required attributes). They were followed by attributes categorised as the intellectual skills dimension (25%), interpersonal and communication (15%), and personal (11%).

Table 10	Frequency of	f attributes	per skills	dimensions
----------	--------------	--------------	------------	------------

Skills dimension (category)	f	%
Intellectual	108	25
Interpersonal and communication	65	15
Organisational	195	45
Personal	48	11
Other	14	3
Total	430	100

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

Considering the second research question, the goal was to analyse what the most required attributes are for professional accountants, regardless of the professional skills dimension they were categorised into. As can be seen in Table 11, taking into consideration the rank of all attributes extracted from the collected job advertisements, employers mostly require professional accountants that use appropriate IT, have teamwork skills, are responsible, possess the ability to work independently, possess analytical skills and are committed to learning. The aforementioned attributes are top five ranked attributes in terms of the frequency of their requirement in all collected job advertisements.

Attribute	Frequency	%	Rank
use appropriate IT	69	94.52%	1
teamwork	35	47.95%	2
responsible	30	41.10%	3
work independently	25	34.25%	4
analytical skills	16	21.92%	5
committed to learning	16	21.92%	5
detail-oriented	15	20.55%	7
precise	14	19.18%	8
problem solving	13	17.81%	9
organisational skills	13	17.81%	9
systematic	13	17.81%	9
timeliness	13	17.81%	9
proactive	12	16.44%	13
communication skills	12	16.44%	13

Table 11 Ranks of attributes

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

To analyse further if there is a difference between job functions in terms of required skills (categories of professional skills), which was the third research question, we conducted a chi-squared test. According to the results, presented in Table 12, there is no statistically significant difference (χ^2 =4.08, p=0.90) between accounting job functions (accountant, accounting assistant, bookkeeper, bookkeeper assistant, chief and senior accountant) in terms of different professional skills dimensions. Overall, organisational skills and intellectual skills are mostly required, then there follow interpersonal and communication, and personal skills, but those differences are not statistically significant when different accounting jobs are taken into consideration. So we can conclude, regardless of the accounting job position, that accounting employers require attributes from all four professional skills dimensions. In comparison, when analysing differences between accounting sub-groups in job advertisement analyses in Australia and New Zealand, Tan & Laswald (2018) identified interpersonal and personal skills as top skills in demand in all sub-groups in both countries.

		Skills				
Accounting job functions	Total	Intellectual	Interpersonal and communication	Organisational	Personal	Other
Accountant*	18	17 (94.4%)	9 (50%)	18 (100%)	6 (33.3%)	1 (5.6%)
Accounting assistant*	12	11 (91.6%)	7 (58.3%)	12 (100%)	4 (33.3%)	4 (33.3%)
Auditor (analyst, internal, IT spec.)	4	4 (100%)	3 (75%)	4 (100%)	4 (100%)	1 (25%)
Bookkeeper (and assistant)*	24	17 (70.8%)	10 (41.6%)	23 (95.8%)	14 (58.3%)	1 (4.2%)
Chief accountant (and senior acc.)*	13	11 (84.6%)	8 (61.5%)	13 (100%)	4 (30.8%)	2 (15.4%)
Financial controller	2	2 (100%)	0 (0%)	2 (100%)	2 (100%)	0 (0%)
Total	73	62 (84.9%)	37 (50.7%)	72 (98.7%)	34 (46.6%)	9 (12.3%)

Table 12 Analysis of interdependence between accounting job functions and professional skills dimensions

χ²=4.08, p=0.90 (p>0.05)

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

We have also tested interdependence between accounting job functions and professional skills dimensions to see if there is a difference between different levels of job experience in terms of required skills (professional skills dimensions), which is the fourth research question. Groups based on work experience are presented in Table 13. According to the results presented in Table 14, there is no statistically significant difference (χ^2 =1.30, p=0.72) between the groups regarding work experience concerning different professional skills dimensions. Although intellectual skills are more in demand in both work experience groups, that difference is not statistically significant in relation to all other professional skills dimensions. In contrast, Tan & Laswald (2018) identified that interpersonal skills were considered more important for more experienced professional accountants.

Table 13	Groups	based	on	work	x experience
----------	--------	-------	----	------	--------------

Work experience	f	%
1. Group (up to 1 year - min. 2 years)	26	41
2. Group (min. 3 years - min. 5 years)	38	59
Total	64	100

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

Table 14 Analysis of interdependence between work experience and professional skills dimensions

Chills dimensions	Work ex		
Skins dimensions	1	2	Total
Intellectual	14 (53.8%)	24 (66.7%)	38
Interpersonal and communication	4 (15.4%)	3 (8.3%)	7
Organisational	4 (15.4%)	5 (13.9%)	9
Personal	4 (15.4%)	4 (11.1%)	8
Total	26	36	62

 χ^2 =1.30, p=0.72 (p>0.05)

Source: Authors, based on empirical research results

5. Conclusion

The contribution of this paper is in identifying the required skills of professional accountants in a different context and further investigating the importance of professional skills regarding different accounting jobs and levels of work experience. The evidence suggests that employers mostly required professional accountants with attributes categorised as the organisational skills dimension. The most required attribute from the organisational skills dimension according to the frequency of appearance in job advertisements was the ability to use appropriate IT. Furthermore, employers mostly required an advanced level of IT proficiency, which indicated the importance of digital competency for professional accountants. Intellectual skills were the second most in-demand skills by the Croatian employers, and "responsible" was the most required attribute in the professional skills dimension, followed by the ability to work independently. This study also revealed the 'profile' of the professional accountant considering the requirements of employers. Taking into account the professional skills dimension, a professional accountant is required to possess the ability to use appropriate IT, have teamwork and analytical skills, be responsible, possess the ability to work independently, and be committed to learning, since those were most highly ranked attributes in the collected job advertisements. Additionally, according to other results, no statistically significant difference was found in the required skills dimensions comparing different accounting jobs/positions or levels of work experience. Results suggest that employers equally require skills within the scope of all four professional skills dimensions, which is in contrast to some previous research. It is also interesting to point out that we identified only a few attributes that were not categorised into four professional skills dimensions which were used as the framework for this research, indicating that employers mostly require skills promulgated by prominent accounting bodies.

Generalisability of these results has certain limitations. The first limitation refers to sample size and sample structure since companies from the sample were mainly small and medium-sized companies. Furthermore, there are some limitations concerning the source of data as we extracted attributes from online job advertisements over a certain period. Online job advertisements can give a glimpse into employers' perspectives but they lack a critical perspective. Future research should take into consideration further analysis regarding required skills using different data sources. It would also be interesting to further explore required skills of different types of jobs within the accountancy profession and various accounting employers' sectors and sizes.

References

- Andrews, J. & Higson, H. (2008). Graduate Employability, 'Soft Skills' Versus 'Hard' Business Knowledge: A European Study. *Higher Education in Europe*, 33(4), 411-422. https://doi.org/10.1080/03797720802522627
- 2. Aryanti, C. & Adhariani, D. (2020). Students' Perceptions and Expectation Gap on the Skills and Knowledge of Accounting Graduates. *Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business, 7*(9), 649-657. https://doi.org/10.13106/jafeb.2020.vol7.no9.649
- 3. Association of International Certified Professional Accountants (AICPA) (2018). *The AICPA Pre-certification Core Competency Framework*. https://www.aicpa.org/interestareas/accountingeducation/resources/corecompetency.html
- 4. Atanasovski, A., Trpeska, M. & Bozinovska Lazarevska, B. (2018). Accounting Students' and Employers' Perceptions on Employability Skills in the SEE Country. *European Financial and Accounting Journal*, *13*(3), 55-72. https://doi.org/10.18267/j.efaj.214
- Barišić, I., Novak, A. & Sever Mališ, S. (2021). Professional Accountants' Skills Expected from Accounting Employers – Evidence from Recent Research. In Načinović Braje, I. et al. (Eds.). Proceedings from the 12th International Odyssey Conference on Economics and Business (pp. 14-27). Zagreb: Faculty of Economics & Business University of Zagreb.
- Barišić, I., Sever Mališ, S. & Novak, A. (2020). Professional Accountant of Today Analyses of Essential Competence Requirements. In Šimurina, J. et al. (Eds.). *Proceedings of FEB Zagreb 11th International Odyssey Conference on Economics and Business* (pp. 1-14). Zagreb: Faculty of Economics & Business University of Zagreb.
- Belfo, F. & Trigo, A. (2013). Accounting Information Systems: Tradition and Future Directions. *Procedia Technology*, 9(9), 536-546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protcy.2013.12.060
- Bui, B. & Porter, B. (2010). The expectation-performance gap in accounting education: An exploratory study. Accounting Education: An International Journal, 19 (1-2), 23-50. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639280902875556
- 9. Bunney, D., Sharplin, E. & Howitt, C. (2015). Generic skills for graduate accountants: the bigger picture, a social and economic imperative in the new knowledge economy. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *34*(2), 256-269. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2014.956700
- Cernuşca, L. (2020). Soft and Hard Skills in Accounting Field-Empiric Results and Implication for the Accountancy Profession. *Studia Universitatis "Vasile Goldis" Arad – Economics Series*, 30(1), 33-56. https://doi.org/10.2478/sues-2020-0003
- 11. Chaplin, S. (2017). Accounting Education and the Prerequisite Skills of Accounting Graduates: Are Accounting Firms' Moving the Boundaries? *Australian Accounting Review*, *27*(1), 61-70. https://doi.org/10.1111/auar.12146
- 12. Crawford, L., Helliar, C. & Monk, E. A. (2011). Generic Skills in Audit Education. *Accounting Education*, 20(2), 115-131. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2011.557487
- 13. Croatian Qualifications Framework (CQF). http://www.kvalifikacije.hr/en
- Dolce, V., Emanuel, F., Cisi, M. & Ghisilieri, C. (2020). The soft skills of accounting graduates: perceptions versus expectations. *Accounting Education*, 29(1), 57-76. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2019.1697937
- Doost, R. K., McCombs, G. B. & Sharifi, M. (2011). The State of Teaching Accounting Information Systems: Is There A Gap. *Review of Business Information Systems*, 7(3), 61-70. https://doi.org/10.19030/rbis.v7i3.4525
- 16. Dunbar, K., Laing, G. & Wynder, M. (2016). A Content Analysis of Accounting Job Advertisements: Skill Requirements for Graduates. *e-Journal of Business Education & Scholarship of Teaching*, 10(1), 58-72.

³⁹⁴ EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS *Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 383-396*

- 17. Excellence and efficiency in higher education in the field of economics E4: Research project. http://hkoe4.eu/
- 18. Harper, R. (2012). The collection and analysis of job advertisements: A review of research methodology. *Library and Information Research*, *36*(112), 29-54. https://doi.org/10.29173/lirg499
- Howcroft, D. (2017). Graduates' vocational skills for the management accountancy profession: exploring the accounting education expectation-performance gap. *Accounting Education*, 26(5-6), 459-481. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2017.1361846
- International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) (2019). Handbook of International Education Standards. https://www.ifac.org/system/files/publications/files/Handbook-of-International-Education-Standards-2019.pdf
- Jackling, B. & De Lange, P. (2009). Do Accounting Graduates' Skills Meet the Expectations of Employers? A Matter of Convergence or Divergence. *Accounting Education*, 18(4-5), 369-385. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639280902719341
- Jackling, B., Natoli, R., Nuryanah, S. & Ekanayake, D. (2013). Celebrating 20 Years of Publication of Accounting Education: an international journal: 1992-2011. Accounting Education, 22(1), 18-43. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2012.755008
- 23. Jones, A. (2010). Generic Attributes in Accounting: The Significance of the Disciplinary Context. Accounting Education, 19(1-2), 5-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639280902875523
- 24. Jones, R. (2014). Bridging the Gap: Engaging in Scholarship with Accountancy Employers to Enhance Understanding of Skills Development and Employability. *Accounting Education*, 23(6), 527-541. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2014.965959
- 25. Kureková, L. M., Beblavý, M. & Thum-Thysen, A. (2015). Using online vacancies and web surveys to analyse the labour market: a methodological inquiry. *IZA Journal of Labor Economics, 4*(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40172-015-0034-4
- 26. Leong, R. & Kavanagh, M. (2013). A work-integrated learning (WIL) framework to develop graduate skills and attributes in an Australian university's accounting program. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education*, *14*(1), 1-14.
- 27. Low, M., Botes, V., De la Rue, D. & Allen, J. (2016). Accounting employers' expectations the ideal accounting graduates. *e-Journal of Business Education and Scholarship of Teaching*, 10(1), 36-57.
- 28. Mhlongo, F. (2020). Pervasive skills and accounting graduates' employment prospects: Are South African employers calling for pervasive skills when recruiting? *Journal of Education (University of KwaZulu-Natal)*, (80), 49-71. https://doi.org/10.17159/2520-9868/i80a03
- 29. Nicolaescu, C., David, D. & Farcas, P. (2017). Professional and Transversal Competencies in the Accounting Field: Do Employers' Expectations Fit Students' Perceptions? Evidence from Western Romania. *Studies in Business and Economics*, *12*(3), 126-140. https://doi.org/10.1515/sbe-2017-0041
- Palmer, C. N., Ziegenfuss, D. E. & Pinsker, R. E. (2004). International knowledge, skills and abilities of auditors/accountants: Evidence from recent competency studies. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, 19(7), 889-896. https://doi.org/10.1108/02686900410549411
- Tan, L. M. & Laswald, F. (2018). Professional skills required of accountants: what do job advertisements tell us?. *Accounting Education*, 27(4), 403-432. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2018.1490189
- 32. Tempone, I., Kavanagh, M., Segal, N., Hancock, P., Howieson, B. & Kent, J. (2012). Desirable generic attributes for accounting graduates into the twenty-first century: The views of employers. *Accounting Research Journal*, *25*(1), 41-55. https://doi.org/10.1108/10309611211244519
- 33. Thompson Reuters (2018). *Accountant of Tomorrow Report*. https://tax.thomsonreuters.co.uk/wp-content/private/pdf/uk/report/Thomson-Reuters-Accountant-of-Tomorrow-Report.pdf
- 34. Tsiligiris, V. & Bowyer, D. (2021). Exploring the impact of 4IR on skills and personal qualities for future accountants: a proposed conceptual framework for university accounting education. *Accounting Education*, *30*(6), 621-649. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2021.1938616

- Webb, J. & Chaffer, C. (2016). The expectation performance gap in accounting education: a review of generic skills development in UK accounting degrees. *Accounting Education*, 25(4), 349-367. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639284.2016.1191274
- Willcoxson, L., Wynder, M. & Laing, G. K. (2010). A Whole-of-program Approach to the Development of Generic and Professional Skills in a University Accounting Program. *Accounting Education*, 19(1-2), 65-91. https://doi.org/10.1080/09639280902886082
- 37. World Economic Forum (2020). *Jobs of Tomorrow: Mapping Opportunity in the New Economy*. https://www.weforum.org/reports/jobs-of-tomorrow-mapping-opportunity-in-the-new-economy

REVIEW ARTICLES

Almir Peštek, Amina Osmanović Systematic mapping study: Application of augmented reality in marketing

Ivan Kožić, Neven Ivandić, Ivan Sever Empirical assessment of tourism-generated employment: Concepts and challenges

> Zef Dedaj The role of the University of Prishtina in knowledge creation and transfer: Are university-industry linkages increasing?

Kerstin Bätz, Patrick Siegfried From canvas to platform: Reflecting on the digital platform canvas

Stephan L. K. Freichel, Pia Rütten, Johannes K. Wörtge Challenges of supply chain visibility in distribution logistics – a literature review

> *Judit Nagy, Pavel Foltin* Increase supply chain resilience by applying early warning signals within big-data analysis

Noémi Piricz A review of prosumers' behaviours in smart grids and importance of smart grid management

Almir Peštek School of Economics and Business in Sarajevo 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina almir.pestek@efsa.unsa.ba Amina Osmanović School of Economics and Business in Sarajevo 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina aminah09@live.com JEL: M31 Review article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.12

Received: December 17, 2021 Revision received: April 26, 2022 Accepted for publishing: June 8, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



SYSTEMATIC MAPPING STUDY: APPLICATION OF AUGMENTED REALITY IN MARKETING

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of this paper is to provide an overview and analysis of literature dealing with the possibilities for applying augmented reality (AR) in marketing and the impact of AR on marketing in the era of digital transformation of business. Though attractive, this topic is still insufficiently explored.

Methodology: The paper uses a bibliometric method - citation and co-citation analysis in the Web of Science and Scopus citation databases. Data analysis was performed using the VOSviewer software tool for information construction, analysis and visualization.

Results: The conducted research revealed that there is an increasing trend in the number of research papers dealing with the AR and marketing topics. The specific topics dealt with in the papers are primarily related to the impact of AR on business, creating customer loyalty, sales increase and other marketing activities.

Conclusion: AR is a powerful and influential tool the use of which improves communication with customers and, at the same time, sales strategies and processes. AR is based on immersing customers into a new experience, by showing virtual objects in the users' real-world environment and creating harmony between the digital and the real-world environment so that the boundaries between them disappear. It is manifested as a form of experiential marketing, since it focuses both on a product and a service, and on the entire experience created for customers.

Keywords: Augmented reality, marketing, bibliographic analysis

1. Introduction

Digital transformation leads to significant changes in all segments of business, including marketing. Immersive technologies appear, which allow increased customer satisfaction by means of a new and more innovative approach to products and services. Augmented reality (AR), which creates an interactive experience, is one of them. AR is an innovative media format that integrates virtual content into the user's real-world environment (Rauschnabel et al., 2019). The concept of AR is also defined as an artificial environment which complements the real-world environment with virtual elements, though it also allows the user to see the real world (Azuma, 1997).

Karakus et al. (2019) point out that AR has three important dimensions:

- 1. combination of both virtual and real items in the environment,
- 2. being able to interact with these items in real time, and
- 3. accurate registration of those virtual and real items. In other words, AR is positioned between the virtual and the real world, as

defined in Milgram's reality-virtuality (Milgram, 1994). The following figure presents the differences between the virtual environment (where all objects are virtual), augmented virtuality (where a virtual environment is augmented with real objects), augmented reality (real-world objects augmented with a virtual environment) and the real environment.





Source: Milgram et al. (1994)

The concept of AR began to develop in the 1960s, after Ivan Sutherland invented the first 3D optic head-mounted display (HMD), which was then used for watching objects which are part of AR (Rabbi & Ullah, 2013). Feiner et al. (1993) published the paper "Knowledge-Based Augmented Reality", which was fully focused on the AR system. The paper claims that the AR system is supported by HMD technology synchronized with people's movement and their orientation, which can easily manipulate virtual objects shown in real space.

AR enhances a user's perception and their interaction with the real world, since virtual objects display information that the user cannot directly detect with their own senses and make a task easier to perform (Mekni & Lemieux, 2014). The ways of application vary depending on the type of AR technology used, devices and applications; however, their common characteristic is that they can allow synchronization of virtual objects in real time (Javornik, 2015).

AR was initially used in military and medicine, while at present it has a widespread application in tourism, sports, education, marketing and architecture (Rabbi & Ullah, 2013). AR has led to significant changes in various areas, including marketing, where the emphasis is on its impact on a user's brand perception, and on the change in user experience when making a purchasing decision (Javornik, 2015). The use of AR in marketing provides the organization with the advantage in promoting a product or a service through interactive experience in a real-time environment, by means of changing the entire concept of product presentation and transforming user experience (Ching & Ramasamy, 2018). Experiences in the use of AR are exploited for gathering data on customers and customer relationship management (CRM), which in turn allows companies to gain advantage in further development of products and services, which will be modified by AR application (Nanda, 2012).

Though attractive, this topic is still insufficiently explored. Therefore, the aim of this paper is to provide an overview and analysis of literature dealing with the possibilities for applying AR in marketing and the impact of AR on marketing in the era of digital transformation of business.

2. Augmented reality and application in marketing

In recent years, digital information and communication technologies have significantly affected marketing, and therefore we describe the concept of digital marketing, which can be defined as an "adaptive, technology-enabled process by which firms collaborate with customers and partners to jointly create, communicate, deliver and sustain value for all stakeholders" (Kannan & Li, 2017). Together with continuous advances in technology, a need arises for communication with customers through new and interactive ways to make marketing content more attractive (Yuksel & Tolon, 2017; Foster & Yaoyuneyong, 2014). Since the emergence of more sophisticated technologies allows synchronization of the environment, objects and persons, marketers thus perceive AR technology as a very promising technological tool that can produce satisfactory consumer experience resembling the experience in the physical environment (Alcañiz Rava et al., 2019). AR allows marketers to combine the traditional and the digital methods to create an exciting interaction between customers and a brand (Al-Modwahi et al., 2012). Bulearca & Tamarjan (2010) conclude that the use of AR technology has a positive impact on brand sustainability, and that building a relationship has become an important marketing tool for owners of small enterprises in their ability to cope with competition (Foster & Yaoyuneyong, 2014). Most mobile applications using AR focus on interactive marketing campaigns. The second way of using AR is based on placing 3D models or holograms around, and changing their position. Undoubtedly, these applications offer a unique experience for customers (Yuksel & Tolon, 2017).

Javornik (2014) defines three assumptions related to AR in marketing. First, the advanced AR tools are able to establish interaction in real time between products, brands, consumers and physical space. Secondly, AR simulation ability allows managers to digitally promote and present their products in a far more efficient way than before. Thirdly, advanced visual presentations in AR create a superb user experience. Due to its relatively new emergence, AR also often creates the wow effect for customers.

From a user's perspective, AR is entertaining, while from a marketing manager's perspective, it can increase brand awareness and trigger consumer engagement. AR provides marketers with important data on campaign effects (Feng & Mueller, 2018). In relation to AR advantages, Matta & Gupta (2019) mention real-time interaction, momentary feedback, personalization, attraction by means of games and tracking the return on investment (ROI).

In terms of shortcomings of AR, Feng & Mueller (2018) claim that marketing practices supported by AR increase an individual's curiosity about new experiences, but that curiosity typically diminishes after repeated or prolonged interaction. Furthermore, consumers who are not innovative will perhaps not have the pleasure of learning how to use new technology and media formats offered by AR, while some consumers may consider the steps necessary for installing AR application on their phones as fairly difficult and boring. For consumers who prefer the actual shopping experiences, virtual experiences offered by AR do not allow them to judge what a product actually looks like. One should also take into account a frequent need for linking with a PC due to the power of a processor, the inability to fully recognize 3D objects, a lack of actual spatial awareness, and the ability of devices to recognize 3D objects only from a certain angle. In addition, it is also necessary to develop hardware - devices should be improved so as to be lighter, more compact and easy to use (Mekni & Lemieux, 2014). For example, many headphones and glasses are bulky and have a limited visual field, contrast and resolution (Mariani et al., 2017).

AR has a powerful potential for contributing to integrated marketing programs. However, to reach its full potential, marketers must focus on the ways to maximize the function of contextual integration of AR for virtual content to perfectly fit in a user's real world and to develop a truly immersive consumer experience. In AR experiences based on mobile devices, marketers can offer users a greater freedom to manipulate AR content which is integrated into their real world, so that these users can gain a feeling of independence and self-containment. Through such consumer-brand interaction, consumers can better understand characteristics and advantages of a product (Feng & Mueller, 2018).

Scholz & Smith (2016) list important elements necessary for the design and optimization of AR campaigns: defining the target group, defining communication goals, determining the way in which AR will be implemented, creating contents that will be part of AR, and planning the possibility for integrating AR content with the physical world. Poushneh (2018) lists the following assumptions that marketers should keep in mind when it comes to using AR:

- 1. If customers are satisfied with the purchase, they are less likely to return the product and the repeat purchase will occur.
- 2. The better customer experiences, the more convinced they would be to use AR, and better experiences are achieved when customers trust technology.
- 3. Although the entertainment aspect is important, people will trust AR only if the application can display a product as accurate, correct and with all the information.
4. AR can display the current product promotion. For example, when customers visit a store, they can use their phones to see virtual product information and current promotions and discounts.

AR helps customers by simplifying the purchase. To increase customer satisfaction, it is possible to effectively use AR applications. For example, retail stores can be equipped with a *Magic Mirror* so that customers can virtually try on the clothes to see how they looks on them. Using AR technology in the store both entertains customers and encourages them to stay there longer. Accordingly, AR increases in-store traffic (Haumer et al., 2019).

The table below shows several examples of the use of AR in marketing campaigns.

BRAND	WAY OF APPLICATION	RESULT
Volvo Cars Source: Håkansson (2018)	WebARPromotion of the new S60 model	Positive user experienceRegistered an increase of 293% in traffic
Pepsi & Co Source: Jin & Yazdanifard (2015)	 An LED screen at a bus stop in London Unusual appearances such as aliens or cheetah 	Positive reactions of passers-byMillions of views on YouTubeGenerated the WOM effect
Samsung Source: Watson (2020)	WebAR and scanning QR codePresence at virtual eventsPresentation of new products	 Attracting user attention Positive experience Appearance in all media as an example of creating innovative content
Strava - fitness application Source: Becker (2017)	 <i>FitnessAR</i> Application 3D image of maps that display hiking, cycling and running routes The image is projected onto a table or a flat surface which can be managed 	 User satisfaction Novelty in the area of fitness applications Users' interest in the application
Kinder Source: Cambosa (2021)	 <i>Applaydu</i> Application For children Animated animals, games, interactive stories 	Entertainment for childrenIncreased product sales
Hyundai Source: Håkansson (2018)	 <i>Virtual Guide</i> Application Car interior display Information on how to use certain functions 	Makes things easier for car ownersSatisfactionFast acceptance of the application

Table 1 Examples of the application of AR

Source: Adapted according to Håkansson (2018), Jin & Yazdanifard (2015), Watson (2020), Becker (2017), Cambosa (2021)

It can be concluded that experience with AR results in user satisfaction and generated interest in products and services as well as increased sales and fast acceptance of new technology.

3. Presentation of research findings

Methodology

The paper is aimed at studying the connection between concepts of AR and marketing, i.e., the extent of the tendency to write academic papers on AR in marketing. Research questions to which answers will be provided are as follows:

- To what extent is the domain "augmented reality in marketing" present in academic papers and what is the trend in research?, and
- What is the strength of linkage between the most cited papers?

The study will use bibliometric methods, analysis of bibliographic pairs and co-citation analysis of the data from two citation databases – Web of Science and Scopus. Co-citation analysis allows an overview of conditions and structure, and the stages of the development of individual areas over a given time period (Bušelić, 2018). In terms of co-citation analysis, the frequency of co-citation represents the measure of linkage between/similarity of two papers, and in this case, the relationship is dynamic, since the papers have been cited for a long time after their publication. In terms of measuring cocitation power, the degree of relationship or linkage between papers is measured by the perception of citing authors. Based on the analysis of common citations, clusters are generated that make up sets of linked papers (Marić, 2019).

The study used the VOSviewer software tool, by means of which data from citation databases can be analyzed and visualized. Data were extracted in March 2021 from the Web of Science and Scopus citation databases. All types of records were extracted and analyzed, which were searched in both databases by the following keywords: "augmented reality" AND "marketing". The search was conducted in English, since most academic papers are written in English.

After the academic areas had been selected in both databases, a total of 70 papers and 1,730 papers were extracted from the Web of Science and the Scopus database, respectively. The following areas were selected for the analysis of the Scopus database: *Business, management and accounting* and *Economics, econometrics and finance,* while the analysis of the Web of Science database encompassed the following areas: *Business* and *Management.* Evidently, the Scopus database includes far more papers than WoS, although the paper will not examine the reasons for such variance. Consequently, data analysis

will be conducted separately for both citation databases, since they differ in nature and cannot be merged in the analysis, primarily due to coverage in terms of the number of papers. Furthermore, the results will be compared, which highlights the complexity of the research.

Presentation and discussion of findings

RQ1: To what extent is the domain "augmented reality in marketing" present in academic papers and what is the trend in research?

The analysis was conducted of data extracted from Scopus and WoS databases and a significant disproportion between them was observed. It should be noted that the Scopus database has broader coverage, which can be decisive for the multiple difference between the databases. Due to the assumption that variances can occur, it was previously determined that the analysis will be conducted in both citation databases.

Graphs 1 and 2 describe the trend in this area; most papers in the WoS database were published in 2020. Since 2010, an increasing trend in the number of published papers can be observed, which suggests increasing interest in the area of AR and marketing. Similar results were obtained in the Scopus database, where a positive increasing trend was also observed. The year 2020 witnessed an exponential increase, and it is assumed that 2021 will witness more published papers compared to previous years.



Graph 1 Number of papers published by years (Web of Science)



Graph 2 Number of papers published by years (Scopus)

Source: Authors

Although there are variances in the number of papers between the databases, with respect to the countries with the most research papers published in the area of AR and marketing, both databases reveal the same results, i.e., there is correspondence for the first four countries. An overview reveals the prevalence of papers by authors from the United States of America followed by England (WoS)/ Great Britain (Scopus), Australia and Germany.

SCC	OPUS	W	OS
Country	Number of papers	Country	Number of papers
USA	376	USA	25
Great Britain	277	England	17
Australia	143	Australia	11
Germany	137	Germany	8
China	123	The Netherlands	6
Italy	116	Italy	5
India	99	France	4
Spain	96	India	4
South Korea	79	South Korea	3
France	71	Portugal	3

Table 2	Overview	by	countries	for	both	databases

Source: Authors

In addition to a significant variance in the number of papers between the databases, both databases show the same most relevant journals in this area by the number of published papers and the number of citations. In both databases we found correspondence of two most relevant journals. The *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* has 90 papers published in the Scopus database in the area of AR and marketing, while the WoS database has seven papers, thus it ranks first in both databases. The *Journal of Business Research* ranks second, with 57 papers published in the Scopus database, and six papers in the WoS database.

With the aim of examining the research trend in the target area, the occurrence and the importance of key terms were analyzed over the time period from 2015 to 2020. The goal was to describe the structure of research papers and their correlation within the area based on keywords and to show the trend present in the studies. In the Scopus database, 6,438 words were extracted from titles, keywords and abstracts; and adding a minimum threshold of 17 occurrences, a total of 63 most frequent keywords were extracted. In the WoS database, a total of 509 words were extracted from titles, keywords and abstracts; and adding a minimum threshold of three occurrences, a total of 62 most frequent keywords were extracted.

The table below shows keywords that occur most frequently, i.e., the most frequent topics.

SCOP	US	WoS	
KEYWORDS	OCCURENCE	KEYWORDS	OCCURENCE
augmented reality	177	augmented reality	43
virtual reality	172	technology	19
retailing	92	impact	17
marketing	75	interactivity	14
innovation	71	model	11
consumption behavior	68	e-commerce	9
tourism	66	acceptance	9
technology adoption	60	experience	9
Industry 4.0	57	information	8
electronic commerce	54	adoption	8
technology	45	virtual reality	8
social media	44	consumers	8
e-commerce	42	framework	7
artificial intelligence	42	environments	6
sales	39	responses	6
costumer experience	38	technology acceptance model	6
internet	37	online	6
literature review	37	retail	6
tourist destination	35	information-technology	6
perception	33	decision-making	6

Table 3 Overview of keywords

Source: Authors

Analysis results revealed that *augmented reality* is the most frequent term in both databases. The term *marketing* ranks fourth in the Scopus database, while in the WoS database it is not present among the first twenty most frequently occurring keywords. Figure 2 shows the linkage between the term AR and other terms, and the total strength of

mutual relationships amounts to 213. AR is linked with all keywords in different periods. In the Scopus database, the strength of mutual links between AR and other terms amounts to 312. Figure 3 reveals that the frequency of keywords linked to AR is greater starting from 2018.



Figure 3 Links of term AR - Scopus database



Source: Authors

Results related to WoS show that studies in this area are significantly linked with the following terms: technology, impact, interactivity, model and ecommerce. Consequently, it can be concluded that studies focus on investigating AR technology itself, its impact, creating interactions with the real and the virtual world, use in online sales and acceptable models. The most frequently used keywords in 2019 and 2020 were experience, customer satisfaction, sensory marketing and context, which suggests that studies continue to investigate how AR in marketing creates a new experience, how it affects customer satisfaction and what the importance of sensory marketing is. Since AR in marketing is a relatively new area, it is understandable that these keywords occur, because numerous possibilities offered by AR in marketing are still being studied.

The Scopus database shows somewhat different results for the most frequent keywords. The most frequent keywords typically occur starting from 2019 onwards. With the exception of terms AR and VR (virtual reality), which have the highest degree of occurrence and links with other terms, keywords occurring from 2019 are loyalty, sales, tourism management, smart tourism, artificial intelligence, combined reality, and digital transformation. Notably, studies focus on investigating new technologies and finding all the possibilities and advantages provided by digital transformation.

Cluster analysis of keywords was conducted. The VOSviewer software algorithm determines the number of clusters by defining and grouping them based on mutual links. Clusters are ordered hierarchically, from the most significant to less significant ones. The clusters are assigned different colors for easier identification. Thus, there are six clusters for the WoS database and five for the Scopus database. Creating clusters of keywords results in a better insight into the structure of academic papers in the observed area, and they can serve as an instrument for monitoring the development of the academic field in the future.

Identification of six clusters in the WoS database is shown in Figure 4.





Source: Authors

- a) The first cluster (marked in red) includes 16 keywords. They form the basis for the conclusion that papers in this cluster focus on technology and its impact on customer satisfaction, sales and consumption, context creation and provision of information.
- b) The second cluster (marked in green) represents papers dealing with the psychological impact of AR. The keywords include perception, trust, *word-of-mouth*, sensory marketing and behavior.
- c) The third cluster (marked in blue) includes papers focusing on studying AR in marketing and management, as well as in tourism, and on the application of AR in social media.
- d) The fourth cluster (marked in yellow) represents papers that investigate how AR and VR create customer satisfaction, and how they encourage interaction and entertainment.
- e) The fifth cluster (marked in violet) includes papers that study the acceptance of AR technology, consumer behavior and creation of the positive AR experience.
- f) The sixth cluster (marked in light blue) represents papers dealing with consumer atti-

tudes toward AR, their responses and interaction with AR.

A total of five clusters related to keywords were identified in the Scopus database, which are shown in Figure 5.

- a) The first cluster (marked in red) includes papers focusing on digital transformation, information systems and artificial intelligence combined with AR.
- b) The second cluster (marked in green) includes papers on AR mostly related to the development and sustainability of tourism and tourist behavior.
- c) The third cluster (marked in blue) includes papers dealing with the creation of interaction, customer loyalty and satisfaction using AR, as well as with enhancement of sales and sales activities.
- d) The fourth cluster (marked in yellow) includes papers that study technological developments and innovation, as well as the acceptance of AR technology.
- e) The fifth cluster (marked in violet) includes papers that study AR and investigate the presence of virtual and combined reality.



Figure 5 Map of keywords with identified clusters - Scopus

Source: Authors

The most significant authors in the area of AR and marketing were analyzed using data in both databases. The results reveal that a greater representation of papers in the Scopus database does not change the ranking of leading authors compared to the WoS database. The six leading authors are the same in both databases, with minimum differences.

AUTHOD	Sco	pus	Wos	5
AUTHOR	No. of papers	Mutual links	No. of papers	Mutual links
De Ruyter, K.	12	8,620	7	3,585
Keeling, D. I.	11	8,491	4	2,472
Chylinski, M.	10	8,297	5	2,992
Mahr, D.	9	7,801	5	3,096
Hilken, T.	8	7,079	6	3,542
Heller, J.	8	6,660	4	2,326

Table 4 The most significant authors in Scopus and WoS citation databases

Source: Authors

In both databases, Ko de Ruyter is one of the most significant authors in the area of AR and marketing, with the greatest number of published papers and most mutual links. Mutual links signify the extent to which one author is linked with other authors. The VOSviewer software algorithm determines the authors' mutual links. According to the WoS database, his most cited paper in the given area is *Augmenting the eye of the beholder: exploring the strate-gic potential of augmented reality to enhance online service experiences.*

Co-citation analysis in the Scopus database reveals that Dimitrios Buhalis has most co-citation links with other authors and their papers. The strength of co-citation links amounts to 55,102 and it represents the degree of relations among the authors' papers that are cited together. In the WoS database, the author with the greatest strength of co-citation is Philipp Rauschnabel, who has 142 co-citation links, with the strength of 1,509.

RQ2: What is the strength of linkage between the most cited papers?

When taking into account results from the Scopus database, it can be observed that the most cited paper is *Information Privacy Research: An Inter-disciplinary Review* by H. Jeff Smith, Tamara Dinev and Heng Xu, which was published in 2011. The strength of linkage between this paper and the other ones amounts to 74 mutual links. The paper titled *Privacy in the Digital Age: A Review of Information*

Privacy Research in Information Systems by France Bélanger and Robert E. Crossler ranks second. The paper was published in 2011 and has a negligibly smaller linkage strength, or more precisely, 70 mutual links. In addition, these two papers are linked in a way that they are part of one of the six generated clusters. The second most cited papers that have the strong linkage of mutual links are A Typology of Technology -Enhanced Tourism Experiences (65 mutual links), and Virtual reality: Applications and implications for tourism (46 mutual links with other papers). These two papers make up one of the clusters.

In the WoS database, the obtained results differ and there is no correspondence of papers with the Scopus database within the ten most cited papers in both databases, with the exception of one paper that is the most cited paper in the WoS database. It is the paper titled Virtual reality: Applications and implications for tourism published in 2010 by Daniel Guttentag; however, it does not have a significant number of mutual links with other papers. Furthermore, this paper ranks second in the Scopus database by the number of citations and mutual links. In the WoS database, the paper with the greatest number of links with other most cited papers is Augmenting the eye of the beholder: exploring the strategic potential of augmented reality to enhance online service experiences, published in 2017 by Tim Hilken, Ko de Ruyter, Mathew Chylinski, Dominik Mahr and Debbie I. Keeling. Its strength of linkage amounts to 120 mutual links. The next

two papers have the strength of linkage with other most cited papers amounting to 113 and 112 mutual links, respectively. These are papers '*It's an illusion, but it looks real!' Consumer affective, cognitive and behavioral responses to augmented reality applications* and *Augmented reality: Research agenda for studying the impact of its media characteristics on consumer behavior.* It should be noted that the Scopus database has broader coverage than WoS. In terms of AR and marketing, the Scopus database published 1,730 papers, while the WoS database published only 70 papers. It was expected that a variance in the number of papers would affect the category of the most cited papers.

Cluster analysis was conducted of the papers in both citation databases, with the aim of obtaining a better insight into the structure of papers. Clusters consist of sets of related papers based on the analysis of common citations. Four clusters were identified in the WoS database, while six clusters were identified in the Scopus database.

Cluster analysis - WoS database



Figure 6 Cluster visualization - WoS



The first cluster (marked in red) mostly pertains to papers focused on customer perception and their motivation for the purchase. The most significant authors in this cluster, De Ruyter, Keeling, Hilken and Mahr, focus on customer experience and the entire shopping experience. The paper *Making omnichannel an augmented reality: the current and future state of the art* concludes that AR offers endless possibilities to provide users with the impeccable "journey", while the authors of the paper *We ARe at home: How augmented reality reshapes mobile marketing and consumer-brand relationships* suggest that AR has the potential to completely reshape the purchase experience.

The second cluster (marked in green) consists of papers focused on studying the way in which augmented reality affects customers and their purchase. The authors of the paper *Anthropomorphism* and augmented reality in the retail environment (Esch et al., 2019) conclude that brands benefit when managers make AR a crucial part of the retail experience. The fourth industrial revolution is making augmented reality (AR) possible, which has the potential, among other things, to profoundly alter the ways in which individuals purchase and consume goods. Furthermore, the papers conclude that innovative marketing experts can now make use of augmented reality to generate impressive brand experiences, create interactive advertising and allow consumers to experience products and spaces in new ways.

The third cluster (marked in blue) is most closely related to the topic of the application of augmented reality in tourism and for the purpose of preserving cultural heritage. User experience is still the most important factor. Besides augmented reality, the authors also study the influence of virtual reality. Dieck & Jung (2017) claim that augmented reality is considered as a way to preserve history, improve visitor satisfaction, generate a positive word-ofmouth story, attract new target markets and contribute to the positive experience.

The fourth cluster (marked in yellow) also deals with customer experience, and additionally studies sensory marketing. Sensory elements are an important aspect of both offline and online retail stores, and can unconsciously affect consumer judgements and behavior when purchasing. People are increasingly purchasing (e.g., food, clothes) and consuming (e.g., movies, courses) online, where sensory interaction has traditionally mostly been limited to visual, and to a lesser extent, auditory inputs. However, other sensory interfaces (e.g., including touch screens, together with a range of virtual and augmented solutions) are increasingly being made available to people to interact online (Petit et al., 2019).

For a better insight into the papers which make up the clusters, a tabular overview of papers with the largest number of citations by clusters is presented.

Table 5 Overview of papers by clusters - WoS database

CLUSTER 1	Augmenting the eye of the beholder: exploring the strategic potential of augmented reality to enhance online service experiences
	• Augmented reality marketing: How mobile AR-apps can improve brands through inspiration
CLUSTER 2	• Augmented reality: Research agenda for studying the impact of its media characteristics on consumer behavior
	Augmented reality: Designing immersive experiences that maximize consumer engagement
CLUSTED 2	• Virtual reality: Applications and implications for tourism
CLUSTER 5	• Value of augmented reality at cultural heritage sites: A stakeholder approach
	• Solving the crisis of immediacy: How digital technology can transform the customer experience
CLUSIEK 4	Digital Sensory Marketing: Integrating New Technologies into Multisensory Online Experience

Source: Authors

Cluster analysis - Scopus database

Figure 7 Cluster visualization - Scopus database

tarabasz a



Source: Authors

The first cluster (marked in red) mostly pertains to earlier studies which focused on information security (Smith et al., 2011) and business transformation. Terms such as innovation, digitalization, and Industry 4.0 are more frequently used in the papers. In addition, they also research forging links between customers and brands.

The second cluster (marked in green) consists of the papers which primarily study consumer satisfaction. Hedonism, TAM (the technology acceptance model), customer behavior, and motivation for purchasing are frequent topics in this cluster. Lee et al. (2006) conclude that hedonic shopping orientation had a significant effect on one aspect of TAM (perceived enjoyment), whereas utilitarian shopping orientation had a significant effect on two TAM aspects (perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use). The results presented in the paper The Impact of Website Quality Dimensions on Customer Satisfaction in the B2C E-commerce Context (Hsiu-Fen, 2007) revealed that website design, interactivity, informativeness, security responsiveness and trust affect customer satisfaction. Furthermore, an increasing number of studies deal with topics related to VR. IoT and AR, as well as to e-sales. The authors of the paper Predictors of customer acceptance of and resistance to smart technologies in the retail sector (Roy et al., 2018) conclude that retail stores should focus on smart technologies that are simple, yet offer enhanced customer value through improved shopping efficiency. Findings also suggest that retail stores can engage in brand management strategies to improve customer acceptance of smart technologies. Besides, the authors focus on system quality, information quality and service quality as factors important for customer satisfaction.

The third cluster (marked in blue) is based on papers dealing with the use of augmented reality in tourism. The papers study the overall understanding of technologies and mobile applications to allow the development of e-tourism. VR and AR technologies are in focus in the case of tourism. Jung et al. (2015) point out that increased availability of smartphone and mobile gadgets has transformed the tourism industry and will continue to enhance the ways in which tourists access information while traveling. It should be noted that the authors believe that the aim of enhancing tourism services is user satisfaction and interaction with them, typically via social networks (Minazzi, 2015).

The fourth cluster (marked in yellow) includes papers which study the impact of technologies on retail and online sales, with the focus on augmented reality. Retailers have embraced a variety of technologies to engage their customers (Grewa et al., 2017). This group of papers focuses on the customer and the experience arising from shopping (Dacko, 2017). An increasingly recognized approach that has the potential to enable smart retail is mobile augmented reality (MAR) apps. MAR apps are seen as changing consumer behavior and are associated with increasingly high user valuations of retailers offering them. It should be noted that some papers study new topics such as blockchain technology and artificial intelligence.

The fifth cluster (marked in violet) is mostly related to the previous ones. There are more topics which are studied. The focus is on the topics of virtual reality, e-commerce retail and user satisfaction. The authors of the paper *Does "Being There" Matter? The Impact of Web-Based and Virtual World's Shopping Experiences on Consumer Purchase Attitudes* (Baker et al., 2019) claim that the use of virtual worlds as an emerging technology has a significant impact on business-to- consumer commerce and on corporate Internet retail strategies.

The sixth cluster (marked in light blue) is composed of three papers. The link between the papers is research into consumer behavior and their satisfaction. The papers are only weakly related to other papers.

For a better insight into the papers making up the clusters, a tabular overview is provided for the Scopus database as well. Papers with the largest number of citations by clusters are presented.

CLUSTER 1	 Information Privacy Research: An Interdisciplinary Review Privacy in the Digital Age: A Review of Information Privacy Research in Information Systems
CLUSTER 2	 Privacy in the Digital Age: A Review of Information Privacy Research in Information Systems The Impact of Website Quality Dimensions on Customer Satisfaction in the B2C E-commerce Context
CLUSTER 3	 Virtual reality: Applications and implications for tourism A Typology of Technology-Enhanced Tourism Experiences
CLUSTER 4	 The Future of Retailing Enabling smart retail settings via mobile augmented reality shopping apps
CLUSTER 5	 Virtual reality, presence, and attitude change: Empirical evidence from tourism Augmented reality: Research agenda for studying the impact of its media characteristics on consumer behavior
CLUSTER 6	 Choosing what I want versus rejecting what I do not want: An application of decision framing to product option choice decisions Competing with loyalty: How to design successful customer loyalty reward programs

Table 6 Overview of papers by clusters - Scopus database

Source: Authors

4. Conclusion

The paper was focused on investigating the application of AR in marketing. Research findings reveal that, starting from 2010, one can observe the tendency of an increase of interest in research and writing academic papers in the area of AR and marketing, with the papers predominantly coming from the USA. The number of published papers increased every year, and 2020 witnessed the largest number of papers published on the given topic. Cluster analysis conducted in both databases reveals that the papers focus on technology, digital transformation, and artificial intelligence combined with AR, as well as on the impact of AR on customer experience and enhancement of sales. Ultimately, papers on AR in marketing correlated with papers related to the topic of modern technologies.

Bibliographic analysis illustrated the structure of papers in the given area. On the basis of the above, it can be concluded that studies focus on investigating AR technology itself, on its impact, creating interactions with the real and the virtual world, on how it can be used in online sales, and on investigating new technologies and their capabilities.

A review of relevant literature leads to the conclusion that AR technology provides marketing managers with the advantage when promoting products and services, by creating interactive experiences with customers and stakeholders. It creates a strong interaction between the customer and the brand and allows a personalized experience, which customers want to experience again. The application of AR results in customer satisfaction, and therefore in a greater interest in products and services, which is accompanied with the increased sales and ultimately an increase in market shares.

A limitation of this research is the fact that it did not encompass more papers. Both citation databases include a small number of papers for the observed areas; it is particularly true for the Web of Science database and its 70 papers. The papers certainly deal with the topic that is growing in popularity. In our opinion, if the same analysis were conducted at this moment, there would be deviations in results, precisely because of the papers published after our analysis.

The paper reviewed relevant literature to clearly define the research area. In the future, the analysis should be conducted with more rigorously defined domains of marketing and augmented reality as the subject of research. We propose expanding the analysis with the customer/user domain, aimed at defining the impact of augmented reality on the customer/user more clearly through marketing activities. In addition, the area of marketing could be narrowed down so that the focus is only on digital marketing.

We believe that the paper can be used as a signpost in future research studies of this topic, which would be more comprehensive and use different techniques of bibliographic research.

References

- Alcañiz Raya, M., Bigné, E. & Guixeres, J. (2019). Virtual Reality in Marketing: A Framework, Review, and Research Agenda. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 1530. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01530
- Al-Modwahi, A., Parhizkar, B. & Habibi L. A. (2012). Web-based AR Advertising & Branding for Proton Company. *International Journal of Computer Science*, 9(2), 149-158.
- 3. Azuma, R. T. (1997). A Survey of Augmented Reality. *Presence: Teleoperators and Virtual Environments*, 6(4), 355-385. https://doi.org/10.1162/pres.1997.6.4.355
- Baker, E. W., Hubona, G. S. & Srite, M. (2019). Does "Being There" Matter? The Impact of Web-Based and Virtual World's Shopping Experiences on Consumer Purchase Attitudes. *Information & Management*, 56(7), 103153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2019.02.008
- 5. Becker, K. (2017). *Fitness AR uses Strava and ARKit to share your workouts in augmented reality*. Digital Trends. https://www.digitaltrends.com/outdoors/fitness-ar-app/
- Bulearca, M. & Tamarjan, D. (2010). Augmented Reality: A Sustainable Marketing Tool? *Global Business and Management Research*, 2(2/3), 237-252.
- 7. Bušelić, V. (2018). Znanstveni diskurs informacijske pismenosti i zapošljivosti diplomiranih. [Doctoral dissertation, University of Zagreb]. University of Zagreb
- 8. Cambosa, T. (2021). *Ferrero's Kinder launches AR app to bring Kinder toys to life*. Marketech Apac. https://marketech-apac.com/ferreros-kinder-launches-ar-app-to-bring-kinder-toys-to-life/
- 9. Ching Ng, C. & Ramasamy, C. (2018). Augmented reality marketing in Malaysia Future scenarios. *Social Sciences*, 7(11), 224. https://doi.org/10.3390/socsci7110224
- Dacko, S. G. (2017). Enabling smart retail settings via mobile augmented reality shopping apps. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 124, 243-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.09.032
- Dieck, M. C. & Jung, T. M. (2017). Value of augmented reality at cultural heritage sites: A stakeholder approach. *Journal of Destination Marketing & Management*, 6(2), 110-117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdmm.2017.03.002
- 12. Esch van P., Arli, D., Gheshlaghi, M. H., Andonopoulos, V., Heidt, T. & Northey, G. (2019). Anthropomorphism and augmented reality in the retail environment. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 49, 35-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.03.002
- Feiner, S., Macintyre, B. & Seligmann, D. (1993). Knowledge-Based Augmented Reality. *Communica*tions of the ACM, 36(7), 53-62. https://doi.org/10.1145/159544.159587
- Feng, Y. & Mueller, B. (2018). The State of Augmented Reality Advertising around the Globe: A Multi-Cultural Content Analysis. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 25(4), 453-475. https://doi.org/10.1080/10496491.2018.1448323
- Foster, J. & Yaoyuneyong, G. (2014). Augmented Reality Marketing: The 'WOW' factor. In VanMeter, R. (Ed.). *Proceedings of the 2014 SMA Conference - Transformational Marketing* (pp. 253-255). New Orleans: The Society for Marketing Advances.
- 16. Grewal, D., Roggeveen, A. L. & Nordfält, J. (2017). The Future of Retailing. *Journal of Retailing*, 93(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2016.12.008
- 17. Håkansson, L. (2018). *Virtual and Augmented Reality in Marketing* [Master's thesis, Haaga-Helia University of Applied Sciences]. Haaga-Helia University of Applied Sciences
- 18. Haumer, F., Kolo, C. & Reiners, S. (2019). The impact of augmented reality experiential marketing on brand equity and buying intention. *Journal of Brand Strategy*, 8(4), 368-387.
- Hsiu-Fen, L. (2007). The Impact of Website Quality Dimensions on Customer Satisfaction in the B2C E-commerce Context. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, *18*(4), 363-378. https://doi.org/10.1080/14783360701231302

- Javornik, A. (2014). [Poster] Classifications of Augmented Reality Uses in Marketing. In 2014 IEEE International Symposium on Mixed and Augmented Reality-Media, Art, Social Science, Humanities and Design (ISMAR-MASH'D) (pp. 67-68). Munich: IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISMAR-AMH.2014.6935441
- 21. Javornik, A. (2015). "Wow, I can augment myself?" Measuring effects of perceived augmentation and interactivity on affective, cognitive and behavioral consumer responses. In *Proceedings of the Academy of Marketing 2015 Conference*. Limerick: University of Limerick.
- 22. Jin, O. & Yazdanifard, R. (2015). The Review of the Effectivity of the Augmented Reality Experiential Marketing Tool in Customer Engagement. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research*, *15*(8), 13-17.
- Jung, T., Chung, N. & Leue, M. C. (2015). The determinants of recommendations to use augmented reality technologies: The case of a Korean theme park. *Tourism Management*, 49, 75-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2015.02.013
- 24. Kannan, P. & Li, H. A. (2017). Digital Marketing: A Framework, Review and Research Agenda. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 34(1), 22-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2016.11.006
- Karakus, M., Ersozlu, A. & Clark A. C. (2019). Augmented reality research in education: A bibliometric study. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 15(10), em1755. https://doi.org/10.29333/ejmste/103904
- Lee, H., Fiore, A. M. & Kim, J. (2006). The role of the technology acceptance model in explaining effects of image interactivity technology on consumer responses. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 34(8), 621-644. https://doi.org/10.1108/09590550610675949
- 27. Mariani, J., Sniderman, B. & Harr, C. (2017). More real than reality Transforming work through augmented reality. *Deloitte Review*, 21, 146-164.
- Marić, M. (2019). Mapiranje područja istraživanja i dizajna posla: kronološka analiza citata i zajedničkih citata. *Proceedings of the Faculty of Economics and Business in Zagreb*, 17(2), 101-114. https://doi.org/10.22598/zefzg.2019.2.101
- Matta, H. & Gupta, R. (2019). Augmented Reality: An Upcoming Digital Marketing Tool. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Recent Trends in Engineering, Technology and Business Management 31. Noida: Amity International Business School. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0037-1_3
- 30. Mekni, M. & Lemieux, A. (2014). Augmented Reality: Applications, Challenges and Future Trends. *Computer Science*, 20, 205-214.
- 31. Milgram, P. & Kishino, F. (1994). A taxonomy of mixed reality visual displays. *IEICE Transactions on Information and Systems*, 77(12), 1321-1329.
- 32. Milgram, P., Takemura, H., Utsumi, A. & Kishino, F. (1994). Augmented reality: A class of displays on the reality-virtuality continuum. In *Proceedings SPIE 2351, Telemanipulator and Telepresence Technologies.* https://doi.org/10.1117/12.197321
- 33. Minazzi, R. (2015). *Social Media Marketing in Tourism and Hospitality*. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-05182-6
- 34. Nanda, Ch. S. (2012). Augmented reality: The Future of Marketing. *International Journal of Innovative Research & Development*, 1(4), 187-195.
- Petit, O., Velasco, C. & Spence, C. (2019). Digital Sensory Marketing: Integrating New Technologies into Multisensory Online Experience. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 45, 42-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2018.07.004
- Poushneh, A. (2018). Augmented reality in retail: A trade-off between user's control of access to personal information and augmentation quality. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 41, 169-176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2017.12.010
- 37. Rabbi, I. & Ullah, S. (2013). A Survey of Augmented Reality Challenges and Tracking. *Acta Graphica*, 24(1-2), 29-46.

- Rauschnabel, P., Felix, R. & Hinsch, C. (2019). Augmented reality marketing: How mobile AR-apps can improve brands through inspiration. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 49, 43-53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2019.03.004
- Roy, S. K., Balaji, M. S., Quazi, A. & Quaddus, M. (2018). Predictors of customer acceptance of and resistance to smart technologies in the retail sector. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 42, 147-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2018.02.005
- Scholz, J. & Smith, A. N. (2016). Augmented Reality: Designing Immersive Experiences That Maximize Consumer Engagement. A Digital Marketing Research Agenda. *Australasian Marketing Journal*, 26(3), 199-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ausmj.2018.07.003
- Smith, H. J., Dinev, T. & Xu, H. (2011). Information Privacy Research: An Interdisciplinary Review. MIS Quarterly, 35(4), 989-1015. https://doi.org/10.2307/41409970
- 42. Watson, M. (2020). Web-Based Augmented Reality Used to Enhance Samsung 'Life Unstoppable' Virtual Event. Cision PRWeb. https://www.prweb.com/releases/2020/9/prweb17388224.htm
- 43. Yuksel, D. & Tolon, M. (2017). The Development of Marketing and Augmented Reality. *Yönetim, Ekonomi ve Pazarlama Araştırmaları Dergisi, 1*(2), 15-23.

Ivan Kožić Institute for Tourism 10000 Zagreb, Croatia ivan.kozic@iztzg.hr

Neven Ivandić Institute for Tourism 10000 Zagreb, Croatia neven.ivandic@iztzg.hr Ivan Sever thinktourism d.o.o 10000 Zagreb, Croatia ivan.sever@thinktourism.org JEL: Z30, J49 Review article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.13

Received: January 5, 2022 Revision received: May 23, 2022 Accepted for publishing: May 24, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



EMPIRICAL ASSESSMENT OF TOURISM-GENERATED EMPLOYMENT: CONCEPTS AND CHALLENGES

Abstract

Purpose: This paper aims to examine the important concepts and challenges emerging from an assessment of the employment generated by tourism activity.

Methodology: Standard methodology for the compilation of the tourism satellite account is used. The case study is Croatia, a small European country whose economy is immensely driven by tourism, thereby representing a particularly suitable research example.

Results: The paper reports and discusses all practical issues related to the process of assessment and measurement of tourism-generated employment in a small tourism-driven economy.

Conclusion: The assessment of tourism-generated employment is far from being analyzed and documented as thoroughly as the assessment of tourism-generated GDP. A common impression is that researchers have hitherto been too busy measuring tourism-generated GDP, thereby paying insufficient attention to the most important manifestation of GDP creation - employment. Therefore, this paper aims to fill, at least partially, this huge gap in the current literature.

Keywords: Tourism, employment, tourism satellite account, EU, Croatia

1. Introduction

Tourism could stimulate local economies. Since tourism is mostly labor-intensive, employment is considered a key variable for the description of its economic impact. Nevertheless, tourism-generated employment has hitherto been one of the least studied phenomena in tourism economics literature because the assessment of tourism-generated employment is a particularly complex task. Compared to other industries such as agriculture and manufacturing, tourism is not an industry in the traditional sense and has not been defined as a separate sector within the national accounts. Since it is not an unambiguous sector directly observed in the official statistics but a collection of complementary industries providing goods and services to visitors, standard definitions and classifications are not readily applicable to tourism and consequently to tourism-generated employment. Measurement difficulties also arise from the specific characteristics of tourism-generated employment. High seasonality, a huge proportion of part-time jobs, and lowpaid labor represent just some of the many specificities related to tourism-generated employment.

From a statistical point of view, the data on tourism-generated employment are quite fragmented and lack credibility (UNWTO & ILO, 2014). A wide range of concepts and definitions, different methods and data sources often lead to different estimations, lacking international comparability (Heerschap, 1999; Johnson & Thomas, 1990; Ladkin, 2011). Regarding the applied analytical methods, tourism is a two-sided phenomenon that can be approached from the demand-side and supply-side perspective. When calculating the level of tourism-generated employment, demand-side and supply-side approaches may result in major differences.

The demand-side approach concentrates on the activities of visitors and their consumption of goods and services (UNWTO & ILO, 2014). Therefore, it cannot be used to get an insight into the structure of employment (Heerschap, 1999). It is usually based on the data on tourist expenditures and labor coefficients. The key methodological issue of its appliance lies in the appropriate conversion of the expenditure to the employment figures (Johnson & Thomas, 1990). On the other hand, the supplyside approach is industry-oriented and considers tourism as a set of productive activities that serve visitors (United Nations & UNWTO, 2010). This approach estimates the level of tourism-generated employment by calculating the tourism ratio or the share of total employment in a set of selected industries that can be attributed to tourism (Heerschap, 1999). The main issue is the selection of industries that should be included (Johnson & Thomas, 1990; Glyptou et al., 2014).

Since it is obvious even from a brief inquiry that there is a lot of fuzziness and complexity in the field, this paper aims to report all practical issues emerging from the process of assessment and measurement of tourism-generated employment. In this regard, we have analyzed the case of Croatia, a small European country whose economy is heavily dependent on tourism.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. The next section presents a review of existing literature with a special focus on the most important concepts in the field. This is followed by the central part of the paper presenting the practice of tourism-generated employment measurement in the European Union together with the case study of Croatia as a detailed example of the practice in an EU member state. The paper ends with concluding remarks containing a brief discussion of the main findings.

2. A review of conceptual measures assessing tourism-generated employment

Tourism-generated employment can be measured through a set of complementary indicators - the number of people employed, the number of jobs, and the number of full-time equivalent jobs (United Nations et al., 2010; Heerschap, 2018; Koens & Wood, 2017). Since tourism is characterized by a high proportion of part-time jobs, the indicator of full-time equivalent jobs is important for more meaningful comparisons of the size of employment generated by tourism in different destinations (United Nations et al., 2010; Heerschap, 2018). It is calculated by converting all hours worked by persons employed part-time into full-time jobs. While the data on the number of jobs or people employed are relevant to microeconomic policy, the data on the number of full-time equivalent jobs are relevant in macroeconomic governance (Leiper, 1999).

Two conceptual measures, yielding rather different perspectives, can be employed in the process of assessing and measuring tourism-generated employment. The first concept is 'tourism employment' and the second is 'employment in the tourism industries'. The concept of 'tourism employment' implies employment in the production of all goods and services consumed by visitors. These goods and services are produced by either tourism-characteristic industries or other industries within a national economy (United Nations & UNWTO, 2010). In other words, tourism employment measures the number of jobs directly attributable to tourism demand (UNWTO & ILO, 2014). On the other hand, 'employment in the tourism industries' refers to all jobs providing both tourism-characteristic and non-tourism-characteristic services in all establishments in tourism industries (UNWTO & ILO, 2014). All establishments that serve visitors directly and would likely cease to exist in the absence of tourism activity are classified as the tourism-characteristic industry (UNWTO & ILO, 2014).

Tourism-generated employment may take direct, indirect or induced forms, thereby further complicating the assessment of employment impacts of tourism. The figures on direct tourism-generated employment include those employed in tourismcharacteristic industries that provide services directly to visitors, such as travel agencies, tour operators, and accommodation providers (UNWTO & ILO, 2014). The total output of a tourism-characteristic industry usually exceeds consumption by visitors, as part thereof is consumed by non-visitors. The levels of employment generated by tourism should be therefore estimated by using the tourism ratio allocator, which relies on the assumption that the employment generated by tourism in each industry is in direct proportion to the value-added generated by tourism (UNWTO & ILO, 2014).

Indirect employment is generated by the supply chain of other industries which provide inputs to the tourism-characteristic industry, such as agriculture and transportation industries (UNWTO & ILO, 2014). It can be estimated from the national accounts, which enable an insight into the relationships between different industries of a national economy and calculation of the tourism multiplier to determine which part of the employment corresponds to tourism consumption (Heerschap, 2018). When calculating multiplier effects, it is important to adjust for non-touristic sources of demand which generate employment, since in some industries only a part of the employment can be assigned to the consumption of visitors (Koens & Wood, 2017; Heerschap, 2018).

Finally, employment is also generated by the consumption of people who are directly or indirectly employed by the tourism industry, and whose spending stimulates the growth of employment in other areas. This is called induced employment. A comprehensive analysis of the total employment impacts of tourism should therefore include direct, indirect and induced effects (United Nations et al., 2010).

Only a limited number of countries produce meaningful data on tourism-generated employment (UNWTO & ILO, 2008; Chernyshev, 2009). National methods of data collection were often insufficient and inappropriate for accurate measurement (Ladkin, 2011). When collecting employment and other data, countries usually adopt a form of standard industrial classification, such as the International Standard Industrial Classification of All Economic Activities used by United Nations International Labour Organization (ILO), NACE - Statistical classification of economic activities in the European Community used by Eurostat (European Commission and EUROSTAT, 2008), or the North American Industry Classification System. Analysis of tourism-generated employment necessarily includes more than one statistical source, and hence the integration of data from different sources measuring various dimensions of tourism-generated employment is preferable (UNWTO & ILO, 2014). The major data sources on employment are establishment-based sample surveys, population census and household labor force surveys (United Nations & UNWTO, 2010).

Preferable methodological frameworks for data integration are the Tourism Satellite Account (TSA: RMF 2008), the OECD Employment Module, and the International Recommendations for Tourism Statistics 2008 (IRTS 2008). It is also worth mentioning the European system of national and regional accounts 2010 (ESA 2010), which is especially important for the EU member states.

The most popular methodological framework for estimating the impacts of tourism on the overall economy is the TSA: RMF 2008, which provides a detailed analysis of production units in different industries that provide goods and services consumed by visitors (United Nations et al., 2010). It identifies the supply of goods and services consumed by visitors and describes how the supply of such goods and services interacts with other economic activities (UNWTO & ILO, 2014; Meis, 2014). Table 7 in the TSA: RMF 2008 analyzes employment in the tourism-characteristic industries in terms of the number of jobs, hours of work and full-time equivalent jobs, by status in employment. Before the development of the TSA, it was not possible to determine an aggregate measure of employment in tourism-characteristic industries comparable with other industries or the overall economy (Martin, 2013). TSA is, however, focused on the economic side of employment, and neglects the social dimension of tourism employment, such as working conditions (Martin, 2013; United Nations & UNWTO, 2010). To address the shortcomings of the TSA, additional tools (for instance, the OECD Employment Module) and techniques (for instance, General Equilibrium Model) can be applied (Glyptou et al., 2014; Dwyer & Forsyth, 1998).

The challenges of deriving meaningful figures on tourism-generated employment also arise due to various particularities of tourism, such as high seasonality, a high proportion of informal labor, high variability in the working conditions and high labor turnover (Briassoulis, 1991; Gartner & Cukier, 2012; United Nations et al., 2010; Heerschap, 1999). Furthermore, tourism-generated employment should not be viewed just as a production factor, but also as a social phenomenon, i.e., socio-demographic characteristics of persons employed, working conditions, etc. (United Nations & UNWTO, 2010). In this regard, the OECD Employment Module represents a convenient methodological framework for measuring the level and some characteristics of employment (e.g., socio-demographic characteristics) generated by tourism activity (OECD, 2000). It is focused on a supply-side perspective, measuring only the employment in a set of selected tourism-characteristic industries (UNWTO & ILO, 2014) and serves as a complementary tool to the TSA: RMF 2008.

A brief literature review of the current state of concepts and general practices regarding the measurement of the tourism-generated employment can demonstrate the complexity of the topic, suffering from deficiencies driven by conceptual ambiguities, data unavailability, analytical capacity needs and the lack of cross-country comparability. With the new trends in the tourism business, the state of tourism employment will certainly change. Advanced digitalization will make some human tasks redundant, but it should also introduce new jobs that will require different classifications. These developments emphasize the importance of comprehensive and standardized monitoring of tourismgenerated employment.

3. Assessing tourism-generated employment in the EU

Despite the internationally harmonized framework for the measurement of tourism-generated employment, data at the national and international levels in the European Union still lack quality and comparability. Their relevance for conducting economic and tourism policy is questionable, while the characteristics of primary sources also require special attention. Such a conclusion is supported by the analysis of the development of tourism satellite account implementation in the EU (European Parliament & Council of the European Union, 2011).

Based on a survey of 24 EU member states and the United Kingdom, Norway and Switzerland, it could be concluded that the harmonization of national methodologies has not yet been achieved (EURO-STAT, 2019). In the segment of employment, this survey focused on the compilation of four indicators of employment in tourism industries: 'number of jobs', 'number of hours worked', 'number of full-time equivalent jobs' and 'number of people employed'. The information gathered showed that none of the surveyed countries provided data for all four indicators of tourism-generated employment, and data coverage varies across countries. The data on the number of full-time equivalent jobs have been submitted by 18 countries, the data on the number of jobs by 15 countries, the data on the number of people employed by 8 countries, and the data on the number of hours worked by 7 countries.

The level of the compilation of all required employment indicators across the whole set of analyzed countries reached 46% (58 indicators were transmitted out of a maximum of 108 indicators or 4 indicators for 27 countries), which is much lower than for other tourism satellite account indicators. For instance, 86% of indicators of total domestic supply and internal tourism as well as 95% of indicators of internal tourism consumption and 100% of indicators of production have been submitted by the analyzed countries.

The compilation of employment data within the tourism satellite account framework usually requires the use of a wide range of sources, including labor demand sources such as establishment-based data, labor supply sources such as labor force surveys, and administrative sources such as employment office registers or tax and social security records. The practice across the EU countries singled out the labor force survey as the most relevant data source. It is used by 10 reporting countries as the primary source of data and by five countries as an auxiliary source. Business statistics that are based upon data on enterprise establishments are used by 12 countries, 5 of which use them as the primary source and 7 as an auxiliary source. Supply-use tables, such as the input-output table, and other national accounts data are the primary source of data in 13 countries and an auxiliary source in 3 countries. All other sources, including surveys of tourism service providers and administrative data, have been used by 10 countries, 4 of which use them as a primary source.

4. Sources and indicators used in assessing tourism-generated employment in Croatia

Being a small Mediterranean country with a total population below 4 million, Croatia has experienced a significant restructuring of the national economy in the last 30 years, which is to some extent the consequence of the War of Independence 1991 - 1995. As of today, tourism accounts for more than 15% of Croatian GDP, thereby making Croatia a particularly suitable case study for the analysis of different kinds of tourism impact on economic and non-economic phenomena.

After more than a decade of development, in 2019, the tourist satellite account became an integral part of official Croatian statistics (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2019b). It includes data on internal tourism expenditures and consumption as well as the output of tourism industries. Employment data for Croatian tourism-characteristic industries were compiled on a preliminary basis focusing on the key features of available data sources and their compliance with the requirements of the *TSA: RMF 2008.* The reference year is 2016.

Adjustments related to the classification of products and tourist activities have been conducted due to the lack of relevant data from statistical sources. Culture, recreation, and sports services were aggregated into one tourism-characteristic industry. In order to increase the understanding of the specificities of Croatian tourism, retail trade has been added to the 'standard' list of internationally comparable tourism-characteristic products and activities. It was done because shopping expenditures make up to 15% of average daily expenditures of tourists in Croatia (Institute for Tourism, 2018).

Given common practice of using multiple sources to compile employment data in Croatia (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2019a), the first step was to assess the compliance of available sources with the *TSA: RMF 2008.* This informed our choice of measuring employment as employment in the tourism industries, with a focus on the number of jobs and hours worked as indicators of the size of employment and intensity of labor force utilization (United Nations et al., 2010). The data sources are divided into three groups: (i) administrative data sources, (ii) statistical sources related to the demand for labor, and (iii) statistical sources related to the supply of labor.

Administrative data sources include:

• Tax Administration

The data are compiled through the income tax form. Filling and submitting this form to the Tax Administration is compulsory for income payers. The collected data are used by the Croatian Bureau of Statistics for the calculation of the number of persons employed in legal entities. The data are published in a monthly publication at the level of the sections and divisions of the Croatian National Classification of Activities, which is harmonized with NACE - Statistical classification of economic activities in the European Community. Data source weaknesses are related to the problem of compliance of data with the data from other sources and the problem of collecting data according to the prevailing activity of legal entity and not on the level of its establishments.

• Register of Annual Financial Reports

The creation of annual financial reports and their submission to the Register of Annual Financial Reports [hereinafter referred to as "RAFR"] is compulsory for all legal entities and natural persons that pay the profit tax. The reports include data on the average number of employees and the number of employees based on hours worked according to prevailing activities of the legal entity. The RAFR is organized as an e-book from which data can be easily accessed (FINA, 2020). Data source drawbacks are related to the problem of compliance with data from other sources as well as to the problem of collecting data according to the prevailing activity of a legal entity and not at the level of its establishments. Data are accessible at any needed level of the Croatian National Classification of Activities 2007 [hereinafter referred to as "NKD 2007"] (Government of the Republic of Croatia, 2007). However, the database does not contain data on gender and employment status of employees and the selfemployed and does not allow access by different periods of the year, which would be useful due to the problem of high seasonality of tourism in Croatia.

• Croatian Pension Insurance Institute

This source contains data on pension insurance beneficiaries in trades and freelancers by economic activities. The data are processed and published by the Croatian Bureau of Statistics in a quarterly publication including the number of persons employed presented at the level of the sections of the Croatian National Classification of Activities presented by gender (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2017a). The data source weakness, in addition to the issue of questionable data compliance with the data from other data sources, arises from an inadequate level of disaggregation by economic activities. Statistical sources related to the demand for labor:

Annual survey of employment in all legal entities

The survey is conducted and processed by the Croatian Bureau of Statistics and it includes data on the number of persons employed in accordance with the type of employment status, gender, age and educational attainment level on March 31 each year. The results of this survey are published in a yearly publication that includes data on employment by sections and divisions of the Croatian National Classification of Activities (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2017b). The data source weakness comes from the time horizon of data and the overall limitation to legal entities.

Statistical sources related to the supply of labor:

• Labor Force Survey

The survey is carried out throughout the year by the Croatian Bureau of Statistics on a sample of households. The results are published in a yearly publication, including quarterly data on the number of employees, the selfemployed, temporary employees, part-time employees and average usual weekly working hours by the NKD 2007 sections. The applied methodological framework allows data processing at the division level as well. The time horizon and coverage of data comply with the requirements of the TSA: RMF 2008. Thus, the Labor Force Survey can be considered the best available source for the compilation of employment data in tourism-characteristic industries. However, the sections and divisions of the NKD 2007 are not fully compatible with the definition of the tourism-characteristic industries, and the quality of this source is also limited due to insufficient accuracy of the data at the quarterly level (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2018). There is also an issue regarding the suitability of the research methodology used for the measurement of employment in the cases of the sharing economy. This is especially important for destinations where renting one's own housing facilities as short-term tourist accommodation is rapidly growing.

Given the limitations of available sources, especially their relevance and accuracy, the compilation of employment data for Croatian tourism-characteristic industries is based on a combination of different sources of official statistical data. To minimize the negative effects of combining data from the sources applying different methodological standards, the number of sources used was minimized. Furthermore, it was necessary to adjust the list of tourismcharacteristic industries as well as the list of the compiled employment variables. Corrections were made to the list of tourism-characteristic industries in the segment of country-specific tourism industries, as they assume availability of data at a higher level of industry disaggregation than provided by official statistical sources.

According to the guidance given by the TSA: RMF 2008 (United Nations et al., 2010), employment indicators focus on the intensity of the use of the labor force measured by: (i) the number of jobs by status in employment (employees and self-employed) and gender (male and female); (ii) the number of hours worked by status in employment (employees and self-employed), and (iii) the number of full-time equivalent jobs by status in employment (employees and self-employed) 'in order to wipe out the effects of part-time jobs' (United Nations et al., 2010; para. 4.68). A more detailed overview of the procedures, sources used and the main results of the estimation of employment in the tourism industries in Croatia is given in Table 1. As the overview shows, the Labor Force Survey is the most significant source of data for the estimation of employment in the Croatian tourism industries. However, the Labor Force Survey could not be the only source. Therefore, due to the problem of coherence, the data from the Labor Force Survey were supplemented by the administrative sources having access to individual company business figures.

The established methodological framework resulted in an estimate of approximately 317,500 persons or 20.3% of total employment, which can be attributed to tourism industries in Croatia. A group of 'standard' tourism industries generated approximately 156,000 jobs or 9.96% of total employment. At the same time, these tourism industries generated 9.66% of Croatia's gross value added. Retail trade, as a country-specific tourism-characteristic industry, generated approximately 162,000 jobs or 51% of total jobs. In addition to retail trade, the largest employers among the 'standard' tourism industries are food and beverage servicing industry with 74,000 jobs, and accommodation services for visitors, with approximately 35,000 jobs.

		Number	of iobs by st	atus in empl	ovment an	d gender		
			Number status in er	of jobs by mployment	Number of gen	of jobs by der		Number of
Tourism industries	Sources, limitations of available data and procedure of estimation of the employment in the tourism industries in Croatia	Total	Employ- ees	Self- employed	Male	Female	Number of hours worked	ruul-tume equivalent jobs**
Accommodation ervices for visitors	 Source: Labor force survey (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2018). 	34,840	33,371	1,469	11,556	23,284	65,971,760	36,328
Food and beverage ervicing industry	 Characteristics of the source/data used: Data available at 2-digit level of NKD 2007; activities are defined according to the main activity of the 'establishment'. 	74,126	62,372	11,754	32,872	41,254	141,027,032	77,658
Travel agencies and other reservation services industry	 At the quarterly level, data on the number of employees by employment status and gender as well as the number of hours worked are available. <u>Procedure</u> Data on the number of employees and self-employed including 	9,185	6,525	2,660	4,970	4,215	15,671,188	8,630
Cultural, sports and recreational ndustries	gender distribution have been simply transferred from the Labor Force Survey (with adjustments for the non-observed employment and self-employment).	25,073	24,107	966	14,554	10,519	46,105,696	25,389
Retail trade*	 runner of working froms near been estimated based on average weekly working hours and the total number of employed persons. 	161,854	148,936	12,918	87,573	74,281	288,023,528	158,603
ƙailway passenger ransport	 <u>Sources:</u> <u>RAFR</u> and company disclosed financial and business statements. <u>Characteristics of the sources/data used:</u> <u>Passenger services are provided by one company so published data enable a compilation of the defined indicators.</u> <u>Procedure:</u> Number of employees, working hours and gender distribution have been estimated with respect to the number of employees in the company. Hrvatske zeljeznice, the only provider of passenger railway transport. 	1,906	1,906	1	1,463	443	3,412,971	1,879
Road passenger transport	 Source: Labor Force Survey. RAFR and companies that disclosed financial and business statements. RAFR and companies that disclosed financial and business statements. Characteristics of the sources/data used: Data from the RAFR do not contain information on the number of self-employed persons and the structure of jobs by gender. Procedure: Total employment and the number of hours worked have been estimated as the sum of the total number of employees by working hours. Number of self-employed persons has been estimated based on the number of natural persons (with registered legal trade entities) that submit annual financial reports to the RAFR. Number of ratural persons to the RAFR. Number of structure presented in the Labor Force Survey. 	6,383	6,139	244	3,454	2,929	11,398,589	6,277

		Number o	of jobs by st	atus in emple	oyment and	l gender		
			Number status in ei	of jobs by nployment	Number o gend	f jobs by ler		Number of
Tourism industries	Sources, limitations of available data and procedure of estimation of the employment in the tourism industries in Croatia	Total	Employ- ees	Self- employed	Male	Female	Number of hours worked	equivalent jobs**
Water passenger transport	 <u>Source:</u> RAFR and companies that disclosed financial and business statements. Labor Force Survey. Labor Force Survey. Characteristics of the sources/data used: Data from the RAFR do not contain information on the number of self-employed persons and the structure of jobs by gender. Total employment and the number of hours worked have been estimated as the sum of the total number of employees by working hours. Number of self-employed has been approximated from the Labor Force Survey based on the assumption that all crafts and trades in the Water Transport NKD 2007 division are engaged in the transport of passengers. Number of employees by gender is approximated based on the gender structure of employees in the ladrolinja company, the largest provider of passenger water transport in Croatia. 	2,924	2,397	527	2,389	535	5,455,248	3,004
Air passenger transport	 <u>Source:</u> Labor Force Survey. RAFR and companies that disclosed financial and business statements. RAFR and companies that disclosed financial and business statements. Characteristics of the sources/data used: Data from the RAFR do not contain information on the number of self-employed persons and the structure of jobs by gender. Total employment and the number of hours worked have been estimated as the sum of the total number of employees by working hours. The number of employees in the Croatia Airlines company, the largest provider of air passenger transport in Croatia. 	1,165	1,165	1	594	571	2,123,015	1,169
Total		317,456	286,918	30,538	159,425	158,031	65,971,760	318,937
*As a country-specif **Based on 1,816 hou Source: Institute for '	c tourism-characteristic industry urs of annual work hours (the sum of monthly hours minus work hours d Tourism (2019)	during pul	olic holida	ys and annu	al leave)			

424 EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS *Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 417-428*

In comparison with the overall economy, Croatian tourism industries are less oriented towards selfemployment. The share of the self-employed in the total number of jobs in tourism industries is 11%, which is two percentage points lower compared to the overall level of employment (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2018).

All tourism industries in Croatia are predominantly reliant on female workforce. 54% of jobs were held by women and 46% by men. This contrasts with the structure of the total economy, where 54% of jobs were held by men and 46% by women (Croatian Bureau of Statistics, 2018).

The accommodation industry includes the activity of renting and operating self-owned short-stay accommodation. It is not covered by the Labor Force Survey. However, it is especially important in Croatia, where 76,600 households provide approximately 3.5 million commercial tourist nights. With the estimated working time of at least 1 hour per 1 overnight stay required for the work process that includes activities such as registering guests, cleaning and laundering, it follows that 35.5 million hours or 54% of the estimated number of hours worked in the accommodation industry were not included in the employment statistics.

It can be concluded that the assessment of employment figures requires changes in the data collection and processing in both supply-side and demandside surveys, including coverage of all types of economic entities, adjustment to seasonal oscillations and disaggregation of economic activities. This is important in order to ensure an increase in the accuracy of the Labor Force Survey as well as to enable a more transparent process of data transfer between the different data sources.

Finally, the analysis showed that special attention should be paid to measuring employment resulting from the provision of accommodation within households, since this particular type of part-time employment provides a different insight into employment in the tourism industries with a potentially very significant impact.

5. Concluding remarks

Employment is a key variable in the economic analysis of productive activities and an important factor in long-term competitiveness. Therefore, high-quality measurement of different dimensions of employment, especially in labor-intensive industries, is imperative. However, as shown, measuring employment in tourism is faced with significant methodological challenges. Methodological complexity stems from the fact that tourism, observed from the supply side, is a set of diverse economic activities that provide products and services to visitors. Moreover, tourism is also often characterized by high seasonality of the demand involving extensive oscillations of the demand for labor.

The challenges of measuring tourism-generated employment represent particularly important issues in the context of internationally harmonized methodological frameworks of tourism statistics and the tourism satellite account. For instance, the scope of tourism satellite account employment indicators is much narrower than the scope of indicators proposed by the International Recommendations for Tourism Statistics. Therefore, the tourism satellite account does not enable an in-depth analysis of the quantitative and qualitative characteristics of human capital and productivity in tourism industries (Joppe & Li, 2016). Moreover, the practical examples exhibit the problems of employment data compilation even within that narrow scope. It undoubtedly requires further improvement of tourism employment statistics and their international harmonization. It also requires the focus to be expanded in order to encompass variables like age group, country of residence, labor costs and educational attainment. The focus should not be related to the choice of indicators only, but also to the question of how to generate these indicators in a quality and harmonized manner.

The analyzed practical example of Croatia also indicates the requirement for improvement of tourism employment statistics, especially concerning the quality of sources. Important weaknesses also stem from insufficient disaggregation of the national classification of economic activities as well as from the measurements of the magnitude of part-time and overtime work. Although these problems are solvable at the national level, important challenges are related to the quality of estimated and compiled data and their cross-sectoral and international comparability.

Since data comparability and harmonization are extremely important, there is an urgent requirement for the development of an internationally transparent, relevant, and harmonized approach to data collection and processing. This is a critical factor for international comparability of data since the importance of comparability of employment indicators established by the *TSA: RMF 2008* has a limited impact if harmonization is not ensured. Consequently, special attention should be paid to the process of harmonization of key methodological elements of the most relevant data sources. This will ensure data comparability not only between countries with homogeneous economic structures (UNWTO & ILO, 2014), but also between countries offering similar product portfolios.

Furthermore, the changing characteristics of business in modern economies require adaptation of established tourism employment concepts for the impact of the sharing economy. Due to its win-win character for both owners and renters (Fang et al., 2016), the sharing economy in tourism, and especially in accommodation, has grown significantly. In 2019, 21% of EU citizens used a website or an application to arrange accommodation with another person (EUROSTAT, 2020). Since the process of collecting data on short-stay accommodation offered through online platforms has already been launched, we should soon expect successful measurement of the physical and monetary impact of short-stay accommodation offered through online platforms on the output of tourism-characteristic industries. However, as the case study of Croatia has shown, there is a huge methodological issue related to measuring labor inputs involved. This involves dealing with the possible conceptual issues related to the nature of labor in the field of the sharing economy (e.g., legal status of operation, commercial or non-commercial type of services, direct or indirect employment). It also calls for the action

of adaptation of internationally harmonized statistical methods and instruments.

Finally, given the policy-driven requirements for the measurement of overall tourism-generated employment and not only the measurement of employment in the tourism industries, the justification for the usage of the tourism ratio requires additional attention from a cross-sectoral and international perspective. The generally accepted principle that tourism ratios provide a good basis for estimation of tourism-generated employment arises from the assumption that there are the similar structures of inputs in tourism and non-tourism segments of tourism-characteristic industries (United Nations et al., 2010). However, it seems reasonable to question the homogeneity of the production process of tourism-characteristic industries with different portfolios of products and services offered to visitors and non-visitors. This is especially true in the case of the food and beverage servicing industry, where technological and organizational processes can significantly differ between facilities with product portfolios adapted to the needs of specific segments of tourists and facilities focused primarily on local demand. Retail trade as a specific tourismcharacteristic industry in many countries is another industry heavily dependent on the size and structure of tourist and non-tourist segments. Therefore, future developments of the methodological framework should provide methods for the measurement of employment in tourism that should ensure more accurate estimates of tourism-generated employment by both tourism industries and tourism products. It would finally ensure higher comparability of employment data across countries with different products and different economic structures.

References

- 1. Briassoulis, H. (1991). Methodological issues: Tourism input-output analysis. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 18(3), 485-495. https://doi.org/10.1016/0160-7383(91)90054-F
- 2. Chernyshev, I. (2009, March 30 April 2). ILO/UNWTO project on employment in the tourism industries: Statistics component [Paper presentation]. In *5th UNWTO International Conference on Tourism Statistics*. Bali: UNWTO.
- 3. Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2017a). *Persons in employment in crafts and trades and free lances fourth quarter of 2016*. https://www.dzs.hr/Hrv_Eng/publication/2016/09-02-02_04_2016.htm
- 4. Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2017b). *Persons in paid employment, by sex and activities, situation as on 31 March 2016.* https://www.dzs.hr/Hrv_Eng/publication/2016/09-02-03_01_2016.htm
- 5. Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2018). *Labour Force Survey Results Croatia 2016 Europe 2016*. https://www.dzs.hr/Hrv_Eng/publication/2017/SI-1604.pdf
- 6. Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2019a). *Calendar of Statistical Data Issues*. https://www.dzs.hr/Hrv_Eng/kalendar/2019/Kalendar2019.pdf
- 7. Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2019b). *Tourism Satellite Account for the Republic of Croatia, 2016*. https://www.dzs.hr/Hrv_Eng/publication/2018/12-04-01_01_2018.htm
- 8. Dwyer, L. & Forsyth, P. (1998). Estimating the Employment Impacts of Tourism to a Nation. *Tourism Recreation Research*, 23(2), 3-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/02508281.1998.11014833
- 9. Odluka o Nacionalnoj klasifikaciji djelatnosti 2007. NKD 2007. (Official Gazette 58/07, 72/07).
- Joppe, M. & Li, X. P. (2016). Productivity Measurement in Tourism: The Need for Better Tools. *Journal of Travel Research*, 55(2), 139-149. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047287514546227
- European Commission & EUROSTAT (2008). NACE Rev. 2 Statistical classification of economic activities in the European Community. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-manuals-and-guidelines/-/ks-ra-07-015
- 12. European Parliament & Council of the European Union (2011). Regulation (EU) No 692/2011. Official Journal of the European Union L 192.
- 13. EUROSTAT (2019). *Tourism Satellite Accounts in Europe 2019 edition*. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-statistical-reports/-/KS-FT-19-007
- 14. EUROSTAT (2020). *Individuals collaborative economy*. http://appsso.EUROSTAT.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=isoc_ci_ce_i&lang=en
- 15. Fang, B., Ye, Q. & Law, R. (2016). Effect of sharing economy on tourism industry employment. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 57, 264-267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2015.11.018
- 16. FINA (2020). Croatian Companies' Annual Reports.
- 17. Heerschap, N. M. (1999). The employment module for the tourism satellite account of the OECD. *Tourism Economics*, 5(4), 383-413. https://doi.org/10.1177/135481669900500406
- 18. Heerschap, N. (2018, November 28-30). Tourism-related employment: importance and its measurement [Paper presentation]. In *15th Global Forum on Tourism Statistics*. Cusco: OECD.
- Glyptou, K., Papatheodorou, A., Paravantis, J. A. & Spilanis, I. (2014, July 7-9). Tourism Sustainability Methodologies: A Critical Assessment [Paper presentation]. In *Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Information, Intelligence, Systems and Applications*. Chania: IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/IISA.2014.6878832
- 20. Institute for Tourism (2018). TOMAS Summer 2017 Attitudes and Expenditures of Tourist in Croatia.
- 21. Institute for Tourism (2019). Tourism Satellite Account for Republic of Croatia for 2016 and Calculation of Indirect and Total Contributions of Tourism.

- 22. Johnson, P. & Thomas, B. (1990). Employment in Tourism: A Review. *Industrial Relations Journal*, 21(1), 36-48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2338.1990.tb00085.x
- Koens, A. & Wood, R. C. (2017). An analysis of international employment levels in hospitality occupations using secondary statistics. *International Journal of Tourism Research*, 19(5), 496-504. https://doi.org/10.1002/jtr.2122
- 24. Ladkin, A. (2011). Exploring Tourism Labor. Annals of Tourism Research, 38(3), 1135-1155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2011.03.010
- Leiper, N. (1999). A conceptual analysis of tourism-supported employment which reduces the incidence of exaggerated, misleading statistics about jobs. *Tourism Management*, 20(5), 605-613. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0261-5177(99)00029-1
- 26. Martin, T. (2013). Human Resource Module of the Tourism Satellite Account, 2012. Statistics Canada.
- 27. Meis, S. (2014). *Measuring Employment in the Tourism Industries beyond the Tourism Satellite Account: A Case Study of Canada* (Working Paper No. 5). Geneva: International Labour Office.
- OECD (2000). Measuring the Role of Tourism in OECD Economies: The OECD Manual on Tourism Satellite Accounts and Employment. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264182318-en
- 29. UNWTO & ILO (2008). Sources and Methods: Labor Statistics Employment in the Tourism Industries (Special edition). World Tourism Organization.
- 30. UNWTO & ILO (2014). *Measuring Employment in the Tourism Industries Guide with Best Practices*. World Tourism Organization and International Labour Organization.
- 31. United Nations & UNWTO (2010). *International Recommendations for Tourism Statistics 2008*. ST/ ESA/STAT/SER.M/83/Rev.1. United Nations Publication.
- 32. United Nations, UNWTO & EUROSTAT (2010). *Tourism Satellite Account: Recommended Method*ological Framework 2008. Studies in Methods, Series F, No. 80/Rev.1. United Nations Publication.

Zef Dedaj Univeristy of Pécs Doctoral School of Business Administration 7622 Pécs, Hungary dedajz@gmail.com JEL: 120, 123, O30 Review article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.14

Received: January 11, 2022 Revision received: May 7, 2022 Accepted for publishing: June 16, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



THE ROLE OF THE UNIVERSITY OF PRISHTINA IN KNOWLEDGE CREATION AND TRANSFER: ARE UNIVERSITY-INDUSTRY LINKAGES INCREASING?

Abstract

Purpose: This case study aims to analyse the role of the university in knowledge creation and transfer to the industry.

Methodology: Knowledge creation is analysed in terms of research activities, while knowledge transfer focuses on the abilities and motivation of university staff in transferring the science outcome to the industry. The general problems of the lack of data on innovation activities in Kosovo are evident; therefore, this research uses a qualitative research technique. Data were collected based on a qualitative guide interview, combining and analysing 15 semi-structured interviews.

Results: The findings show that part of the achievements is evident, but part of them is questionable in many aspects, e.g., there is a visible asymmetry between knowledge creation and knowledge transfer. By comparison, teaching has improved significantly over the last decade, while critical thinking is not yet at a satisfactory level.

Conclusion: Indeed, much progress and many challenges could be identified over the half-century. The university's efforts are debatable in terms of knowledge creation, and no sign motivates university staff to publish in high-ranking international journals and contribute to research activities. However, the university is continuously improving its collaboration with international donors, e.g., the European Union remains the main partner.

Keywords: University, industry, collaboration, knowledge creation and transfer

1. Introduction

The overall objective of the university case study is to map the factors that shape innovation in the institution of knowledge creation and knowledge transfer, with the focus on the university. Like many other universities in Europe, the University of Prishtina is a traditional university with a leading role in higher education in Kosovo. The University was founded in 1970, based on the law establishing the University of Prishtina, and at that time, it consisted of the faculties of Law, Economics, Philosophy, Architecture, and Medicine. The campus of the University is located in the centre of Prishtina. The Statute of the University came into force very late, i.e., on 9 July 2004. Presently, the University has 42,006 students and consists of 14 faculties accredited by the Kosovo Accreditation Agency (KAA), along with 900 academic staff members and 300 administrative staff members employed (University of Prishtina, 2019). Not surprisingly enough, all necessary ingredients and all relevant actors of the innovation ecosystem in Kosovo are present. However, a systematic approach toward linking such components to make the innovation ecosystem function properly as an ecosystem that directly supports innovation has been lacking (STIKK, 2014). The Innovation Centre Kosovo (ICK), the Chamber of Commerce, startups, companies, universities, and public institutions are the main innovation actors in the Kosovo innovation ecosystem. It is also the largest research centre in Kosovo (Correa et al., 2013).

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 provides a literature review, Section 3 presents a short methodology, and Section 4 provides an analysis of the University budget composition. Section 5 focuses on the role of the University in knowledge creation and collaboration with the industry, while Section 6 concentrates on the capabilities and willingness of the University to transfer knowledge to the innovation ecosystem. Finally, results and future recommendations are drawn in Section 7.

2. Brief literature review

Innovation is an important source of growth that plays a vital role in determining the competitive advantages of many firms (Lam, 2011) and has been essential for sustained long-term economic development in recent centuries (Baumol, 2002). First, there is a need to differentiate between invention and innovation. While invention means the first idea for a new product or service that universities and academic institutions carry out, innovation is known as implementing ideas that happen at the firm level (Fagerberg, 2003). Schmookler (1966) strongly highlights the importance of patents related to inventive activity. In this relation, it might be worth bringing up the distinctions between narrow and holistic perspectives. While the narrow approach considers the invention (only the first occurrence of the idea), the so-called holistic perspective stresses the importance of understanding the entire cycle of innovation, e.g., from the creation of novel ideas to the commercialisation and diffusion of the idea in practice (Edler & Fagerberg, 2017). Hence, closer cooperation between universities and industry can help match university skills output and labour market needs. Industry inputs could help align curricula to firm and market needs.

Moreover, internship programmes contribute to knowledge creation and transfer. More internships in the industry would allow students to get practical experience and create connections with employers before graduation. Improving the availability of these skills sets among university graduates and the existing SME workforce via on-job training can lead to higher productivity and innovation among SMEs, OECD (2021).

Lundvall and Nelson were the two pioneers in the development of an approach to innovation systems, claiming that it would include, in particular, organisations and institutions interested only in science and research, such as R&D departments, technology institutions, and universities (Lundvall, 1992). Organisations are firms, universities, and policy organisations intentionally designed and with a clear purpose, while institutions are laws, guidelines, and rules, and the leading institutions engaged in innovation systems are patent laws, regulations, and laws governing the interaction between firms and universities (Edquist, 2014). Moreover, in his early work, Edquist (2001) pointed out that firms do not innovate in an isolated environment; thus, the role of institutions is critical for innovation processes as they shape the activities of organisations and the connections between them. Tight cooperation between universities, firms, and public and private research organisations is necessary for significant innovations. Havas (2015) indicated that policy interventions aim to create incentives and increase private R&D, often through subsidies, and protect intellectual property rights.

To sum up, innovation is related to many variables. It needs science, technology, entrepreneurship, critical education, training, finance, and numerous organisations and agencies dealing with intellectual property rights, regulations, laws, and competition. Consequently, most innovations result from new ways of collaboration between firms and diverse organisations and the university, rather than the individual activities of single dominant innovation firms (Nooteboom & Stam, 2008).

3. Methodology and data collection

Arino et al. (2016) claimed that qualitative research focuses on the depth and complexity of new phenomena and highlights the objective of reality by explaining why and how phenomena occur. The general problems of the lack of data on innovation activities in Kosovo are evident; therefore, this research relies on a gualitative research technique instead of a quantitative method, consisting of in-depth interviews with key stakeholders and a review of relevant policy documents. The research tool "case study" method was conducted with the key actors of the Kosovo innovation ecosystem, with a particular focus on university staff. According to Yin (2018), the case study approach is viewed as an empirical method focusing on an in-depth investigation of a contemporary phenomenon within the scope of the real world, mainly when the boundaries between context and phenomenon are not readily visible. In the university case study, knowledge transfer organisations were interviewed to test how innovation emerged, developed, or lacked in Kosovo. Empirical experiences used in this research are based on semi-structured interviews with key innovation-related actors from February 2020 to January 2021. The following case study was carried out at the State University of Prishtina as critical knowledge creation and transfer. The reasoning behind the university case study is to map the factors that shape innovation in the institution of knowledge creation or knowledge development and transfer, such as the University and innovation ecosystem actors in Kosovo. Therefore, the relationship between the University and the industry has been thoroughly studied in this context. The role of the interview for data collection in conducting the case study is essential; in this respect, Malhotra and Dash (2016) suggest some general steps for the conduct of in-depth interviews, and they state that interviews are an unstructured and transparent method of collecting data that are carried out on a "one-on-one" basis. Understanding the importance of the university in the innovation ecosystem, the main objective of this case study is to answer the following research questions: 1) How does the university contribute to the process of knowledge creation through research activities?, and 2) How does the university contribute to knowledge transfer to the actors in the Kosovo innovation ecosystem? Data were gathered using a qualitative guide interview, which combined and analysed 15 semi-structured interviews from university staff, government institutions, the Kosovo Chamber of Commerce (KCC), the industry sector, ICT companies, and an ICT business association. Targeted respondents were informed on time by email, and one-on-one interviews were held as recommended by Malhotra and Dash (2016).

4. University budget composition

Over the years, the University has received only 1.49 percent of the state budget, or EUR 34.79 million in value, with a slight increase in 2020. Table 1 illustrates the University budget allocations between 2018 and 2020.

Year	Wages and salaries	Goods and services	Utilities expenditures	Subsidies and transfers	Capital expenditure	University budget in total
2018	21,158,067	3,052,645	1,175,000	1,299,000	7,150,000	33,834,712
2019	21,263,857	3,402,645	1,175,000	1,444,000	7,500,000	34,785,502
2020	20,986,212	3,422,513	1,175,000	1,444,000	7,900,001	34,927,726

Table 1 Activity-based budgeting of the University

Source: Author's compilation based on the state budget and the Ministry of Finance (2019)

As seen in Table 1, the University has a limited budget, and it has remained at the same level over the years, which determines its low value. According to the analysis of the total university budget of EUR 34.78 million, 88.51 percent is financed from the state budget. In comparison, the University generates 11.49 percent of its own revenue, amounting to EUR 3.99 million in 2019. This means that the University contributed 12.26 percent of its budget, or EUR 4.15 million, from its own sources in 2018. The revenue generated by the University consists of student registration fees or tuition fees and professional services expertise by the institutes and laboratories. The analysis shows that the main budget of the University is spent on salaries, and the University has not spent its budget correctly for many years now. It is interesting to analyse how the University spent activity-based budgeting. For example, 70 percent of the budget is spent on wages and salaries, followed by 10.43 percent on goods and services, 3.15 percent on utilities, 4.02 percent on subsidies and transfers, and only 12.28 percent on capital expenditure.

Similarly, in 2019, 61.13 percent, or EUR 21,263,857 out of EUR 34.92 million, was spent on wages and salaries. In addition to a small University budget, what can be seen in Table 1 is that there is no money allocated for research activities. The University claims that the strategic plan envisages for the future that 1 percent of the University total budget should be reserved for R&D. However, the study reveals that there is nothing concrete yet. First, to increase the University quality and its higher ranking, the University budget should be managed better, and second, it should increase the number of employees and academic staff.

5. The role of the university in knowledge creation

According to Nielsen (2019), R&D is essential for product innovation, but it is not the only kind of knowledge; sometimes, innovation is linked to the kind of knowledge produced in the sense of R&D, which is also one of the critical functions of universities. Therefore, the case study tries to identify and measure the involvement of academic staff in research activities. The University is aware that knowledge creation remains its most important mission. According to the University Statute, teaching and R&D are two key twin objectives. The Statute obliges academic staff to continuously contribute to research activities using two resources: public funding provided by the University, or private funds sponsored by individual contractors of third parties, or both. Though, according to the case study, this remains questionable.

Moreover, to achieve internationally competitive results, the University teaching staff are also obligated to conduct scientific research and innovate work using their professional skills (Statute, 2005). However, University executives admit that many professors treat the University as a secondary school - students show up in classes and attend lectures, professors teach, and students leave. Indeed, teaching is one pillar and it is essential, but R&D-based teaching, incorporating the results of collaboration with the industry and international partners, should be the most crucial pillar. Unfortunately, presently, this sort of project work is almost absent.

Recently, Webometrics and Times Higher Education (2017), ranked the University 2,829, while the Continental Ranking and the Country Ranking, ranked it 940th and 5th, respectively (Webometrics, 2020), which means that the University is lagging behind in terms of many ranking indicators, especially in the field of R&D (Kaçaniku et al., 2018). However, some analyses of scientific publications undertaken by the Organisation for Improving the Quality of Education (ORCA) and recent updates to the Research Gate indicate some developments in scientific publishing (ORCA, 2018; ResearchGate, 2020). For example, Table 2 indicates an increase in the number of the University publications in 2019 compared to 2017.

Table 2 University scientific publications

Year	Total number of scientific publications
2017	1,320 papers
2018	1,735 papers
2019	2,481 papers

Source: Author's compilation based on ResearchGate and the University of Prishtina (2020)

Table 2 indicates an increase in the number of publications in 2019, but the quality of the University publications is not at a satisfactory level. Thus, the university must continue its efforts to enhance the quality rather than the mere quantity of scientific publications in order to fulfil its mission of knowledge creation. In addition, Table 3 further analyses the total number of scientific papers and the participation of faculties, along with the number of professors involved in publishing.

When analysing the total number of academic staff and faculties, the results indicate that despite a limited number of total scientific publications, the average of publications published by professors by faculties is sometimes even smaller than the total number of professors by faculties. Unfortunately, we have only aggregated statistics on publication activity of University professors, so we do not know the structure of publications according to quality indicators (e.g., the impact factor, Q1, Q2).

Faculties	No. of professors	Scientific publications	Number of professors who published	Average
Philosophy	93	35	32	34%
Mathematics	94	524	65	69%
Philology	124	36	39	31%
Law	65	74	42	65%
Economics	89	98	44	49%
Construction and Architecture	65	48	23	35%
Electrical and Computer Engineering	69	57	21	30%
Mechanical Engineering	69	94	29	42%
Medicine	350	528	87	25%
Arts	159	-	-	0%
Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences	79	184	33	42%
Physical Education and Sports	41	14	14	34%
Education	77	94	36	47%
Total	1,374	1,735	465	34%

Table 3 Number of academic staff involved in scientific publications by faculties in 2018

Source: Author's calculation based on ORCA (2018) report and KAS (2019) data

The analysis shows that the University is not performing well in knowledge creation due to a low average of scientific papers published by the University, representing participation of the University with only 34 percent in R&D, which means that the most significant 66 percent of academic staff do not justify the academic title or ranking of the University. Furthermore, there is a lack of criteria since professors should not retain the full academic title if they have not consistently contributed to research activities or have not published a scholarly article in a prestigious journal every year. Even though the University set up the Office of Research and Sponsored Projects in 2017, it aims to facilitate R&D and make it easier for teachers to submit competitive projects and get sponsored. The Office serves as a link between the University academic staff, organisations, agencies, and foundations that sponsor and finance research projects, and operates under direct supervision of the University Vice-Rector for Science. Since it was established, the Office has supported 17 projects in 2018, and 35 other projects in 2019, focused on capacity building. The faculties of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Mechanical Engineering, Philosophy, Economics, Education, and Agriculture are among the main beneficiaries of these projects. Such projects are implemented

in collaboration and partnership with several European universities in e.g. Germany, Italy, Spain, Croatia, Slovenia, the United Kingdom, Montenegro, and Albania. As a result, Kosovo's innovation ecosystem was created, and the functions of socio-economic actors are working, but this kind of knowledge requires systematic research into Kosovo's socio-economic and cultural-technological conditions. The University's initiative to establish a venture incubator was a good step that might be spread to other higher educational institutions (Lajqi et al., 2019).

Interviewed University participants acknowledge that teaching has advanced significantly over the last decade, while R&D has improved slightly. The positive shift reflecting generational change of academic staff (e.g., replacing old academic staff with a new generation) has contributed to a positive change in the mindset, as younger professors are more active in research activities. However, research activities are not systematically tracked compared to teaching, which is continuously monitored by the University Academic Development Office through student evaluation of professors engaged in teaching bachelor's and master's degree courses; thus, teaching is performed better as it is easier to develop and track administration. Moreover, the University needs to improve students' critical thinking. The national qualification framework specifies that critical thinking should be one of core components of the programme and the curriculum, which means that bachelor's degrees should have a critical mindset and it should be compulsory in the master's programme as well. The University admits that students partially gain critical thinking skills.

5.1 University and industry collaboration: important but not focused on building Science, Technology and Innovation (STI) and Doing, Using and Interacting (DUI) relations

The level of education of the workforce is vital for the development and growth (Junge and Skaksen, 2010), and methodological and analytical skills of problem-solving, including absorption capacity and professional knowledge of graduates (STI learning on the university side), are ranked high in terms of the industry's expectations when recruiting graduates (Nielsen, 2019). However, Kosovo's innovation ecosystem actors complain about the lack of good cooperation with the University. Based on the interviews with participants from the metal and wood industries, KCC, 3CIS, Tre Pharm, the ICT sector, and the Association of Information and Communication Technology of Kosovo (STIKK), a classification and elaboration of complaints referring to the University is provided in Table 4, which reflects the lack of University efforts to strengthen cooperation with the industry.

The case study shows that there is currently the lowest level of satisfaction among firms working with the University. Furthermore, a partnership in terms of STI research has not contributed to innovations since there is no evidence of inventions or patents sold to the industry in Kosovo.	The industry confirms that if the University could provide inventions or patents, companies would be willing to buy and commercialise them. This means that there is a lack of STI and DUI relations between the University and the industry.
The lack of adequate knowledge of the University and the lack of incentives for University personnel are shown as concerns. Kosovo's industry is not satisfied with the students' level of knowledge from the University as the labour force for the industry. Companies claim that students lack soft skills, critical thinking skills, problem-solving skills, and presentation skills.	The industry hires students who are not relevant to their professional background, and this forces companies to invest heavily in offering vocational training, in the field of business interest, along with the practical part of how machines work in a company; therefore, it is expensive for the company to improve the skills of new employees/ students.
University curricula and teaching methods are very old-fashioned (the curriculum is updated every three years), not encouraging students to remain up-to-date with their skills. Furthermore, there is a total lack of co-research activities between the University and the industry and a total lack of their commercialisation (a lack of STI & DUI relations).	Although the industry has continuously tried to adjust and adapt curricula to technological developments, the University should be able to provide graduates with up-to-date skills and learning capabilities (e.g., increase the number of students enrolled in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) study programmes) in order to exploit significant R&D investments of innovative firms efficiently.
There is a tendency of public institutions and universities to avoid collaboration with the industry. Due to non-systematic cooperation, there is a lack of effort at the University aimed at offering students the industry internship scheme.	While the industry confirms its willingness to accept students for an internship scheme, this is of mutual benefit because it will make it easier for the industry to recruit new workers from an internship programme that demonstrates skills and competencies.

Table 4 Classification and elaboration of complaints by the industry about the University

Source: Author's compilation based on the interviews with innovation ecosystem actors

Mutual trust, which is frequently developed in mutual experiences (DUI learning is usually characterised by such collaboration), is necessary for tight collaboration. A study conducted by Nielsen (2019), which rates the University of Aalborg in Denmark as the best in terms of partnership with the industry, argues that innovative firms that have collaborated with universities (building STI and DUI relations) have a much higher probability of product or service innovation (a novelty in product or service innovation) compared to the segment of firms that have not collaborated with the university. Therefore, a strong partnership between the university and the industry is necessary to achieve successful STI. However, in terms of university-industry cooperation, regardless of the issues listed above, the case study stresses some developments that show some progress in recent years. Nevertheless, the case study tries to figure out how the university contributes to industrial innovation and how this contribution could be improved. The university approves improved ties with the industry resulting from academic staff, but it still needs improvement. The university recognises the importance of industry engagement in a range of issues of mutual interest; thus, it took the first step towards establishing the industrial advisory board. The establishment and principles of the advisory board have enabled the academic units to set up such an advisory board. The main objective of the advisory board is to link the academy with the industry. Through closer ties, the university can prepare graduates with skills better suited to the labour market requirements and work together with the faculty advisory management on updating the curricula.

Furthermore, the main task of the industry is to provide inputs when new curricula are designed. Unfortunately, this has not been done flawlessly because the above complaints have not been addressed accurately. However, some positive changes are evident. The Faculty of Economics has been quite involved in organising the advisory board, addressing economic and entrepreneurship problems, and strengthening job opportunities for students. The Faculty of Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences has also been active in updating academic curricula, improving teaching and learning methods, and providing practical work and innovative conditions (Career Development Centre, 2019).¹ A success story in the field of collaboration between the University and the industry can be illustrated by the industry initiative, where the Kosovo Metal Industry and Renewable Energy Cluster was developed for the first time in 2017, focusing on encouraging the industry and universities to work closely together. The cluster concept was designed to bring development and innovation together and was viewed as a positive start, but unfortunately, this partnership did not last long. The industry confirms that, after cluster formation, the University did not systematically help them and was no longer active. Nevertheless, even with the passive role of the University, the cluster has continued to play an active role, and has consistently offered vocational training to the staff of its member companies, young engineers, students, and jobseekers, and 20 training sessions to 800 participants. Of these 800 trained participants, 70 have completed the internship scheme, and around 100 young people are working in cluster firms.

The Faculty of Electrical and Computer Engineering has made excellent progress through the advisory board concerning the innovation ecosystem development. For example, several computer science students are sent to participate in ICK events because they offer an excellent infrastructure to support students with future challenges. The Faculty highlights various examples as successes, e.g., in cooperation with STIK and ICK, suggestions are considered when preparing new curricula for the new semester. According to advisory board members, up to 20 percent of the industry suggestions have been incorporated into the new curriculum as the new academic year begins. Although the business community is not satisfied with this progress, the curricula are updated every three years, making it difficult for the University to provide graduates with up-to-date skills and raise the number of STEM students. In addition, the advisory board allows students in the final semester of their studies to have a compulsory course as an internship and they are required to work at least 120 working hours on a project in international or domestic companies. This helps students establish industry connections, demonstrate skills, strengthen relations with possible future employers, and improve negotiating positions and regular track records.

For instance, a company from Germany called Wiso Tech GmbH opened a branch and began operating in Kosovo in 2019. The company launched a student scheme and randomly connected university students who started the internship programme, and due to their excellent skills and competencies, the company recruited them and continuously increased the demand for university students. As a result, 12 university students responsible for developing software were engaged in the company between 2019 and 2020. Students are also sent to Germany to participate in the internship programme

According to the regulation, the advisory board can have at least 11 members and a maximum of 17 members. Faculties should organise advisory board meetings as needed, but not less than two meetings per year.

at Bosch, Microsoft, and Intel, while some others work in German companies operating in Kosovo, such as Wiso Tech GmbH. In addition, students also participate in internships in domestic companies such as 3CIS, ICK, and STIK, developing software for international and domestic market needs. An intended result of the internship programme is that many students could get full-time jobs, primarily in 3CIS. The analysis shows that 10 percent of students are involved in the internship programme abroad, while 30 percent participate in outsourced activities and work on the local market. Companies in which students engage in the internship programme provide dual training for students on technology development issues.

The idea of bringing business people together to develop student soft skills in technology came from STIKK. However, it is not yet clear whether the University has successfully implemented this activity. The University acknowledges that the industry always complains about knowledge transfer. It is good because as long as the industry complains, the University produces something, but not the best. Thus, the University should educate students who can join various projects and not just particular innovation and technology related projects. There is still a lack of research into the technological, social, and institutional practices at the University in Kosovo that was surveyed. Developing high valueadded or strategic collaboration between the University and the industry will significantly boost the University knowledge creation function and help improve the position of the country's firms in the Global Value Chain (GVC). Concerning the performance indicators of University staff, such as the quality of their publications, involvement in international conferences, and the teaching code, the case study shows that the influence of these factors shaping university-industry collaboration is mutually beneficial. Strengthening international and regional cooperation increases collaboration with the industry as the industry is currently at least a step ahead of the University. However, both parties should strengthen the relationship as the advisory board remains only an advisor and not so involved, e.g., both have failed to build STI & DUI relations. As far as STI mode is concerned, there is no evidence in Kosovo of the inventions or patents that have been given to the industry, while regarding DUI mode, only the internship scheme, along with the formation of clusters, can be considered to have led to graduate recruitment. Finally, the University lacks ideas and initiatives to improve cooperation as it tends to change very slowly, but this does not mean that the industry should not push ahead with such efforts.

6. Why lack of knowledge transfer?

Knowledge transfer is a vital part of the role of a university, but offering high-quality lectures requires professors to adapt and develop "state-of-the-art" knowledge. While some progress has been made in creating knowledge, the University is unfortunately well behind in its possibilities of knowledge transfer. Despite the lack of systematic data collection, the findings indicate that knowledge creation and transfer are unbalanced, and the University has admitted this weakness. Likewise, the transfer of knowledge to the industry is relatively weak or even lacking in some fields, and this has been confirmed by the industry; thus, the issue of knowledge transfer needs to be addressed urgently.

On the one hand, the legal framework needs to be strengthened along with the willingness to implement it. On the other hand, knowledge transfer would improve by improving collaboration with the industry and strengthening the role of the advisory board. The University admits that the issue of knowledge transfer has not been adequately addressed to date. However, the study reveals that knowledge transfer is reasonable only in the teaching pillar, which is good, as knowledge creation could be transferred to students. The University needs to increase cooperation with international organisations and donors as one essential tool, while research projects are another driver that should not be neglected. Collaboration with national and regional partners is also essential, both of which are unfortunately not at a satisfactory level. Knowledge transfer needs a time-consuming process of collective learning. Technological developments have rapidly taken place; therefore, university-industry knowledge transfer is a permanent need. Furthermore, the transfer of knowledge from industry to university is necessary, and in this connection, it is worth using the experience of Aalborg University in Denmark as a benchmark (Nielsen, 2019). Due to some improvement in teaching, the transfer of knowledge is working well for students but is not yet in a good phase with the Kosovo innovation ecosystem actors. However, few faculties provide

specific professional services or expertise to public or private enterprises or individuals, e.g., telecommunications, construction, architecture, health, and agriculture, which can be considered a form of knowledge transfer, but it is not satisfactory.

7. Conclusion and recommendations

The findings show that there is asymmetric progress in comparing knowledge creation and knowledge transfer, and the University efforts are questionable in relation to knowledge creation. The University has not yet been able to dedicate financial resources to R&D, and its contribution to R&D accounts for only 34 percent, while 66 percent of academic staff do not justify the academic title. Furthermore, there is a lack of monitoring of professor R&D performance, and there is no sign that motivates university staff to publish in high-ranking international journals. The study recommends that strengthening the role of R&D and increasing knowledge creation in the coming years is necessary to prepare, train, and motivate academic staff to be more competitive in delivering internationally attractive, multidisciplinary, and practice-oriented projects. Likewise, the study recommends that the University should allocate money to R&D and enable academic staff to benefit from that fund and contribute to research activities.

Regarding the criteria for promotion to academic ranks, the University requires academic staff to have five scientific publications to be able to be appointed to the academic title of full professor, but it does not oblige and monitor professors to be active regularly. The research recommends that academic staff should be more active and publish at least one article a year that contributes to research activities. A positive sign is that between 2019 and 2020 the University invested EUR 2.1 million in the development of institutions, laboratories, and infrastructure. An additional EUR 2.4 million is allocated from the University budget to be invested, focusing on increasing knowledge creation and transfer. The study recommends that, while teaching has improved significantly, the University should improve critical thinking for students as this remains challenging because the University does not have any tool to measure student critical thinking. This is confirmed by the industry that complains about the old curricula, which need to be addressed, and the study recommends that the new curricula should be updated and rely on the industry's needs. This often forces companies to employ students unrelated to their professional background and invest heavily in providing vocational training. The study recommends that the University should develop a teaching method to teach high-quality students to think critically and educate students who can take part in various projects.

It is a positive sign that the University recognises the importance of industry engagement in many issues of mutual interest; thus, establishing the advisory board was a good step forward. As a result, many students have been able to participate in the internship scheme, create network industry connections and become fully employed in domestic and foreign technology companies, particularly in the field of international and domestic software development. However, the advisory board remains only an advisor and not so much involved as they have not succeeded in building STI & DUI relations. Knowledge transfer from the University to the industry remains challenging. Hence, what needs to be addressed urgently is creating an appropriate legal framework, enforcing it, and building the ability to enforce the requisite legal framework and the motivation and assessment system for academic staff to be engaged in practice-oriented, high value-added cooperation.

According to scientific results, the fundamental objective of the study has been considerably fulfilled. The findings of the study aim to contribute to the research field and provide an insight into open innovation literature. Of course, since the present study examined only a state university, the findings cannot be generalised to all universities and the Kosovo innovation ecosystem. Therefore, to increase its contribution to the research field, the present study recommends that a similar study should be conducted in Kosovo and the developed countries, and the findings compared with the present study, not using only aggregated statistics measures.
References

- Arino, A., LeBaron, C. & Milliken, F. J. (2016). Publishing Qualitative Research in Academy of Management Discoveries. *Academy of Management Discoveries*, 2(2), 109-113. https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2016.0034
- Baumol, W. J. (2002). The Free-Market Innovation Machine: Analysing the Growth Miracle of Capitalism. Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400851638
- 3. Career Development Center (2019). Roundtable: Strengthening employment opportunities for students and graduates of the University of Prishtina. University of Prishtina.
- Correa, P., Zuniga, P., Rosa, D. D., Vujovic, D., Qasim, Q. & Subhash, H. (2013). Western Balkans Regional R&D Strategy for Innovation. World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/16626
- 5. Edler, J. & Fagerberg, J. (2017). Innovation policy: what, why, and how. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 33(1), 2-23. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grx001
- 6. Edquist, C. (2001). The Systems of Innovation Approach and Innovation Policy: An account of state of the art. *DRUID Conference, At Aalborg, Denmark* (pp. 1-24). Aalborg.
- 7. Edquist, C. (2014). Striving Towards a Holistic Innovation Policy in European Countries But Linearity Still Prevails. *STI Policy Review*, 5(2), 1-19.
- 8. Fagerberg, J. (2003). Innovation: A Guide to the Literature. Oxford Handbook of Innovation.
- 9. Havas, A. (2015). Various approaches to measuring business innovation: their relevance for capturing social innovation. Hungarian Academy of Sciences. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2720881
- 10. Junge, M. & Skaksen, J. R. (2010). Productivity and higher education. DEA.
- Kaçaniku, F., Rraci, E. & Bajrami, K. (2018). *The Situation of Research in Kosovo*. Kosovo Education and Employment Network. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/334400746 The Situation of Research in Kosovo
- KAS (2019). Number of active students at the University of Prishtina by sex, 2016-2018. http://askdata.rks-gov.net/PXWeb/pxweb/en/askdata/askdata_01%20Education_11%20 Statistics%20for%20university%20education_01%20University%20of%20Prishtina/edu62. px/?rxid=8f7d17b0-7480-46cd-a0f2-87a32f93111f
- 13. Lajqi, S., Krasniqi, B. A. & Peci, F. (2019). Mapping business start-up ecosystem in Kosovo. *Ekonomski vjesnik/Econviews*, 32(2), 477-486.
- 14. Lam, A. (2011). *Innovative Organisations: Structure, Learning and Adaptation*. School of Management at Royal Holloway University of London.
- 15. Lundvall, B.-A. (1992). National Systems of Innovation. Towards a Theory of Innovation and Interactive Learning. Pinter Publisher.
- 16. Malhotra, N. K. & Dash, S. (2016). Marketing Research: An Applied Orientation (7th ed). Pearson.
- 17. Nielsen, P. (2019). Innovation modes and knowledge relations: The learning match between university and enterprises in a regional perspective. In Dallago, B & Tortia, E. (Eds.), *Entrepreneurship and Local Economic Perspective* (pp. 165-185). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781351256049-9
- Nooteboom, B. & Stam, E. (2008). Micro-foundations for Innovation Policy. Amsterdam University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9789048501304
- 19. OECD (2021). SME and Entrepreneurship Policy in the Slovak Republic, OECD Studies on SMEs and Entrepreneurship.
- ORCA (2018). Analysis of scientific activity of professors of the University of Prishtina according to official CV-s - 2018. Organisation for Improving the Quality of Education. http://orca-ks.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Analiza-e-publikimit-shkencor-n%C3%AB-UP_Eng. pdf

- 21. ResearchGate (2020). *University of Prishtina*. https://www.researchgate.net/institution/University_of_Prishtina
- 22. Schmookler, J. (1966). *Invention and Economic Growth*. Harvard University Press. https://doi.org/10.4159/harvard.9780674432833
- 23. STIKK (2014). Enabling Startup Ecosystem. The Support that Matters for New Entries in the ICT sector. https://stikk.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Policy-Documents_2014_-_Enabling_Startup_ Ecosystem_EN.pdf
- 24. Times Higher Education (2017). *World University Rankings 2016-2017 methodology*. https://www.timeshighereducation.com/world-university-rankings/methodology-world-university-rankings-2016-2017#survey-answer
- 25. University of Prishtina (2005). *Statute of the University.* https://ekonomiku.uni-pr.edu/Files/Dokumente/Relevante/Statutiversioniifundit.aspx
- 26. University of Prishtina (2019). *History of the University*. https://uni-pr.edu/page.aspx?id=2,8
- 27. Webometrics (2020). Ranking web of universities. https://www.webometrics.info/en/node/36
- 28. Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case Study Research and Applications: Design and Methods* (6th ed). SAGE Publications, Inc.

Appendix

Persons interviewed	Date of interview	Position		
1 Blerim Rexha	February 2020	Professor and Head of the Computer Engineering Department at the Faculty of Electrical and Computer Engineering at the University of Prishtina		
2 Enver Hamiti	March 2020	Dean of the Faculty of Electrical and Computer Engineering at the University of Prishtina		
3 Myrvete Badivuku	April 2020	Professor of Economics & Vice-Rector for Budget and Finances		
4 Faton Berisha	April 2020	Professor of Mathematics & Vice-Rector for Scientific Research at the University of Prishtina		
5 Vjollca Cavolli	May 2020	Executive Director of the Association for Information and Communication Technology		
6 Avdi Krasniqi	May 2020	Senior trademark officer in the Intellectual Property Agency in the Ministry of Trade and Industry		
7 Laura Zherka	May 2020	Director of the Innovation Department at the Ministry of Education, Science, Technology and Innovation		
8 Uranik Begu	May 2020	Chief Executive Officer of the Innovation Centre Kosovo		
9 Arieta Pozhegu	June 2020	Executive Director of Kosovo Wood Processing Association		
10 Astrit Rexhaj	June 2020	Executive Director of the Metal Industry and Renewable Energy Cluster of Kosovo		
11 Fitim Seferi	June 2020	Research Support Officer of the University of Prishtina		
12 Yllza Mehmeti	June 2020	Head of the Innovation Division at the Ministry of Education, Science, Technology and Innovation		
13 Besnik Loxha	June 2020	Director of the Academic Development Office of the University of Prishtina		
14 Berat Rukiqi	January 2021	President of the Kosovo Chamber of Commerce and Assistant Professor at the Faculty of Economics, University of Prishtina		
15 Besnik A. Krasniqi	January 2021	Professor at the Faculty of Economics, University of Prishtina		

List of persons interviewed in the university case study

Kerstin Bätz ISM International School of Management 44227 Dortmund, Germany kerstin.baetz.2019@student.ism.de Patrick Siegfried ISM International School of Management 44227 Dortmund, Germany patrick.siegfried@ism.de JEL: E37, E39, L1, L2, L21, L221 Review article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.15

Received: January 24, 2022 Accepted for publishing: July 19, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



FROM CANVAS TO PLATFORM: REFLECTING ON THE DIGITAL PLATFORM CANVAS

Abstract

Purpose: In this article, the canvas used to simplify business modeling of a platform and its visual depiction are put into the entrepreneurial context, and critically reflected accordingly. Furthermore, it is discussed to what extent the canvas is advantageous, disadvantageous, applicable, not applicable, or even contradictory.

Methodology: The analysis is based on theoretical research. Additionally, qualitative interviews with business founders were conducted.

Results: The results conclude that the canvas employed to ease the business model sharpening process supplies founders with essential aspects to cover, yet they are part of a large set of factors that play in.

Conclusion: The limitations of this study are rooted in the chosen research design based on the conceptual review.

Keywords: Business model, entrepreneurship, Digital Platform Canvas, ecosystems, digitalization

1. Introduction

The currently prevalent COVID-19 pandemic catalyzes innovation, as it can be identified as an economic megatrend that is forcing entire industries to innovatively restructure their economic core (cf. Lubin & Esty, 2010) and develop crisis-resistant business models (McKinsey & Company, 2020a; 2020b; Tidd & Bessant, 2013). Emerging startups should leverage this push of changing needs to develop businesses aligned with the economic demands of the future, with a focus on digitized ecosystems resilient to crises (McKinsey & Company, 2020c; 2020d; Siegfried, 2015). In this sense, this study aims to provide critical thinking on business models to help startups design and sharpen their business models that are platforms to be.

In the structure of this study, addressing aims and objectives comes first. After that, there follows

analysis of the conceptual background. A detailed reflection critically examines von Engelhardt and Wangler's (2019) Digital Platform Canvas (DPC). Subsequently, a delineation of implications for the canvas value added and its pitfalls are shown. That output comprises qualitative interviews with business founders.

The study aims to identify critical aspects and advantages that need to be considered when creating a digital platform business model. The overall objective is thus to identify promising parameters that are advantageous for prospective business founders. To achieve the respective goals, pitfalls in the application of the method are to be identified as well as the application of the method, critically evaluated in its authenticity and transferable conclusions and implications derived. To identify the barriers in the application of the method, literature is consulted to provide a holistic view with valid information.

Overall, the objectives underlying this research will result in a chronological sequence that sheds light on the application of the canvas, which can be both beneficial and detrimental to a company in its early stages.

The potentially resultant generation of competitive advantage underpins the significance of that education on the methods (Kim & Mauborgne, 2015; McKinsey & Company, 2020b; cf. Lubin & Esty, 2010; Siegfried, 2014). Beyond that, businesses and particularly innovative startups that build and shape the next decades' platform economy should be equipped with the implications (McKinsey & Company, 2020a; 2020b). Consequently, the following indicative research question is intended to contribute to the filling of existing academic literature gaps in the context of building digitized platform business models:

Can digitized startups transfer knowledge to their platform business model applying solely the Digital Platform Canvas?

Throughout this study, the question above will be answered to clarify the feasibility and appropriateness of the methods in the contextual sector.

2. Theoretical and conceptual background

In the following chapter, the conceptual background is dedicated to the analysis of the subject method. Hence, in what follows, a critical reflection on the feasibility and effectiveness of the DPC (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019) is elucidated.

A critical reflection of the Digital Platform Canvas

"[Digital platform economies] link players who would not be able to interact with each other, or only with difficulty, without the platform. The interaction of the various players thus creates digital ecosystems." (von Engelhardt & Wangler, 2019, p. 13). The realization of an ecosystem is intended to be simplified with the DPC designed by von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019). Leveraging this canvas is especially topical, while the global economy is still exposed to the COVID-19 pandemic that pushes industries towards a high rate of occurrence of business digitization (McKinsey & Company, 2020c; 2020d). The objective of the DPC is to sharpen a digitized ecosystem according to its key drivers that foster success and guide the founders through the market entry phase. The expected result is hence to refer to a consistent and convincing prototype ecosystem that is at least in its state of proof of concept (cf. Klein, 2013; Maurya, 2016; Ries, 2012; von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019).

The DPC calls to reflect on current revenue models and sheds light on future developments of the subject platform. In this way, the creation of revenue forecasts is leveraged as far as possible by considering changing external conditions such as the prevailing pandemic and the growing presence of digitization (cf. Bennett & Lemoine, 2014; Cohen & Levinthal, 1990; Frederick, O'Connor & Kuratko, 2016; Pressfield, 2012; Ries, 2012; Travis & Hodgson, 2019). Besides, generating potential revenue projections allows for creating initial prototypes that can validate customer demand and the planned proof of concept (cf. Bhargava & Herman, 2020; Kaplan, 1966; Ries, 2012; Siegfried, 2012; Voloshinov et al., 1973). The following expectations that founders may have of this multi-dimensional canvas are as follows (Figure 1):

Figure 1 DPC expectations

DIGITAL PLATFROM CANVAS

	Key drivers	Simplicity	Understanding	Reflectiveness
Platform's market entry strategy V + F	 Image: A set of the	×	 ✓ 	~
Accurate knowledge transfer V + F	~	~	 Image: A set of the	 Image: A start of the start of
Strategic validation V + F	<		 Image: A start of the start of	X
Structure & guidance V + F	<	>	<	X
Uncertainty avoidance F	~	$\boldsymbol{\lambda}$	 ✓ 	~

V: Viewers' point of view F: Founders' point of view

Source: Authors

The DPC template differs vastly in the visual design and composition from the Business Model Canvas designed by Osterwalder (2011). The Business Model Canvas consists of nine building blocks, while the von Engelhardt and Petzolt's (2019) DPC consists of six, where the upper five represent the success factors of the digital platform, and the bottom represents the respective dynamic strategy to plan the market entry deliberately (see Figure 2; cf. Chesbrough, 2006; Kim & Mauborgne, 2015; Osterwalder, 2011; Rumelt, 2011; Siegfried, 2017).



Figure 2 DPC

Source: Adapted from von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019

However, these possible amendments towards developmental trends are invalidated hypotheses only. Thus, it is uncertain whether the platform founders cover enough potential scenarios to be prepared for upcoming, even unforeseen, events and external business-environmental changes and challenges (cf. Bennett & Lemoine, 2014). A potential time loss driven by a human being's psychological subjectivity that can guide the founders due to their bias of persuasion in relation to their business must be considered in this context as it is impossible to separate the mind from individual thought patterns completely (Nisbett, 2003; Düsing, 2006). Hence, it is appropriate preparatory work for flexible minds of the founders to go through diverse scenarios, but as they cannot be proven immediately, the consideration of different scenarios can still result in the unexpected. Here too, Stähler's (2019) approach of consulting expert opinions could be beneficial to evade the risk of unpleasant event emergences.

A higher risk emanates from the steps to be taken before filling out the DPC. Von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019) recommend using an existing and completed Business Model Canvas (Osterwalder, 2011; cf. Stähler, 2019) to complement their DPC. The controversial point here is the subsequent recommendation to use the DPC because the subject canvas is to be understood merely as a tool that relies on additional tools. That has an increased degree of uncertainty, as an error-filled ecosystem can emerge within the application of the DPC based on consequential errors with roots in an earlier completed Business Model Canvas. That can lead to setting incorrect parameters and choosing respective complementary tools or methods (cf. Cohen & Levinthal, 1990; Stähler, 2019; versus Bennett & Lemoine, 2014; von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019). Furthermore, the DPC does not require validation of customer needs, which in the worst case could end in disinvested time, money, and efforts (cf. Ries, 2012; Voloshinov et al., 1973; Kaplan, 1966).

In contrast, the validation of customer needs and desires could be perceived as an entrepreneurial duty (cf. Drucker, 2006) that von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019) could recommend exercising as axiomatic since other dedication without validation would miss the point of creating a digitized ecosystem. Nonetheless, cognitively strong and strategically affine founders should engage in building a digitized ecosystem since they can determine the most crucial parameters themselves and emancipate their minds from predetermined patterns if necessary and since an ecosystem requires a founder's ability to execute and capitalize multiple revenue models similarly. It should be kept in mind that an overly present and consecutively repeated error ratio is not welcome among investors, accelerators, or incubators, especially in Western cultures, as it discredits the strategic and economic holistic caliber of the founders with regard to the subject business model's succeeding potential (Hofstede, 1980; Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner, 1997; cf. Bennett & Lemoine, 2014; versus Frederick et al., 2016; Primecz et al., 2009; Ries, 2012; Bätz & Siegfried, 2021). However, a positively practiced error culture is yet welcome, even among big corporate companies, as it accelerates the internal innovation culture.

Examining the conceptualization of the DPC, it is apparent that each building block is complemented by its dynamic strategy, which lowers the risk of disregarding crucial aspects while building a complex, multi-layered ecosystem. As the complexity increases from building block to building block and since one is built upon the prior, von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019) recommend filling out the DPC in its given order:

1. With the first building block - actors, company founders who employ the DPC must critically reflect on who they aim to attract (cf. Ries, 2012; Maurya, 2016) and connect to their platform. That addressing of target groups is another subliminal objective of the canvas, as it allows the founders to logically derive synergies. The knowledge acquired on the platform users allows for creating novel value added and increases the UX, thus the likelihood of returning users and daily active users, which fosters ecosystem growth (cf. Deutscher, 2010; Grove, 2009; Hartson & Pyla, 2012; Kim & Mauborgne, 2015; Klein, 2013; Stull, 2018; Tidd & Bessant, 2013; Travis & Hodgson, 2019).

Furthermore, the respective dynamic strategy of which target group to acquire first must be defined, similarly to Ries's (2012) and Maurya's (2016) approach with the LS and the associated Lean Canvas, where research must be conducted to identify the early adopters. For a digital platform, it is essential to identify those that are likely to recommend the platform as these users are a vital component of the ecosystem (cf. Bhargava & Herman, 2020; Greve, 2010; Hartson & Pyla, 2012, Reichheld & Seidensticker, 2006; Stull, 2018). Hence, it is imperative to satisfy these users' needs and respond to their user behavior and feedback for further development and commercial success of the platform. In this way, the well-known chicken-and-egg problem of what should be done or who should be attracted first is supposed to be resolved, which is intended to generate the first user traffic on the platform and favor the anticipated scaling (cf. Alpar et al., 2015; Herzberger & Jenny, 2017; Hoffmann & Yeh, 2018; Kaplan, 1966; Voloshinov et al., 1973). However, as there is neither a strategy nor a tool that promises validation that the founders have identified the right group(s) of early adopters (cf. Bennett & Lemoine, 2014), time to rethink the attraction of new early adopters must be considered, which can be detrimental to a young venture as time is a valuable resource, especially in a market that is fast-paced driven by trends.

2. The second building block - raison d'être - deals in greater detail than the first building block's actors with the goals to identify problems and needs of the target groups, which is noticeably important. That applies not only to the aspect of a deeper understanding of the platform users but also to necessary growth, which can be reflected in the increasing net promoter score enabled through the understanding of users (Greve, 2010; Reichheld & Seidensticker, 2006; cf. Hoffmeister & Von Borcke, 2017). By applying the DPC in this stage, platform founders are encouraged to focus on the value-adding unique selling proposition that justifies platform existence. Knowledge of that kind can favor the inherent competitive advantage (cf. Kim & Mauborgne, 2015; Osterwalder, 2011; Ries, 2012).

To determine the desired raison d'être, von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019) recommend asking and answering the following four questions:

- Which actors would miss the platform if it no longer existed?
- What function and role does the platform perform to create value for the platform users?
- What is the (competitive) unique selling proposition of the platform?

• What services must the founders of the platform offer to fulfill the platform functional role?

According to von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019), after answering these questions, the next step is to determine what other requirements the platform has to deliver for long-term success. For example, they mention user-friendliness of the platform and its security. While they are right that such requirements can be derived, it is not foreseeable for most ecosystem founders what dynamics their platform will take on. Dynamics is community-based, and the digitized socially constructed genre among users is unpredictable and human-made instead of controllable (Bazerman, 1995; Pearce & Conger, 2002; Swales, 1990; versus Hall, 1959; von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019). A lot of customer needs and their user behaviors are served through monitoring and extraction of data, similarly to the LS created by Ries (2012), in which a company goes through numerous iteration loops and repeatedly adapts its business model to customer needs and desires (cf. Travis & Hodgson, 2019). Subsequently, a precise definition of services with the respective target groups is intended to follow (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019).

In the best case, the milestone proof of concept is reached using this canvas, which is indicative of a validated raison d'être (Bhargava & Herman, 2020) and user demand. Nonetheless, it could be disadvantageous to the platform if the founders decide to rely on one service for too long or too short. The appropriate time frame to test the presumably most exciting service intended to generate initial platform traffic is not covered in this canvas; yet, it is relatively impossible to be determined beforehand. Again, the presence of jeopardizing uncertainty (Bennett & Lemoine, 2014) must be considered in the creation of an ecosystem.

- 3. The third building block pricing strategy is vital for external financial sources. Von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019) broke this complex building block down into the following four wquestions that should help platform founders reflect on their future revenue streams:
 - Which platform do users pay for, how much, for which services, and at what time?

- What is the level of the respective willingness to pay?
- Which actors of the platform are the most significant for the other (complementary) target groups and should therefore be subsidized?
- Which actors of the platform could be exposed to the fear of undesired dependency or lock-in effects?

This actively demonstrates that the interdependencies and the interactions of the target groups present in a digital platform must be considered. Here, too, the relevance of the network effect comes into play. "This makes pricing and pricing strategy on digital platforms more complicated, but also more interesting than on classic linear platforms [as holistic analysis of the platform's target groups and their interaction is required]." (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019, p. 140). A significant benefit is transferred to the participating parties on the platform. That can further be leveraged for the conduction of personal market research purposes.

It is more beneficial for different actors of the target groups to pursue an asymmetric pricing strategy: different actors of the target groups pay different prices (cf. von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019).

Nevertheless, it must be kept in mind that those potential daily active users could be exposed to the fear of undesired lock-in effects such as monthly account fees. The fear of financial exploitation can harm a brand's reputation (cf. Page & Parnell, 2019; Smith, 2013). According to von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019), that risk of undesired lock-in effects should resultantly be evaded.

Moreover, referrals leverage the word-ofmouth and serve, according to Ries (2012), as a viral growth engine, complementing the occurrence of a network effect and creating beneficial economic symbiosis (cf. Kaplan, 1966; Kaplan & Norton, 1992; Rumelt, 2011; Voloshinov et al., 1973; von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019).

By shedding light on the nature of the ecosystem's complex pricing strategy, already here at building block 3, there is a chance that many prospective platform founders may start faltering based on the delicate execution plan. However, this is more due to the complexity of an ecosystem than the concept of the DPC, as it renders highly complex numerical issues with simple questions. Founders of a platform business should therefore beware that it requires extensive research, iteration cycles, expert opinions, strategic analysis (cf. Stähler, 2019), and cognitive flexibility to succeed with their idea (cf. von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019; Ries, 2012; Klein, 2013). Furthermore, the complexity of the pricing strategy does not end with the previously posed four w-questions, but moves into its dynamic pricing strategy. Here, the questions to be asked are whether the pricing strategy is adjusted with community growth or not (cf. Greve, 2010; von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019; Kaplan & Norton, 1992; Kaplan, 1966; Voloshinov et al., 1973; Rumelt, 2011), and what the construction of the financial design looks like at the beginning and at a later point of an operational activity (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019).

Even if only prognostic assumptions can be made here, platform founders should devise a diverse set of forecasts. While neither Osterwalder's (2011) Business Model Canvas nor Maurya's (2016) Lean Canvas deals with deep pricing complexity, the DPC calls for that entrepreneurial sanity (Drucker, 2006). Even though there is a risk here that platform founders can quickly feel overwhelmed, the DPC guides them through the economical execution of their multi-dimensional platform business idea, with potential pitfalls to consider.

4. The fourth building block of the DPC - quality assurance - was designed to ensure that platform founders can deliver their unique value proposition (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019; cf. Maurya, 2012; Osterwalder, 2011; Osterwalder et al., 2014; Ries, 2012) to various platform stakeholders. That building block serves as a probing block to ensure adherence to the associated values despite deliberate planning (Mintzberg & Waters, 1985; Rumelt, 2011) of the envisioned business model (cf. Berg, 2006; Gray, 2004). Furthermore, quality assurance is a key element for a digital platform as it is defined by von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019) as one of the vital elements for the success of monetizable platforms since they bring together a versatile set of (commercial) target group aspirations.

If platform founders devote themselves to the DPC and reach this building block, the first step is to define the platform central quality elements. That reinforces the answer to the question of the raison d'être again – it becomes clear why actors use the platform (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019). Nonetheless, the raison d'être must be kept under constant review as the market competitors and their economic interests may use copycatting to undermine a company position in the market. Platform founders should pay attention to such changes that could cause the worst-case scenario to occur with the help of this building block as they can act reactionarily and preventively.

The next step is to reflect on the individual components that enhance the value proposition from the stakeholders' perspective. In this step and in the previous step of identifying key quality elements, similarly to the DT (Lewrick et al., 2018), it is helpful to put oneself in the role of different actors. Quality-enhancing elements can be of any nature, e.g., psychological, technological, or organizational. The goal of this step is to analyze the interaction of different quality requirements and to bring about a harmonious interaction of miscellaneous guality enhancing aspects appropriate to the platform (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019). For example, a technically well-designed platform can significantly limit the UX, which in turn would affect the ratio of daily active users, thus platform growth (cf. Alpar et al., 2015; Herzberger & Jenny, 2017; Kaplan, 1966; Voloshinov et al., 1973).

After that, subsequent concrete implications for measures to ensure and increase quality and the value proposition resulting from the previous analysis must be derived. Thus, platform founders have to highlight what measures they will take. In the best case, platform founders manage to integrate a tool into the platform that invites and implements a culture of constant feedback and interaction of various actors, similarly to the concept of innovation (Chesbrough, 2003; cf. Medinilla, 2014; Weinberg, 2019). Applying that approach, a company generates strategic and profitable innovations through interaction with users to improve the platform by extracting valuable data (cf. von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019).

Hence, the dynamic strategy takes place under the points of which quality assurance measures and elements should be present from the beginning and whose requirements will be adapted in the future. In managing this building block, it is advisable to perform multiple iteration loops or even continuous improvement – the Kaizen principle (cf. Medinilla, 2014; Weinberg, 2019). In this way, the quality and value proposition are sharpened continuously (cf. Ries, 2012; Maurya, 2016) and maintained competitively (Bennett & Lemoine, 2014; Kim & Mauborgne, 2015; cf. Tidd & Bessant, 2013).

However, it is impossible to make a generic statement as to which aspects must be strictly subjected to quality assurance. In each case, it depends on the identified raison d'être. Although that is logically justifiable, since every business model is not 100% like any other, it does imply the risk of divergent definitions and interpretations (cf. Deutscher, 2010; Nickerson, 1998; Nietzsche, 1888). Besides, business founders are often biased, unable to take a detached, critical and reflective perspective on their business model intrinsically, as enthusiasm for their idea prevails. Thus, the presumably existing cognitive dissonance - colliding insights that are not compatible with the conditions of the external detached world - of the founders (Festinger, 1957; Schmidt & Hunter; 1977) can emerge. That can be caused by enthusiasm, resulting in the undesirable reality-less completion of the DPC quality assurance, leading to the commercial failure (DeAndrea, 2015; versus Voloshinov et al., 1973; Kaplan, 1966).

Under the aspect of inevitable quality assurance, there is another jeopardy, i.e., another kind of familiarity bias; according to the case that founders seek further expert opinions to reconfirm the business model and identify weaknesses, as suggested by Stähler (2019), founders still run the risk of only asking for help from experts with expertise that they have sympathy for, agree or identify themselves with (cf. Fox & Levav, 2001; versus Stähler, 2019).

5. The fifth building block - (in)dependency - addresses the existing dependencies that result from the joint activities of various groups of actors in the platform through their dynamic economies. This dynamic economy that prevails is conditioned by indirect network effects (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019; cf. Greve, 2010; Kaplan & Norton, 1992; Reichheld & Seidensticker, 2006), that contribute to the platform value added in the first place. Only with the active and frequent use of different target groups is a benefit to all parties present (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019). Thus, the goal of that building block is to identify and analyze (in)dependencies between diverse target groups and design them in a targeted manner, adapted to the individual actor groups. That enables creating novel dependencies that can be leveraged to reduce dependencies that create little value added and strengthen those that are more promising.

As a first step, it is advisable to identify which actors of the platform rely on whom. The group that is relied on is responsible for generating a critical set of users that favor the network effect and a correspondingly high net promoter score, thus economic growth and scaling (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019; cf. Greve, 2010; Hoffmeister & Von Borcke, 2017; Reichheld & Seidensticker, 2006). In the next step, it should be analyzed how these dependencies occur. As it tends to be rather unlikely to present the optimal solution in the first attempt, here, too, similarly to the LS method (Ries, 2012; cf. Maurya, 2016), it is advisable to pivot and revisit the findings of this building block (cf. Drucker, 2006). Furthermore, changing environmental conditions requires constant adjustment of value-added measures that strengthen and facilitate the establishment of a venture (Bennett & Lemoine, 2014; Kim & Mauborgne, 2015).

By employing the DPC and the (in)dependencies, platform founders should not (only) look at classic factors such as large suppliers' reputation or market power (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019). Founders are recommended to focus on factors that add novel value or have solid potential to enhance the platform through interdependencies that might not be established.

According to von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019), novel platforms would be successful if positive expectations of the stakeholders were satisfied, provided that the previous building blocks of the DPC have been filled out correctly and reflectively. In this case, the self-fulfilling prophecy (Jussim, 2012) designed by public external expectations would set in (von Engehlhardt & Petzolt, 2019; cf. Greve, 2010; Kaplan & Norton, 1992; Reichheld & Seidensticker, 2006). Nevertheless, it must be noted explicitly that dependencies can be reciprocal (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019; cf. McKinsey & Company, 2020c; 2020d). Considering the complexity of the DPC and multidimensional pros and cons, it is up to the founders if their strategic caliber refers to sufficient maturity to master that canvas. The following Figure 3 reflects the features of the DPC, which can help founders decide in favor of or against this canvas.

Figure 3 The DPC after reflection DIGITAL PLATFROM CANVAS AFTER REFLECTION

	Key drivers	Simplicity	Understanding	Reflectiveness
Platform's market entry strategy V + F	>	×	 ✓ 	>
Accurate knowledge transfer V + F	>	 Image: A start of the start of	 ✓ 	×
Strategic validation V + F	X	$\boldsymbol{\lambda}$	$\boldsymbol{\lambda}$	
Structure & guidance V + F	\	 Image: A start of the start of	 ✓ 	×
Uncertainty avoidance F	×	×	$\boldsymbol{\star}$	>

V: Viewers' point of view F: Founders' point of view

Source: Authors

However, if founders find themselves faltering here, they should critically reconsider whether creating a highly complex and multilayered ecosystem with several revenue models matches the individual economic skill set.

3. Results

The research results highlighting the canvas above are presented below.

3.1 Discussion

The DPC (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019) meets the needs of plenty currently nascent business models and their founders, as the prevailing COV-ID-19 pandemic acts as a catalyst for digitization (cf. McKinsey & Company, 2020a; 2020c; 2020d). Since digital platforms are predominantly multilayered with several revenue models and respective groups of actors (von Engelhardt & Wangler, 2019), which can expose ecosystem founders to overwhelm, the DPC helps them to rethink the essentials when and how to launch and establish the prospective platform. In particular, it helps solve the well-known chicken-and-egg problem as to which features to introduce first to the users to scale the platform. Accordingly, the DPC gives founders food for thought in which form the platform's profitability (cf. Habermann, 2008; Voloshinov et al., 1973; Kaplan, 1966) can be exercised first. It is, therefore, helpful for understanding the incremental building of the platform. Consequently, the DPC is a strategic device for internal guidance (cf. Schallmo, 2013) regarding the incipient revenue streams that can be illustratively used and introduce external parties.

Nonetheless, the DPC is not a canvas that platform founders should initially engage with, as von Engelhardt and Petzolt (2019) acknowledge. Rather, this canvas requires clarity about the desired business model intended to be used additively to another less specified canvas such as the Business Model Canvas (Osterwalder, 2011). Thus, although the DPC provides simplified guidance for complex matters, it requires its practitioners to employ it with caution, mindfulness, strategic awareness, and reflectiveness instead of intuitively filling out the building blocks. It must be considered that the DPC shows a higher degree of complexity which can be confusing or demotivating for founders (cf. von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019). Nevertheless, a digital ecosystem, in general, is a highly complex case; only those founders of sufficiently strategic caliber and patience should venture into an endeavor of that kind.

Answering the research question, employing solely that one canvas implies an increased risk of failure, which founders should disapprove of. A canvas serves as a means to record the status quo and the corresponding available resources. However, only the DPC (von Engelhardt & Petzolt, 2019) provides information on the extent to which the individual building blocks are connected, what possible obstacles need to be considered when connecting them, or a strategic relationship.

Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the intellectual resource of creating linkages between what is ostensibly not connectable remains the entrepreneurial art that every founder has to learn themselves. None of the canvas supplies business founders with predetermined building blocks that display the business model in its entirety and its unique features but indispensable core elements. Summing up, no canvas should be used alone; the most promising output will be generated through the composite output of plenty. Even though it is not mandatory to incorporate the canvas practice, establishing the method and miscellaneous canvas approaches confirmed the advantages of combining the facilitated visuality with the key components of the business, which requires further elaboration.

3.2 Limitations

Each study has a limited research quota, this study also encounters limitations that call into question the validity of research findings. It can be criticized that the article was solely based on the conceptual review of the canvas as opposed to additive qualitative research. Qualitative research would clarify other angles of research or could even support the above analysis.

4. Conclusion

In summary, the methods presented provide a helpful guide to the core elements of starting a digital platform business, but their validity and appropriateness for a company's particular product/service are not set in stone. In addition, the digital boost hype enjoyed by the method presented is not entirely applicable, as the method has weaknesses in its overall concept. However, the method arguably serves as a starting point, where business flexibility and the ability to adapt the methods should be considered. Thus, it can be expected that the established core principles will increasingly be brought together, while being expanded to include new and contemporary dimensions to approach the creation of a platform business model of the new era and market entry with fresh perspectives. The prospect of digitized business models and ecosystems gaining importance is therefore not only justified but necessary, as these terms will be an integral part of the future management jargon.

References

- Alpar, A., Koczy, M. & Metzen, M. (2015). SEO Strategie, Taktik und Technik: Online-Marketing mittels effektiver Suchmaschinenoptimierung. Springer Gabler. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-02235-8
- 2. Bätz, K. & Siegfried, P. (2021). Complexity of culture and entrepreneurial practice. *International Entrepreneurship Review*, 7(3), 61-70. https://doi.org/10.15678/IER.2021.0703.05
- 3. Bazerman, C. (1995). Systems of genres and the enactment of social intentions. *Genre and the New Rhetoric*, *1*(1), 79-101.
- 4. Bennett, N. & Lemoine, J. (2014). What VUCA means for you. Harvard Business Review, 92(1), 27-28.
- 5. Berg, B. L. (2006). Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences (7th ed). Pearson Education.
- 6. Bhargava, R. & Herman, W. (2020). The Startup Playbook (2nd ed). Lioncrest Publishing.
- 7. Chesbrough, H. (2003). Open Innovation: The New Imperative for Creating and Profiting from Technology. Harvard Business School Press.
- 8. Chesbrough, H. (2006). *Open Business Models: How to Thrive in the Innovation Landscape.* Harvard Business School Press.
- 9. Cohen, W. M & Levinthal, D. A. (1990). Absorptive Capacity: A New Perspective on Learning and Innovation. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 35(1), 128-152. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393553
- DeAndrea, D. C. (2015). Testing the Proclaimed Affordances of Online Support Groups in a Nationally Representative Sample of Adults Seeking Mental Health Assistance. *Journal of Health Communication*, 20(2), 147-156. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2014.914606
- 11. Deutscher, G. (2010). Through the Language Glass: How Words Colour Your World. William Heinemann.
- 12. Düsing, K. (2016). Das Problem der Subjektivität in Hegels Logik: Systematische und entwicklungsgeschichtliche Untersuchungen zum Prinzip des Idealismus und zur Dialektik. Felix Meiner Verlag.
- 13. Drucker, P. F. (2006). Innovation and Entrepreneurship. Harper Business.
- 14. Festinger, L. (1957). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781503620766
- Fox, C. R. & Levav, J. (2001). Familiarity Bias and Belief Reversal in Relative Likelihood Judgment. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 82(2), 268-292. https://doi.org/10.1006/obhd.2000.2898
- 16. Frederick, H., O' Connor, A. & Kuratko, D. F. (2006). *Entrepreneurship* (4th ed). Cengage Learning Australia Pty Limited.
- 17. Gray, D. E. (2004). Doing Research in The Real World. SAGE Publications.
- Greve, G. (2010). Erster Teil: Theoretische Erkenntnisse. In Greve, G. & Benning-Rohnke, E. (Eds.), Kundenorientierte Unternehmensführung: Konzept und Anwendung des Net Promoter[®] Score in der Praxis. Gabler Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-8349-8851-5
- 19. Grove, A. (2009). Market Rebels: How Activists Make or Break Radical Innovation. Princeton University Press.
- 20. Hall, E. T. (1959). The Silent Language. Doubleday.
- 21. Hartson, R. & Pyla. P. S. (2012). The UX Book: Process and Guidelines for Ensuring a Quality User Experience. Morgan Kaufmann.
- 22. Habermann, F. (2008). Der homo oeconomicus und das Andere: Hegemonie, Identität und Emanzipation. Nomos. https://doi.org/10.5771/9783845210957
- 23. Herzberger, T. & Jenny, S. (2017). Growth Hacking: Mehr Wachstum, mehr Kunden, mehr Erfolg. Der Praxisratgeber für Durchstarter im Online-Marketing!. Rheinwerk.

- 24. Hoffmann, R. & Yeh, C. (2018). Blitzscaling. Random House LCC US.
- 25. Hoffmeister, C. & Von Borcke, Y. (2017). *Think new! 25 Erfolgsstrategien im digitalen Business* (2nd ed). Hanser Verlag. https://doi.org/10.3139/9783446452671
- 26. Hofstede, G. H. (1980). Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-related Values. SAGE Publications.
- 27. Jussim, L. (2012). Social Perception and Social Reality: Why Accuracy Dominates Bias and Self-Fulfilling Prophecy. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195366600.001.0001
- 28. Kaplan, R. B. (1966). Cultural thought patterns in inter-cultural education. *Language Learning*, *16*(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-1770.1966.tb00804.x
- 29. Kaplan, R. S. & Norton, D. P. (1992). The Balanced Scorecard Measures That Drive Performance. *Harvard Business Review*, 70(1), 71-79.
- 30. Kim, C. W. & Mauborgne, R. A. (2015). *Blue Ocean Strategy: How to Create Uncontested Market Space and Make the Competition Irrelevant.* Harvard Business Review Press.
- 31. Klein, L. (2013). UX for Lean Startups: Faster, Smarter User Experience Research and Design. O'Reilly.
- 32. Lewrick, M., Link, P. & Leifer, L. (2018). The Design Thinking Playbook. Wiley.
- 33. Lubin, A. D. & Esty D. C. (2010). The Sustainability Imperative. Harvard Business Review Press.
- 34. Maurya, A. (2016). Scaling Lean: Mastering the Key Metrics for Startup Growth. Portfolio / Penguin.
- 35. Maurya, A. (2012). Running Lean: Iterate from Plan A to a Plan That Works (2nd ed). O'Reilly.
- 36. McKinsey & Company (2020a). *Innovation in a crisis. Why it is more critical than ever*. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/strategy-and-corporate-finance/our-insights/ innovation-in-a-crisis-why-it-is-more-critical-than-ever
- 37. McKinsey & Company (2020b). *Reimagining consumer goods innovation for the next normal*. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/consumer-packaged-goods/our-insights/reimagining-consumer-goods-innovation-for-the-next-normal
- McKinsey & Company (2020c). *How do companies create value from digital ecosystems?*. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/mckinsey-digital/our-insights/how-do-companiescreate-value-from-digital-ecosystems
- McKinsey & Company (2020d). Ecosystem 2.0: Climbing to the next level. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/mckinsey-digital/our-insights/ecosystem-2-point-0climbing-to-the-next-level
- Medinilla, Á. (2014). Agile Kaizen: Managing Continuous Improvement Far Beyond Retrospectives. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-54991-5
- 41. Mintzberg, H. & Waters, J. A. (1985). Of strategies, deliberate and emergent. *Strategic Management Journal*, 6(3), 257-272. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250060306
- 42. Nickerson, R. S. (1998). Confirmation Bias: A Ubiquitous Phenomenon in Many Guises. *Review of General Psychology*, 2(2), 175-220. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.2.2.175
- 43. Nietzsche, F. (1888). Twilight of the Idols or How to Philosophize with a Hammer. C. G. Naumann.
- 44. Nisbett, R. E. (2003). *The Geography of Thought: How Asians and Westerners Think Differently and Why.* Free Press.
- 45. Osterwalder, A. & Pigneur, Y. (2011). Business Model Generation. Campus.
- 46. Osterwalder, A., Pigneur, Y., Bernarda, G. & Smith, A. (2014). Value Proposition Design: How to Create Products and Services Customers Want (Strategyzer). Wiley.
- 47. Page, J. T. & Parnell, L. J. (2019). *Introduction to Strategic Public Relations: Digital, Global and Socially Responsible Communication*. SAGE Publications.
- Pearce, C. L. & Conger, J. A. (2002). Shared Leadership: Reframing the Hows and Whys of Leadership. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452229539

- 49. Pressfield, S. (2012). *The War of Art: Break Through the Blocks and Win Your Inner Creative Battles*. Black Irish Entertainment LLC.
- Primecz, H., Romani, L. & Sackmann, S. (2009). Cross-Cultural Management Research: Contributions from Various Paradigms. *International Journal of Cross-cultural Management*, 9(3), 267-274. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470595809346603
- 51. Reichheld, F. & Seidensticker, F. J. (2006). *Die ultimative Frage. Mit dem Net Promoter Score zu loyalen Kunden und profitablem Wachstum.* Carl Hanser Verlag GmbH & Co. KG.
- 52. Ries, E. (2012). Lean Startup: Schnell, risikolos und erfolgreich Unternehmen gründen. Redline.
- 53. Rumelt, R. (2011). Good Strategy/Bad Strategy: The Difference and Why It Matters (4th ed). Profile Books. https://doi.org/10.1108/sd.2012.05628haa.002
- 54. Schallmo, D. (2013). Geschäftsmodell-Innovation: Grundlagen, bestehende Ansätze, methodisches Vorgehen und B2B-Geschäftsmodelle. Springer Gabler.
- Schmidt, F. & Hunter, J. (1977). Development of a general solution to the problem of validity generalization. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62(1), 529-540. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.62.5.529
- 56. Siegfried, P. (2012). Strategic Business Planning in Young Small and Medium Enterprises. *Research Papers of Wrocław University of Economics*, (250), 75-84.
- 57. Siegfried, P. (2014). Knowledge Transfer in Service Research Service Engineering in Startup Companies. EUL-Verlag.
- Siegfried, P. (2015). Die Unternehmenserfolgsfaktoren und deren kausale Zusammenhänge. Zeitschrift Ideen- und Innovationsmanagement, 2015(4), 131-137. https://doi.org/10.37307/j.2198-3151.2015.04.04
- 59. Siegfried, P. (2017). Strategische Unternehmensplanung in jungen KMU: Problemfelder and Lösungsansätze. De Gruyter Oldenbourg. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110429022
- 60. Stähler, P. (2019). Das Richtige gründen: Werkzeugkasten für Unternehmer. Murmann.
- 61. Smith, R. D. (2013). *Strategic Planning for Public Relations* (4th ed). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203081242
- 62. Stull, E. (2018). UX Fundamentals for Non-UX Professionals: User Experience Principles for Managers, Writers, Designers, and Developers. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-3811-0
- 63. Swales, J. (1990). Genre Analysis: English in Academic and Research Settings. Cambridge University Press.
- Travis, D. & Hodgson, D. (2019). Think Like a UX Researcher: How to Observe Users, Influence Design, and Shape Business Strategy. CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780429430787
- 65. Trompenaars, A. & Hampden-Turner, C. (1997). *Mastering the Infinite Game: How East Asian Values are Transforming Business Practices.* Capstone.
- 66. Tidd, J. & Bessant J. (2013). Strategic Innovation Management. Wiley.
- 67. Voloshinov, V. N., Matejka, L. & Titunik, I. R. (1973) (original 1929). *Marxism and the Philosophy of Language*. Seminar Press.
- 68. Von Engelhardt, S. & Petzolt, S. (2019). Das Geschäftsmodell-Toolbook für digitale Ökosysteme. Campus.
- Von Engelhardt, S. & Wangler, L. (2019). Erfolgsfaktoren in digitalen Plattformmärkten. In Von Engelhardt, S. & Petzolt, S. (Eds.), Das Geschäftsmodell-Toolbook für digitale Ökosysteme (pp. 12-23). Campus.
- Weinberg, U. (2019). Design Thinking: Vom Innovationsmotor zum Kulturtransformator. In von Engelhardt, S. & Petzolt, S. (Eds.), Das Geschäftsmodell-Toolbook für digitale Ökosysteme (pp. 36-51). Campus.

Stephan L. K. Freichel University of Applied Sciences Cologne 50678 Köln, Germany stephan.freichel@th-koeln.de

Pia Rütten

University of Applied Sciences Cologne 50678 Köln, Germany pia.ruetten@th-koeln.de Johannes K. Wörtge University of Applied Sciences Cologne 50678 Köln, Germany johannes.woertge@th-koeln.de

Review paper https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.16

Received: August 8, 2022 Revision received: September 8, 2022 Accepted for publishing: September 12, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



CHALLENGES OF SUPPLY CHAIN VISIBILITY IN DISTRIBUTION LOGISTICS – A LITERATURE REVIEW

Abstract

Purpose: Complex supply chains characterise today's economic life, which is determined by uncertainties and risks. Managing those successfully requires the development of resilient and flexible structures and processes based on information transparency, which enables better decision-making, especially in times of global crises. In this context, supply chain visibility (SCV) is defined as the stakeholders' capability to have access to accurate and timely information about the flow of goods. Although the importance of SCV has been discussed in scientific literature and practice, challenges still inhibit improved SCV, particularly in distribution logistics. These have been scarcely investigated. The purpose of this study is to identify the challenges of SCV in distribution logistics and to provide implications to address them.

Methodology: A qualitative content analysis (QCA) spanning 26 scientific articles was used.

Results: We found evidence of challenges inhibiting SCV in distribution logistics within the three aggregated dimensions of *inappropriate processes & technologies and information systems, lack of communication & trust,* and *insufficient monitoring & decision-making metrics.* The findings show that trust can be seen as both a challenge and a prerequisite. Despite the possibilities of digitalisation, there exist trade-offs between manual processes and new technology implementation. Decision-making can be based on individual experiences, and monitoring can be difficult due to undefined metrics.

Conclusion: Practitioners may use the findings to better identify and address the challenges of SCV in distribution logistics. Further studies could extend the findings through empirical studies, which would allow practitioners to assess their level of SCV and derive initial solutions.

Keywords: Supply chain visibility, supply chain transparency, supply chain management

1. Introduction

Increasing complexity and dynamic changes in global supply chain networks are key reasons for growing uncertainties and risks in modern value chains (cf. Messina et al., 2018). The COVID-19 crisis demonstrated that supply chain visibility is critical for managing disruptive events (cf. Finkenstadt & Handfield, 2021; Norwood & Peel, 2021, p. 416; cf. Freichel et al., 2022). Furthermore, increased visibility is essential to sufficiently control supply chains (cf. Swift et al., 2019). Certain industries and logistics phases require SCV. One example is the distribution logistics of pharmaceutical goods (cf. Papert et al., 2016). Another example is food distribution logistics, regarding quality and safety requirements (cf. Shi et al., 2010). Inventory availability is required to improve supply chain distribution processes in omni-channel logistics (Wollenburg et al., 2019, p. 12). Inventory allocation across fulfilment centres and offline and online retail warehouses requires channel-integrated availability information through appropriate ERP systems (cf. Hübner et al., 2016). Hence, SCV is an important topic in the field of distribution logistics and is currently receiving attention.

However, it still seems difficult for many companies to improve SCV (cf. Swift et al., 2019). SCV is based on accurate information exchange (Moshood et al. 2021, p. 20), which is often critical within and between companies (Williams et al., 2013, p. 551). Furthermore, digital infrastructures are a prerequisite for SCV (Moshood et al., 2021, p. 20). Technologies for information exchange have been discussed in academia and practice in recent decades, e.g. concerning electronic data interchange (EDI) (cf. Mossinkoff & Stockert, 2008), Blockchain (cf. Sander et al., 2018; cf. Grest et al., 2019; cf. Lustenberger et al., 2020; cf. Sternberg et al., 2021) and especially RFID (cf. Schmidt, 2006; cf. Straube et al., 2007; cf. Morenza-Cinos et al., 2019; cf. Kgobe & Ozor, 2021). Nevertheless, IoT-based technologies

for SCV often have to cope with standardisation, security, and accurate information sharing (Ahmed et al., 2021, p. 20).

In the context of supply chain information sharing, Kembro et al. (2017, p. 78) define barriers as factors that are too difficult to cope with, while challenges are factors that are complex but can be overcome or solved. Kalaiarasan et al. (2022, p. 5) categorise barriers and challenges together. Thus, we use the term challenges of SCV as factors that hinder the improvement of visibility and transparency in supply chain management and are difficult to overcome.

Challenges of SCV first need to be identified and investigated to specify problem areas better and derive areas of action. Kalaiarasan et al. (2022) provide a holistic framework for SCV based on a literature review of SCV articles. The authors also synthesised barriers and challenges as one of four categories of their SCV framework. In particular, the challenges of SCV in distribution or retail logistics require more investigation.

Therefore, we provide a synthesis of SCV challenges in a systematic literature review, focusing specifically on distribution logistics. Therefore, the following research question is proposed: "Which challenges inhibit SCV in distribution logistics?".

This study aims to identify these challenges and suggest potential areas of action. Figure 1 illustrates the scope of research of this article.



Figure 1 Scope of research within the supply chain

Source: Authors

This article is structured into the following sections: First, the theoretical background of SCV is explained. Then, the systematic literature review methodology is described before presenting the literature findings. Finally, the results and implications are discussed and summarised, and suggestions for further research are given.

2. Theoretical background

Supply chain visibility is known as a key success factor for modern supply chain management. Definitions are proposed rather ununiformed in academia. The following section gives a short overview and working definitions.

2.1 Conceptual understanding of SCV

SCV can be defined as the capability of companies to manage access to data and information. Moreover, it is the capability to identify locations and delivery status of entities in real-time to reveal planned and unplanned events (supply chain event management). This can improve decision-making (Francis, 2008, p. 182; Goh et al., 2009, p. 2549) and supply chain resilience (Roy, 2021, p. 25). Sodhi and Tang (2019) understand SCV as the ability of companies to identify information about entities transiting upstream and downstream supply chains, while supply chain transparency refers to the disclosure of information about products and operations to groups of interest such as consumers or investors (Sodhi & Tang, 2019, p. 2948).

SCV is both a prerequisite (cf. Otto, 2003; Roy, 2021, p. 25) and an outcome of information sharing (Moshood et al., 2021, p. 9). Moreover, visibility can be linked to specific elements. For example, Goh et al. (2009, p. 2550) specify SCV in terms of visibility of "process", "inventory", "demand," and "exception".

In summary, there are various definitions of the term SCV in scientific literature, which remain inconsistently defined. In this article, the definition of SCV is used in line with Francis (2008, p. 182), Goh et al. (2009, p. 2549), and Roy (2021, p. 25).

2.2 Benefits and characteristics of SCV

Various reasons lead to the need for increased supply chain visibility. In complex supply chain networks, SCV enables improved planning of activities and business processes or strategic competencies of companies (Bartlett et al., 2007, p. 308f.; cf. Somapa et al., 2018). This can lead to increased efficiency, profitability, cost reductions, and higher market valuation (Sodhi & Tang, 2019, p. 2949f.; Swift et al., 2019, p. 423f). Moreover, increased SCV can improve supply chain performance (Bartlett et al., 2007, p. 308f.). SCV can improve customers' perception, especially in case of reputation loss (Sodhi & Tang, 2019, p. 2949f.). In addition, it can enhance customers' loyalty through offered and disclosed information enabled by SCV (Pundir et al., 2019, p. 0156f.).

Supply chain performance indicators such as service level, cost, quality, and time have been assessed to measure SCV (Caridi et al., 2014, p. 2). Furthermore, theft or loss and counterfeiting of goods can be avoided by functioning SCV. Specific physical information about goods transhipped, such as temperature or humidity, can be controlled (Pundir et al., 2019, p. 0156f.). Therefore, a higher level of SCV leads to improved supply chain risk management (Sodhi & Tang, 2019, p. 2949f.).

Somapa et al. (2018, p. 329) distinguish characteristics of SCV between automational, informational, and transformational characteristics. The first characteristic refers to companies' ability to access information through the automatic and electronic capture and transmission of data and information. The second characteristic encompasses the need for a certain quality of information in terms of "accuracy, timeliness and completeness of information" (Somapa et al., 2018, p. 329). Caridi et al. (2010, p. 600f.) described information quality in terms of time-related aspects, which refer to novelty, timeliness, and validity aspects regarding accuracy. The last characteristic refers to the exchange of information in terms of its real use (Somapa et al., 2018, p. 329).

3. Methodology

The methodology of this article follows a qualitative content analysis (QCA) to build a literature review. Qualitative approaches are especially appropriate in supply chain research, as they offer the possibility to deeply understand, extract and systemise the complex supply chain reality into explicit knowledge and theory due to the interpretative paradigm of qualitative research. In doing so, they offer a better understanding of supply chain complexities and operations (Trautrims et al., 2012, p. 838f.). Qualitative approaches allow identifying elements and their interrelations in the investigated area from an informant-centred perspective, as those persons are forming the specific reality, which is under research. For this reason, there is qualitative rigour, as the theoretical findings are based on informantcentred findings (Gioia, 2021, p. 23f.).

For extracting information from already existing studies, we use both guidelines for systematic literature analyses (cf. Tranfield et al., 2003; cf. Watson et al., 2018) and the methodology of qualitative content analyses (cf. Schreier, 2012; cf. Gioia et al., 2013; cf. Mayring & Fenzl, 2019; cf. Gioia, 2021). The former is for the selection process of the articles to be included, the latter for their in-depth analysis.

3.1 Data Collection

Relevant articles for the subsequent QCA need to be identified by planning an appropriate data search process, which is based on the research question of this article, mentioned in section 1. This is followed by a selection of search terms and databases. In addition, a search strategy is needed to select articles based on inclusion and exclusion criteria. Therefore, the search terms are selected and linked with "OR" and "AND" to either alternate or combine them as follows:

TITLE-ABS-KEY (("Supply chain" OR "logistics") AND ("visibility" OR "transparency") AND ("retailing" OR "distribution" OR "fulfilment" OR "fulfillment")).

These search terms must be in the title, abstract and keywords of articles and were searched in the Scopus database, resulting in 457 articles. Then, filters were selected by documentation type: academic journal and conference paper; publication stage: final; subject area: business, management and accounting; language: English; and publication years: 2000-2022.

An initial sample of 121 articles remained. All 121 articles were downloaded into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. To reduce the number of articles to suitable titles, abstracts and findings that match the research question and scope, articles with the following criteria were excluded:

- Mathematical or statistic models/simulations without thematic reference to SCV;
- No focus on logistics or retail/distribution;
- Insufficient reference on the topic of SCV in general.

43 articles remained. During the reading process, 17 articles were excluded as they did not contain information relevant to this research.

Finally, 26 articles remained that were appropriate for the coding frame of the QCA (Figure 2).



Figure 2 Search strategy for article selection

Source: Authors

3.2. Data Analysis

The tool MAXQDA was used for conducting the QCA. Therefore, the 43 articles were uploaded to the MAXQDA application. By analysing all 26 articles line by line, relevant information (=codes) regarding our research question was systematically extracted. By iteratively reviewing the gathered information, patterns of unique and common aspects emerged, which allowed the further systematic aggregation of information into higher level knowledge in an inductive way (Schreier, 2012, p. 60; Gioia, 2021, p. 24).

After extracting the codes, they were summarised into paraphrases to condense them and avoid redundancies (Schreier, 2012, p. 107; Gioia et al., 2013, p. 20-22). Then, these paraphrases were iteratively reviewed and categorised into first-order concepts based on their commonalities and differences. These were again combined and assigned to second-order themes (Gioia, 2021, p. 25). In the next step, the second-order themes are aggregated into aggregated dimensions. First-order concepts, second-order themes, and aggregated dimensions build a data structure which captures the methodological and theoretical development of the analysed data from raw material to the aggregated dimensions (Gioia et al., 2013, p. 20-22). The aim is a data structure that can lead to a better understanding of how all concepts and dimensions are related (Gioia, 2021, p. 24-26). In the following chapter, the findings of the analysis are described based on the data structure represented in Figure 3.

Figure 3 First-order concepts, second-order themes, and aggregated dimensions



Source: Authors

4. Analysis

Our analysis indicates that the challenges regarding SCV are routed in the dimensions of "inappropri-

ate processes & technologies and systems", "lack of communication & trust", and "insufficient monitoring & decision-making metrics". They are presented in-depth in the following section.

4.1 Inappropriate processes & technologies and systems

4.1.1 Manual processes

Information technology budget constraints

Information technology is an enabler for SCV (Somapa et al., 2018, p. 313). However, there is also a lack of simple and cost-effective solutions for small and medium enterprises (Azevedo et al., 2004). Advances in RFID and other technologies have been made in retail logistics (Gaukler et al., 2008), but they remain cost-intensive (Kwok et al., 2010; Ahmed & Omar, 2019). Therefore, profitability varies (Bertolini et al., 2012) and cost-benefit trade-offs hinder technology adoption (Goebel & Günther, 2009). For instance, RFID is only profitable in distributing high-value products, e.g. expensive consumer electronics and apparel (Goebel & Günther, 2009). Another example shows that quality estimation of bacteria in food is more cost-effective (Shi et al., 2010).

People-related aspects

Manual processes such as barcode scanning can be cost-intensive due to labour requirements (Gaukler et al., 2008). In addition, inefficiencies in existing operations occur due to manual procedures, leading to the loss of information, duplicate and incorrect data, or their unauthorised disclosure (Choy et al., 2007; Schenk & Clausen, 2020). Hence, it is important to encourage employees in new system implementation (Chen et al., 2014). Acceptance of new technologies is, however, a challenge for creating transparency. For this reason, local automotive vendors, for example, delay system implementation (Ahmed & Omar, 2019).

4.1.2 Inadequate logistics technologies & information systems dimension

Limited interoperability

Improvement of SCV can be limited regarding the technical interoperability of information technologies. For example, barcodes do not provide rewritable data storage, and data loggers do not provide an identification function (Papert et al., 2016). Furthermore, barcodes have limited information density (Papert et al., 2016). Other information identification technologies, such as RFID, can be read automatically compared to barcodes, but active RFID tags are limited due to their limited lifetime, larger size, and higher cost (Delen et al.,

2007). Dealing with the amount of real-time data, e.g. converting RFID data into usable information for new decision-making tools, can be challenging (Ranky, 2007).

Moreover, information and data storage technologies, such as cloud systems, are not always compatible with other key information systems (Suherman & Simatupang, 2017).

Information technologies can be limited due to disruptions in information transmission beyond distribution sites. Goods and their location status are often not visible during transportation (Suherman & Simatupang, 2017). Information at the distribution centre level can be transmitted via a wireless connection to the internet. However, during transport, information transmission depends on satellite communication or cellular network infrastructure, which is less cost-intensive but has lower coverage (Shi et al., 2010).

Inappropriate systems

Information systems can be inappropriate for improving SCV. For example, ERP systems can be unsuitable for dynamic supply chain management and may become a strategic disadvantage if not fully exploited, according to Seethamraju (2009). In addition, legacy systems or systems that are not integrated can become a major obstacle (Howard et al., 2005). Systems should be driven by suitable aspects, e.g. by orientation towards order demand instead of inbound or production logistics (Howard et al., 2005).

Moreover, software packages may not always provide the full support required due to clear gaps in planning and coordination activities (Azevedo et al., 2004).

Finally, inadequate implementation of information systems leads to inefficient visibility and transparency (Suherman & Simatupang, 2017; Ahmed & Omar, 2019).

4.2 Lack of communication & trust4.2.1 Information gaps

Poor data quality

Information can be unreliable and unavailable (Ahmed & Omar, 2019). Consequently, a lack of information quality can affect performance measurement (Choy et al., 2007), especially if the metrics are not well defined (Munoz & Clements, 2008).

Lack of real-time information

Lack of correct, accurate, and timely information leads to various issues regarding supply chain uncertainties (Choy et al., 2007). Current systems may not fully provide real-time information across supply chain networks, which is required for promised delivery due dates to customer orders, early warning systems across the supply chain network, large overstocks, long throughput times, and reduced responsiveness to unplanned events (Azevedo et al., 2004). In addition, inaccurate inventory information due to poor process quality, theft, and spoilage require real-time information (Delen et al., 2007), which can reduce bullwhip effects (Jonsson & Mattsson, 2013). However, supply chain metrics are not sufficiently related to customer satisfaction, and metrics are not regularly monitored (Munoz & Clements, 2008).

Lack of information access

Information sources and access to information can vary, leading to information asymmetries (Ahmed & Omar, 2019). In particular, event information can still be exchanged via email or telephone, according to Ranky (2007). In addition, separate systems used by trading partners can lead to duplicate data (Howard et al., 2005).

Lack of process flexibility in adapting to changing supply chain configurations, inadequacies of technology interfaces to complement enterprise systems, lack of trust between supply chain partners, and lack of advanced decision support capabilities are challenges (Seethamraju, 2009). The latter, in particular, is often based on incomplete data, which leads to decision-making based on individual experience. Furthermore, these are entered manually into the system (Schenk & Clausen, 2020). Consequently, individual decision-making can lead to perturbation in the flow of goods (Munoz & Clements, 2008).

4.2.2 Supply chain collaboration uncertainties

Supply chain integration

Within supply chains with a large number of members, insufficient information sharing in terms of unclear and unreliable information due to a low level of integration leads to information distortion. This leads to asymmetries in collaboration (Ahmed & Omar, 2019). Therefore, effective information sharing depends on supply chain integration (Fatorachian & Kazemi, 2021). Moreover, trust is considered an important challenge in supply chain risk management (Seethamraju, 2009). On the other hand, trust is a prerequisite and enabler for visibility and transparency (Seethamraju, 2009; Hammervoll & Bø, 2010; Chen et al., 2014; Ahmed & Omar, 2019). Jüttner & Maklan (2011) suggest visibility as part of supplier contracts to avoid information not being shared. However, Ahmed & Omar (2019) note that trust cannot be guaranteed through contracts.

Supply chain complexity

Uncertainties in information flows are caused by complexities in supply chain networks. These can generally result from a lack of adequate legislation, different currencies, different economic policies, different business cultures, different technical standards, and different infrastructure (Bogataj & Bogataj, 2004).

Moreover, real-time information is essential for accurate monitoring by track and trace but cannot be fully transferred to the entire supply chain network (Schenk & Clausen, 2020). It is, for example, impossible to identify the flow of goods and source detection of counterfeit distribution, according to Kwok et al. (2010).

4.3 Insufficient monitoring & decision-making metrics

4.3.1 Inconsistent formalisation

Lack of standardisation

Standards play an important role to ensure global readability. For example, a data matrix code is intended for counterfeit-proof labelling of medicine in the EU (Papert et al., 2016). However, collaboration can be restricted by the lack of standards (Seethamraju, 2009). Both developed and underdeveloped countries seek greater transparency to improve business, operations, finance, legal, and purchasing. Therefore, formalisation enables transparency in other countries (Ahmed & Omar, 2019). Thus, a lack of standards of protocol and data formats, such as EPC, can become a major barrier for suppliers if not used (Howard et al., 2005). For instance, the EPC standard is RFID's most commonly used data representation (Delen et al., 2007).

Insufficient policies

Policies can influence SCV requirements (Papert et al., 2016). From a global point of view, there is a lack of regulatory aspects in the use of IoT-based data, e.g. policies and laws on data sharing (Srivastava et al., 2019). For instance, traceability requirements may be voluntary rather than mandatory, resulting in less traceability due to reduced participation (Shi et al., 2010). Insufficient information-sharing incentives can lead to information manipulation and distortion (Wan & Sanders, 2017).

In addition, RFID technology is dependent on the transmitting power, which is influenced by legal regulations of different countries, e.g. different frequencies (Kwok et al., 2010).

4.3.2 Data sharing and monitoring limitations

Relinquishing control

Trust and confidence are important for both suppliers and customers (Choy et al., 2007). However, implementing information-intense concepts like VMI or CPFR can result in a lack of trust between trading partners (Thron et al., 2006).

Trading partners can be afraid of relinquishing control. They struggle to share sensitive information. For instance, OEMs sell products to competing retailers. Therefore, the retailers do not want to share sensitive information with the OEM (Thron et al., 2006).

Reluctance to provide data

Given the risk of losing business, there is a conflict between sharing sensitive data and value creation (Seethamraju, 2009). Therefore, trading partners are reluctant to communicate and exchange formal and informal information (Hammervoll & Bø, 2010). Consequently, data sharing needs to be consistent, otherwise, visibility undermines trust, which has a negative impact on relationship management and monitoring. Thus, it proves to be a major challenge (Gunasekaran & Ngai, 2004).

5. Discussion

The results underline that cost-benefit trade-offs hinder the implementation of new technologies and systems (Goebel & Günther, 2009). However, manual or semi-manual processes, such as barcode scanning, can lead to inefficiencies due to loss of information or duplicate data. Despite the existing opportunities for greater digitalisation, there are still activities where information is manually entered into systems instead of using automated solutions (Choy et al., 2007; Schenk & Clausen, 2020).

In addition, the transmission of information through legacy systems leads to inconsistent information sources. There is a trade-off between cost-intensive manual processes, the use of legacy systems, and the cost-intensive or time-consuming adoption of new technologies and systems.

However, encouraging and empowering employees to adopt technologies and systems proves to be a challenge. Practitioners should take time to train their employees and focus on adequate and comprehensive onboarding programmes to avoid a lack of understanding of technologies.

RFID technology appears very frequently in the articles analysed. Thus, there has been a strong interest in RFID in combination with SCV in recent years (cf. Chanchaichujit et al., 2020). This technology may have the potential to improve SCV, but it also has its drawbacks, e.g., cost-benefit trade-offs, different frequencies, and standards on a global level. RFID can be a suitable technology for real-time information visibility, but it has its technical and regulatory limits for implementation across a whole supply chain network. Thus, RFID may be appropriate for (finished) high-value products (cf. Goebel & Günther, 2009).

Even though RFID appears very frequently in the analysis, it is not the only solution. Practitioners should investigate which technologies are suitable for themselves, their suppliers, and customers to enable the integration of technologies and information systems for improved SCV.

Trust is a frequently mentioned aspect regarding challenges in the analysis. Trust is a challenge for SCV, especially for the customer- and supplier-related factors (Choy et al., 2007; Thron et al., 2006). In this context, there is a fear of relinquishing control between trading partners (Thron et al., 2006). The results show that trading partners have difficulties in communicating and sharing information. Trust can be an enabler and prerequisite of SCV, e.g., as a basis for information sharing. Both perspectives, trust as a challenge and trust as a prerequisite, should be equally considered for improving SCV. Thus, communication between trading partners should be improved. For instance, neutral entities that provide communication and data-sharing platforms between trading partners may support this.

Insufficient incentives for truthful data or information sharing can lead to complexities based on cultural or infrastructural differences across the supply chain and low supply chain integration. These can result in low levels of SCV. Moreover, policies related to traceability requirements can be more voluntary rather than mandatory, leading to low participation and, thus, less transparency. Practitioners and researchers should examine technical and regulatory limitations on a use-case basis to find detailed solutions for appropriate incentives to achieve greater visibility.

A lack of real-time information needed for early warning systems and decision-making capabilities can lead to decision-making based on individual experiences, resulting in disruptions in the flow of goods (Munoz & Clements, 2008; Schenk & Clausen, 2020). Thus, there is a lack of adoption of advanced decision-support capabilities (Ranky, 2007; Seethamraju, 2009).

Poor data quality can result from undefined and not regularly monitored metrics, leading to a lack of knowledge and negatively impacting performance measurement. However, accurate monitoring across multiple nodes in a supply chain network is very difficult to achieve due to the complexity of supply chain structures (Schenk & Clausen, 2020). Both practitioners and researchers should investigate existing metrics and look for appropriate metrics for performance measurement and decision-making. The changes that have taken place in recent years in terms of operational processes, technologies, big data, and external circumstances require appropriate metrics for regular monitoring of physical and information flows to enable better decision-making.

6. Conclusion

In this article, a literature review of existing articles on SCV was conducted. 26 articles from an initial sample of 121 articles were analysed through qualitative content analysis. The research question "which challenges inhibit SCV in distribution logistics?" can be answered with our above-mentioned aggregated dimensions "inappropriate processes & technologies and systems", "lack of communication & trust", and "insufficient monitoring & decisionmaking metrics". The following presents the theoretical contribution, managerial implications, limitations of this study, and further research areas.

The main findings show that trust between trading partners is both a prerequisite and a challenge for SCV. Better communication and more trust could be achieved through neutral entities. RFID technology can have great potential for SCV, but implementing it in a whole network is a challenge. Thus, RFID might be appropriate for (finished) high-value products. Which SCV technology is suitable for users and their suppliers and customers should be investigated on a use-case basis. Furthermore, despite the possibilities of digitalisation, manual processes will remain because of a trade-off between the costs of existing manual processes and the costs of implementing new technology. Focusing on appropriate training, onboarding and empowerment could be a way to gain employees' understanding and trust. Decision-making can be based on individual experiences. Metrics can be undefined or insufficiently monitored. However, accurate monitoring across an entire supply chain network can be challenging, e.g., due to the complexity of the supply chain and the limitations of supply chain integration. Technological and regulatory occurrences require improved incentives to enable SCV. In addition, metrics should be reconsidered and adapted to current requirements for monitoring to improve decision-making on performance measurement and SCV.

The results provide an overview of SCV challenges in distribution logistics. Kalaiarasan et al. (2022) provide a holistic SCV framework, which also suggests dimensions and sub-dimensions of challenges. Our findings complement this existing framework related to distribution logistics. Thus, the challenges of SCV in distribution logistics are synthesised and can serve as an overview and extension of the current literature on SCV. Our findings can be considered for further studies. For example, detailed solutions to overcome the challenges can be sought in the recommended fields of action. To complement our findings, further studies could expand the research scope by considering procurement, production, and reverse logistics. Another idea for further studies is that industry-specific challenges could be analysed and compared.

This study is limited in scope. In general, the selection of search terms already limits the articles found for the analysis at the beginning. A literature review with other search terms may find other articles and thus different or additional results. Therefore, we ask for further studies to investigate if the results are also meaningful for other logistics phases. In addition, the analysis includes publications from the year 2004. Therefore, synthesised statements may be outdated in practice. Empirical research on our SCV challenges can lead to both further and current challenges and their solutions to address them. Moreover, RFID technology appears very frequently in the results of this study because it has received strong interest in the academic literature in recent years. Further studies should focus on other information technologies regarding the challenges of SCV.

New developments regarding technologies like 5G networks, connecting physical units like pallets, boxes, and parcels using telecommunication devices, camera-based vision systems at point-of-sale and in warehouses, avoiding manual scanning as well as information exchange, using blockchains or Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Big Data analytics all impact and drive SCV. However, further challenges may arise with the implementation, which should be thoroughly assessed.

References

- Ahmed, S., Kalsoom, T., Ramzan, N., Pervez, Z., Azmat, M., Zeb, B. & Ur Rehman, M. (2021). Towards supply chain visibility using internet of things: A dyadic analysis review. *Sensors*, 21(12), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.3390/s21124158
- Ahmed, W. & Omar, M. (2019). Drivers of supply chain transparency and its effects on performance measures in the automotive industry: case of a developing country. *International Journal of Services and Operations Management*, 33(2), 159-186. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJSOM.2019.100291
- Azevedo, A. L., Toscano, C., Sousa, J. P. & Soares, A. L. (2004). An advanced agent-based order planning system for dynamic networked enterprises. *Production Planning and Control*, 15(2), 133-144. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537280410001662538
- Bartlett, P. A., Julien, D. M. & Baines, T. S. (2007). Improving supply chain performance through improved visibility. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 18(2), 294-313. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090710816986
- Bertolini, M., Bottani, E., Ferretti, G., Rizzi, A. & Volpi, A. (2012). Experimental evaluation of business impacts of RFID in apparel and retail supply chain. *International Journal of RF Technologies: Research* and Applications, 3(4), 257-282. https://doi.org/10.3233/RFT-2012-028
- Bogataj, M. & Bogataj, L. (2004). On the compact presentation of the lead times perturbations in distribution networks. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 88(2), 145-155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2003.11.004
- Caridi, M., Crippa, L., Perego, A., Sianesi, A. & Tumino, A. (2010). Measuring visibility to improve supply chain performance: A quantitative approach. *Benchmarking*, 17(4), 593-615. https://doi.org/10.1108/14635771011060602
- Caridi, M., Moretto, A., Perego, A. & Tumino, A. (2014). The benefits of supply chain visibility: A value assessment model. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 151, 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.12.025
- Chanchaichujit, J., Balasubramanian, S. & Charmaine, N. S. M. (2020). A systematic literature review on the benefit-drivers of RFID implementation in supply chains and its impact on organisational competitive advantage. *Cogent Business and Management*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.1818408
- Chen, C., Zhang, J. & Delaurentis, T. (2014). Quality control in food supply chain management: An analytical model and case study of the adulterated milk incident in China. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 152, 188-199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.12.016
- Choy, K. L., Li, C. L., So, S. C. K., Lau, H., Kwok, S. K. & Leung, D. W. K. (2007). Managing uncertainty in logistics service supply chain. *International Journal of Risk Assessment and Management*, 7(1), 19-43. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJRAM.2007.011408
- Delen, D., Hardgrave, B. C. & Sharda, R. (2007). RFID for better supply-chain management through enhanced information visibility. *Production and Operations Management*, 16(5), 613-624. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1937-5956.2007.tb00284.x
- 13. Fatorachian, H. & Kazemi, H. (2021). Impact of Industry 4.0 on supply chain performance. *Production Planning and Control*, 32(1), 63-81. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2020.1712487
- Finkenstadt, D. J. & Handfield, R. (2021). Blurry vision: Supply chain visibility for personal protective equipment during COVID-19. *Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management*, 27(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pursup.2021.100689
- Francis, V. (2008). Supply chain visibility: Lost in translation? Supply Chain Management, 13(3), 180-184. https://doi.org/10.1108/13598540810871226
- Freichel, S. L. K., Wörtge, J. K., Haas, A. & Veer, L. (2022). Cargo Accumulation Risks in Maritime Supply Chains: A new perspective towards Risk Management for Theory, and Recommendations for the Insurance Industry and Cargo Shippers. *Logistics Research*, 15(4), 1-19.

- Gaukler, G. M., Özer, Ö. & Hausman, W. H. (2008). Order progress information: Improved dynamic emergency ordering policies. *Production and Operations Management*, 17(6), 599-613. https://doi.org/10.3401/poms.1080.0066
- Gioia, D. (2021). A Systematic Methodology for Doing Qualitative Research. Journal of Applied Behavioral Science, 57(1), 20-29. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886320982715
- Gioia, D. A., Corley, K. G. & Hamilton, A. L. (2013). Seeking Qualitative Rigor in Inductive Research: Notes on the Gioia Methodology. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16(1), 15-31. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428112452151
- Goebel, C. & Günther, O. (2009). Benchmarking RFID profitability in complex retail distribution systems. *Electronic Markets*, 19(2-3), 103-114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-009-0014-2
- Goh, M., De Souza, R., Zhang, A. N., He, W. & Tan, P. S. (2009). Supply chain visibility: A decision making perspective. In 4th IEEE Conference on Industrial Electronics and Applications (pp. 2546-2551). Xi'an: IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICIEA.2009.5138666
- Grest, M., Lauras, M., Montarnal, A., Sarazin, A. & Bousseau, G. (2019). A Meta Model for a Blockchainbased Supply Chain Traceability. In *Proceedings of the 2019 International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Systems Management* (pp. 735-740). Shanghai: IESM. https://doi.org/10.1109/IESM45758.2019.8948159
- Gunasekaran, A. & Ngai, E. W. T. (2004). Virtual supply-chain management. Production Planning and Control, 15(6), 584-595. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537280412331283955
- Hammervoll, T. & Bø, E. (2010). Shipper-carrier integration: Overcoming the transparency problem through trust and collaboration. *European Journal of Marketing*, 44(7), 1121-1139. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090561011047553
- Howard, M., Powell, P. & Vidgen, R. (2005). Automotive industry information systems: From mass production to build-to-order. *Journal of Cases on Information Technology*, 7(2), 16-30. https://doi.org/10.4018/jcit.2005040102
- Hübner, A., Holzapfel, A. & Kuhn, H. (2016). Distribution systems in omni-channel retailing. *Business Research*, 9(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40685-016-0034-7
- Jonsson, P. & Mattsson, S. A. (2013). The value of sharing planning information in supply chains. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 43(4), 282-299. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-07-2012-0204
- Jüttner, U. & Maklan, S. (2011). Supply chain resilience in the global financial crisis: An empirical study. Supply Chain Management, 16(4), 246-259. https://doi.org/10.1108/1359854111139062
- Kalaiarasan, R., Olhager, J., Agrawal, T. K. & Wiktorsson, M. (2022). The ABCDE of supply chain visibility: A systematic literature review and framework. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2022.108464
- Kembro, J., Näslund, D. & Olhager, J. (2017). Information sharing across multiple supply chain tiers: A Delphi study on antecedents. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 193, 77-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.06.032
- Kgobe, P. & Ozor, P. A. (2021). Integration of radio frequency identification technology in supply chain management: A critical review. *Operations and Supply Chain Management*, 14(4), 289-300. https://doi.org/10.31387/oscm0460303
- Kwok, S. K., Ting, S. L., Tsang, A. H. C. & Cheung, C. F. (2010). A counterfeit network analyser based on RFID and EPC. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 110(7), 1018-1037. https://doi.org/10.1108/02635571011069086
- Lustenberger, M., Spychiger, F. & Malesevic, S. (2020). Towards a better understanding of the value of blockchains in supply chain management. *Lecture Notes in Business Information Processing*, 381. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-44322-1_8
- 34. Mayring, P. & Fenzl, T. (2019). Handbuch Methoden der empirischen Sozialforschung. Springer Fachmedien.

- Messina, D., Barros, A. C. & Soares, A. L. (2018). How much visibility has a company over its supply chain? A diagnostic metric to assess supply chain visibility. In 22nd Cambridge International Manufacturing Symposium.
- Morenza-Cinos, M., Casamayor-Pujol, V. & Pous, R. (2019). Stock visibility for retail using an RFID robot. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 49(10), 1020-1042. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-03-2018-0151
- Mossinkoff, M. R. H. & Stockert, A. M. (2008). Electronic integration in the apparel industry: The Charles Vögele case. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management*, 12(1), 90-104. https://doi.org/10.1108/13612020810857961
- Munoz, A. & Clements, M. D. (2008). Disruptions in information flow. A revenue costing supply chain dilemma. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Electronic Commerce Research*, 3(1), 30-40. https://doi.org/10.3390/jtaer3010005
- Norwood, F. B. & Peel, D. (2021). Supply Chain Mapping to Prepare for Future Pandemics. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy, 43(1), 412-429. https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13125
- Otto, A. (2003). Supply Chain Event Management: Three Perspectives. International Journal of Logistics Management, 14(2), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574090310806567
- Papert, M., Rimpler, P. & Pflaum, A. (2016). Enhancing supply chain visibility in a pharmaceutical supply chain: Solutions based on automatic identification technology. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 46(9), 859-884. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPDLM-06-2016-0151
- Pundir, A. K., Jagannath, J. D. & Ganapathy, L. (2019). Improving supply chain visibility using IoTinternet of things. In 9th Annual Computing and Communication Workshop and Conference (pp. 156-162). Las Vegas: IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/CCWC.2019.8666480
- Ranky, P. G. (2007). Engineering management-focused radio frequency identification (RFID) model solutions. *IEEE Engineering Management Review*, 35(2), 20-30. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMR.2007.899727
- 44. Roy, V. (2021). Contrasting supply chain traceability and supply chain visibility: are they interchangeable? *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 32(3), 942-972. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-05-2020-0214
- Sander, F., Semeijn, J. & Mahr, D. (2018). The acceptance of blockchain technology in meat traceability and transparency. *British Food Journal*, 120(9), 2066-2079. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-07-2017-0365
- 46. Schenk, A. & Clausen, U. (2020). Creating transparency in the finished vehicles transportation process through the implementation of a real-time decision support system. In *IEEE International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management* (pp. 1017–1021). Singapore: IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEEM45057.2020.9309978
- 47. Schmidt, D. (2006). RFID im Mobile Supply Chain Event Management. Gabler.
- 48. Seethamraju, R. (2009). Managing supply chain risk Role of IT/IS. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Electronic Business* (pp. 970-977). Macau: AIS. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2157360
- Shi, J., Zhang, J. & Qu, X. (2010). Optimising distribution strategy for perishable foods using RFiD and sensor technologies. *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, 25(8), 596-606. https://doi.org/10.1108/08858621011088338
- Sodhi, M. M. S. & Tang, C. S. (2019). Research Opportunities in Supply Chain Transparency. Production and Operations Management, 28(12), 2946-2959. https://doi.org/10.1111/poms.13115
- Somapa, S., Cools, M. & Dullaert, W. (2018). Characterising supply chain visibility A literature review. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 29(1), 308-339. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-06-2016-0150
- 52. Srivastava, S., Bhadauria, A., Dhaneshwar, S. & Gupta, S. (2019). Traceability and transparency in supply chain management system of pharmaceutical goods through block chain. *International Journal of Scientific and Technology Research*, (12), 3201-3206.

- Sternberg, H. S., Hofmann, E. & Roeck, D. (2021). The Struggle is Real: Insights from a Supply Chain Blockchain Case. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 42(1), 71-87. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12240
- Straube, F., Vogeler, S. & Bensel, P. (2007). RFID-based Supply Chain Event Management. *RFID Eurasia*. https://doi.org/10.1109/RFIDEURASIA.2007.4368115
- Suherman, A. G. & Simatupang, T. M. (2017). The network business model of cloud computing for endto-end supply chain visibility. *International Journal of Value Chain Management*, 8(1), 22-39. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJVCM.2017.082684
- Swift, C., Guide, V. D. R. & Muthulingam, S. (2019). Does supply chain visibility affect operating performance? Evidence from conflict minerals disclosures. *Journal of Operations Management*, 65(5), 406-429. https://doi.org/10.1002/joom.1021
- Thron, T., Nagy, G. & Wassan, N. (2006). The impact of various levels of collaborative engagement on global and individual supply chain performance. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 36(8), 596-620. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030610702880
- Tranfield, D., Denyer, D. & Smart, P. (2003). Towards a Methodology for Developing Evidence-Informed Management Knowledge by Means of Systematic Review. *British Journal of Management*, 14(3), 207-222. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.00375
- Trautrims, A., Grant, D. B., Cunliffe, A. L. & Wong, C. (2012). Using the "documentary method" to analyse qualitative data in logistics research. *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, 42(8), 828-842. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600031211269776
- Wan, X. & Sanders, N. R. (2017). The negative impact of product variety: Forecast bias, inventory levels, and the role of vertical integration. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 186, 123-131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.02.002
- Watson, R., Wilson, H. N., Smart, P. & Macdonald, E. K. (2018). Harnessing Difference: A Capability-Based Framework for Stakeholder Engagement in Environmental Innovation. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 35(2), 254-279. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12394
- Williams, B. D., Roh, J., Tokar, T. & Swink, M. (2013). Leveraging supply chain visibility for responsiveness: The moderating role of internal integration. *Journal of Operations Management*, 31(7-8), 543-554. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2013.09.003
- 63. Wollenburg, J., Holzapfel, A. & Hübner, A. (2019). Omni-channel customer management processes in retail: An exploratory study on fulfillment-related options. *Logistics Research*, *12*(1).

Judit Nagy Corvinus University of Budapest 1093 Budapest, Hungary judit.nagy@uni-corvinus.hu Pavel Foltin University of Defence 662 10 Brno, Czech Republic pavel.foltin@unob.cz JEL: M16, O32, L91 Review paper https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.17

Received: August 23, 2022 Revision received: September 26, 2022 Accepted for publishing: September 28, 2022

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License



INCREASE SUPPLY CHAIN RESILIENCE BY APPLYING EARLY WARNING SIGNALS WITHIN BIG-DATA ANALYSIS

Abstract

Purpose: The current environment of globally interconnected supply chains, the dynamics of changes and potential threats significantly reduce the time for a possible response. At the same time, there is a growing demand for information necessary to mitigate the consequences. To minimise the damage and increase the resilience of supply chains, it is necessary to identify sources of threats promptly, the extent of possible damage and the possibility of preventing or minimising their impact. The aim of the paper is to structure supply chain threats and search for appropriate datasets for prevention.

Methodology: The paper analyses the state-of-the-art through a comprehensive literature review and demonstrates secondary data about how free-access business data can be used as Early Warning Signals to forecast supply chain disruptive events, with a particular focus on international maritime transportation.

Results: It was confirmed that companies can access many open datasets, and collecting and aggregating these data can improve their preparedness for future disruptive events. As the most important issue, the authors defined the selection of proper datasets and interpreting results with foresight.

Conclusions: Identifying and analysing the relevant Early Warning Signals by companies to prevent supply chain disruptions are essential for keeping their supply chains sustainable and their resilience on a sufficient level. It was proved that general business indicators (PMI delivery time, container capacity, inflation rate, etc.) can help to signal the increasing possibility of maritime traffic problems in ports and container unavailability as usual supply chain disruption types in recent years. Therefore, the companies in the supply chains need to find, collect and analyse the appropriate data, which are, in some cases, free and available. However, it is a substantial task for data analysts to identify the most relevant data and work out the analytical methodology which can be applied as Early Warning Systems (EWS).

Keywords: Supply chain resilience, big-data analytics, high-impact low probability events, early warning signals

1. Introduction

Resilience is vital for designing and managing viable value-creation networks (Ivanov, 2021). In the

global market, supply chains compete with each other, and their extent and complexity are a major concern from optimisation, design, efficiency or resilience points of view, even on the level of individual companies or the entire supply chain (Dujak, 2019). The ability of global supply chains to be resilient and flexible is indispensable since they face a wide range of threats, uncertainties, and sudden shifts in case the time and necessary resources for an adequate reaction are limited. Therefore, supply chains should be interpreted in a systems theory context. Supply chains today have to operate in a particularly turbulent environment. An important issue in such circumstances is the supply chain's ability to successfully maintain its operations while adapting to a dynamically changing environment.

The paper has the following structure: in the literature review part, the supply chain disruption approaches will be introduced, followed by the role of digital technologies in managing the supply chains, as well as big data analytics and how it can support supply chain management and what role early warning systems (EWS) can have in preventing disruptions. The following section will introduce the methodology. Since this is a theoretical paper, the framework we built is an example of using EWS to prevent disruptions in maritime transportation was identified as a key process in global supply chains. Finally, in the Conclusions, the findings and the relevance of the framework will be discussed as well as the limitations of the study.

2. Literature Review

To analyse the current state-of-the-art knowledge, professional publications from international databases of scientific publications, Web of Science (WoS) and Scopus were primarily used. At the same time, analyses of consulting companies and professional portals were reviewed. Open databases of the OECD and the World Bank were used as data sources.

2.1 Supply Chain Disruption Approaches

In the paper, the authors investigate how big data analytics can help supply chains become resilient to disruptive events. Many significant influencing factors affect the supply chain's overall performance and long-term operational sustainability. A very appropriate categorisation of factors causing supply chain disruptions is found in Tang, Teo and Wei (Tang et al., 2008, pp. 206-208; Tulach & Foltin, 2020) and their three main categories:

- Chain deviations: a change in one or more control parameters, such as changes in

costs, demand, or delivery times within the supply chain, without a change in the logistics chain's original structure;

- *Chain disruption:* a significant change in the supply chain structure due to the unavailability of some logistics nodes or their edges due to unexpected events caused by human or natural factors;
- Disruption due to a disaster: temporary irreversible closure of the supply network due to an unexpected, unforeseen disaster, which may cause total disruption of the functionality of logistics nodes and transport capabilities.

Threats might originate in various sources for supply chains. They can be irregular, catastrophic, or hybrid, emerging from hostile intentional or non-intentional activities, e.g., natural or disasters (Freier, 2008, p. vii). Supply chain disruption can be experienced inside or outside the supply chain (Narasimhan & Talluri, 2009). It can be intentional or unintentional (Foltin, 2011) and might concern supply chain flows like materials flow, information flow, knowledge flow, control and coordination flow (Neiger et al., 2009). Several research teams have also dealt with the consequences of catastrophic events (Knemaver et al., 2009) and the consequences of socioeconomic, political, man-made and natural disasters (Singh & Singh, 2019).

At the same time, the supply chains are exposed to disruptions, and usually, at some point, a warning about potential or upcoming problems is needed (Vries et al., 2021). The usual way of dealing with the need to predict potential disruptions of supply chains is to involve a group of experts to continuously evaluate changes in supply chains and the conditions of their operations (Jalowiec, 2020). The team of experts constantly monitors and evaluates these changes. In case of a threat of disruption or change in the chain's functionality, they give appropriate recommendations. The advantage of this approach is the high professional level of advice. However, their preparation is lengthy; it requires endless meetings and discussions with experts, so this method is also expensive.

The complexity of supply chains indicates that their management necessitates complex technological applications. Data about the material flows, data quality requirements and the need for information sharing between all logistics nodes become the obligatory requirement for value creation and supply chains' long-term operational sustainability. The decision-making process of planning and managing the supply chains/ networks also requires overall analytical support (Diop et al., 2021). Next to identifying risks threatening supply chains, managing such risks in global supply chains is also a hot topic. Its process is (1) identifying risk sources, (2) defining the circumstances under which such risks can occur, (3) estimating the potential consequences, and (4) providing possible routes to mitigating and handling these consequences (Tang et al., 2008, p. 210). Digitalisation might offer plenty of possibilities to support these activities.

The number of individual supply chain elements and their interconnections create a complex system which might also carry an inherent risk (Vlkovský, 2019). Therefore, it is substantial to identify the supply chain's overall capabilities to define threats and sources of disruption, with the potential to improve resilience and long-term operational sustainability. Furthermore, the identification and recognition of unexpected events is a precondition for the possibility of managing the supply chain resiliently.

2.2 Role of Big Data in Supply Chain Management

Due to the overall complexity of the supply chains and the whole set of influencing interconnected factors, digitalisation can help to monitor the supply chain environment, create transparency and optimise processes (Ivanov et al., 2019; Bahrami & Shokouhyar, 2021; Modgil et al., 2021). These can contribute to a better understanding of the behaviour of individual entities within the supply chains.

Tseng et al. (2021) and Diófási-Kovács (2021) state that sustainable supply chain operations can be facilitated by the digital support of labour and manufacturing processes, diverse digital platforms, and extending digital communication. Core digital technologies like the Internet of Things (IoT) make the collection and exchange of large-scale data and the transmission of processing systems possible (Birkel & Hartmann, 2020). Additive technologies like 3D printing enable shorter lead times and manufacturing flexibility, increase product customisation, and reduce inventory (Ivanov et al., 2019). High levels of digital supply chain integration also can improve companies' financial performance and positively impact sustainability (Tseng et al., 2021; Negri et al., 2021). Digital technologies might impact supply chain risk management positively in numerous ways. The next chapter focuses specifically on Big Data from among all digital technologies. Big Data is created in multiple organisational processes in high volume, with high velocity and in a wide variety, which exceeds the capabilities of traditional data processing systems (Wang et al., 2016). The most significant impact of digitalisation is the possibility to capture, share, and process it. Data on its own is not worth much, and systems are needed that can process it. It will be explored how Big Data Analytics, as an important feature of digitalisation, can support the maintenance of supply chain security. The paper aims to present and propose the construction of a system to anticipate unexpected adverse events and thereby improve the resilience of supply chains.

2.3 Role of Big Data and Early Warning Systems in Preventing Supply Chain Disruptions

There are many forms of digital technologies in the supply chain that can help increase communication, collaboration, and the efficiency of information sharing. The widespread use of platforms raises agility, reliability, and efficiency while managing risks (Tseng et al., 2021). Big Data Analytics includes technologies, skills, and practices to structure and process data and provide helpful information for decision-makers.

Identifying risks threatening the supply chain is crucial when estimating the likelihood of disruptive events and possible consequences (Rehak, 2016). The management also has to assess the consequences, their magnitude, nature, complexity, and connectivity; all have to be studied in preparation for the possible occurrence. The volatility and timerelated factors of threats should also be considered, as well as the effectiveness of the existing control mechanisms.

The paper focuses on how Big Data Analytics (BDA) can support these processes, what kind of data and from what sources should be collected and processed as Early Warning Signals to gain helpful information in preventing risks and helping supply chains to become resilient.

2.4 Use of Early Warning Systems

Scholars have already started to deal with how to use early warning systems in the supply chain. There are several case studies in the food industry on how EWS can help to predict quantity and quality problems (Li et al., 2010; Beulens et al., 2006) and identify the extent of risks (Xu et al., 2010). EWS can also be helpful in the fashion industry in predicting a range of risks – information, demand, supply, and environmental (Sumei, 2010) – and is also used in preventing customer loss (Lo & Hong, 2012). Customer churn detection is crucial in the banking and insurance sectors (Er Kara et al., 2018). Genc et al. (2014) studied an EWS to assess risks threatening production control, and Jahns et al. (2006) consider it a suitable tool for anticipating unexpected events in supply management.

Although examples can be found in the literature for EWS application for specific problems in the supply chain, the supply chain-level prediction and systematic analysis of disruptive events are not addressed yet. This study aims to fill this gap and provide a framework for using free access data as Early Warning Signals to prevent disruptive events in the maritime transportation process of global supply chains.

2.5 Role of EWS in Preventing Supply Chain Disruptions

Developing the analytical capabilities of supply chains and placing a strong emphasis on ensuring that they have the knowledge and decision-making capacity to deal with difficult situations allow them to operate resiliently (Modgil et al., 2021). However, the availability of large amounts of data tends to make the decision-makers' job difficult nowadays. Therefore, there is a strong need for building BDA systems capable of filtering, structuring, and analysing data in large volumes, variety, and from various sources (Demeter et al., 2021). Wamba et al. (2017) indicated that infrastructure, management skills, and staff expertise are needed to use BDA to the correct standard.

According to the limited case studies, Ford (Simchi-Levi et al., 2014) and IBM (Lu et al., 2015) use various quantitative modelling approaches to predict disruptive events threatening their supply chains. However, unexpected events significantly impact supply chain functionality - such as an earthquake or terrorist act - but are impossible to build accurate forecasting systems (Fattahi & Govindan, 2020). BDA can support the resilience of supply chains in numerous ways. According to Papadopoulos et al. (2017), big data has great potential for finding appropriate recovery strategies and for supply network management. Bahrami and Shokouhyar (2021) consider the most outstanding achievement of BDA the fact that it provides a deep insight into understanding the changes of the business and market environment, which allows companies to prepare for disruptions.

After reviewing the literature, it was found that although there are isolated examples of Big Data used in Early Warning Systems (EWS) in the supply chain, their prevalence and theoretical development are far from complete.

3. Research Aims and Methodology

The possible supply chain disruptions represent threats to the overall capabilities of the long-term sustainability of business continuity. As seen from the literature review, the range of threats to supply chains is very wide and it is not possible to address them in the same way. To this end, the analysis is narrowed down to the transportation process, a critical supply chain process that spans the entire supply chain from upstream to downstream. At the same time, the time horizon is crucial. The shorter the time horizon, the more accurate the possibility of prediction can be. On the contrary, in a longer time horizon, the probability of predicting potential threats and disruption of distribution chains is significantly lower.

In the era of global supply chains, transportation is particularly important, with maritime transport being the main performer of the flow of goods between global regions. Consequently, the success of this process is a key determinant of supply chain performance. It is therefore addressed in detail in this paper.

The study will focus on the type of intentional disruptions that poses a particular threat to the international maritime flow of goods and will further examine what data sets are available to predict the likely impacts when this type of contingency occurs and what indicators can be used to infer the extent of the impacts when operating the supply chain.

3.1 Research Goal

Based on the identified research gap, the primary effort was focused on identifying the suitable data sources and their interconnections, as well as the available BDA applications and their potential use as advanced prediction tools for possible supply chain disruptions. The focal question is *how supply chains can prepare for unexpected adverse events and take advantage of the opportunities offered by digitalisation to anticipate events that threaten them.*

The study approaches the subject primarily from a theoretical point of view, and an EWS will be proposed for supply chain disruptions. The research questions are the following: in case of a specific risk

type – e.g., intentional but non-sudden threats – what kind of (big) data is needed, and what kind of free access data is available for use as an EWS to predict the possible occurrence of a supply chain disruption in the global maritime transportation process. The goals of the presented research are:

- How can big data be used to predict disruption in the transportation process of supply chains?
- 2) How can it be used to anticipate events and support preparedness?

3.2 Data

When we started to analyse the research question, we faced the problem that even though there are many information sources, there is a lack of structured data which can be used to predict potential supply chain disruptions and be used as an Early Warning Signal for early identification of these threats. The lack of suitable data led the authors to the need to identify the main factors influencing the core tasks of supply chain management and the key aspects and factors influencing the performance of core supply chain processes.

A substantial question is how we can measure the performance of the supply chain processes, taking into account the uncertainty in their conditions and environment, and how to identify the possible sources of changes in advance (through the Early Warning Signals) to be able to identify the sources of potential disruptions and their probability.

Similar to critical success factors (Parmenter, 2015) and the proposed Key Result Indicators (KRIs), Result Indicators (RIs), Performance Indicators (PIs), and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), the overall performance and effectivity of supply chain management can be assessed, based on previous results (past), results in real or almost-real time (present), with the possibility to forecast the future.

To find appropriate data sources to forecast disruptive events for maritime transportation in global supply chains, the authors overviewed the biggest economic shocks of the last decades having huge effects on supply chain operations, such as the recession in 2001-2002, the financial crisis in 2009, the Hanjin Shg bankruptcy in 2016, and the Covid-19 pandemic (Table 1). Based on the identified big shocks, keywords were defined that can describe that specific shock. These search words were applied in a bibliometric analysis in the Web of Science (WoS) and Scopus databases to catch their effects on supply chains. All in all, the keywords of the big economic downturns of past decades and their supply chain effects serve as the basis to define the appropriate Early Warning Signals for future intentional but non-sudden supply chain disruptions.

3.3 Methodological Approach

Since this study is theoretical, the methodology is a proposal for constructing an EWS framework. As discussed earlier, a large amount of data is available, much of which is freely available. However, deciding which data to select and from which source to predict a disruptive event is not always easy.

The authors have identified a research gap through the literature review and, by using publicly available data as an example, developed an analytical framework for predicting a specific supply chain disruptive event which currently poses the greatest threat to maritime freight transport, namely port congestion and container shortages. To this end, an example is presented of how and what data should be collected and what signs indicate that the emergency mentioned above is about to occur. For this purpose, past data from previous crises and the patterns observed in those crises are examined.

3.4 Research Limitations

The presented research primarily focuses on the theoretical background and system analysis. Due to the lack of appropriate data, the individual research steps come from the mind-maps experiments. This approach could be mainly subjective, with the general effort of objectification. This objectification could be considered a certain limitation of the research results.

The presented research is mainly theoretically focused on identifying possible interconnections between data availability, BDA, and EWS. At the same time, due to the lack of Big Data, there are certain research limitations because of using the theoretical mind-maps experiments, which from their purpose, bring subjective considerations, which were objectified in discussion with experts. For this reason, this objectification of the mind-maps experiments could be considered the main limitation of research results, but it also brings new possible points of view.

The research is focused on intentional threats that can be at least partially predicted. In the case of natural disasters, the possibility of predictability is very limited in terms of the time and place where they will happen and the extent of the impacts and affected actors. For this reason, the research is focused only on intentional sources of potential disruption of supply chains (Srinivasa, 2022).

4. Analysis and Results

Supply chain risk management has several inevitable steps. Its process is (1) identifying risk sources, (2) defining the circumstances under which such risks can occur, (3) estimating the potential consequences, and (4) providing possible routes to mitigating and handling these consequences (Tang et al., 2008, p. 210).

Signs or metrics are needed to measure the supply chains' performance to notice deviations from the normal supply chain operations. Planning and controlling the supply chain effectivity is usually possible through previously defined KPIs. Within the preliminary analytical part of the planning process, keywords can be sources of possible indices such as Early Warning Signs. From a macro point of view, it is hard to narrow managerial decision-making to only a few indicators or KPIs regarding the supply chain. For this reason, it is necessary to look at its main parts when optimising these and identify suitable analytical approaches next to the supply chain's system approach. The selected illustrative area in this paper is transportation. In this process of supply chains, it is possible to identify visible metrics for monitoring resilience and early warning signs by using BDA. The parameters for the transportation process of the supply chain are based on crosssectorial and sectoral criteria. For this reason, the analytical framework covers the following:

- (1) basic transport parameters, i.e., intensity, density, and permeability,
- (2) parameters of the physical infrastructure (i.e., parts of tunnels, bridges, bridging, the height of bridges...), and especially the difficulty of possible restoration (costs and duration of restoration to the original parameters), the costs of detouring the designated object or the cultural and historical uniqueness of the object,
- (3) transport services, which can be person or freight. In the case of one-person transport, the service is the transport of one person over a distance of km and is calculated as the product of the transport performance (i.e., the distance travelled by the given means of transport) and the number of transported persons [pkm]; for freight transport, transport performance represents the transport of one ton of goods per km,
- (4) transport structure indicators, especially throughput and intensity.

Based on the parameters mentioned above, it is advisable, as a next step, to identify suitable examples of information sources that can be used as EWS for preservation or increasing the resilience of supply chains (Figure 1). Due to a large number of information sources, it is necessary to use the Big Data approach to find and compile a suitable data source and subsequently identify search algorithms and keywords.



Figure 1 Logic of the research process: Finding the right Early Warning Signals

Source: Authors

4.1 Possible Identification of Supply Chain Disruption Proxies

One of the indicators most commonly used as a proxy for such strains is the global Purchasing Managers Index suppliers' delivery times (from now on referred to as the "PMI SDT"), which quantifies developments in the time required for the delivery of inputs to firms. A key advantage of the PMI SDT is that it can capture capacity constraints of a different nature (e.g. intermediate goods shortages, transportation delays or labour supply shortages) (Figure 2), making it an all-encompassing indicator of strains in global production networks (Attinasi et al., 2021).

Figure 2 Suppliers' delivery times a) PMI SDT across regions (diffusion indices)



Source: Attinasi et al. (2021)

Key indicators in the transportation sector could be ship capacities and container availability. At the same time, shortages in ship and container capacity result from port congestion tying up the supply of ships, meaning that more ships are required to serve the same amount of demand (World Bank, 2021). Indeed, the presence of ships waiting to berth at ports suggests that the quantity of ships is not a binding constraint. Similarly, many experts, such as Drewry's John Fossey, note that overall container supply remains adequate to serve existing demand. Still, there is a mismatch between where containers are needed and where they are, and port congestion makes reallocation more difficult (Miller, 2021). The evolution of the trade and container ship availabilities is presented in Figure 3.

Figure 3 Maritime shipping capacity has generally grown faster than volumes



Source: World Bank (2021)

Maritime transport is a key indicator of changes in international trade. Changes in the availability of shipping capacity indicate subsequent changes. Figure 3 shows the effects of significant security changes, e.g. in
connection with the increase in security measures due to the terrorist attacks on 11 September 2001, with their gradual onset in 2002. These years, international trade grew more slowly than the availability of free container capacities by ship. It was similar between 2005 and 2009 due to the global economic crisis. Military operations in the Persian Gulf and Afghanistan also occurred during this period. It was similar from 2012 to 2015 and grew from 2017 to 2019. The end of 2019 is the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic, which is also visible on the international trade level and overall transportation capabilities. The important effect was the limited throughput of the international ports due to anti-Covid-19 restrictions. An example of container capacity lost due to port congestions and vessel delays is presented in Fig. 4.

Figure 4 Share of the Global Container Fleet Capacity Lost due to Port Congestions and Vessel Delays [in %]



Source: Weinberg (2022)

However, the significant changes in available capacities can be challenging to predict in the longer term. So there remains the possibility of critical factor predictions focused on changes in trends in the availability of transport capacities and transport infrastructure. From a predictive point of view, the PMI, an indicator of the prevailing direction of economic trends in the manufacturing and service sectors, can be considered more appropriate. It consists of a diffusion index that summarises whether market conditions are increasing, staying at the same level, or decreasing from the perspective of purchasing managers. The PMI index provides information on current and future business conditions (Krúpa, 2022). The decomposition of PMI suppliers' delivery times is highlighted in Figure 5.

Figure 5 A model decomposition of PMI suppliers' delivery times (deviations from the mean; percentage point contributions)



Source: World Bank (2021)

Supply chain disruptions have a negative impact on global industrial production and trade and a positive impact on inflation. Figure 5 also shows the interconnectedness of supply chain capabilities and the potential for economic recovery. There is also a visible interconnection and a possible explanation of the main shocks and consequences for supply chain performance.

4.2 Identification of the disruptions

As a potential metric for identifying possible disruptions, the inflation trend (see Figure 6) and the inactive containership capacity (see Figure 7) were selected. According to the annual data, the bottoms and peaks follow inflation. Significant threats or disruptions happened in periods of inflation peaks, e.g., in 1996, 2000, 2005 and 2006, 2007 (end of the year), 2011, and 2018 – and there were bottoms in inflation in 2009 and from 2014 to 2015. These inflation trends (Figure 6) present the interconnection with container capacity availability and offers a possible explanation of the main shocks and consequences for supply chain performance.

Figure 6 Inflation since the 1990s: All items and all items excluding food and energy OECD (CPI), year-on-year inflation rate



Source: OECD (2022)

4.3 Approach Verification through Data Sets

The World Bank Analysis offers good examples of the sources of possible supply chain disruptions. However, it is necessary to identify suitable keywords, or sets of keywords, which could be helpful when searching database sources for disruption forecasting. In the currently proposed theoretical framework, the applied keywords were selected based on the frequency of keywords in the articles in the WoS/ Scopus databases. In searching words sequence, the four threats were used, mentioned in Figure 7, and "supply chain" was added as the fifth keyword.





Source: World Bank (2021)

As the first example, the keywords "recession" and "supply chain" were analysed, sorting articles by frequency of citations. The most quoted articles found with this method also list the keywords "financial risk" and "world economy". It is possible to use more keywords, but only the first two were selected for research purposes. For the second search, "supply chain" and "global financial crisis" were used, and for the third, "supply chain" and" bankruptcy". Finally, "supply chain" and "Covid-19" were used for the fourth search.

threat	period	possible additional keywords	possible source of data	reasoning
economic recession	2001/2002	financial riskworld economy	- The World Bank – Economy ¹	- set of economic indicators
global financial crisis	2009	 supply chain resilience supply chain vulnerability 	- FM Global Resilience Index ²	- 15 key drivers of resilience
Hanjin Shg bankruptcy	2016	 international business risk management 	 World Bank – Statistical Performance Indicators (SPI)³ 	- assessment of global performance
Covid-19	2020	 transportation services exports of goods and services 	- World Bank – Transport Services ⁴	- level of transportation capabilities

Notes:

¹⁾ The World Bank – Economy, set of indicators (https://datatopics.worldbank.org/world-development-indicators/themes/economy.html)

- ²⁾ FM Global Resilience Index set of indicators (https://www.fmglobal.com/research-and-resources/tools-and-resources/resilienceindex/explore-the-data/?)
- ³⁾ The World Bank Statistical Performance Indicators (SPI) (https://www.worldbank.org/en/programs/statistical-performance-indicators)

⁴⁾ The World Bank – Transportation (https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/BX.GSR.TRAN.ZS)

Source: Authors

From all identified sources, the economic indicators were found as the most important EWSs of the intentional but non-sudden threats endangering the supply chain with disruptions, which have predictable potential. Due to the nature of possible disruption to the supply chain functionality, uncertainty in the chain can manifest in three basic forms: internal chain deviations, chain disruptions, and disruptions due to a disaster (Tang et al., 2008, p. 206). The following selected macroeconomic and supply chains indicators were selected as EWS (World Bank, 2022):

- GDP per capita growth (annual %), as an indicator of the annual percentage growth rate of GDP per capita based on constant local currency;
- Inflation, GDP deflator (annual %), as an indicator measured by the annual growth rate

of the GDP implicit deflator, which shows the rate of price change in the economy as a whole; GDP implicit deflator is the ratio of GDP in current local currency to GDP in constant local currency;

- Container Port Traffic (TEU: 20-feet equivalent units), as an indicator of measures the flow of containers from land to sea transport modes, and vice versa, in twenty-foot equivalent units (TEUs), a standard-size container;
- Transport Services (% of service imports), as an indicator of transport services performed by the residents of an economy for those of another, involving the carriage of passengers, the movement of goods (freight), rental of carriers with crew, and related support and auxiliary services.

The trendiness and interconnection of world economic and supply chain indicators are shown in Figure 8. The individual indicators were adjusted to a year-on-year percentage change to monitor correlating trends. This adjustment makes it possible to capture the change in trend and compare it with the changing trends of other indicators. To capture changes in trends in the selected variables, two basic levels (value 0) were set in the graph: on the left axis of the chart for column variables, i.e. world GDP per capita and world inflation (as a GDP deflator). In the right axis of the graph, the basic level (value 0) is set for the global indicators like Container Port Traffic and Transport Services. By interlacing the data in one chart, it is subsequently possible to identify the interconnectedness of the trends of annual changes.

Figure 8 World macroeconomic and supply chain indicators – annual change [%], years 2000-2021



Source: Modified from World Bank Data (2022)

Following the identified critical events disrupting the availability of container capacities (Figure 7) and connecting them with the selected indicators suitable for BDA (Table 1), in Figure 8 it is possible to identify predictive potential and make the following statements on the global level:

- In 2001-2002, when there was an economic recession, the economy's performance expressed in GDP per capita was the lowest in 2001, and in the following year, there was positive growth again. An increase in Container Port Traffic accompanied this change. In these two years, however, there was still a year-on-year decline in Transport Services, which began to increase again only in the middle of 2002 and reached its peak only in 2004. Also, Inflation (GDP deflator) reacted with a delay in the year-on-year comparison and gradually began to increase only from 2003.
- The global financial crisis in 2009 caused a significant decline in the economy's per-

formance, expressed in the year-on-year change in GDP per capita. However, the year-on-year change in Inflation was not that significant, again with a delay of approximately one year, as was the case with the economic recession in 2001-2002. In the case of Transport Services, there was a significant year-on-year drop in the services provided, which was also matched by the drop in Container Port Traffic. For both indicators, however, there was a significant increase in the year-on-year comparison and the year-on-year trend. Container Port Traffic is pointed to as the pro-growth indicator of changes in economic performance.

- In the case of Hanjin Shg bankruptcy, a slight drop in economic performance and a correlating drop in inflation can be identified. Conversely, in the area of supply chain efficiency, there was a significant increase in the year-on-year trend change for Container Port Traffic and Transport Services.

- Regarding the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, there was a fundamental drop in economic performance during 2020. This drop deepened even further in 2021, also reflected in a significant year-on-year change in inflation. In the case of Container Port Traffic, there was a year-on-year drop, but the level of Transport Services reached its 20-year high.

According to the above findings, authors identified a predictive potential based on BDA and EWS keywords:

- The events of the economic recession in 2001-2002 resulted in the possibility of predicting the development of GDP per capita and partially also Inflation according to the change in the Container Port Traffic trend.
- In the case of the global financial crisis in 2009, it is possible to identify a significant change in the Container Port Traffic trend already in 2008, i.e. before the financial crisis reached its maximum. The year-on-year change in trend is also visible on the Transport Services indicator, which reached an almost doubled level when economic growth resumed, representing a significant increase in the capacities of the global supply chain.
- The global effects of Hanjin Shg bankruptcy on the global economic performance and inflation indicators cannot be confirmed due to the chosen macro view on the sustainability of supply chains.
- Regarding the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, it was possible to identify the yearon-year changes in Transport Services as a suitable indicator predicting changes in economic performance, which, assuming ceteris paribus, would occur in the second half of 2022.

5. Conclusions

It is hard to predict the disruptive effects of High Impact Low Probability (HILP) events on the supply chains because of the unpredictability of these events. Similarly, it is hard to predict big natural disasters since these threats are accidental. Only several high-frequency natural disruptions, e.g., annual floods, can be predicted, but forecasting events like flash floods is impossible. The importance of the time horizon for the prediction of potential disruptions is highlighted in this paper. Based on the relevant information, it is possible to predict short time disruptions and their possible consequences. In long-term prediction, the probability is significantly decreasing with time.

For the maritime transportation process in the global supply chain, the expected performance can be measured by several KPIs. If there is any significant deviation in these KPIs when an intentional and non-sudden event occurs in the environment or the market the supply chain operates in, Early Warning Signals can be observed; thus, the disruption and its effects can be predicted. To carry this out, supply chains and companies must define and continuously measure transportation KPIs throughout the chain and use BDA systems that assess economic data – suggested as examples in Table 1 – that can forecast specific types of economic downturns threatening the supply chain.

We proved that general business indicators (PMI delivery time, container capacity, inflation rate, etc.) can indicate the increasing possibility of maritime traffic problems in ports and container unavailability as usual supply chain disruption type of recent years. The companies in the supply chains need to find, collect and analyse the appropriate data, which are, in some cases, free and available. However, it is a substantial task of data analysts to identify the most relevant data and work out the analytical methodology which can be applied as Early Warning Systems (EWS).

As a part of the research carried out, it was confirmed that through identified EWS, it is possible to predict some changes in transportation capabilities and infrastructures. These indicators and indices will need further testing in real applications, using real data development and then checking the probabilities of successful predictions. It is necessary to verify further the interconnectedness of the identified trends of the selected indicators on a longer time series and specific events. Further research will therefore aim to confirm this connection between indicators and events on national level. The trends and early warning signals should also be tested on the country level to identify direct links to specific events and national-level indicators to call the attention of country/ies to the threats they need to deal with.

References

- Attinasi, G. M., Balatti, M., Mancini, M. & Metellie, L. (2021). Supply chain disruptions and the effects on the global economy. *Economic Bulletin*. https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/ecbu/eb202108.en.pdf
- 2. Bahrami, M. & Shokouhyar, S. (2021). The role of big data analytics capabilities in bolstering supply chain resilience and firm performance: a dynamic capability view. *Information Technology & People*, *35*, 1621-1651. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-01-2021-0048
- 3. Beulens, A. J., Li, Y., Kramer, M. R. & van der Vorst, J. G. A. J. (2006). Possibilities for applying data mining for early Warning in Food Supply Networks. In *Workshop on Methodologies and Tools for Complex System Modelling and Integrated Policy Assessment*.
- Birkel, H. S. & Hartmann, E. (2020). Internet of Things the future of managing supply chain risks. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 25, 535-548. https://doi.org/10.1108/SCM-09-2019-0356
- Demeter, K., Losonci, D. & Nagy, J. (2020). Road to digital manufacturing a longitudinal case-based analysis. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 32(3), 820-839. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMTM-06-2019-0226
- Diófási-Kovács, O. (2021). Exploring Effects of Digitalization on Sustainability in the Logistics Service Industry. In *The Palgrave Handbook of Corporate Sustainability in the Digital Era* (pp. 455-478). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-42412-1_23
- Diop, I. M., Cherifi, C., Diallo, C. & Cherifi, H. (2021). Revealing the Component Structure of the World Air Transportation Network. *Applied Network Science*, 6, 1-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41109-021-00430-2
- 8. Dujak, D., Sebalj, D., Kolinsky, A. (2019). Towards Exploring Bullwhip Effects in Natural Gas Supply Chain. *LOGFORUM*, *15*(4), 557-569. https://doi.org/10.17270/J.LOG.2019.369
- Er Kara, M., Oktay Fırat, S. Ü. & Ghadge, A. (2020). A data mining-based framework for supply chain risk management. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 139, 105570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cie.2018.12.017
- Fattahi, M. & Govindan, K. (2020). Data-Driven Rolling Horizon Approach for Dynamic Design of Supply Chain Distribution Networks under Disruption and Demand Uncertainty: Data-Driven Rolling Horizon Approach for Dynamic Design of Supply Chain Networks. *Decision Sciences*, 53(1), 150-180. https://doi.org/10.1111/deci.12481
- 11. Foltin, P. (2011). Security of Logistics Chains Against Terrorist Threats. In Barsan, G. (Ed.). 17th International Conference the Knowledge-Based Organization, Conference Proceedings 1: Management and Military Sciences (pp. 100-105). Sibiu: Nicolae Balcescu-Land Forces Academy.
- 12. Freier, N. (2008). Known Unknowns: Unconventional "Strategic Shocks" in Defense Strategy Development. Strategic Studies Institute. https://doi.org/10.21236/ADA488045
- 13. Genc, E., Duffie, N. & Reinhart, G. (2014). Event-based Supply Chain Early Warning System for an Adaptive Production Control. *Procedia CIRP*, *19*, 39-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2014.04.076
- 14. Ivanov, D., Dolgui, A. & Sokolov, B. (2019). The impact of digital technology and Industry 4.0 on the ripple effect and supply chain risk analytics. *International Journal of Production Research*, *57*(3), 829-846. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1488086
- 15. Ivanov, D. (2021). *Introduction to Supply Chain Resilience*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-70490-2
- 16. Jahns, C., Hartmann, E. & Moder, M. (2006). Managing supply risks: a system theory approach to supply early warning systems. In Kersten, W. & Blecker, T. (Eds.), *Managing Risks in Supply Chains: How to Build Reliable Collaboration in Logistics* (pp. 195-212). Erich Schmidt Verlag.

- 17. Jalowiec, T. & Grala, D. (2020). The Effectiveness of Logistic Processes in Military Supply Chains. In Soliman, K. S. (Ed.). *35th International-Business-Information-Management-Association Conference* (pp. 972-982). Seville: International Business Information Management Association.
- Knemeyer, A. M., Zinn, W. & Eroglu, C. (2009). Proactive planning for catastrophic events in supply chains. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27(2), 141-153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2008.06.002
- 19. Krúpa, A. (2022). *Co je to index nákupních manažerů (PMI) a na co slouží?*. Burzovní svět. https://burzovnisvet.cz/skola-burziana/co-je-to-index-nakupnich-manazeru-pmi/
- Li, Y., Kramer, M. R., Beulens, A. J. M. & van der Vorst, J. G. A. J. (2010). A framework for early warning and proactive control systems in food supply chain networks. *Computers in Industry*, 61(9), 852-862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind.2010.07.010
- Lo, W. S. & Hong, T. P. (2012). A three-level multiple-agent early warning mechanism for preventing loss of customers in fashion supply chains. In Choi, T. M. (Ed.), *Fashion supply chain management: Industry and business analysis* (pp. 173-184). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60960-756-2.ch009
- Lu, M., Ran, L. & Shen, Z.-J. M. (2015). Reliable Facility Location Design Under Uncertain Correlated Disruptions. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 17(4), 445-455. https://doi.org/10.1287/msom.2015.0541
- 23. Miller, G. (2021). *How three Chinese companies cornered global container production*. American Shipper. https://www.freightwaves.com/news/how-three-chinese-companies-cornered-global-container-production
- Modgil, S., Singh, R. K. & Hannibal, C. (2021). Artificial intelligence for supply chain resilience: learning from Covid-19. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, in press. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-02-2021-0094
- 25. Narasimhan, R. & Talluri, S. (2009). Perspectives on risk management in supply chains. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27, 114-118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2009.02.001
- 26. Negri, M., Cagno, E., Colicchia, C. & Sarkis, J. (2021). Integrating sustainability and resilience in the supply chain: A systematic literature review and a research agenda. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *30*(7), 2858-2886. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.2776
- Neiger, D., Rotaru, K. & Churilov, L. (2009). Supply chain risk identification with value-focused process engineering. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27(2), 154-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2007.11.003
- OECD (2022). Statistics news Release consumer Price Index. https://www.oecd.org/sdd/prices-ppp/consumer-prices-oecd-07-2022.pdf
- 29. Papadopoulos, T., Gunasekaran, A., Dubey, R., Altay, N., Childe, S. J. & Fosso-Wamba, S. (2017). The role of Big Data in explaining disaster resilience in supply chains for sustainability. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *142*(2), 1108-1118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.03.059
- Parmenter, D. (2015). Key Performance Indicators Developing, Implementing, and Using Winning KPIs (3rd ed). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119019855
- 31. Rehak, D. & Novotny, P. (2016). Bases for modelling the impacts of the critical infrastructure failure. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, 53(1), 1-6.
- 32. Simchi-Levi, D., Schmidt, W. & Wei, Y. (2014). From superstorms to factory fires: Managing unpredictable supply chain disruptions. *Harvard Business Review*, 92, 96-101.
- Singh, N. P. & Singh, S. (2019). Building supply chain risk resilience: Role of big data analytics in supply chain disruption mitigation. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 26(7), 2318-2342. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-10-2018-0346
- Srinivasa Rao, D. (2022). Disaster Resilient Infrastructure: A study of Impact of cyclones on the Telecom Sector in Andhra Pradesh Coastal Zone. *Disaster Advances*, 15(5). https://doi.org/10.25303/1505da051057

- Sumei, L. (2010). Research on Risk Early-warning Mechanism of Apparel Supply Chain. In 3rd International Conference on Information Management, Innovation Management and Industrial Engineering (pp. 574-577). Kunming: IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICIII.2010.143
- Tang S. C., Teo, C. P. & Wei, K. K. (2008). Supply Chain Analysis. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-75240-2
- Tseng, M.-L., Bui, T.-D., Lim, M. K. & Lewi, S. (2021). A Cause and Effect Model for Digital Sustainable Supply Chain Competitiveness under Uncertainties: Enhancing Digital Platform. *Sustainability*, *13*(18), 10150. https://doi.org/10.3390/su131810150
- Tulach, P. & Foltin, P. (2020). Methods of fast adaptation to sudden demand shifts in the time of crisis. In Dujak, D. (Ed.). *Proceedings of the 20th International Scientific Conference Business Logistics in Modern Management* (pp. 165-179). Osijek: Faculty of Economics in Osijek.
- Vlkovský, M. & Veselík, P. (2019). Cargo Securing Comparison of Different Quality Roads. Acta Universitatis Agriculturae et Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunensis, 67(4), 1015-1023. https://doi.org/10.11118/actaun201967041015
- Vries de, T. D., Vegt van der, G. S., Scholten, K. & Donk van, D. P. (2022). Heeding supply chain disruption warnings: When and how do cross-functional teams ensure firm robustness? *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 58(1), 31-50. https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12262
- 41. Wamba, S. F., Gunasekaran, A., Akter, S., Ren, S. J., Dubey, R. & Childe, S. J. (2017). Big data analytics and firm performance: Effects of dynamic capabilities. *Journal of Business Research, 70*, 356-365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.08.009
- 42. Wang, G., Gunasekaran, A., Ngai, E. W. T. & Papadopoulos, T. (2016). Big data analytics in logistics and supply chain management: Certain investigations for research and applications. *International Journal of Production Economics*, *176*, 98-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016.03.014
- Weinberg, J. (2022). Facing stormy seas, shipping industry must shore up resilience. Supply Chain Resilience Journal. https://www.raconteur.net/transport/facing-stormy-seas-the-shipping-industry-must-shore-up-resilience/
- 44. World Bank (2021) Global Supply Chain Disruptions: Competition Policy Implications.
- 45. World Bank (2022) Data. https://data.worldbank.org/
- 46. Xu, L., Dong, Q. & Xiao, K. (2010). Research on Early-Warning Model for Food Supply Chain Risk Based on Logistic Regression. In *International Conference on Logistics Engineering and Intelligent Transportation Systems* (pp. 1-4). Wuhan: IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/LEITS.2010.5665012

Noémi Piricz Óbuda University Keleti Faculty 1034 Budapest, Hungary piricz.noemi@kgk.uni-obuda.hu

JEL: 032, 033, 042 **Review** article https://doi.org/10.51680/ev.35.2.18

Received: July 12, 2022 Revision received: September 30, 2022 Accepted for publishing: October 3, 2022

Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International U



A REVIEW OF PROSUMERS' BEHAVIOURS IN SMART GRIDS AND THE IMPORTANCE OF SMART GRID MANAGEMENT

ABSTRACT

Purpose: The concept of the smart grid is relatively new. The first aim of the study is to understand the behaviour of prosumers in smart grids. The other goal is to raise awareness of the management tasks and risks of smart grids by highlighting the relevant issues of some business networks (PPP projects, outsourcing, strategic alliances etc.).

Methodology: Systemized literature review was used in the paper.

Results: The discussed management problems of various business networks indicate that management challenges can also be expected in smart grids, so it is worth preparing in time.

Conclusion: We found a lack of empirical research about the behaviour of prosumers and believe that studying the electric power grid of the future from a management perspective, that is, examining the possible behaviours and decisions of various actors, can provide valuable and useful information for smart grid design and safe operation insurance.

Keywords: Smart grid management, systemised literature review, business networks

1. Introduction

The classical electric supply chain was first established over a century ago, and since it has been growing in size and capacity (Wulf, 2000). The limited one-way interaction makes it difficult for the grid to respond to the ever-changing and rising energy demands of the 21st century. The term Smart Grid (SG) was first referenced by Amin and Wollenberg (2005). Smart grids are automated, widely distributed power supply networks characterised by twoway electricity flow and information that can track and respond to everything from power plants to customer preferences to individual devices (Planko et al., 2017).

Our focus is on the behaviour and cooperation of the various actors of the smart grids, so we looked at how the actors work together in some widespread business networks and business models. The parties involved must work together during outsourcing to achieve the planned benefits. In the case of a strategic alliance, legally separate companies cooperate for a complex goal, during which there is significant interdependence. Not only companies participate in PPP projects, but also actors from the state and the public sector.

To better understand the actors of smart grids and the possible behavioural risks, we formulated the following research questions:

- What behaviour problems of prosumers were found in smart grids according to relevant literature?

- What management problems appeared in the examined business models and networks?

To answer our questions, we write a critical literature review and finally identify some actual research goals and recommendations.

2. Systemized literature review on prosumers in smart grids

In a traditional electrical supply chain, the flow of both electricity and information is essentially oneway, starting from the power plant and moving toward the end user. In smart grids, it is all a two-way process; in addition, communication takes place through a parallel and complex network of contacts due to the increased role of the participant. In smart grids, not only conventional power plants will be involved in electricity generation, but also renewable power plants. Electric vehicle owners (business and private) will also have an active role in electricity generation through the V2G (vehicleto-grid) process, which recharges electricity from the electric vehicle to the grid (Hannan et al., 2017). In the age of smart grids, the importance of international electricity transactions is expected to increase. Electricity production is not only done by traditional power plants but also by the renewable power plants of (organisational or private) consumers; therefore, these end consumers are also producers, i.e. prosumers (combining the words producer and consumer) (Yanine et al., 2021). An important difference is that production and consumption are separated in the traditional system but not in smart networks, so these activities must be optimised.

We planned to get a more objective picture of the relevant literature situation by using the method of systematic literature review. A systematic literature review is transparent, made with scientific methodology, and high-level comprehensive studies collected and analysed in relation to a given problem and all existing research results (Davis et al., 2014).

We chose the Google Scholar database because of its extensive coverage. Since the smart grid is a relatively new concept, and we were also interested in the management side, possibly empirical research, we chose the last ten years as the period of the study, i.e. the years 2012-2022. For the sake of a focused search, we did not search for keywords in the text, but in the title, since the terms 'management' or 'project' can easily appear in a text without the publication specifically talking about it. In the examined period, the terms 'smart grid,' 'management' and 'project' appeared in 12 publications. The search for 'European smart grid management' gave six results.

Then we tried other keywords. The special actors of smart grids are the prosumers, and we are interested in their behaviour, more precisely, how it appears in research. That is why we used the words 'smart grid prosumer behaviour', for which we found 126 hits. We worked with these 126 results. We reviewed them all and - where possible - copied the abstract. Some publications did not have an abstract or a similar text (e.g. ppt in pdf format); therefore, the scope of the study was narrowed down to 86 publications. The year of publication is shown in Figure 1. The last ten years examined do not show a steady increase, but there was a slight jump in 2016 and 2022. A more extended period could more accurately portray the increase in the importance of the topic.



Figure 1 Number of publications on 'smart grid prosumer behaviour'

Figure 2 provides information on the source of the 86 publications. 33 articles are in the IEEE database, two publications are in the journal Energies,

and two publications are from the Delft University of Technology library. All other sources provide 1-1 publication.





Source: Author

The word cloud in Figure 3 was created from the abstracts of the 86 publications examined. The search keywords in the title were 'smart grid prosumer behaviour,' but the most dominant term is energy. Yes, the smart grid is the electrical network of the near future. However, most of the articles are theoretical and propose 1-1 models based on simulations and other calculations, which is why the word model appears larger too. Other important words in Figure 3 are "price, data, time, purpose, system, and control", indicating the direction of the papers. Papers dealing with the management side of the smart grid often take methods from game theory or artificial intelligence (fuzzy systems, machine learning etc.) showing various simulations. Furthermore, this topic appears in connection with the Internet of Things (IoT) or V2G/ G2V issues. About ten of the 86 publications examined deal with the empirical research of prosumers.

Source: Author



Figure 3 Keywords of the 86 publications examined

Source: Author

Concerning our research questions, we found some empirical findings about prosumers' behaviour in the 86 reviewed publications. Rathnavaka et al. (2013) surveyed 500 prosumers and suggested an iterative evaluation process to proactively monitor the quality of service delivered by registered prosumers. Li (2016) noted that the smart grid concept was not well understood by ordinary people, and he recommended education programmes and information campaigns based on his empirical research on 517 citizens. He found that citizens' attitudes and intentions to participate in smart grid applications were the most influential factor of individual electricity-saving behaviour. Two publications applied the Prospect Theory (PT) (Rahi et al., 2016; Rajabpour et al., 2021). Rajabpour et al. (2021) found that the behaviour of prosumers is better described by the PT model than by the Expected utility theory, and that the time horizon of the observation must be well chosen, as it also influences the behaviour of prosumers.

Besides the chosen 86 publications, Saad et al. (2016) propose a probability model that can handle the uncertainties of decision-making in the smart grid, and they lack actual data on the behaviour of end consumers, using a large-scale, empirical survey. Skjolsvold and co-authors (2021) found that in 25 of the 30 Norwegian smart projects examined, there was no societal scientific impact assessment. Geelen et al. (2013, p. 160) also state that "Past research on energy-related behaviour suggests that behavioural aspects and social context for residential end-users as co-providers have to be taken into account".

3. A short literature review of some business networks

In this section, we highlight the difficulties of cooperation between members of different business networks. We think this topic is relevant because the management difficulties of discussed business networks and their solutions can serve as a lesson in the management of smart grids.

Outsourcing is hiring one or more of a company's activities outside the organisation. The 2021 Global Shared Services and Outsourcing Survey Report (Deloitte, found the following purposes of outsourcing: finance (44 %), information technology (54%), payroll (32%), customer service or contact centre (22%) and human resources (17%). After several decades, the organisations involved have more or less learned to manage and pre-negotiate many important details of outsourcing, where two legally separate companies work together as closely (in the outsourced field/activity) as if they were one. Based on their empirical research, Wibisono et al. (2018) see the building of mutual trust and the management of business partners from different backgrounds as key to a successful outsourcing process.

To put it simpler, if outsourcing is considered successful by the parties, there is a good chance they will enter into a strategic alliance. It is a mutually beneficial cooperation between two or more organisations in which the organisational, legal and strategic independence of the parties is maintained. Possible goals are to gain benefits from differences in size, further development of technological or management knowledge or acquisition of new ones, and gain new markets (Pangarkar et al., 2017). The number of such cooperations is increasing while involved companies can decrease business uncertainties (Hoffmann et al., 2001), improve their competitive advantages (Townsend, 2003), encourage organisational learning (Hulbert et al., 2012), and contribute to the general growth of firms (Powell et al., 1996). According to scholars, the potential limit of strategic alliance can be handling interdependence (Hannah, 2016) and cultural diversity (Elia et al., 2019). The success of a strategic alliance requires trust from parties (e.g. Wong et al., 2017), depends mainly on how companies can cooperate (Rosenkopf & Almeida, 2003) and how they can integrate and systematically use different knowledge (Subramanian et al., 2018).

PPP (Public Private Partnership) is a form of cooperation in which the state involves the private sector in the project. Typically, the private sector is responsible for designing, operating and financing these activities. It is most common in developing infrastructure for roads, bridges, tunnels, railway lines, public utility investments, sports facilities, health investments etc. (Grimsey & Lewis, 2002). This form of cooperation began about 40 years ago (Bovaird, 2004), and its success is perhaps due to the fact that it combines the different skills and approaches of the private and public sectors well. With the help of the private sector, resource utilisation seems more efficient, with lower costs and higher innovation (Schemm & Legner, 2008). However, different control and management mechanisms provide a number of conflicts during PPP collaborations, such as constant struggle over risks associated with partners (Majchrzak et al., 2015), management of driving difficulties (Bamford et al., 2003), different solutions for control (Wilkinson et al., 2013), constant disagreement on formal and informal control and management mechanisms (Ansari et al., 2014). Moreover, Uiterwijk et al. (2013) argue that inadequate risk management can undermine the success of PPP projects in the long run. Several authors highlight the role of knowledge transfer and the complementarity of the parties' knowledge (e.g. Kerkhof et al., 2016), additionally the opportunistic behaviour of the parties, or the limitations of their approach may hinder the processes (Das & Teng, 2001). Umar et al. (2018) interviewed roughly 200 experts globally and stated that the "Private involvement in infrastructure provision has generated more controversies than the problems it was meant to solve" (p. 11). As a possible solution, examining more than 300 PPP projects, Jayasuriya and co-authors (2020) concluded that the effective involvement of stakeholders is a major contributor to the success of this kind of project.

Outsourcing exploded into the business world at the time as it promised to cut costs. However, it took decades for the organisations involved to reap this and the other benefits of outsourcing. The strategic alliance as a business model is also very popular, but in everyday life, there are more management challenges that businesses have to deal with. Perhaps the management problems experienced during PPP projects and their solutions are the most relevant for us because, in that case, the public and private actors have to work closely together for many years. In fact, from this point of view, smart grids can also be considered a special variety of PPP projects.

4. Discussion about potential behaviour risks in smart grids

In different smart grids, individuals, organisations, municipalities, small and large electricity producers, and electricity traders operate closely and systematically, even in several roles. On the one hand, it is important to note that in smart grids, "traditional" actors also have expanded roles (e.g. Mohsenian-Rad et al., 2010; Schiavo et al., 2013); on the other hand, new mechanisms (information flow, changing of monopolies, self-monitoring, achieving resilience etc.) and new, alternative energy sources are integrated into the system (additionally determining the role of weather).

Skjolsvold et al. (2021) consider the forces driving the development of smart grids to save money and manpower, new technologies/digitalisation, and the common understanding of decarbonisation and electrification by society. A sustainable economy and environment are commonly wished for; however, we think individuals' theoretical desires may not be so strong when they have to cooperate closely and limit themselves (e.g. to reduce peak electricity consumption periods). Perhaps the answer can also be the other driving force mentioned by the authors, such as the shared economy and its various branches and solutions. These are indeed very popular among the younger - especially higher-educated - generations, but smart grids will not only be actively used by young, educated, open people.

"How can we avoid producing new high-tech ghettoes for the wealthy while enabling participation in the transition for the less fortunate? Energy justice literature tends to emphasise the distributional, procedural, and recognition-based aspects of energy justice." (Skjolsvold et al., 2021, p. 16).

The management lessons of the briefly presented business networks allow us to conclude that conflicts may occur in smart grids operating not only in pilot projects due to the different routines, approaches, knowledge and beliefs of various actors. Designers and main organisers of smart grids should be aware of the various differences (ownership structure, management mechanisms, decisionmaking processes etc.) of organisational actors and be prepared to handle them or establish relevant resilient solutions to avoid the challenges mentioned in cases of strategic alliances and PPP projects. Organisational actors need to learn to communicate in the right amount in an understandable way. At the same time, the knowledge of private consumers (prosumers) needs to be expanded in the area of their new duties and responsibilities.

5. Conclusion

More scholars (e.g. Möller & Svahn, 2003; Planko et al., 2017) see a research gap in the management of networks operating in emerging markets. Geelen et al. (2013) suggest investigating smart grids from the aspects of end-users and energy providers. Skjolsvold et al. (2021) see that relevant regulations "take social aspects for granted" (2021, p. 15). Binder et al. (2019) recommend the study of the unpredictable behaviour of end-consumers and electric vehicle owners.

There is also a need for a variety of training for professional and non-business players in smart grids that can reduce some concerns and prevent the spread of misinformation and assumptions. We see that people at different ages have learned to use different technologies and systems, but it also requires knowledge, time, and patience, and these three are permeated by communication.

References

- 1. Amin, S. M. & Wollenberg, B. F. (2005). Toward a smart grid: Power delivery for the 21st century. *IEEE Power Energy Magazine*, 3(5), 34-41. https://doi.org/10.1109/MPAE.2005.1507024
- Ansari, S., Reinecke, J. & Spaan, A. (2014). How are practices made to vary? Managing practice adaptation in a multinational corporation. *Organization Studies*, 35(9), 1313-1341. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840614539310
- 3. Bamford, J. D., Gomes-Casseres, B. & Robinson, M. S. (2003). *Mastering Alliance Strategy: A Comprehensive Guide to Design, Management, and Organization.* John Wiley & Sons.
- 4. Bovaird, T. (2004). Public-private partnerships: from contested concepts to prevalent practice. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, *70*(2), 199-215. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852304044250
- Das, T. K. & Teng, B. (2001). Trust, control, and risk in strategic alliances: an integrated framework. *Organization Studies*, 22(2), 251-283. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840601222004
- Davis, J., Mengersen, K., Bennett, S. & Mazerolle, L. (2014). Viewing systematic reviews and metaanalysis in social research through different lenses. *SpringerPlus*, 3(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-3-511
- Deloitte (2021). 2021 Global Shared Services and Outsourcing Survey Report. https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/Process-and-Operations/gx-2021-global-shared-services-report.pdf

- 8. Elia, S., Petruzzelli, A. M. & Piscitello, L. (2019). The impact of cultural diversity on innovation performance of MNC subsidiaries in strategic alliances. *Journal of Business Research*, *98*(C), 204-213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.01.062
- Geelen, D., Reinders, A. & Keyson, D. (2013). Empowering the end-user in smart grids: Recommendations for the design of products and services. *Energy Policy*, 61, 151-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.05.107
- Grimsey, D. & Lewis, M. K. (2002). Evaluating the risks of public private partnerships for infrastructure projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 20(2), 107-118. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0263-7863(00)00040-5
- 11. Hannah, D. P. (2016). *Value creation and capture in a world of bottlenecks*. Working paper. Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2808036. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2808036
- Hannan, M. A., Hoque, M. M., Mohamed, A. & Ayob, A. (2017). Review of energy storage systems for electric vehicle applications: Issues and challenges. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 69, 771-789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.11.171
- Hoffmann, W. H. & Schlosser, R. (2001). Success factors of strategy alliances in small and mediumsized enterprises – An empirical survey. *Long Range Planning*, 34, 357-381. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-6301(01)00041-3
- 14. Hulbert, B., Gilmore, A. & Carson, D. (2012). Sources of opportunities used by growth minded owner managers for small and medium sized enterprises. *International Business Review*, *20*, 278-293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2012.04.004
- 15. Jayasuriya, S., Zhang, G. & Yang, R. J. (2020). Exploring the impact of stakeholder management strategies on managing issues in PPP projects, *International Journal of Construction Management*, 20(6), 666-678. https://doi.org/10.1080/15623599.2020.1753143
- Kerkhof, R. M., Akkermans, H. A. & Noorderhaven, N. G. (2016). Knowledge lost in data: organizational impediments to condition-based maintenance in the process industry. In Zijm, H. et al. (Eds.), *Logistics and Supply Chain Innovation: Bridging the Gap between Theory and Practice* (pp. 223-237). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-22288-2
- Majchrzak, A., Jarvenpaa, S. L. & Bagherzadeh, M. (2015). A review of interorganizational collaboration dynamics. *Journal of Management*, 41(5), 1338-1360. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206314563399
- Mohsenian-Rad, A. H., Wong, V. W., Jatskevich, J., Schober, R. & Leon-Garcia, A. (2010). Autonomous Demand-Side Management Based on Game-Theoretic Energy Consumption Scheduling for the Future Smart Grid. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 1(3), 320-331. https://doi.org/10.1109/TSG.2010.2089069
- 19. Möller, C. & Svahn S. (2003). Managing Strategic Nets: A Capability Perspective. *Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing Newsletter, IEEE*, 3(2), 209-234. https://doi.org/10.1177/14705931030032002
- Pangarkar, N., Yuan, L. & Hussain, S. (2017). Too much of a good thing? Alliance portfolio size and alliance expansion. *European Management Journal*, 35(4), 477-485. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2016.09.006
- Planko, J., Chappin, M. M. H., Cramer, J. M. & Hekkert, M.P. (2017). Managing strategic system building networks in emerging business fields: A case study of the Dutch smart grid sector. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 67, 37-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.06.010
- Powell, W. W., Koput, K. W. & Smith-Doerr, L. (1996). Inter-organizational Collaboration and the Locus of Innovation: Networks of Learning in Biotechnology. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41(1), 116-145. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393988
- Rosenkopf, L. & Almeida, P. (2003). Overcoming local search through alliances and mobility. *Management Science*, 49(6), 751-766. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.49.6.751.16026
- Saad, W., Glass, A. L., Mandayam, N. B. & Poor, H. V. (2016). Toward a Consumer-Centric Grid: A Behavioral Perspective. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 104(4), 865-882. https://doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2016.2520760

- Schemm, J. & Legner, C. (2008). Toward the inter-organizational product information supply chain

 evidence from the retail and consumer goods industries. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 9(4), 120-152. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00156
- Schiavo, L. L., Delfanti, M., Fumagalli, E. & Olivieri, V. (2013). Changing the regulation for regulating the change: Innovation-driven regulatory developments for smart grids, smart metering and e-mobility in Italy. *Energy Policy*, 57, 506-517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.02.022
- Skjolsvold, T. M., Henriksen, I. M., Kristoffersen, B., Hojem, J. & Stoykova, I. (2021). *Making the smart grid through pilot projects. Insights, lessons and ways forward.* Norwegian Centre for Energy Transition Strategies. https://www.ntnu.no/documents/1284688443/1285504199/Report+smart+grid+pilots.pdf/dec142cf-d8af-27b4-cfbc-053b56e2a0a0?t=1629874316673
- Subramanian, A. M., Bo, W. & Kah-Hin. C. (2018). The role of knowledge base homogeneity in learning from strategic alliances. *Research Policy*, 47(1), 158-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2017.10.005
- 29. Townsend, J. D. (2003). Understanding alliances: A review of aspects in strategic marketing. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 21(3), 143-155. https://doi.org/10.1108/02634500310474966
- Uiterwijk, D. J. W. B., Soeters, J. M. M. L. & van Fenema, P. C. (2013). Aligning national 'Logics' in a European Military Helicopter Program. *Defense & Security Analysis*, 29(1), 54-67. https://doi.org/10.1080/14751798.2013.760248
- Umar, A. A., Zawawi, N. A. W. A. & Abdul-Aziz, A. R. (2018). Exploratory factor analysis of skills requirement for PPP contract governance. *Built Environment Project and Asset Management*, 9(2), 277-290. https://doi.org/10.1108/BEPAM-01-2018-0011
- Wibisono, Y. Y., Govindaraju, R., Irianto, D. & Sudirman, I. (2018). Managing differences, interaction, and partnership quality in global inter-firm relationships: An empirical analysis on offshore IT outsourcing. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 12(3), 730-754. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMPB-04-2018-0074
- 33. Wilkinson, J., Olin, A., Lund, T. & Stjernstrøm, E. (2013). Understanding leading as travelling practices. *School Leadership & Management*, 33(3), 224-239. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2013.773886
- Wong, A., Wei, L., Yang, J. & Tjosvold, D. (2017). Productivity and participation values for cooperative goals to limit free riding and promote performance in international joint ventures. *Journal of World Business*, 52(6), 819-830. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2017.08.002
- 35. Wulf, A. (2000). Great Achievements and Grand Challenges. The Bridge, 30(3/4), 5-10.
- Yanine, F., Sanchez-Squella, A., Barrueto, A., Sahoo, S. K., Parejo, A., Shah, D. & Cordova, F. (2021). Integrating green energy into the grid: how to engineer energy homeostaticity, flexibility and resiliency in electric power distribution systems and why should electric utilities care. In Kyriakopoulos, G. L. (Ed.), *Low Carbon Energy Technologies for Sustainable Energy Systems* (pp. 253-266). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-822897-5.00009-2

Appendix 1 The list of reviewed 86 publications:

- 1. Adamowicz, M. (2012). Smart MV/LV distribution transformer for Smart Grid with active prosumer participation. *Acta Energetica*, *3*(12), 4-9.
- 2. Agarkar, A. A. & Agrawal, H. (2019). LRSPPP: lightweight R-LWE-based secure and privacy-preserving scheme for prosumer side network in smart grid. *Heliyon*, 5(3), e01321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e01321
- Al-Ahmadi, E. & Erkoc, M. (2018). Price Discounts and Consumer Load-Shifting Behavior in the Smart Grid. *International Journal of Business Analytics*, 5(1), 33-54. https://doi.org/10.4018/IJBAN.2018010103
- Aparicio, J. T., Trinca, M., Castro, D. & Henriques, R. (2021). Vehicle Smart Grid Allocation using Multi-Agent Systems sensitive to Irrational Behavior and Unstable Power Supply. In *Proceedings of the* 2021 16th Iberian Conference on Information Systems and Technologies (CISTI) (pp. 1-6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.23919/CISTI52073.2021.9476320
- Bao, H., Lu, R., Li, B. & Deng, R. (2015). BLITHE: Behavior rule-based insider threat detection for smart grid. *IEEE Internet of Things Journal*, 3(2), 190-205. https://doi.org/10.1109/JIOT.2015.2459049
- 6. Binder, C., Gross, J., Neureiter, C. & Lastro, G. (2019). Investigating Emergent Behavior caused by Electric Vehicles in the Smart Grid using Co-Simulation. In *Proceedings of the 14th Annual Conference System of Systems Engineering (SoSE)* (pp. 230-235). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/SYSOSE.2019.8753861
- Boddapati, K. M., Patne, N. R. & Manchalwar, A. D. (2022). Energy Trading in Prosumer based Smart Grid Integrated with Distributed Energy Resources. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Intelligent Controller and Computing for Smart Power (ICICCSP)* (pp. 1-5). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICICCSP53532.2022.9862448
- 8. Broere, L. (2018). *Optimisation of smart-and Vehicle-to-Grid charging strategies in distribution net-works: based on charging behaviour analysis* [Master's thesis, Delft University of Technology]. Delft University of Technology.
- Buticchi, G., Costa, L. & Liserre, M. (2017). DC/DC conversion solutions to enable smart-grid behavior in the aircraft electrical power distribution system. In *Proceedings of the IECON 2017-43rd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society* (pp. 4369-4374). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/IECON.2017.8216752
- Camek, A., Hölzl, F. & Bytschkow, D. (2013). Providing security to a smart grid prosumer system based on a service oriented architecture in an office environment. In *Proceedings of the IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Conference (ISGT)* (pp. 1-7). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISGT.2013.6497900
- Choi, H., Kim, J., Hwang, G., Kim, K., Hong, Y. & Han, Y. (2020). Cooperative Multi-Agent Reinforcement Learning-Based Behavior Control of Grid Sortation Systems in Smart Factory. *KIPS Transactions on Computer and Communication Systems*, 9(8), 171-180. https://doi.org/10.3745/KTCCS.2020.9.8.171
- Chukwuka, V., Nazari, M. H. & Grijalva, S. (2016). Enhancing communications reliability in prosumerbased smart grid using MIMO techniques. In *Proceedings of the Clemson University Power Systems Conference (PSC)* (pp. 1-5). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/PSC.2016.7462833
- Da Silva, P. G., Ilić, D. & Karnouskos, S. (2013). The impact of smart grid prosumer grouping on forecasting accuracy and its benefits for local electricity market trading. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 5(1), 402-410. https://doi.org/10.1109/TSG.2013.2278868
- 14. Dave, S., Sooriyabandara, M. & Yearworth, M. (2013). System behaviour modelling for demand response provision in a smart grid. *Energy Policy*, *61*, 172-181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.05.098
- 15. Dinusha Rathnayaka, A., Potdar, V., Dillon, T. S., Hussain, O. & Kuruppu, S. (2013). Prosumer recruitment framework for prosumer community groups in smart-grid. *Computer Systems Science and Engineering*, 28(5), 287-297.

- El Rahi, G., Saad, W., Glass, A., Mandayam, N. B. & Poor, H. V. (2016). Prospect theory for prosumercentric energy trading in the smart grid. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Power & Energy Society Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Conference (ISGT)* (pp. 1-5). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISGT.2016.7781198
- Feola, L., Langella, R. & Testa, A. (2012). On the behavior of three-phase inverters in the new smart grid context. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Energy Conference and Exhibition (ENERGY-CON)* (pp. 521-526). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/EnergyCon.2012.6348209
- Figueiró, I. C., Canha, L. N., Abaide, A. R., Neto, N. K. & Bernardon, D. P. (2012). Smart Grid and the low voltage consumer behavior facing the dynamic energy rates in the Brazil. In *Proceedings of the 47th International Universities Power Engineering Conference (UPEC)* (pp. 1-6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/UPEC.2012.6398618
- Florencias-Oliveros, O., González-de-la-Rosa, J. J., Agüera-Pérez, A. & Palomares-Salas, J. C. (2018). Discussion on Reliability and Power Quality in the Smart Grid: A prosumer approach of a time-scalable index. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Renewable Energies and Power Quality* (pp. 21-23). Salamanca: University of Salamanca. https://doi.org/10.24084/repqj16.228
- Fu, Y., Tian, J., Yin, W. & Xiong, Y. (2017). An efficient behavior-based intrusion detection system using oc-elm for intelligent substation in smart grid. *DEStech Transactions on Computer Science and Engineering, no. cimns.* https://doi.org/10.12783/dtcse/cimns2017/17445
- Gensollen, N., Gauthier, V., Marot, M. & Becker, M. (2013). Modeling and optimizing a distributed power network: A complex system approach of the prosumer management in the smart grid. *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1305.4096.
- Gillani, S., Laforest, F. & Picard, G. (2014). A Generic Ontology for Prosumer-Oriented Smart Grid. In EDBT/ICDT Workshops (Vol. 1133, pp. 134-139).
- 23. Hann, V. (2020). An Australian smart grid pilot: governance, implementation and the utility-prosumer interaction [Doctoral dissertation, University of Tasmania]. University of Tasmania.
- 24. Höning, N., De Jong, E., Bloemhof, G. & La Poutré, H. (2014). Thermal behaviour of low voltage cables in smart grid-related environments. In *Proceedings of the IEEE PES Innovative Smart Grid Technologies, Europe* (pp. 1-6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISGTEurope.2014.7028736
- 25. Huang, H., Xu, H., Cai, Y., Khalid, R. S. & Yu, H. (2018). Distributed machine learning on smart-gateway network toward real-time smart-grid energy management with behavior cognition. *ACM Transactions on Design Automation of Electronic Systems (TODAES)*, 23(5), 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1145/3209888
- Ilic, D., Karnouskos, S., Da Silva, P. G., & Detzler, S. (2014). A System for Enabling Facility Management to Achieve Deterministic Energy Behaviour in the Smart Grid Era. In SMARTGREENS 2014 Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Smart Grids and Green IT Systems (pp. 170-178). Barcelona: SciTePress.
- Jessoe, K., Rapson, D. & Smith, J. B. (2016). Utilization and Customer Behavior: Smart Choices for the Smart Grid. In Liu, C. C. et al. (Eds.), *Smart Grid Handbook*. Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118755471.sgd014
- Jiang, W., Zuo, G., Zou, D. H., Li, H., Yan, J. J. & Ye, G. C. (2020). Autonomous behavior intelligence control of self-evolution mobile robot for high-voltage transmission line in complex smart grid. *Complexity*, 2020, 8843178. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8843178
- Kotilainen, K., Järventausta, P. & Aalto, P. (2016). Prosumer centric co-creation in Smart Grid innovation ecosystem. In Proceedings of the IEEE Innovative Smart Grid Technologies-Asia (ISGT-Asia) (pp. 884-889). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISGT-Asia.2016.7796502
- Kwon, Y., Kim, H. K., Lim, Y. H., & Lim, J. I. (2015). A behavior-based intrusion detection technique for smart grid infrastructure. In *Proceedings of the 2015 IEEE Eindhoven PowerTech Conference* (pp. 1-6) IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/PTC.2015.7232339
- Li, B., Lu, R. & Bao, H. (2016). Behavior rule specification-based false data injection detection technique for smart grid. In Cheng, P. et al. (Eds.), *Cyber Security for Industrial Control Systems: From the Viewpoint of Close-Loop* (pp. 119-150). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/b19629-8
- 492 EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 483-496

- 32. Li, H. (2016). *Consumer behavior, social influence, and smart grid implementation* [Doctoral dissertation, University of Stuttgart]. University of Stuttgart.
- Li, J. (2015). The effect research of smart grid to business users' intelligent response behavior. In Sung, W. P. & Kao, J. C. M (Eds.), *Environment, Energy and Applied Technology* (pp. 663-636). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/b18135
- Li, L. (2014). The Effect Research of Smart Grid to Residential Users Intelligent Response Behavior. *Advanced Materials Research*, 860, 2452-2455. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.860-863.2452
- 35. Liberati, F. & Di Giorgio, A. (2017). Economic model predictive and feedback control of a smart grid prosumer node. *Energies*, *11*(1), 48. https://doi.org/10.3390/en11010048
- 36. Lima, C. A. F. & Jannuzzi, G. D. M. (2012). Smart Grid implementation in developing countries: analysis focussing consumer behaviour, markets and regulation. In *Proceedings of the Dubrovnik Conference* on Sustainable Development of Energy, Water and Environment Systems. Dubrovnik: KNBS.
- 37. Liu, X. (2018). Research on User Behavior Identification of Smart Grid Based on Large Data. *Advances in Education Research*, *117*, 63-66.
- Lv, Y. C., Xu, X., Xu, R. L. & Qiu, X. (2019). Quantitative Analysis Model of User's Electrical Behavior for Smart Grid. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Intelligent Transportation, Big Data* & Smart City (pp. 281-284). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICITBS.2019.00074
- Mediwaththe, C. P. & Smith, D. B. (2016). Game-theoretic demand-side management robust to nonideal consumer behavior in smart grid. In *Proceedings of the IEEE 25th International Symposium on Industrial Electronics* (pp. 702-707). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISIE.2016.7744975
- 40. Meng, F. L. & Zeng, X. J. (2015). A profit maximization approach to demand response management with customers behavior learning in smart grid. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 7(3), 1516-1529. https://doi.org/10.1109/TSG.2015.2462083
- Meng, F. L., Zeng, X. J. & Ma, Q. (2013). Learning customer behaviour under Real-Time pricing in the smart grid. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics* (pp. 3186-3191). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/SMC.2013.543
- 42. Merfeld, T. & Meisel, S. (2022). The Role and Value of Service Orchestration in Smart Grid Prosumer Service Systems. In *Proceedings of the 2022 European Conference on Information Systems*. Association for Information Systems.
- Mitchell, R. & Chen, R. (2013). Behavior-rule based intrusion detection systems for safety critical smart grid applications. *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid*, 4(3), 1254-1263. https://doi.org/10.1109/TSG.2013.2258948
- 44. Moon, Y. (2014). Demand Response Real Time Pricing Model for Smart Grid Considering Consumer Behavior and Price Elasticity. *Journal of the Korean Operations Research and Management Science Society*, 39(1), 49-67. https://doi.org/10.7737/JKORMS.2014.39.1.049
- 45. Munene Ms, J. W. (2016). Fostering Household Energy Saving Behavior and Socialization of Smart Grid Technologies: Outcomes of a Utility Smart Grid Program. *International Development, Community and Environment (IDCE).* 162.
- Niu, R., Liu, J., Zhang, X., Guo, W. & Pan, B. (2022). Research on Risk Analysis Technology of Electricity Stealing Behavior Characteristics in Smart Grid. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Electrical Engineering, Big Data and Algorithms* (pp. 128-131). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/EEBDA53927.2022.9744851
- Orozco, A., Pacheco, J. & Hariri, S. (2017). Anomaly behavior analysis for smart grid automation system. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Autumn Meeting on Power, Electronics and Computing* (pp. 1-7). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ROPEC.2017.8261614
- Osterloh, P. (2012). Effective Research Methodology for Smart Grid Enabled Consumer Behavior Impact Assessment. In *Proceedings of the 2012 ACEEE Summer Study on Energy Efficiency in Buildings* (pp. 284-293). Washington, D.C.: American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy.

- 49. Padghan, P. R., Daniel, S. A & Pitchaimuthu, R. (2022). Grid-tied energy cooperative trading framework between Prosumer to Prosumer based on Ethereum smart contracts. *Sustainable Energy, Grids and Networks*, *32*, 100860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.segan.2022.100860
- Pal, R., Chelmis, C., Frincu, M. & Prasanna, V. (2016). MATCH for the prosumer smart grid the algorithmics of real-time power balance. *IEEE transactions on parallel and distributed systems*, 27(12), 3532-3546. https://doi.org/10.1109/TPDS.2016.2544316
- 51. Patrizi, N., LaTouf, S. K., Tsiropoulou, E. E. & Papavassiliou, S. (2022). Prosumer-Centric Self-Sustained Smart Grid Systems. *IEEE Systems Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSYST.2022.3156877
- Patterson-Hann, V. & Watson, P. (2022). The precursors of acceptance for a prosumer-led transition to a future smart grid. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 34(3), 307-321. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2021.1896698
- 53. Perger, A. V., Gamper, P. & Witzmann, R. (2022). Behavior Trees for Smart Grid Control. *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, 55(9), 122-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2022.07.022
- Popadic, B., Dumnic, B., Milicevic, D., Corba, Z. & Vukajlovic, N. (2018). Behavior of the Grid Connected Converter in Unbalanced Smart Power Systems. In *Proceedings of the 2018 International Symposium on Industrial Electronics* (pp. 1-6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/INDEL.2018.8637633
- 55. Rajabpour, M. (2022). *Modeling prosumer behavior in the smart grid and implementing privacy design in IoT* [Doctoral dissertation, Rutgers University]. Rutgers University.
- Rajabpour, M., Yousefvand, M., Mulligan, R. & Mandayam, N. B. (2021). Prospect Theory with Bounded Temporal Horizon for Modeling Prosumer Behavior in the Smart Grid. *Energies*, 14(21), 7134. https://doi.org/10.3390/en14217134
- 57. Rajasekharan, J. (2016). *Modeling Cooperative Behavior in Smart Grid and Cognitive Radio Systems* [Doctoral dissertation, Aalto University]. Aalto University.
- Rathnayaka, A. D., Potdar, V. M., Dillon, T., Hussain, O. & Kuruppu, S. (2014). Goal-oriented prosumer community groups for the smart grid. *IEEE Technology and Society Magazine*, 33(1), 41-48. https://doi.org/10.1109/MTS.2014.2301859
- Rathnayaka, A. D., Potdar, V. & Ou, M. H. (2012). Prosumer management in socio-technical smart grid. In *Proceedings of the CUBE International Information Technology Conference (CUBE 2012)* (pp. 483-489). Association for Computing Machinery. https://doi.org/10.1145/2381716.2381808
- Razzaq, S., Zafar, R., Khan, N. A., Butt, A. R. & Mahmood, A. (2016). A novel prosumer-based energy sharing and management (PESM) approach for cooperative demand side management (DSM) in smart grid. *Applied Sciences*, 6(10), 275. https://doi.org/10.3390/app6100275
- 61. Rezaee, A. & Moradi, B. (2021). Optimizing the electrical energy consumed based on the behavior patterns of residents at the smart home using the data mining algorithm using the intelligent grid and renewable energy sources for the formation of an automatic intelligent residential building. *Computational Intelligence in Electrical Engineering*, *12*(2), 1-14.
- 62. Rodríguez-Molina, J., Martínez-Núñez, M., Martínez, J. F. & Pérez-Aguiar, W. (2014). Business models in the smart grid: Challenges, opportunities and proposals for prosumer profitability. *Energies*, 7(9), 6142-6171. https://doi.org/10.3390/en7096142
- Sharda, S., Singh, M. & Sharma, K. (2022). A complete consumer behaviour learning model for realtime demand response implementation in smart grid. *Applied Intelligence*, 52(1), 835-845. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10489-021-02501-4
- 64. Shen, Y., Fang, W., Ye, F. & Kadoch, M. (2020). EV charging behavior analysis using hybrid intelligence for 5G smart grid. *Electronics*, 9(1), 80. https://doi.org/10.3390/electronics9010080
- 65. Shin, I. (2017). A novel abnormal behavior detection framework to maximize the availability in Smart Grid. *Smart Media Journal*, 6(3), 95-102.
- Singh, S. & Yassine, A. (2017). Mining energy consumption behavior patterns for households in smart grid. *IEEE Transactions on Emerging Topics in Computing*, 7(3), 404-419. https://doi.org/10.1109/TETC.2017.2692098

^{■ 494 ■} EKONOMSKI VJESNIK / ECONVIEWS ■ Vol. 35, No. 2 (2022), pp. 483-496

- 67. Snape, J. R. (2015). *Incorporating human behaviour in an agent based model of technology adoption in the transition to a smart grid* [Doctoral dissertation, De Montfort University]. De Montfort University.
- Sumesh, S., Krishna, A., Potdar, V. & Nimmagadda, S. (2019). On framework development for the dynamic prosumer coalition in a smart grid and its evaluation by analytic tools. *Procedia Computer Science*, 159, 892-901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2019.09.249
- Sumesh, S., Potdar, V. & Krishna, A. (2018). Clustered prosumer penalty framework on smart grid. In *Proceedings of the Advances in Smart Grid and Renewable Energy* (pp. 1-12). Singapore: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-4286-7_1
- Sun, Y., Jia, M., Lu, J., Zhang, B. & Yang, W. (2016). Research on Smart Grid Users' Power Consumption Behavior Classification Based on Improved k-Means Algorithm. *International Journal of Electrical Energy*, 4(1), 6-10. https://doi.org/10.18178/ijoee.4.1.6-10
- Svalstedt, C. & Löf, M. (2017). Behaviour of active household customers on the electricity marketfindings from market test Smart Grid Gotland. *CIRED-Open Access Proceedings Journal*, 2017(1), 2624-2627. https://doi.org/10.1049/oap-cired.2017.0744
- 72. Taherian, H., Aghaebrahimi, M. R. & Baringo, L. (2022). Profit maximization for an electricity retailer using a novel customers' behavior leaning in a smart grid environment. *Energy Reports, 8,* 908-915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egyr.2022.05.205
- Taherian, H., Aghaebrahtmi, M. R. & Goldani, S. R. (2019). Application of a Customers' Behavior Learning Machine for Profit Maximization of a Retail Electric Provider in Smart Grid. In *Proceedings* of the IEEE 13th International Conference on Compatibility, Power Electronics and Power Engineering (pp. 1-6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/CPE.2019.8862346
- Taik, A., Nour, B. & Cherkaoui, S. (2021). Empowering prosumer communities in smart grid with wireless communications and federated edge learning. *IEEE Wireless Communications*, 28(6), 26-33. https://doi.org/10.1109/MWC.017.2100187
- 75. Tavakkoli, M. A., Radan, A. & Hassibi, H. (2012). Behavior of parallel inverters under switches fault condition with parallel drive circuitry in compact smart micro grid. In *Proceedings of the 17th Conference on Electrical Power Distribution* (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- 76. Vunderink, S. (2017). A Community Perspective on Smart Grid Projects: Preselecting community-oriented smart grid project sites within Dutch neighborhoods for end-user flexible behavior potential [Master's thesis, Delft University of Technology]. Delft University of Technology.
- 77. Waldron, J., Rodrigues, L., Gillott, M., Naylor, S. & Shipman, R. (2019). Towards an electric revolution: a review on vehicle-to-grid, smart charging and user behaviour. In *Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Sustainable Energy Technologies – SET 2019*. Kuala Lumpur: World Society of Sustainable Energy Technologies.
- Wang, C., Li, W. W., Shi, J. & Zhou, C. (2015). Research on unstructured data security exchange of behavior trusted in smart grid. *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, 701, 1018-1024. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.701-702.1018
- 79. Wang, X., Zhang, M. & Ren, F. (2016). Load forecasting in a smart grid through customer behaviour learning using l1-regularized continuous conditional random fields. In *Proceedings of the 15th International Conference on Autonomous Agents & Multiagent Systems* (pp. 817-826). Singapore: IFAAMAS.
- Wu, J., Zhang, P., Li, J. & Liu, Z. (2018). Ant colony cleaning behavior algorithm based multicast for SDN in smart grid. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Smart Energy Grid Engineering (SEGE)* (pp. 89-93). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/SEGE.2018.8499450
- Wu, Y., Li, F., Shen, Z., Wang, Y. & Tian, Y. (2022). Power consumption behavior analysis and load forecasting of smart grid. In *Proceedings of the International Conference on Electronic Information Engineering, Big Data, and Computer Technology (EIBDCT 2022)* (pp. 80-86). https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2635360
- Yang, C. W., Gulzar, K., Sierla, S. & Vyatkin, V. (2015). Fuzzy Logic Based Prosumer Agent in a Modular Smart Grid Prosumer Architecture. *IEEE Trustcom/BigDataSE/ISPA*, *3*, 261-268. https://doi.org/10.1109/Trustcom.2015.642

- Yuce, B., Mourshed, M., Rezgui, Y. & Rana, O. F. (2016). Preserving prosumer privacy in a district level smart grid. In *Proceedings of the IEEE International Smart Cities Conference* (pp. 1-6). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ISC2.2016.7580829
- Zafar, R., Mahmood, A., Razzaq, S., Ali, W., Naeem, U. & Shehzad, K. (2018). Prosumer based energy management and sharing in smart grid. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 82, 1675-1684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.07.018
- Zhang, Z., Zhang, W. & Zhang, K. (2022). Research on Smart Grid Behaviour Privacy Protection System Based on Spark. In Proceedings of the 2022 2nd Asia-Pacific Conference on Communications Technology and Computer Science (pp. 357-361). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCTCS53867.2022.00079
- Zonouz, S. & Haghani, P. (2013). Cyber-physical security metric inference in smart grid critical infrastructures based on system administrators' responsive behavior. *Computers & Security, 39, Part B,* 190-200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cose.2013.07.003

Guidelines for authors

Description of the journal

Ekonomski Vjesnik / Econviews - Review of Contemporary Entrepreneurship, Business, and Economic Issues is intended for researchers and practitioners, and devoted to the publication of papers that contribute to the theoretical, methodological and empirical insights in the complex field of economics. Articles can be based on quantitative as well as qualitative analyses; they can be a synthesis of previous research and discuss open issues in specific areas of social and economic practice. The journal welcomes papers focused on different levels of analysis (from individual cases to small or large samples) and contexts (SMEs and large companies, industrial sectors, local, regional and national economies, international economics, branches of economy, healthcare and education, labour and demographics, natural resources and other socioeconomic frameworks).

The journal is focused on research in economics, business economics and entrepreneurship, however, as these are closely intertwined with other disciplines – information and technical sciences, law, sociology, psychology and other fields – multidisciplinary submissions are also welcome.

Types of papers

The journal publishes reviewed papers (scholarly articles), research reports, scholarly debates and reviews. Individual issues can be dedicated to more specific topics. Submissions will undergo a double blind review. Within the peer review process, papers published in the journal are categorized in one of the following categories: original scientific papers, preliminary communications, review papers and professional papers. Papers must be in English.

Submission

Submissions should not be published earlier or be under consideration for publication elsewhere. The papers should be submitted electronically to the Open Journal System: https://hrcak.srce.hr/ojs/index.php/ekonomski-vjesnik

In addition to the main manuscript, a separate file should be sent containing a contact information of each author and recommendation of at least two reviewers.

Copyright

Contributing authors automatically waive their copyright in favour of the journal. The journal reserves copyright of all papers published in it.

Ethical policy

The ethics statements for Ekonomski Vjesnik / Econviews - Review of Contemporary Entrepreneurship, Business and Economic Issues are based on the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) Best Practice Guidelines for Journal Editors.

General guidelines for authors

There are no strict requirements but all manuscripts must contain the essential elements, for example: Title; Abstract; Keywords; Main part of the paper: Introduction, Review of previous research (Theoretical framework), Methodology, Results, Discussion, Conclusion, References. Such article structure is recommended for scholarly articles in the category of scientific papers.

Papers must be formatted so as to allow printing on paper size 210 X 297 mm. Times New Roman or Arial font, size 12 (unless otherwise stated herein) should be used, and line spacing should be 1.5. The margins (left, right, top and bottom) should be 25mm wide. The text should be aligned with both the right and left margins (justified). The paper should have between 4500 and 6500 words. Above the title, in the upper right corner, the authors state JEL classification of the article.

Detailed guidelines for authors can be found at https://hrcak.srce.hr/ojs/index.php/ekonomski-vjesnik/about/submissions. Papers that do not adhere to these guidelines will not be considered for publication.

Editorial Board

